ANALYSING EMOTIONAL LABOR IN THE SERVICE INDUSTRIES: CONSUMER AND BUSINESS PERSPECTIVES

EDITED BY: Jungkun Park, Weon Sang Yoo and Ki-Joon Back PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-259-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-259-6

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

ANALYSING EMOTIONAL LABOR IN THE SERVICE INDUSTRIES: CONSUMER AND BUSINESS PERSPECTIVES

Topic Editors:

Jungkun Park, Hanyang University, South Korea Weon Sang Yoo, Korea University, South Korea Ki-Joon Back, University of Houston, United States

Citation: Park, J., Yoo, W. S., Back, K.-J., eds. (2019). Analysing Emotional Labor in the Service Industries: Consumer and Business Perspectives. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-259-6

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Analysing Emotional Labor in the Service Industries: Consumer and Business Perspectives

Weon Sang Yoo, Ki-Joon Back and Jungkun Park

- 06 Surface Acting, Emotional Exhaustion, and Employee Sabotage to Customers: Moderating Roles of Quality of Social Exchanges Hui Zhang, Zhiging E. Zhou, Yan Zhan, Chengbin Liu and Li Zhang
- 17 On Averting Negative Emotion: Remedying the Impact of Shifting Expectations

Cecile K. Cho and Theresa S. Cho

- 26 Impact of Emotional Harassment on Firm's Value Yun Hyeong Choi, Hee Jin Park and Seong-jin Choi
- 41 The Effect of Emotional Labor of College Administrative Service Workers on Job Attitudes: Mediating Effect of Emotional Labor on Trust and Organizational Commitment

Sang-Lin Han, Hyeon-Sook Shim and Won Jun Choi

52 Research on How Emotional Expressions of Emotional Labor Workers and Perception of Customer Feedbacks Affect Turnover Intentions: Emphasis on Moderating Effects of Emotional Intelligence Young Hee Lee, Suk Hyung Bryan Lee and Jong Yong Chung

Young Hee Lee, Suk Hyung Bryan Lee and Jong Yong Chung

- 73 Do Emotional Laborers Help the Needy More or Less? The Mediating Role of Sympathy in the Effect of Emotional Dissonance on Prosocial Behavior Yun-na Park, Hyowon Hyun and JiHoon Jhang
- 87 Is Deep Acting Prevalent in Socially Responsible Companies? The Effects of CSR Perception on Emotional Labor Strategies Se Hyung Oh, Yein Hwang and Hwayoung Kim
- 99 Relationship Bonds and Service Provider's Emotional Labor: Moderating Effects of Collectivism

Myoung-Soung Lee, Sang-Lin Han, Suji Hong and Hyowon Hyun

- **111** The Role of Emotional Service Expectation Toward Perceived Quality and Satisfaction: Moderating Effects of Deep Acting and Surface Acting Ji Youn Jeong, Jungkun Park and Hyowon Hyun
- 122 Emotional Labor in Knowledge-Based Service Relationships: The Roles of Self-Monitoring and Display Rule Perceptions

Shenghua Huang, Hongbiao Yin and Lifang Tang





Editorial: Analysing Emotional Labor in the Service Industries: Consumer and Business Perspectives

Weon Sang Yoo¹, Ki-Joon Back² and Jungkun Park^{3*}

¹ Korea University Business School, Seoul, South Korea, ² Conrad N. Hilton College of Hotel and Restaurant Management, University of Houston, Houston, TX, United States, ³ School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea

Keywords: editorial, emotion, emotional labor, emotional labor strategies, service industry (SI)

Editorial on the Research Topic

Analysing Emotional Labor in the Service Industries: Consumer and Business Perspectives

This Research Topic covers the dynamics of emotional labor and its related outcomes and antecedents in various settings. Recent consumer and service management research increasingly focuses on the role of emotions and emotional labor in service delivery and, at the same time, employees' emotional status. Frontline employees in various settings are expected to display certain emotions and suppress others in their daily interactions not only with customers but also with their managers or supervisors in order to comply with their job requirements and organizational expectations. As a result, consumers are also coping with their level of emotional acceptance when purchasing goods or receiving services, such as comfort or discomfort. Thus, this topic can be approached from both within the business and from consumer perspectives, or beyond.

There are 10 manuscripts in this Research Topic. First, despite the growing body of research on the emotional labor of service providers, little has been known about the social consequences of emotional labor by exploring double roles of emotional laborer as a consumer. Drawing on emotional dissonance theory, Park et al., investigate the relationship between the felt emotional dissonance and prosocial behavior (e.g., donation to a charity) with four experiments suggesting higher emotional dissonance serially influences perceived lack of control, emotional exhaustion, lowered sympathy for others' feeling, and subsequently lower willingness to help others.

Three manuscripts focus on the emotional relationship between consumers and service providers. Jeong et al., investigate a conceptual model articulating the nature of customer expectations and satisfaction over services with several emotional factors. Five propositions about consumer emotional service expectations as a primary antecedent toward confirmation, perceived quality, and satisfaction are provided. As moderators, two dimensions of consumer detection of emotional labor (i.e., detecting deep acting and surface acting) are imposed on each of the relationships. Evidence demonstrates the roles of emotional service expectation in service confirmation and satisfaction. The moderating effects of consumer detection of employees' emotional strategies are limited to the relationship between emotional service expectation and confirmation in the hotel/restaurant industry. Zhang et al., examine how employee surface acting relates to their sabotage to customers through the mediating role of emotional exhaustion. Also, they explore the moderating roles of coworker exchange and leader-member exchange using the conservation of resources theory and social exchange theory as conceptual frameworks, and find that coworker exchange buffers the positive effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion. In addition, the study stresses the effect of surface acting on employee harmful behaviors, the potential underlying mechanism, and boundary conditions to mitigate the negative consequences. Lee et al., explore the relationship between

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Richard Eleftherios Boyatzis, Case Western Reserve University, United States

> *Correspondence: Jungkun Park viroid2007@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 August 2019 Accepted: 24 September 2019 Published: 09 October 2019

Citation:

Yoo WS, Back K-J and Park J (2019) Editorial: Analysing Emotional Labor in the Service Industries: Consumer and Business Perspectives. Front. Psychol. 10:2290. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02290 employees' expression of emotional labor and perception of customer feedbacks touching how the perception of customer feedback affects emotional exhaustion in order to understand how emotional exhaustion affects job satisfaction and turnover intentions. The result suggests that employees with better understanding of their own emotions who experience a more significant negative effect when there is a discrepancy between what they feel and how they should act.

Within the organizational level, there are six articles. Based on social identity theory, Oh et al., examines the relationship between corporate social responsibility (CSR) perception and emotional labor strategies, and the effects of the interaction between CSR perception and moral identification on emotional labor strategies indicating main effect of CSR perception on emotional labor strategies. The results find CSR perception of employees is positively related to deep acting revealing employees' views on their organization's social responsiveness and morality affect their emotional labor strategies. Also, affective organizational commitment and moral identifications mediate the relationship between CSR perception and surface acting but not between CSR perception and deep acting. Lee et al., focus bond and fit toward emotional labor within organization. The manuscript examines the influences of relationship bonds on emotional labor through person-organization fit (P-O fit) and the moderating effects of collectivism between P-O fit and emotional labor in the financial industry identifying financial, social, and structural bonds enhanced P-O fit that improves deep acting. This study not only suggests the empirical evidence identifying the process of relationship bonds influencing emotional labor but also expands the scope of study by examining moderating roles of collectivism in cultural psychology aspect.

Two manuscripts focus on knowledge-based service providers. Huang et al., investigate school teachers' emotional labor process and the consequential outcomes for their wellbeing examining the roles of two antecedents, namely, teachers' perceptions of display rules and self-monitoring tendencies. The results show that self-monitoring generally have stronger, though maladaptive, effects than display rule perceptions on individuals' use of emotional labor strategies and well-being. Both selfmonitoring and display rule perceptions are positively related to two emotional labor strategies concluding self-monitoring may be less beneficial than previously thought. Knowledge-based service workers' display rule perceptions and deep acting may not necessarily be harmful to their well-being but reflect their role identification and commitment. Han et al., investigate the effects of level of emotional labor and its impact of emotional labor on organizational trust and organizational commitment with college administrative staffs with 3 factors (i.e., job stress, intimacy, and professionalism) as determinants of emotional labor.

Cho and Cho examine the internal state of employees' emotion how people anticipate negative emotion when faced with an uncertain outcome and try to manage their expectation. While extant research streams remain equivocal on whether managing expectation always succeeds, this research examines situations in which setting a low expectation can have an adverse emotional impact and ways to alleviate this negative emotional consequence using goal setting and false-feedback paradigm. Choi et al., explore rather negative consequences of emotional problem in workplace taking a holistic approach associating the concept of bullying with firm-level performance as well as stakeholders' responses in the market analyzing whether and how market investors react to the news of corporate harassment by top officials of publicly listed firms in Korea. The results find significantly negative stock price reactions to news of corporate bullying and harassment.

We wish to express our great appreciation to the authors of this special issue for their enthusiasm and scholarly achievements. Although the individual manuscripts reflect considerable variations in focus and perspectives, we genuinely believe that there is a tremendous cohesive message for a better understanding of the filed of emotional labor and consider applying various theories to further developing effective employee retention strategies and enhancing the well-being of all stakeholders in the service delivery process.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Guest editors would like to thank all the authors and reviewers who agreed to participate in this special issue with their original contributions.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Yoo, Back and Park. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Surface Acting, Emotional Exhaustion, and Employee Sabotage to Customers: Moderating Roles of Quality of Social Exchanges

Hui Zhang^{1*}, Zhiqing E. Zhou², Yan Zhan³, Chengbin Liu¹ and Li Zhang⁴

¹ School of Sociology, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ² Department of Psychology, Baruch College (CUNY), New York City, NY, United States, ³ Department of Nursing, Taihe Hospital, Hubei University of Medicine, Shiyan, China, ⁴ Cardiovascular Medicine Department Unit 3, Taihe Hospital, Hubei University of Medicine, Shiyan, China

Using the conservation of resources theory and social exchange theory as our conceptual frameworks, the current study examined how employee surface acting relates to their sabotage to customers through the mediating role of emotional exhaustion and explored the moderating roles of coworker exchange (CWX) and leader-member exchange (LMX). We collected two-wave time-lagged data from 540 clinical nurses and found that emotional exhaustion mediated the positive relationship between surface acting and employee sabotage to customers. In addition, we found that CWX buffered the positive effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion, while LMX buffered the positive effect of emotional exhaustion on employee sabotage to customers, such that the effects were weaker when CWX and LMX were higher, respectively. These findings shed light on the effect of surface acting on employee harmful behaviors, the potential underlying mechanism, and boundary conditions to mitigate the negative consequences of surface acting.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jungkun Park, Hanyang University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Jiseon Ahn, University of Houston, United States Bryan Lee, Chungwoon University, South Korea

> ***Correspondence:** Hui Zhang zhanghui_0927@hust.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 August 2018 Accepted: 23 October 2018 Published: 14 November 2018

Citation:

Zhang H, Zhou ZE, Zhan Y, Liu C and Zhang L (2018) Surface Acting, Emotional Exhaustion, and Employee Sabotage to Customers: Moderating Roles of Quality of Social Exchanges. Front. Psychol. 9:2197. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02197 Keywords: surface acting, emotional exhaustion, sabotage to customers, coworker exchange, leader-member exchange

INTRODUCTION

Since the service industry accounts for above 60% of world GDP and the economy (The World Factbook, 2017), increasing research has focused on frontline service employees' behaviors, attitudes, and feelings (Grandey, 2008; Mayer et al., 2009; Dong et al., 2015). During service delivery, however, employees have to conform to organizational expectations and goals to suppress negative emotions and display positive emotions, which is characterized as emotional labor (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). Emotional labor contains two different displaying rules: surface acting and deep acting. Surface acting emphasizes changing outward emotional display rather than altering the inner true feelings (Abraham, 1998; Grandey, 2000), whereas deep acting highlights regulating the inner feelings to meet requirements of the work (Grandey, 2000; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011).

The current study examines the effect of surface acting on employee sabotage to customers and investigates potential underlying mechanisms and boundary conditions. We decided to only focus on surface acting for the following reasons. First, while many studies on emotional labor

6

have investigated the outcomes of surface acting and deep acting in one study (e.g., Wagner et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2016), a large number of studies have only focused on surface acting (e.g., Prati et al., 2009; Shanock et al., 2013; Wang and Groth, 2014; Wagner et al., 2014; Krannitz et al., 2015). In addition, existing research on emotional labor suggests that deep acting has been linked with both positive and negative outcomes (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011), while the literature consistently indicate that surface acting is negatively related to employee health, attitudes, performance, and well-being (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Mesmer-Magnus et al., 2012), including increased emotional exhaustion (Grandey et al., 2012; Wagner et al., 2014; Yagil and Medlerliraz, 2017), higher negative affect (Judge et al., 2009), more strains (Hülsheger et al., 2010), lower job satisfaction (Giardini and Frese, 2006), lower work engagement (Bechtoldt et al., 2011), more work-to-family conflict (Wagner et al., 2014), higher turnover intentions (Becker et al., 2017), lower organizational commitment (Walsh et al., 2016), and lower task performance (Schmeichel et al., 2006; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). Our study aims to build on this particular literature and expand the negative consequences of surface acting to employees sabotage to customers.

Second, recent literature indicates that surface acting may have an effect on employee harmful behaviors, such as interpersonal harmful behavior toward coworkers (Deng et al., 2016) and counterproductive behaviors at work (Bechtoldt et al., 2007). However, little is known about the potential effect of surface acting on employee harmful behaviors toward customers during the service interaction. As service employees have two roles at work, with one role being the member of the organization and one role providing service to customers (Côté et al., 2013), surface acting may not only affect their negative behaviors toward the organization and people working in the organization, but also their behaviors toward customers. Given that the accumulation of employee sabotage to customers may seriously decrease customer satisfaction (Schneider et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2011) and result in financial and reputational loss in service organizations (Harris and Ogbonna, 2002; Anderson et al., 2004), understanding whether and how surface acting predicts employee sabotage to customers will have potential implications to further understand how to reduce employee sabotage to customers.

Taken together, given the detrimental effects of surface acting and the focus on employee sabotage to customers as the outcome, in the current study we will examine the effect of employee surface acting on their sabotage to customers, and addresses why and how this might happen. We aim to make three contributions in the process. First, we contribute to the emotional labor literature by identifying employee sabotage to customers as an important negative consequence of surface acting. This illustrates that surface acting may have an impact on employee negative behaviors beyond coworkers and extend to customers during the interaction with customers, highlighting the importance of surface acting in the service industry.

Second, we draw on the conservation of resources theory (COR; Hobfoll, 1989) to theorize emotional exhaustion as the potential mechanism to understand why surface acting might lead to employee sabotage to customers. Surface acting can deplete employee resources and lead to emotional exhaustion (Judge et al., 2009; Grandey et al., 2012), and resource depletion can make employees less able to inhibit the impulse to engage in harmful behaviors under stress (Stucke and Baumeister, 2010), such as sabotage to customers. By identifying emotional exhaustion as the mediator, we will have a better understanding of the process from surface acting to sabotage to customers for theoretical implications, and potential ways to mitigate this process for practical implications.

Third, we examined social exchanges as moderators to buffer the negative effects of surface acting by supplying resources employees need. Previous studies have suggested that social exchanges in the workplace are important resources (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Ng and Sorensen, 2008; McCarthy et al., 2016; Schneider et al., 2017). Thus, we integrate the COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) and Social Exchange Theory (Blau, 1964), and predict that coworker exchange (CWX) and leader-member exchange (LMX) may potentially buffer the effect of surface acting on employee sabotage to customers. It also emphasizes the importance of providing social recourses at work (McCarthy et al., 2016) to address interpersonal issues.

HYPOTHESES DEVELOPMENT

Surface Acting and Sabotage to Customers

Surface acting has been considered a unique feature of service employees as part of their job (Cho et al., 2013). It refers to the requirement of front-line service employees to suppress the expression of their true feelings and express the false feelings during the interaction with customers (Gross, 1998; Grandey, 2000). As surface acting takes place during the interaction between employees and customers, it may not only have a harmful effect on employee behaviors toward coworkers (Deng et al., 2016) but also have an impact directly on customers during the interaction with customers, such as sabotage to customers. Sabotage to customers is common in the service industry as one type of interpersonal harming behavior (Crino, 1994; Skarlicki et al., 2008). It severely violates the service rule of providing friendly and professional high-quality service (e.g., Solomon et al., 1985; Skarlicki et al., 2008). Thus, understanding whether and why surface acting promotes employees engage in such behaviors will have important practical implications.

We propose that surface acting would positively predict employee sabotage to customers for the following reasons. First, displaying surface acting consumes employees' resources to inhabit their true inner feelings, leading to resources loss or ego depletion (Judge et al., 2009; Wagner et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2016). Previous studies on ego depletion suggest that individuals will be more aggressive (Stucke and Baumeister, 2010), act unethically (Welsh et al., 2014), and behave in a more antisocial manner (Friehe and Schildberg-Hörisch, 2017) under resources depletion. Thus, when employees displaying surface acting and are depleted, they may have fewer resources to obey the organizational rules, leading to rule-breaking behaviors such as sabotage to customers.

Second, as surface acting requires employees to suppress their inner negative feelings, they are less likely to regulate their negative emotions and often are more likely to experience emotional dissonance (Deng et al., 2016). While employees might engage in organization deviance and harmful behaviors toward coworkers as a result (Bechtoldt et al., 2007; Deng et al., 2016), their actions might not stop there. Because of the frequent direct interaction between customers and front-line service employees, employees are also likely to engage in aggressive behaviors toward customers (Wang et al., 2011; Groth and Grandey, 2012). For example, when employees experience negative feelings from customers, they may allow themselves to put customers on hold for a longer period (Grandey, 2003; Wang et al., 2011; Groth and Grandey, 2012). These behaviors might be engaged to compensate for the suppressed negative feelings during the frequent interaction with customers.

In line with this, previous studies have found that the surface acting is positively associated with employee harmful interpersonal behaviors toward organization (Bechtoldt et al., 2007) and coworkers (Deng et al., 2016), which provide indirect empirical evidence of the possible impact of surface acting on employee sabotage to customers. In addition, previous research has found that customer-related experiences such as customer mistreatment (Wang et al., 2011; Groth and Grandey, 2012) and customer injustice (Skarlicki et al., 2016) can positively predict employee sabotage to customers. Given that employees tend to engage in surface acting as the initial reaction to customer-related negative experiences (Grandey et al., 2012), they are likely to engage in sabotage to customers when surface acting depletes too many resources that they are unable to inhibit their negative behaviors toward customers. Thus, we expect that surface acting has the potential positive effect on employee sabotage to customers and hypothesize that:

Hypothesis 1: Surface acting will positively predict employee sabotage to customers.

Mediating Effect of Emotional Exhaustion

Emotional exhaustion is defined as a resource depletion state when a person no longer can make a big physical or mental effort (Gaines and Jermier, 1983). We employ the COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) to explain the potential mechanism of the association between surface acting and employee sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion. The COR theory suggests that individuals tend to protect and build resources important to them (e.g., energy and time; Hobfoll, 1989). Front-line employees often experience emotional exhaustion because they have to face excessive customer demands, resulting in resources depletion (Wright and Cropanzano, 1998). When the resources are depleted, they may experience a higher level of emotional exhaustion (Maslach et al., 2001). The COR theory also suggests that resources deplete over time, which is a long-term process (Hobfoll, 1989), and that it is faster for resources to deplete in coping with work demands than to supplement themselves (Freedy and Hobfoll, 1994). Surface acting requires expressubg inconsistent emotions with their inner feelings, and employees

will have to devote more efforts to inhibiting impulse (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993), consuming their resources and leading to emotional exhaustion. Previous research (e.g., Judge et al., 2009; Grandey et al., 2012; Wagner et al., 2014; Li et al., 2017; Kong and Jeon, 2018) has provided sufficient empirical evidence for this link, and it is expected the same in the current study.

The resource perspective (Hobfoll, 1989) can also provide an explanation of the relationship between emotional exhaustion and employee sabotage to customers. It has been suggested that depletion of control resources is an important reason for employees to engage in more deviant behaviors (Marcus and Schuler, 2004; Thau and Mitchell, 2010) and aggressive acts (Stucke and Baumeister, 2010), and thus emotional exhaustion, as the state of resource depletion, is likely to also predict employee sabotage to customers. When employees deplete their resources due to surface acting and experience emotional exhaustion, they are more likely to engage in inappropriate or undesirable behaviors because employees will have fewer resources to regulate these behaviors (e.g., Muraven et al., 1998). In addition, when employees are depleted with resources and experience emotional exhaustion, they also tend to ignore organizational rules or/and moral standards, result in rule-breaking and normative behaviors (Thau and Mitchell, 2010), such as sabotage to customers. Given the frequent direct interaction between customers and front-line service employees, when employees are experiencing high emotional exhaustion due to surface acting, they are less likely to inhibit impulsive behaviors and customers may become the available victims.

Although theoretically reasonable, the relationship between emotional exhaustion and employee sabotage to customers has not been empirically tested in previous studies. However, recent studies found that emotional exhaustion is positively associated with interpersonal harming behavior, such as interpersonal harming to coworkers and aggression in organization (e.g., Thau and Mitchell, 2010; Christian and Ellis, 2011; Wang et al., 2011; Deng et al., 2016), which suggest that employees with a higher level of emotional exhaustion may also engage in interpersonal harming behavior toward customers such as sabotage to customers.

Hypothesis 2: Emotional exhaustion will positively predict employee sabotage to customers.

According to the COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) as well as the theoretical argument and empirical evidence presented above, we believe surface acting can consume employees' resources and result in emotional exhaustion, which in turn will lead to employee sabotage to customers. Thus we argue that emotional exhaustion links surface acting and employee sabotage to customers and predict that:

Hypothesis 3: Employees' emotional exhaustion mediates the relationship between surface acting and sabotage to customers.

Moderating Effects of Social Exchanges

The COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) also highlights the conditions to protect individuals form resources losses and to cope with resources losses. It suggests that when facing potential or actual resources losses, individuals often tend to gain available resources to supply and protect resources (Hobfoll, 1989). Social support is one of the important ways in this process (Hobfoll, 1989, 2001). First, social support can provide resources to broaden individuals' resources pool (Hobfoll, 1989) and help people alleviate the negative effect caused by resource-depleting experiences (e.g., surface acting) through a few channels, including promoting skills to cope with demands (Dunahoo et al., 1998) and decreasing work demands (Ray and Miller, 1994) and emotional dissonance (Monica et al., 2016). Second, social support also promotes the replenishment of resources pool and formation of the gain spirals after resource loss (Hobfoll, 1989) and thus buffers the negative effects of resource loss state such as emotional exhaustion (Hakanen et al., 2008).

According to the social exchange theory, there are two types of important social support as resources supplement in the workplace: leader-member exchange (LMX, support from leaders; Graen and Uhl-Bien, 1995) and coworker exchange (CWX, support from coworkers; Sherony and Green, 2002). Employees can gain social support resources form the interaction with coworkers and leaders in the work context to cope with work demands (Ng and Sorensen, 2008; Monica et al., 2016) and resource depletion (McCarthy et al., 2016). Therefore, we propose that employees receiving more social support from coworkers and leaders through high levels of CWX and LMX, respectively, will gain and supply resources and mitigate the negative effects of surface acting and emotional exhaustion caused by surface acting.

The Moderating Role of CWX

Although CWX and LMX are both important resources for employees, their roles might be different. Compared to the relationship between leader and employees, the relationship between coworkers is more equal and less performance monitoring (Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009), and focusing more on trust and social reciprocity (Cole et al., 2002). The social exchange theory (Blau, 1964) suggests that more authentic, intimate and personal social exchange is based on reciprocity and social resources, while more economic and transactional exchanges are based on materialistic and instrument resources. Thus, employees may gain more social and emotional resources from the social exchange with coworkers (CWX), but gain more instrument resources from the economic exchange with leaders (LMX; McCarthy et al., 2016).

As coworkers own equal power and interpersonal relationship with employees, employees are more likely to share emotional events at work with coworkers (Hadley, 2014). The more frequent interaction between employees and coworkers than leaders provides social support with behavioral and emotional resources (Chiaburu and Harrison, 2008) and employees can receive more social resources to cope work demands and strains (Thoits, 2011). In line with this notion, while surface acting as a typical work strains for front-line service employees can deplete their emotional resources and result in emotional exhaustion, CWX can provide emotional resources (Karasek et al., 1982; Wu and Hu, 2009) to buffer the positive effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion.

Although previous studies have not investigated the mitigating effect of CWX in the association between surface acting and emotional exhaustion, research on coworker support provides indirect empirical evidence of the moderating effect. For example, coworker support moderates the effects of abusive supervision on emotional exhaustion (Wu and Hu, 2009), and the relationship between workplace anxiety and emotional exhaustion (McCarthy et al., 2016). In addition, a meta-analysis by Viswesvaran et al. (1999) found that social support from coworkers has a stronger mitigating effect on the stressor-strain relation than social support from leaders. Because surface acting serves as a stress source for service employee, the similar buffering effect of CWX on the effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion can be expected. Combining the theoretical argument and empirical evidence, we propose that CWX will moderate the relationship between surface acting and emotional exhaustion.

Hypothesis 4: CWX will moderate the relationship between surface acting and emotional exhaustion, such that the positive relationship will be weaker when CWX is high.

Moderating Role of LMX

We also predict that LMX as support from leaders may buffer the effect of emotional exhaustion on employee sabotage to customers. As leaders have more power and high state than employees (Diefendorff et al., 2010), the interaction between leaders and employees involves less emotional sharing but more economic exchange (Hüffmeier and Hertel, 2011). Because high LMX provides important material and instructional resources for employees to supply their resource pool, they are likely to use such instrument resources to overcome emotional exhaustion and regulate their behaviors (Ng and Sorensen, 2008; McCarthy et al., 2016) and perform better (Dulebohn et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2014).

Further, according to the dual level social exchange theory (Schaufeli et al., 1996), employees are more likely to build a balanced reciprocity relationship with leaders and organizations. Based on the economic exchange, a higher level of LMX may lead to more employees positive behaviors benefiting the company and fewer negative behaviors. Thus employees receiving more support from leaders are more likely to feel the obligation to engage in positive behaviors (Sakurai and Jex, 2012) and perform effectively (McCarthy et al., 2016), and are less likely to engage in sabotage to customers even when experiencing emotional exhaustion due to resource losses.

Previous studies on LMX also provide indirect empirical evidence of the moderating effect. LMX buffers the relationship between emotional exhaustion and performance (McCarthy et al., 2016), and supervisor social support buffers the effect of negative emotions and both work effort on CWBs (Sakurai and Jex, 2012). Thus, we propose that:

Hypothesis 5: LMX will moderate the relationship between emotional exhaustion and sabotage to customers, such that the positive relationship will be weaker when LMX is high.

Figure 1 summarizes the relationships proposed in the hypotheses above.



MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

Emotion labor has been mainly studied with samples from service industries such as hotels, hospitals, restaurants, airline services, call centers and transit companies. Nurses in hospitals interact with patients and their family members in their daily work, and they are expected to provide good customer service to patients (Drach-Zahavy, 2010), often requiring emotional labor (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). Pervious studies also suggested that nurses in hospitals experience a high level of surface acting at work (Grandey et al., 2012). Thus, we decided to use nurses as our sample for the current study. We collected data from seven large hospitals in China across two waves. We first obtained permission from the hospitals' directors and their ethical committees to conduct the study. We then met with head nurses from each department to explain the aims and requirements of the current study, and we asked them to encourage nurses to participate in the survey. After that, we sent out 800 questionnaires supervisors of departments who helped pass the questionnaires onto their followers. Each participant was told that they would receive 10 China Yuan (\$1.52) as compensation for their time. Two days later, we returned to the hospitals to collect the surveys and received 640 questionnaires, with a response rate of 80.00%. The first survey included measures of demographic variables, surface acting, and CWX.

Three months after time 1, all employees who completed Time 1 survey received a second questionnaire that assessed their emotional exhaustion, LXM, and sabotage to customers. Participants received a box of chocolate as an incentive gift for returning the survey. A total of 540 Time 2 surveys could be matched with a corresponding survey at time 1, of whom 95.20% were female (n = 540). The average age was 30.17 years (SD = 5.51) and their average tenure in their hospital was 8.01 years (SD = 6.35).

Measures

Chinese versions of the followings measures were administered to participants in the current study. We used the translation and back-translation method (Brislin, 1980) to translate the scales from English into Chinese to make an equivalent meaning. Further, as the participants were clinic nurses in hospitals, we followed the suggestion of Schaffer and Riordan (2003) to modify some wording to ensure the applicability of the hospital context.

Surface Acting

A five-item of emotions labor scale developed by Brotheridge and Lee (2002) was used to measure surface acting. Participants rated items on a five-point frequency scale from 1 = never to 5 = always. An example item is "Put on an act in order to display for my job" ($\alpha = 0.82$).

Coworker Exchange

We used a seven-item scale originally developed by Graen and Uhl-Bien (1995) and later modified by McCarthy et al. (2016) to measure CWX by replacing "supervisor" with "coworkers." An example item is "My coworkers understand my job problems and needs" ($\alpha = 0.97$).

Emotional Exhaustion

We used a five-item subscale of the Maslach Burnout Inventory General Survey developed by Schaufeli et al. (1996) to measure emotional exhaustion. Participants rated items on a seven-point Likert scale from 1 (*never*) to 7 (every day). An example item is "I feel tired after get up when I have to deal with work in the day" ($\alpha = 0.96$).

Leader-Member Exchange

Leader-member exchange was assessed with a seven-item scale developed by Graen and Uhl-Bien (1995). Participants rated the items about their supervisor from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 5 (*strongly agree*). An example item is "My supervisor understand my job problems and needs" ($\alpha = 0.97$).

Sabotage to Customers

We used Skarlicki et al. (2008) five-item scale to measure sabotage to customers. To fit the context for the nurses, we modified the words "customers" in the scale into "patients" in the current study. Participants rated items on a five-point Likert scale from 1 = never to 5 = frequently. An example item is "Hung up on the patients" ($\alpha = 0.84$).

Control Variables

We controlled for nurses' demographic variables (i.e., age, job tenure, and education) on the study variables (i.e., surface act, emotional exhaustion, and sabotage to customers; Dahling and Perez, 2010; Wang et al., 2011). As deep acting is associated with ego depletion (Deng et al., 2016) and resources replenishment (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011), we controlled deep acting when examining the relationships of surface acting with the outcome variables. Deep acting was measured with a three-item of emotion labor scale developed by Brotheridge and Lee (2002). Participants rated items on a five-point frequency scale from 1 = never to 5 = always. An example item is "Work hard to feel the emotions that I need to show to others" ($\alpha = 0.81$).

RESULTS

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

A confirmatory factor analysis was conducted via Amos 21.0 to establish discriminant validity of the study variables. As shown in **Table 1**, the hypothesized five-factor model provides a better fit

TABLE 1 | Results of confirmatory factor analysis.

Model	χ²	df	χ^2/df	CFI	TLI	RMSEA
Hypothesized five-factor model	1062.29	367	2.89	0.95	0.95	0.06
Three-factor model (emotional exhaustion, CWX, LMX combined into one factor)	8992.64	374	24.05	0.43	0.39	0.21
One-factor model (All five factors were combined into one factor)	10889.13	377	28.88	0.31	0.26	0.23

N = 540. CFI , comparative fit index; TLI, Tucker–Lewis index; RMSEA, root mean square error of approximation. CWX, coworker exchange; LMX, leader-member exchange.

to the data [χ^2 (*df* = 367) = 1062.29; RMSEA = 0.06, TLI = 0.95, CFI = 0.95] than all alternative models, showing evidence of discriminant validity.

Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 shows means, standard deviations, and correlations of the study variables. Consistent with our hypotheses, the correlations among surface acting, emotional exhaustion, and sabotage behavior to customers were all in the expected direction. This suggested that it was appropriate to conduct formal mediation analyses to test our hypotheses. Because of the high correlations between age and job tenure (r = 0.95, p < 0.001), we only control job tenure in the following analysis.

Hypothesis Testing

We used the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2013) to test our hypotheses. As shown in Table 3, after controlling job tenure, education and deep acting in model 3, surface acting positively predicted employee sabotage to customers (B = 0.41, p < 0.001). Hence, Hypothesis 1 was supported. In support of Hypothesis 2, the result showed that emotional exhaustion positively predicted employee sabotage to customers in model 4 (B = 0.19, p < 0.001). After entering emotional exhaustion, surface acting was less significantly associated with employee sabotage to customers (B = 0.31, p < 0.001), whereas emotional exhaustion (B = 0.12, p < 0.001) was positively related to employee sabotage to customers in model 5. Furthermore, we calculated the indirect effect of surface acting on employee sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion with 5,000 bootstrapped samples. The result showed that surface acting had a significant indirect effect on employee sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion (indirect effect = 0.10, 95% CI [0.06,0.16]). Thus, Hypotheses 3 was supported.

Hypothesis 4 and Hypothesis 5 focused on the moderating effects of CWX on the association between surface acting and emotional exhaustion, and LMX on the relationship between emotional exhaustion and employee sabotage behavior to customers, respectively. We added the interactions term between surface acting and CWX into model 2 in **Table 3** to test Hypothesis 4. The interaction effect was significant (B = -0.24, p = 0.05). **Figure 2** further revealed that when CWX was lower, the positive effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion was stronger (B = 1.08, t = 10.07, p < 0.001) than when CWX was higher (B = 0.55, t = 2.70, p = 0.007). Thus, Hypothesis 4 was supported. We added the interactions term between LMX and emotional exhaustion into model 6 in **Table 3** to test Hypothesis 5. The interaction effect was also significant

(B = -0.09, p < 0.001). As shown in **Figure 3**, the positive effect of emotional exhaustion on employee sabotage behavior to customers was stronger (B = 0.22, t = 7.92, p < 0.001) when LMX was lower than when LMX was higher (B = 0.03, t = 0.51, p = 0.61), supporting Hypothesis 5.

DISCUSSION

Our study found that surface acting has a positive effect on employee sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion. Further, social exchanges buffer the negative effects. Specifically, the positive relationship between surface acting and emotional exhaustion is weaker for individuals with high CWX, and the positive relationship between emotional exhaustion and employee sabotage to customers is weaker for individuals with high LMX. Our findings suggest that while surface acting is ubiquitous and may result in serious negative consequences in service industries, social support from coworkers and leaders can potentially alleviate the harmful effects.

Theoretical Implications

Our findings offer important theoretical insights. First, we contribute to the emotional labor literature by extending the effect of surface acting to employees sabotage to customers. Previous studies have suggested surface acting is positively related to employee harmful behaviors within organizations, such as deviance toward the organization (Bechtoldt et al., 2007) and harmful behavior toward coworkers (Deng et al., 2016). Our study suggests that surface acting might also lead to employee harmful behaviors toward customers during the service delivery. Surface acting might consume employees' resources to suppress their true inner feelings and result in resources depletion (Judge et al., 2009; Wagner et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2016), which might make employees be more antisocial and aggressive (Stucke and Baumeister, 2010; Friehe and Schildberg-Hörisch, 2017) during the interaction with customers, eliciting sabotage to customers. The findings supported the notion that surface acting has a broader impact and social cost not only within organizations (Deng et al., 2016), at home (Wagner et al., 2014), but also in service encounters. In addition, we contribute to the increasing literature on potential antecedents of employee sabotage to customers (e.g., Wang et al., 2011; Groth and Grandey, 2012; Skarlicki et al., 2016) and suggest that employee surface acting also has a potential to lead to their own harmful behaviors toward customers.

Second, based on the COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989), we contribute to the literature by finding that surface acting might

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
(1) Age	30.17	5.51	_								
(2) Job tenure	8.01	6.35	0.95***	_							
(3) Education	_	_	-0.19**	-0.22**	_						
(4) Deep acting	3.91	0.64	0.08	0.07	-0.03	_					
(5) Surface acting	3.32	0.74	0.11**	0.09*	-0.03	0.24**	_				
(6) Emotional exhaustion	3.28	1.39	0.004	-0.002	0.01	0.03	0.41**	_			
(7) CWX	2.55	1.13	-0.003	-0.02	-0.01	-0.07	0.10*	-0.06	_		
(8) LMX	2.59	1.11	-0.10*	-0.09*	-0.02	-0.24**	-0.03	0.04	0.04	-	
(9) Sabotage to customers	1.79	0.79	-0.04	0.09*	0.09*	-0.08	0.34**	0.33**	0.09*	-0.04	_

N = 540. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. CWX, coworker exchange; LMX, leader-member exchange.

TABLE 3 | Results of regression analyses.

Variable	Emotiona	l exhaustion	Sabotage to customers						
Model Intercept	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6			
	1.38* (0.54)	0.91 (0.51)	1.02* (0.31)	0.12*** (0.31)	0.85* (0.34)	2.35*** (0.30)			
Job tenure	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.01)	-0.004 (0.01)	-0.01 (0.004)	-0.01 (0.005)			
Education	-0.04 (0.12)	-0.04 (0.12)	0.10 (0.08)	0.13 (0.08)	0.11 (0.07)	0.10 (0.07)			
Deep acting	-0.17 (0.09)	-0.18* (0.09)	-0.21*** (0.05)	-0.11* (0.05)	-0.19** (0.05)	-0.20** (0.05)			
Surface acting	0.82*** (0.04)	0.81*** (0.09)	0.41*** (0.04)		0.31*** (0.04)	0.29*** (0.04)			
Emotional exhaustion				0.19*** (0.02)	0.12*** (0.03)	0.12*** (0.03)			
CWX		-0.12* (0.05)							
LMX						-0.06* (0.03)			
Surface acting*CWX		-0.24** (0.12)							
Emotional exhaustion*LMX						-0.09*** (0.02)			
δR^2	0.18***	0.20***	0.14***	0.12***	0.19***	0.23***			
F	25.72***	28.11***	23.45***	18.97***	19.59***	14.79***			

N = 540. * p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001. CWX, coworker exchange; LMX, leader-member exchange.





promote employee sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion. As previous studies (e.g., Judge et al., 2009; Grandey et al., 2012; Wagner et al., 2014; Li et al., 2017; Kong and Jeon, 2018) have found, surface acting positively predicted

emotional exhaustion, suggesting that surface acting might require employees to devote resources to suppress emotion impulses (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). Further, when people experience emotional exhaustion as a state of depletion of control resources, they are more likely to engage deviant behaviors (Marcus and Schuler, 2004; Thau and Mitchell, 2010) and aggressive acts (Stucke and Baumeister, 2010), which might also extend to customers and lead to sabotage to customers. Our finding on the mediating effect of emotional exhaustion in the relationship between surface acting and employee sabotage to customers is consistent with this argument.

Third, based on the COR theory, our results show that social support from coworkers and leader can buffer the harmful effect of surface acting. CWX and LMX, as the main sources of social support in the workplace (McCarthy et al., 2016), have been found useful in providing resources to buffer the negative effect of work demands (Ng and Sorensen, 2008; Monica et al., 2016), such as surface acting and resource depletion (McCarthy et al., 2016). Our findings further demonstrate the importance of CWX and LMX in the resource depletion process of surface acting. On one hand, CWX can provide emotional resources (Karasek et al., 1982; Wu and Hu, 2009) to buffer the positive effect of surface acting on emotional exhaustion; on the other hand, LMX can provide more instrument resources to overcome emotional exhaustion and regulate their behaviors (Ng and Sorensen, 2008; McCarthy et al., 2016) to reduce employee sabotage to customers. This finding also adds to the previous literature that have demonstrated that individual factors such as emotion regulation self-efficacy (Deng et al., 2016) and situatonal factor such as climate of authenticity (Grandey et al., 2012; Li et al., 2017) can moderate the relationship between surface acting and resource losses. Our findings show that interpersonal factors such as CWX and LMX can be potential resource supplements to buffer the positive effect of surface acting and emotional exhaustion.

Practical Implications

Our study provides important practical implications for organizations where service employees display surface acting frequently. First, surface acting might seriously harm the organizations when employees engage in sabotage to customers as a response. Service organizations should pay more attention to employees' emotions and train them to better deal with the negative emotions caused by customers. Previous research has suggested that perspective taking is an important way to decrease the employees' negative affect (Parker and Axtell, 2001; Bechtoldt et al., 2007), so that employees may not make efforts to regulate emotions or suppress negative affect to reduce the frequency of displaying surface acting. Besides, Li et al. (2017) found that employee mindfulness is negative associated with surface acting. Thus, service organizations can train their employees to master the strategy of perspective taking and be mindfulness. In addition, organizations can also train employees to engage in more deep acting (Deng et al., 2016) to reduce the occurrence of surface acting. Furthermore, organizations should also try to reduce internal sources of surface acting when it is inevitable from customers. For example, abusive supervision (Chi et al., 2018) and coworker interpersonal mistreatment (Adams and Webster, 2013) have been found to positively relate to surface acting, and organizations should try to establish a more supportive climate to reduce these experiences of employee and subsequent surface acting.

Second, given that emotional exhaustion might mediate the relationship between surface acting and sabotage to customers, it is vital for service employees to gain resources to recover from emotional exhaustion, which may in turn reduce sabotage to customers. Sonnentag and Fritz (2007) suggested that effective recovery activities including relaxation, psychological detachment, exerting personal control, and engaging in mastery experiences can be potential ways to recovery from emotional exhaustion. Besides, service organizations should also supply more opportunities for employees to reduce emotional demands (Goldberg and Grandey, 2007), have a rest (Trougakos et al., 2008), or engage in more social sharing (Baranik et al., 2017). Further, some targeted interventions on ego depletion also should take into consideration (Awa et al., 2010).

Third, the current study demonstrates the buffering effects of social exchange in both stages of the relationship between surface acting and sabotage to customers through emotional exhaustion. Thus, service organizations should try to promote high-quality relationships among employees, and between employees and their leaders. For example, Miles et al. (1996) suggest that open communication is a significant strategy to develop these relations. Besides, from the perspective of leadership, previous studies have suggested that the positive leadership, such as servant leadership, plays a key role in developing LMX and support climate (Wu et al., 2013; Liden et al., 2015). Thus organizations should encourage supervisors to serve as servant leaders and pay more attention to employee development and give priority to their needs and interests.

Limitations and Future Directions

Our study has a few limitations. First, although we collected two waves of data to reduce common method variance, measuring all the variables using the same source can still raise potential concerns about common method variance. Future studies may use a third party to observe and report about the service interactions, such as coworkers perceived CWX, leaders perceived LMX, and customer reported sabotage to customers, which might provide a more objective assessment of employee behaviors and interactions. In addition, we can't draw conclusions concerning causality. Thus, future research may attempt to conduct longitudinal or experimental designs manipulating surface acting to verify causality.

Second, the data used in our studies were collected from nurses in China, limiting the generalizability of our findings; future studies should further replicate our findings with samples from other service industries such as hotels, banks, and airlines and other regions to extend our understanding of the effect of surface acting on employee harmful behaviors toward customers.

Third, our findings indicated that emotional exhaustion mediated the relationship between surface acting and employees sabotage to customers. However, it is likely that other mechanisms also exist. For example, integrating insights from work meaning theory (Rosso et al., 2010) may advance our understanding of how surface acting might result in more sabotage to customers through decreased work meaning. Besides, we only examined social exchange as potential moderators, and future research should further examine some other contextual factors such as climate of authenticity (Li et al., 2017) and individual factors such as emotion regulation self-efficacy (Deng et al., 2016) and emotional intelligence (Prati et al., 2009) as potential buffers.

CONCLUSION

Drawing upon the COR theory (Hobfoll, 1989) and social exchange theory (Blau, 1964), our study provides support for the mediating effect of emotional exhaustion in the relationship between surface acting and employee sabotage to customers, and social exchange as boundary conditions to buffer the effect of surface acting on employee emotional exhaustion and the effect of emotional exhaustion on sabotage to customers. These findings shed light on employee harmful behaviors as potential consequences of surface acting, as well as the potential underlying mechnisms and boundary couditions.

ETHICS STATEMENT

An ethics approval was not required as per institutional guidelines and national laws and regulations because no unethical

REFERENCES

- Abraham, R. (1998). Emotional dissonance in organizations: antecedents, consequences, and moderators. *Genet. Soc. Gen. Psychol. Monogr.* 124, 229–246.
- Adams, A. G., and Webster, R. J. (2013). Emotional regulation as a mediator between interpersonal mistreatment and distress. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 22, 697–710. doi: 10.1080/1359432X.2012.698057
- Anderson, E. W., Fornell, C., and Mazvancheryl, S. K. (2004). Customer satisfaction and shareholder value. J. Mark. 68, 172–185. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.68.4.172.42723
- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 18, 88–115. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1993. 3997508
- Awa, W. L., Plaumann, M., and Walter, U. (2010). Burnout prevention: a review of intervention programs. *Patient Educ. Couns.* 78, 184–190. doi: 10.1016/j.pec. 2009.04.008
- Baranik, L. E., Wang, M., Gong, Y., and Shi, J. (2017). Customer mistreatment, employee health, and job performance: cognitive rumination and social sharing as mediating mechanisms. *Soc. Sci. Electron. Publishing* 29, 1971–1977. doi: 10.1177/0149206314550995
- Bechtoldt, M. N., Rohrmann, S., De Pater, I. E., and Beersma, B. (2011). The primacy of perceiving: emotion recognition buffers negative effects of emotional labor. J. Appl. Psychol. 96, 1087–1094. doi: 10.1037/a0023683
- Bechtoldt, M. N., Welk, C., Hartig, J., and Zapf, D. (2007). Main and moderating effects of self-control, organizational justice, and emotional labor on counterproductive behavior at work. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 16, 479–500. doi: 10.1080/13594320701662618
- Becker, W. J., Cropanzano, R., Wagoner, P. V., and Keplinger, K. (2017). Emotional labor within teams: outcomes of individual and peer emotional labor on perceived team support, extra-role behaviors, and turnover intentions. *Group Organ. Manag.* 43, 38–71. doi: 10.1177/1059601117707608
- Blau, P. M. (1964). Justice in social exchange. *Sociol. Inq.* 34, 193–206. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-682X.1964.tb00583.x
- Brislin, R. W. (1980). "Translation and content analysis of oral and written materials," in *Handbook of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, eds H. C. Triandis and J. W. Berry (Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon), 389–444.
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: comparing two perspectives of "people work". J. Vocat. Behav. 60, 17–39. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815

behaviors existed in this study. We just conducted paperpencil test and were exempt from further ethics board approval since this research did not involve human clinical trials or animal experiments. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Research respondents were ensured confidentiality and anonymity. All participation was voluntary.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HZ, ZZ, YZ, and CL: making substantial contributions to design, models, and hypotheses. HZ, YZ, and LZ: acquisition of data. HZ, ZZ, and YZ: analysis and interpretation of data. HZ, ZZ, and CL: wrote and revised the article. HZ, ZZ, YZ, CL, and LZ: final approval.

FUNDING

The present research was supported by self-determined research funds from the colleges' basic research and operation of MOE (Grant No. 2018WKZDJC008).

- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2002). Testing a conservation of resources model of the dynamics of emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 7, 57–67. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.7.1.57
- Chi, N. W., Chen, Y. C., Huang, T. C., and Chen, S. F. (2018). Trickledown effects of positive and negative supervisor behaviors on service performance: the roles of employee emotional labor and perceived supervisor power. *Hum. Perform.* 31, 55–75. doi: 10.1080/08959285.2018. 1442470
- Chiaburu, D. S., and Harrison, D. A. (2008). Do peers make the place? conceptual synthesis and meta-analysis of coworker effects on perceptions, attitudes, ocBs, and performance. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 93, 1082–1103. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.5. 1082
- Cho, Y. N., Rutherford, B. N., and Park, J. K. (2013). Emotional labor's impact in a retail environment. J. Bus. Res. 66, 2338–2345. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012. 04.015
- Christian, M. S., and Ellis, A. P. J. (2011). Examining the effects of sleep deprivation on workplace deviance: a self-regulatory perspective. *Acad. Manag. J.* 54, 913–934. doi: 10.5465/amj.2010.0179
- Cohen, S., and Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychol. Bull.* 98, 310–357. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98. 2.310
- Cole, M. S., Schaninger, W. S., and Harris, S. G. (2002). The workplace social exchange network: a multilevel, conceptual examination. *Group Organ. Manag.* 27, 142–167. doi: 10.1177/1059601102027001008
- Côté, S., Van Kleef, G. A., and Sy, T. (2013). "The social effects of emotion regulation in organizations," in *Emotional Labor in the 21st Century: Diverse Perspectives on Emotion Regulation at Work*, eds A. A. Grandey, J. M. Diefendorff, and D. E. Rupp (New York, NY: Psychology Press/Routledge), 79–100.
- Crino, M. D. (1994). Employee sabotage: a random or preventable phenomenon? J. Manag. Issues 6, 311–330.
- Dahling, J. J., and Perez, L. A. (2010). Older worker, different actor? linking age and emotional labor strategies. *Pers. Individ. Diff.* 48, 574–578. doi: 10.1016/j.paid. 2009.12.009
- Deng, H., Walter, F., Lam, C. K., and Zhao, H. H. (2016). Spillover effects of emotional labor in customer service encounters toward coworker harming: a resource depletion perspective. *Pers. Psychol.* 70, 469–502. doi: 10.1111/peps. 12156

- Diefendorff, J., Morehart, J., and Gabriel, A. (2010). The influence of power and solidarity on emotional display rules at work. *Motiv. Emot.* 34, 120–132. doi: 10.1007/s11031-010-9167-8
- Diefendorff, J. M., and Greguras, G. J. (2009). Contextualizing emotional display rules: examining the roles of targets and discrete emotions in shaping display rule perceptions. J. Manag. 35, 880–898. doi: 10.1177/0149206308321548
- Dong, Y., Liao, H., Chuang, A., Zhou, J., and Campbell, E. M. (2015). Fostering employee service creativity: Joint effects of customer empowering behaviors and supervisory empowering leadership. J. Appl. Psychol. 100, 1364–1380. doi: 10.1037/a0038969
- Drach-Zahavy, A. (2010). How does service workers' behavior affect their health? service climate as a moderator in the service behavior-health relationships. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 15, 105–119. doi: 10.1037/a0018573
- Dulebohn, J. H., Bommer, W. H., Liden, R. C., Brouer, R. L., and Ferris, G. R. (2012). A meta-analysis of antecedents and consequences of leader-member exchange: integrating the past with an eye toward the future. *J. Manag.* 38, 1715–1759. doi: 10.1177/0149206311415280
- Dunahoo, C. L., Hobfoll, S. E., Monnier, J., Hulsizer, M. R., and Johnson, R. (1998). There's more than rugged individualism in coping. part 1: even the lone ranger had tonto. *Anxiety Stress Coping* 11, 137–165. doi: 10.1080/10615809808248309
- Freedy, J. R., and Hobfoll, S. E. (1994). Stress inoculation for reduction of burnout: a conservation of resources approach. Anxiety Stress Coping 6, 311–325. doi: 10.1080/10615809408248805
- Friehe, T., and Schildberg-Hörisch, H. (2017). Predicting norm enforcement: the individual and joint predictive power of economic preferences, personality, and self-control. *Eur. J. Law Econ.* 45, 1–20. doi: 10.1007/s10657-017-9556-5
- Gaines, J., and Jermier, J. M. (1983). Emotional exhaustion in a high stress organization. Acad. Manag. J. 26, 567–586. doi: 10.2307/255907
- Giardini, A., and Frese, M. (2006). Reducing the negative effects of emotion work in service occupations: emotional competence as a psychological resource. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 11, 63–75. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.11.1.63
- Goldberg, L. S., and Grandey, A. A. (2007). Display rules versus display autonomy: emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and task performance in a call center simulation. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 12, 301–318. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12. 3.301
- Graen, G. B., and Uhl-Bien, M. (1995). Relationship-based approach to leadership: development of leader-member exchange (lmx) theory of leadership over 25 years: applying a multi-level multi-domain perspective. *Leadersh. Q.* 6, 219–247. doi: 10.1016/1048-9843(95)90036-5
- Grandey, A., Foo, S. C., Groth, M., and Goodwin, R. E. (2012). Free to be you and me: a climate of authenticity alleviates burnout from emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 17, 1–14. doi: 10.1037/a0025102
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5, 95–110. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When "the show must go on": surface acting and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96. doi: 10.2307/30040678
- Grandey, A. A. (2008). "Emotions at work: a review and research agenda," in *Handbook of Organizational Behavior*, eds C. Cooper and J. Barling (London: Sage), 235–261.
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 2, 271–299. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Groth, M., and Grandey, A. A. (2012). From bad to worse: negative exchange spirals in employee-customer service interactions. *Organ. Psychol. Rev.* 2, 208–233. doi: 10.1177/2041386612441735
- Hadley, C. N. (2014). Emotional roulette? symmetrical and asymmetrical emotion regulation outcomes from coworker interactions about positive and negative work events. *Hum. Relat.* 67, 1073–1094. doi: 10.1177/001872671452 9316
- Hakanen, J. J., Perhoniemi, R., and Toppinen-Tanner, S. (2008). Positive gain spirals at work: from job resources to work engagement, personal initiative and work-unit innovativeness. J. Vocat. Behav. 73, 78–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2008. 01.003
- Harris, L. C., and Ogbonna, E. (2002). Exploring service sabotage: the antecedents, types and consequences of frontline, deviant, antiservice behaviors. J. Serv. Res. 4, 163–183. doi: 10.1177/1094670502004003001

- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach, Vol. 51. New York, NY: The Guilford Press, 335–337. doi: 10.1080/13557858.2017.1315056
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources. A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. Am. Psychol. 44, 513–524. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2001). The influence of culture, community, and the nested-self in the stress process: advancing conservation of resources theory. *Appl. Psychol.* 50, 337–421. doi: 10.1111/1464-0597.00062
- Hüffmeier, J., and Hertel, G. (2011). Many cheers make light the work: how social support triggers process gains in teams. J. Manag. Psychol. 26, 185–204. doi: 10.1108/0268394111112631
- Hülsheger, U. R., Lang, J. W., and Maier, G. W. (2010). Emotional labor, strain, and performance: testing reciprocal relationships in a longitudinal panel study. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 15, 505–521. doi: 10.1037/a0021003
- Hülsheger, U. R., and Schewe, A. F. (2011). On the costs and benefits of emotional labor: a meta-analysis of three decades of research. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 16, 361–389. doi: 10.1037/a0022876
- Jiang, J. Y., Law, K. S., and Sun, J. J. M. (2014). Leader-member relationship and burnout: the moderating role of leader integrity. *Manag. Organ. Rev.* 10, 223–247. doi: 10.1111/more.12022
- Judge, T. A., Woolf, E. F., and Hurst, C. (2009). Is emotional labor more difficult for some than for others? a multilevel, experience-sampling study. *Pers. Psychol.* 62, 57–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2008.01129.x
- Karasek, R. A., Triantis, K. P., and Chaudhry, S. S. (1982). Coworker and supervisor support as moderators of associations between task characteristics and mental strain. J. Organ. Behav. 3, 181–200. doi: 10.1002/job.4030030205
- Kong, H., and Jeon, J. E. (2018). Daily emotional labor, negative affect state, and emotional exhaustion: cross-level moderators of affective commitment. *Sustainability* 10, 1–13. doi: 10.3390/su10061967
- Krannitz, M. A., Grandey, A. A., Liu, S., and Almeida, D. A. (2015). Workplace surface acting and marital partner discontent: anxiety and exhaustion spillover mechanisms. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 20, 314–325. doi: 10.1037/a003 8763
- Li, J., Wong, I. K. A., and Kim, W. G. (2017). Does mindfulness reduce emotional exhaustion? A multilevel analysis of emotional labor among casino employees. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 64, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.03.008
- Liden, R. C., Wayne, S. J., Meuser, J. D., Hu, J., Wu, J. F., and Liao, C. W. (2015). Servant leadership: validation of a short form of the SL-28. *Leadersh. Q.* 26, 254–269. doi: 10.1016/j.leaqua.2014.12.002
- Marcus, B., and Schuler, H. (2004). Antecedents of counterproductive behavior at work: a general perspective. J. Appl. Psychol. 89, 647–660. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.89.4.647
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., and Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job burnout. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 52, 397–422. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397
- Mayer, D. M., Ehrhart, M. G., and Schneider, B. (2009). Service attribute boundary conditions of the service climate-customer satisfaction link. *Acad. Manag. J.* 52, 1034–1050. doi: 10.5465/AMJ.2009.44635617
- McCarthy, J. M., Trougakos, J. P., and Cheng, B. H. (2016). Are anxious workers less productive workers? It depends on the quality of social exchange. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 101:279. doi: 10.1037/apl0000044
- Mesmer-Magnus, J. R., Dechurch, L. A., and Wax, A. (2012). Moving emotional labor beyond surface and deep acting a discordance-congruence perspective. *Organ. Psychol. Rev.* 2, 6–53. doi: 10.1177/2041386611417746
- Miles, E. W., Patrick, S. L., and King, W. C. Jr. (1996). Job level as a systemic variable in predicting the relationship between supervisory communication and job satisfaction. *J. Occup. Organ. Psychol.* 69, 277–292. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325. 1996.tb00615.x
- Monica, M., Federica, E., Margherita, Z., Chiara, G., Lara, C., and Cortese, C. G. (2016). Inbound call centers and emotional dissonance in the job demands-resources model. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1133. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016. 01133
- Muraven, M., Tice, D. M., and Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Self-control as limited resource: regulatory depletion patterns. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 774–789. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.3.774
- Ng, T. W. H., and Sorensen, K. L. (2008). Toward a further understanding of the relationships between perceptions of support and work attitudes: a metaanalysis. *Group Organ. Manag.* 33, 243–268. doi: 10.1177/1059601107313307

- Parker, S. K., and Axtell, C. M. (2001). Seeing another viewpoint: antecedents and outcomes of employee perspective taking. *Acad. Manag. J.* 44, 1085–1100. doi: 10.2307/3069390
- Prati, L. M., Liu, Y., Perrewé, P. L., and Ferris, G. R. (2009). Emotional intelligence as moderator of the surface acting—strain relationship. *J. Leadersh. Organ. Stud.* 15, 368–380. doi: 10.1177/1548051808328518
- Ray, E. B., and Miller, K. I. (1994). Social support, home/work stress, and burnout: who can help? *J. Appl. Behav. Sci.* 30, 357–373. doi: 10.1177/0021886394303007
- Rosso, B. D., Dekas, K. H., and Wrzesniewski, A. (2010). On the meaning of work: a theoretical integration and review. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 30, 91–127. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2010.09.001
- Sakurai, K., and Jex, S. M. (2012). Coworker incivility and incivility targets' work effort and counterproductive work behaviors: the moderating role of supervisor social support. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 17, 150–161. doi: 10.1037/a0027350
- Schaffer, B. S., and Riordan, C. M. (2003). A review of cross-cultural methodologies for organizational research: a best- practices approach. Organ. Res. Methods 6, 169–215. doi: 10.1177/1094428103251542
- Schaufeli, W. B., Leiter, M. P., Maslach, C., and Jackson, S. E. (1996). "MBI-general survey," in *Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual*, 3rd Edn, eds C. Maslach, S. E. Jackson, and M. P. Leiter (Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press), 19–26.
- Schmeichel, B. J., Demaree, H. A., Robinson, J. L., and Pu, J. (2006). Ego depletion by response exaggeration. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 42, 95–102. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp. 2005.02.005
- Schneider, B., Ehrhart, M. G., Mayer, D. M., Saltz, J. L., and Niles-Jolly, K. (2005). Understanding organization-customer links in service settings. *Acad. Manag. J.* 48, 1017–1032. doi: 10.5465/AMJ.2005.19573107
- Schneider, K. T., Wesselmann, E. D., and Desouza, E. R. (2017). Confronting subtle workplace mistreatment: the importance of leaders as allies. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1051–1064. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01051
- Shanock, L. R., Allen, J. A., Dunn, A. M., Baran, B. E., Scott, C. W., and Rogelberg, S. G. (2013). Less acting, more doing: how surface acting relates to perceived meeting effectiveness and other employee outcomes. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 86, 457–476. doi: 10.1111/joop.12037
- Sherony, K. M., and Green, S. G. (2002). Coworker exchange: relationships between coworkers, leader-member exchange, and work attitudes. J. Appl. Psychol. 87, 542–548. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87.3.542
- Skarlicki, D. P., van Jaarsveld, D. D., Shao, R., Song, Y. H., and Wang, M. (2016). Extending the multifoci perspective: The role of supervisor justice and moral identity in the relationship between customer justice and customer-directed sabotage. J. Appl. Psychol. 101, 108–121. doi: 10.1037/apl0000034
- Skarlicki, D. P., van Jaarsveld, D. D., and Walker, D. D. (2008). Getting even for customer mistreatment: the role of moral identity in the relationship between customer interpersonal injustice and employee sabotage. J. Appl. Psychol. 93, 1335–1347. doi: 10.1037/a0012704
- Sonnentag, S., and Fritz, C. (2007). The recovery experience questionnaire: development and validation of a measure for assessing recuperation and unwinding from work. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 12, 204–221. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.12.3.204
- Solomon, M. R., Surprenant, C., Czepiel, J. A., and Gutman, E. G. (1985). A role theory perspective on dyadic interactions: the service encounter. J. Mark. 49, 99–111. doi: 10.2307/1251180
- Stucke, T. S., and Baumeister, R. F. (2010). Ego depletion and aggressive behavior: is the inhibition of aggression a limited resource? *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 36, 1–13. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.285
- Thau, S., and Mitchell, M. S. (2010). Self-gain or self-regulation impairment? Tests of competing explanations of the supervisor abuse and employee deviance

relationship through perceptions of distributive justice. J. Appl. Psychol. 95, 1009–1031. doi: 10.1037/a0020540

- The World Factbook (2017). *The World Factbook*. Available at: https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/resources/the-world-factbook/fields/2012.html
- Thoits, P. A. (2011). Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. *J. Health Soc. Behav.* 52, 145–161. doi: 10.1177/0022146510395592
- Trougakos, J. P., Beal, D. J., Green, S. G., and Weiss, H. M. (2008). Making the break count: an episodic examination of recovery activities, emotional experiences, and positive affective displays. *Acad. Manag. J.* 51, 131–146. doi: 10.5465/AMJ. 2008.30764063
- Viswesvaran, C., Sanchez, J. I., and Fisher, J. (1999). The role of social support in the process of work stress: a meta-analysis. J. Vocat. Behav. 54, 314–334. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.1998.1661
- Wagner, D. T., Barnes, C. M., and Scott, B. A. (2014). Driving it home: How workplace emotional labor harms employee home life. *Pers. Psychol.* 67, 487–516. doi: 10.1111/peps.12044
- Walsh, G., Dahling, J. J., Schaarschmidt, M., and Brach, S. (2016). Surface-acting outcomes among service employees with two jobs. J. Serv. Manag. 27, 534–562. doi: 10.1108/JOSM-05-2015-0169
- Wang, K. L., and Groth, M. (2014). Buffering the negative effects of employee surface acting: the moderating role of employee–customer relationship strength and personalized services. J. Appl. Psychol. 99, 341–350. doi: 10.1037/a003 4428
- Wang, M., Liao, H., Zhan, Y., and Shi, J. (2011). Daily customer mistreatment and employee sabotage against customers: examining emotion and resource perspectives. *Acad. Manag. J.* 54, 312–334. doi: 10.5465/AMJ.2011.6026 3093
- Welsh, D. T., Ellis, A. P., Christian, M. S., and Mai, K. M. (2014). Building a self-regulatory model of sleep deprivation and deception: the role of caffeine and social influence. J. Appl. Psychol. 99, 1268–1277. doi: 10.1037/a003 6202
- Wright, T. A., and Cropanzano, R. (1998). Emotional exhaustion as a predictor of job performance and voluntary turnover. J. Appl. Psychol. 83, 486–493. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.83.3.486
- Wu, L. Z., Tse, E. C.-Y., Fu, P. P., Hokwong, K., and Liu, J. (2013). The impact of servant leadership on hotel employees' "servant behavior". *Cornell Hosp. Q.* 54, 383–395. doi: 10.1177/1938965513482519
- Wu, T. Y., and Hu, C. (2009). Abusive supervision and employee emotional exhaustion: dispositional antecedents and boundaries. *Soc. Sci. Electron. Pub.* 34, 143–169. doi: 10.1177/1059601108331217
- Yagil, D., and Medlerliraz, H. (2017). Personally committed to emotional labor: Surface acting, emotional exhaustion and performance among service employees with a strong need to belong. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 22, 481–491. doi: 10.1037/ocp0000049

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Zhang, Zhou, Zhan, Liu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





On Averting Negative Emotion: Remedying the Impact of Shifting Expectations

Cecile K. Cho¹ and Theresa S. Cho^{2*}

¹ International Business Department, Korea University Business School, Seoul, South Korea, ² Strategy and International Management Department, College of Business Administration, Seoul National University, Seoul, South Korea

This paper examines how people anticipate negative emotions when faced with an uncertain outcome and try to manage their expectations. While extant research streams remain equivocal on whether managing expectations always succeeds, this research examines situations in which setting a low expectation can have an adverse emotional impact and suggests ways to alleviate this negative consequence. Using goal setting and a false-feedback paradigm, we show that, although individuals who set low goals to manage expectations can end up feeling more disappointed than those who set high goals (study 1), this negative impact can be avoided when individuals are reminded of their initial goals at feedback, or made aware of inaccuracies in forecasting their future emotion (studies 1 and 2).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jungkun Park, Hanyang University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Nara Youn, Hongik University, South Korea Chan Jean Lee, College of Business, KAIST, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Theresa S. Cho tcho@snu.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 June 2018 Accepted: 15 October 2018 Published: 20 November 2018

Citation:

Cho CK and Cho TS (2018) On Averting Negative Emotion: Remedying the Impact of Shifting Expectations. Front. Psychol. 9:2121. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02121 Keywords: emotion, expectation, motivated goals, comparison standards, disappointment, anticipatory strategies

INTRODUCTION

Anticipating the future, the capacity to represent future events flexibly and imagine diverse possible outcomes are fundamental to human being's survival. Individuals anticipate circumstances by taking expected future consequences into consideration when setting present goals and standards (Aspinwall, 2005). The link between one's anticipation for future outcomes and its impact on current behavior is a central topic in self-regulation (Bandura, 1982; Higgins, 1987, 1996, 1997; Carver and Scheier, 1990, 1998). Research on bracing demonstrates that people have a robust tendency to lower predictions of their own performance (Shepperd et al., 1996). In anticipation of a potentially disappointing outcome, individuals have been found to lower their expectations in order to reduce the gap between expectations and outcomes (see Carroll et al., 2006). For example, Carroll et al. (2006) found that student predictions for upcoming grades or exam scores moved from optimistic (over-estimating the actual results) to pessimistic (underestimating) as the time of receiving the grade approached (Shepperd et al., 1996). The finding from bracing research suggests that lowering expectations can indeed serve to cushion and avert disappointment when negative outcomes occur. This is because such lowered expectations are then used as a reference standard against which an outcome is judged. In this research, we investigate whether lowered expectations always serve as the reference standard for evaluating the outcome. Should the lowered expectancy fail to serve as the reference standard, the assumed cushioning effect may not take place.

Seen from a self-regulation perspective, avoiding disappointment could be conceptualized as a meta-goal that motivates the subsequent lowering of expectations. Given an uncertain future outcome, when a potential salient failure looms, a negative emotion accompanying this failure is also likely to be salient and trigger the defensive lowering of the forecasted outcome. The lay belief

17

that one needs to "manage expectations," as doing so would help one avoid the negative emotion of failure, is common and influences how people assess what they will find satisfactory. In this paper, we consider such lowering of expectations as synonymous with choosing an easy goal, along with implications for a self-regulation strategy whereby avoiding a negative affect is part of successful goal pursuit.

Setting Low Goals to Manage Expectations

Goal setting is one of the most widely accepted paradigms of motivation and self-regulation behavior (e.g., Locke et al., 1990). Decades of research have consistently demonstrated that setting specific and challenging goals can powerfully motivate an individual. Recently, however, research on goals has begun to examine the negative consequences. Setting specific and challenging goals has been demonstrated to increase individuals' engagement in unethical behavior and excessive risks, as well as to demotivate and derail goal striving (Larrick et al., 2009; Ordonez et al., 2009; Townsend and Liu, 2012). If setting a challenging goal becomes a salient reference that can derail goal striving, other research has found that setting an easy and safe goal can also be demotivating, as people compare their performance to a better imagined outcome (Cho and Johar, 2011).

In this research, we start from the premise that setting low goals demotivates and leaves one disappointed. We draw on the recent finding that evaluation standards can shift over time (Van Dijk et al., 2003; Monga and Houston, 2006; Cho and Johar, 2011). In particular, Cho and Johar (2011) found that setting goals low could be less satisfying because people often compare to a better possible outcome. In our research, we examine the conditions under which such a shifting of goal standards is likely and test ways to intervene. Across two studies, we explore conditions under which setting easy goals (even if achieved) can lead to perceptions of failure and show that reference standards used to evaluate outcomes is not the initial expectation (study 1); and, making participants aware that comparative standards can shift might remedy the perception of failure and accompanying negative emotions. In study 1, we manipulate motivational states to induce goal levels while measuring the chronic disposition to anticipate failure and negative emotions in order to predict the anticipatory lowering of goals and expectations. In study 2, we test the assumption that individuals concerned with prevention goals are more likely to manage expectations. In this way, we show that increasing awareness of the futility of trying to manage a future affect could serve to intervene against this counterproductive tendency.

Anticipated Emotion and Goal Setting

In order to demonstrate the self-regulatory nature of a goallowering strategy, we draw on motivation literature to create conditions under which low-vs.-high goals are set. Similarly, research on regulatory focus suggests that avoidance orientation (prevention focus) is associated with pursuing minimal goals, whereas approach orientation (promotion focus) is associated with pursuing maximal goals (Brendl and Higgins, 1996; Forster et al., 1998; Jain et al., 2006). The motive to avoid failure is associated with the anticipated negative emotion that accompanies this failure (McClelland, 1953). The tendency to set low goals is likely to be exacerbated when consumers are concerned about minimizing the negative emotion that accompanies failure (Van Dijk et al., 2003).

STUDY 1

The purpose of this study is twofold. First, we seek to show that people lower their expectations of what will be satisfactory as an anticipatory coping strategy to avoid disappointment. Second, we seek to show that lowering expectations may not help to avert disappointment even if expectations are confirmed. Consistent with previous research, our prediction is that lowering expectations will lead to feeling more, not less, disappointed, because the initially set expectation is not used as a comparison standard when the performance outcome is revealed and evaluated (Cho and Johar, 2011). In this study, we use avoidance and approach motivations to operationalize and induce setting of low and high goal levels, respectively (Friedman and Forster, 2001; Zhou and Pham, 2004). Our logic in using approach and avoidance motive as antecedents of lowering expectation comes from the motivation literature which states that avoid motivation should trigger a greater sensitivity to potential failure; the greater concern with failure and negative affect, the greater tendency to lower goals (for example, Forster et al., 1998). It also follows from the bracing literature which found that when faced with potentially negative news, people lower their expectations in order to prepare for this bad new (Shepperd et al., 1996). Therefore, we predict that under avoidance motivation, participants will lower their expectation (set lower goals), whereas under approach motivation, participants will set a comparatively higher expectation (set higher goals).

If the lowered expectation is used to evaluate the outcome (which is confirmed using the false feedback paradigm) then the measure of disappointment should be minimal. If people end up comparing their outcome to imagined outcomes that are better ("it could have been better"), then even after initially lowering their expectation strategically (Shepperd et al., 1996), the assumed benefit of the lowered expectation is likely misguided and needs to be corrected.

We draw on previous research and vary the information present at the time of performance feedback to test the preceding hypothesis that potential performance is likely to be the spontaneously recruited comparison standard (Cho and Johar, 2011). In their study, Cho and Johar (2011) showed that when respondents were provided with their performance results, they seemed to compare their outcomes to the highest potential, which likely served as a spontaneous comparison standard. However, making the initially set goal salient at the time of feedback should result in no difference between the low-andhigh goal conditions: that is, both groups should compare their performance to the salient goal and realize they have met the goal and should therefore be equally satisfied. In our study, we manipulate approach and avoidance motives so as to invoke fear of failure and a negative affect. We seek to show that the desire to avoid a negative affect from failure is driving the lowering of expectation and thereby imparting a negative consequence on satisfaction because the comparison standard used is not the lowered expectation. Specifically, we seek to show that even when expectation is confirmed, those who had set a low expectation to avoid failure actually end up feeling disappointed and less happy compared to those who did not.

Experimental Design

We tested our hypothesis using a 2 (approach vs. avoidance motive) \times 2 (information at feedback: performance-only vs. performance-and-goal) between-subjects design. One hundred and thirty-nine undergraduate and graduate business students at a large public university participated in the experiment for extra credit in an on-campus lab. Once seated, all participants were welcomed and provided information on the purpose and description of the study and time required (approximately 20 min). They were also informed that their responses will be unidentifiable and remain anonymous, and that participation was entirely voluntary. The students clicked "yes" to provide consent before proceeding and were debriefed of the purpose of the study upon completion. Ethics approval was not required as per the institution's guidelines and national regulations; the study was exempted from the ethics review process by the Ethics Committee (Dr. Augustine Kposowa, Chair, and Dr. Rollanda O'Connor, Vice Chair, Human Research Review Board, Office of Research Integrity, University of California, Riverside).

Stimuli and Procedure

The experiment included two phases. In the first phase, participants were asked to complete two tasks framed either in an approach or an avoidance manner. The first task involved proofreading a short article in which the participants, in the approach condition, were instructed to "find the maximum number of misspelled words." In the avoid condition, participants were instructed to "avoid missing any misspelled words" (Zhou and Pham, 2004). The second task was to solve a paper-andpencil maze (Friedman and Forster, 2001) in which participants had to guide a cartoon mouse from the center of the maze to the exit. In the approach condition, a piece of cheese was depicted as sitting at the exit, whereas in the avoidance condition, a prowling owl was depicted as looking over the mouse from the opposite end of the exit. According to Friedman and Forster (2001), the cheese and the owl operationalize cognitive representation of "seeking reward" and "avoiding punishment," respectively. It was predicted that, compared to those who were primed with an approach frame, participants primed with an avoidance frame would set more conservative return goals. It is noted that the manipulation used was originally designed for regulatory foci priming in which constructs promotion and prevention foci are close correlates of approach and avoidance motivations (Friedman and Förster, 2005, 2013).

In the second phase, participants completed the main experiment using an online financial investment interface. Performance is always at the level of the goal; that is, goals are met in all conditions. Participants were told that they would make investment decisions and receive feedback on their performance based on the actual performance of the stocks they picked. They were told:

"Imagine that you are living in a foreign country and need to invest your money. You have an investment budget of \$5,400 and want to invest it in the stock market of this country. Given the market conditions in this country, at the end of a month, you can expect your portfolio to yield between 0 and 20% in return. As with any investment in a financial market, investing in stocks involves risk."

On the next page, participants read, "You make investment decisions on the first of every month – that is, you trade on the 1st of each month. It is now the first day of March. What is the rate of return you would be satisfied with for this month?" Participants then picked a target level of return from the following possible target returns: 0, 2, 4, 6, ...20%. Next, they responded to a manipulation check question to verify their awareness of the relative level of their expectation levels: "What is the level of expectation you have set for your portfolio's performance?" (1-low expectation; 9-high expectation).

On the following page, participants constructed stock portfolios using an interactive interface. They were presented with a list of 20 fictitious stocks along with key information such as P/E ratio, price, ROE, debt-to-equity ratio, and EPS (quarter vs. year ago). The interactive interface simulated information layout of the E*Trade website. The experimental program recorded the time participants spent on reviewing, selecting, and allocating the three stocks. Low- and high-goal setters did not differ in terms of the amount of time that they spent on the task [$M_{logoal} = 7 \min 48$ s vs. $M_{higoal} = 7 \min 12$ s; F(1,139) = 0.88, *n.s.*].

After a ten-minute filler task, participants were given feedback and received their stock portfolio returns on the subsequent screen. The returns matched their goals (goal+0.04%, the latter added to increase believability of the feedback). Participants were led to believe that their stock picks and allocations were used to calculate the actual returns using real data for that month for which they made their decision. For the "performance-only feedback" (default) condition, only the performance information was provided at feedback. Those in the "performance-and-goal at feedback" condition were told, "You had predicted that you would be satisfied with (actual goal) % for the past month. Your portfolio has resulted in a return of (actual goal plus 0.04%)."

Respondents then recorded their thoughts about their performance ("Please write down all thoughts that came to mind when you saw the performance level of your stock portfolio."). They next rated their disappointment with the performance of their stocks on a 9-point scale. As a final separate study, respondents were asked to complete a set of "personality questionnaires," which included a set of questions designed to measure their affect-management concern ("I chose a performance goal that would reduce my future disappointment"; "Choosing a low goal is better than high goal because it is helpful in dealing with anxiety"; "Setting a low goal is a good way to prepare for an uncertain outcome"; "I kept in mind that not meeting my goal would make me unhappy"; 9-point scale; 1 = not at all agree; 9 = definitely agree; alpha = 0.72). Affect-management concern measures were collected to test the role of an anticipatory

negative affect in goal setting. Our prediction is that concern regarding a future affect, and the desire to avoid a negative affect, will mediate the predicted effect of avoidance prime on lowering goals. Finally, we collected involvement and expertise measures, which did not differ across conditions.

RESULTS

Manipulation Check

To verify that those participants who managed their expectation by setting low goals were aware that they chose a low target (vs. high) we regressed the self-rated level of expectation item to the actual level of goal. As anticipated, the level of goals set and perceived level of these goals were strongly correlated (r = 0.36, p < 0.0001).

Setting Goals Low to Avoid Negative Emotion

We predicted that individuals lowball their goals to avoid uncertainty and a negative affect from failure. As expected, participants under an avoidance frame (vs. approach frame) were found to set significantly lower goals (i.e., target rates of return) ($\beta = -0.61$, p < 0.0001). We then tested the mediating role of affect-management concern (combined measure of four question items; $\min = 1$, $\max = 9$) on level of goals set, using Hayes' (2013) PROCESS model 4. A bootstrapping analysis (5,000 iterations) revealed that affect-management concern had a significant, indirect effect on the level of goal set ($\beta = 0.43$, 95% confidence interval [CI]: [0.15, 0.79]). This result suggested that goal setting under uncertainty could serve as an anticipatory coping mechanism to avoid a negative affect. Isolating the measure for salience of disappointment, the indirect effect of the desire to avoid disappointment on the goal level was stronger under avoidance motivation compared to approach motivation $(\beta = 0.51, 95\% \text{ confidence interval [CI]: } [0.18, 0.89]).$

Analyses were conducted using only the respondents in the approach frame group, who set their goals on the high end of the 0 to 20% return scale (\geq 10% median goal set) and those in the avoidance frame group, who set their goals on the low end of the scale (<10%; N = 124). Restricting the data was to ensure against concerns of self-selection, or third variable problem, due to chronic tendency such as general optimism and pessimism. The main question was whether this strategy of lowering goals actually helps one to avoid a negative emotion. In other words, does lowering one's goal help in avoiding disappointment?

Disappointment

The hypothesis was tested using a regression analysis with "disappointment" as the dependent variable (DV) and the selected goal level (between 0 and 20% return, mean-centered) and feedback (performance-only vs. performance-and-goal) as the inDVs. The analysis revealed a significant main effect of goal level (goal $\beta = -0.29$, p < 0.0001) such that disappointment increased as the level of goal decreased. There was also a main effect of providing a goal at feedback such that reminding participants of their goal at feedback led to increased satisfaction ($\beta = 0.80$, p < 0.01). The interaction between the feedback

variable (goal reminded or not) and the goal level was directionally consistent but not significant ($\beta = -0.43$, p = 0.13). More to our interest is whether those who lower their goals and actually achieve their goals are helping themselves to avoid the negative affect of disappointment. As illustrated in **Figure 1**, within the performance-only condition, those who achieve their low, safe goals report greater disappointment than those who set and achieve a higher goal. Follow-up contrasts confirmed that participants were more disappointed when they had set a low-vs.-high goal (based on median of 10%) in the performance-only feedback condition (*M*logoal = 5.42 vs. *M*higoal = 3.14), [*F*(1,120) = 27.17, *p* < 0.0001]. Providing the initial goal along with the performance at the time of feedback eliminated the effect of setting low-vs.-high goals (*M*logoal = 3.04 vs. *M*higoal = 2.18), (*F* = 3.45, *p* = 0.09).

Discussions and Limitations

The higher disappointment reported by the low-expectation individuals suggests that setting low expectations is not conducive to averting disappointment despite having such expectations confirmed. Those who manage their expectations and have them confirmed were more disappointed compared to those who did not. The interaction of providing goals at the feedback evaluation suggests that the portfolio-performance comparison was not to the initially set goals. This result is consistent with Cho and Johar (2011) finding on shifting reference standards whereby people were observed to invoke superior, alternative reference standards when they evaluate their performance. Results from experiment 1 suggest that the desire to manage a future affect by lowering a target goal is not conducive to success feedback. This finding suggests that in fact, trying to manage future success undermines the selfregulatory feedback loop by instigating perceptions of failure. Awareness of the initial goal at feedback remedies this effect. It is interesting to note that all participants reported feeling disappointed with the outcome, although in different degrees. This finding is consistent with extant research on counterfactual thinking and the general tendency to upwardly compare to unattained, alternative outcomes (see, for example, Roese, 1997).

A limitation of this study was that the level of goal and the performance outcome were the same. Although this was by design, it lends to the concern that performance outcome that varied may drive the effect. Therefore, as the purpose was to examine the effect of managing expectations (not outcome) on emotional reactions to a confirmed expectancy, holding the outcome constant would lend additional strength to the findings. This limitation notwithstanding, we note that it does not take away from the core premise - that is, all participants in the study were choosing the target (expectations) that they considered would be satisfactory. The use of the stock-picking task, while interactive and self-involving, could be subject to the concern that it is artificial and unfamiliar. Replication of the results using real monetary consequences would enhance this concern. Further, replicating the findings using other domains of self-relevance would enhance generalizability of this study's findings. While different in scope, we explore more familiar and self-involving domains in our next study.

STUDY 2

Study 1 demonstrated that setting goals low might be counterproductive in avoiding disappointment even if the goals are met. This study examines the possibility that greater awareness of the difficulty of forecasting future emotion may reduce the lowballing tendency among those with a chronic tendency to set low goals. Whereas the preceding study primed participants to set different goal levels, this study examines chronic tendencies to set low or high goals, with the level of goal set as the main DV. One such chronic tendency, or trait difference that may dictate whether goals are chronically set low or high is regulatory focus (Shah et al., 1998). According to Shah et al. (1998), people can construe aspirational standards as minimal goals they must attain or as maximal goals they hope to attain. Minimal goals differentiate negative from nonnegative events, whereas maximal goals differentiate positive from non-positive events (Brendl and Higgins, 1996; Idson et al., 2000). Freitas et al. (2002) have demonstrated that a promotion focus tends to foster concerns with maximal goals while a prevention focus fosters concerns with minimal goals. Because goals within a promotion focus are seen as opportunities to try for optimal outcomes - whereas goals within a prevention focus are perceived as minimal requirements - it could be argued that this dispositional tendency in goal perception influences the actual level of aspiration one sets for oneself. Specifically, an individual with a prevention focus is likely to set low goals because he is concerned with avoiding failure and achieving the minimum is perceived to fit this goal. In contrast, a promotionfocused individual is likely to set higher goals because he is less concerned with avoiding failure and the accompanying disappointment. Can this tendency to set low goals be mitigated? One method of intervention would be to increase awareness regarding the fallacy that one can avert disappointment by managing expectations. If individuals are made aware that anticipated affect is often misleading and inaccurate, the tendency to set preemptively low goals in anticipation of a possible negative affect could be prevented. Research on context effects and bias correction has shown that, when people become aware of their reactions as being due to primes rather than the target, they attempt to "correct" their reactions by consciously "resetting" and adjusting their judgments (Martin, 1986; Schwarz and Bless, 1992; Wegener and Petty, 1997). In other words, when made aware of a potential bias, individuals would attempt to correct for this bias. This motivation to correct, we reason, should also operate when an individual is made aware of the tendency to overpredict a potential negative affect and the worst outcome.

In this study, we test to see whether making participants aware of the inaccuracy of the lay theory (tendency to overpredict negative emotion and the belief that lowering goals and expectations can help to avoid it) can trigger a corrective process, whereby the lowballing of goal is mitigated. We expect that those who are aware of the inaccuracy of their predicted affect will effectively set higher goals, particularly those who are chronically likely to lower goals as measured by their regulatory orientation.

Experimental Design

The study used a 2 (prime: awareness vs. no awareness) \times 2 (chronic regulatory focus: promotion vs. prevention) betweensubjects design with the level of goal as the main DV. One hundred and thirty participants participated as part of extra credit for a class. As with study 1, all participants were informed of the confidentiality and unidentifiability of their responses and that their participation was entirely voluntary. They were told that they would perform several unrelated tasks consisting of a reading comprehension task, a stock-picking study, and a lifestyle questionnaire. The students clicked "yes" to provide consent before proceeding and were debriefed of the purpose of the study upon completion. As with study 1, this study was approved by the university's Human Research Review Board. Ethics approval was not required as per the institution's guidelines and national regulations; the study was exempted from the ethics review process by the Ethics Committee (Dr. Augustine Kposowa, Chair, and Dr. Rollanda O'Connor, Vice Chair, Human Research Review Board, Office of Research Integrity, University of California, Riverside).

Stimuli and Procedure

In the first study, presented as a comprehension study given by the English department, respondents in the "awareness" prime condition read a newspaper article describing research by Gilbert and Wilson (2000, c.f. Gertner, 2003) on the unreliability of forecasted feelings. Those in the "no awareness" prime condition read an article about strategies to avoid disappointment to succeed in life. Participants were asked to rate their agreements on five question items using a 7-point scale (1 = strongly disagree and 7 = strongly agree): "This article was convincing"; "It is wise to avoid disappointment in navigating life's challenges"; "Managing one's expectation is a good strategy to cope with life's uncertainties and disappointments"; "To be happy, it is important not to think so much about possible failures and disappointments"; "It is important to know that what people expect will be disappointing or painful will not be so bad."

In the next ostensibly unrelated study, the scenario used was similar to that in study 1, except for returns that ranged from negative to positive, ("Given the market condition in this country, at the end of a month, you can expect your portfolio to yield between -20 and 20% in return."). Participants worked on a computer and were led to believe that the study would entail an actual stock-picking task after which they would be provided how well their chosen stocks performed (identical to study 1); but because we are interested in the target level chosen as the main DV, the study would stop when they chose a level of return. Participants read the stock-picking scenario and chose from a set of 21 possible levels of returns (0, 1, 2, 3, ..., 20%). In addition, in the next (unrelated) "lifestyle and value survey" that followed, participants were asked to state their target in various life domains, namely saving money, exercising, losing weight, and any other goal they may have previously set, and whether these goals were easy or difficult. These questions were expected to serve as replicates of the predicted interaction effect of regulatory foci and awareness of inaccuracies of the lay theory on managing goal levels.

In the final "unrelated study," respondents answered the 11-item Regulatory Focus Questionnaire (Higgins et al., 2001) where they rated their history of promotion and prevention success and failure on 5-point scales (1-never or seldom; 5-very often). Participants were then debriefed and told that the study was concerned with goal-setting rather than financial decisionmaking. We expected that chronic orientations on the promotion and prevention dimensions would correlate with the level of goals set such that a prevention focus would lower the goal level. Specifically, it is predicted that prevention individuals will set lower goals than promotion individuals, and that within the awareness condition, this tendency will not be observed whereby prevention individuals will set their goals at a similar level as compared to promotion individuals.

RESULTS

Manipulation Check

An ANOVA was run on the measures of agreement with the convincingness of the article that was read. Nine respondents who rated the article as completely unconvincing were dropped from the study (seven from no awareness and two from awareness conditions), as were six participants whose numerical responses were identical throughout the questionnaires, resulting in a sample of 115 participants. Next, ANOVA was run on measures of agreement with the effectiveness of the goal-lowering strategy ("To be happy and successful, it is important to avoid disappointments in life," "Managing one's expectation is a good strategy to cope with life's uncertainties and disappointments.") and on two measures of agreement with the tendency to exaggerate future negative affect ("To be happy, it is important not to think so much about failure and disappointment"; "To be happy, it is important to know that what we think will be disappointing or painful will not be so bad."). The two pairs of measures were highly correlated and combined for analysis (r = 0.68, p < 0.0001; r = 31, p < 0.001). As expected, those in the no-awareness condition were significantly greater in agreement (M = 5.16) on the effectiveness of the lowballing strategy compared with the awareness condition [M = 4.27;F(1,113) = 12.26, p < 0.001]. The awareness condition group was also better informed regarding the inaccuracies of the lay theory in avoiding a future negative affect compared to the no-awareness condition (M = 5.69 vs. 5.03, p < 0.005).

Goal Setting

Level of goals chosen, the main DV of interest, was analyzed first by regressing goal level to prime type (awareness vs. no awareness) and Regulatory Focus (RF) Questionnaire scores (Higgins et al., 1997). Consistent with the RF theory which holds that an individual can be high or low in prevention and promotion foci, that is, that the motivational orientations are orthogonal, the prevention and promotion scores did not correlate (Pearson r = 0.09). Regression analyses for promotion and prevention foci as predictor, goal level chosen as DV, and awareness treatment vs. control treatment as moderator were conducted. As predicted, the chronically prevention-focused





individuals were more likely to set a low goal (standardized β = -0.21, *p* < 0.05), whereas promotion focus had no significant effect (standardized $\beta = -0.07$, *n.s.*). Given that promotion and prevention foci are orthogonal, we proceeded to focus on individual differences in prevention orientation (high vs. low) as the predictor variable in our analysis. Moderator and interaction between predictor and moderator were not significant. More to our interest is whether the chronic tendency to lower the level of goal by the high prevention individuals can be intervened. Therefore, an ANOVA was run for the 2 (Prevention: High vs. Low) \times 2 (prime type: awareness vs. no awareness) study, with the prevention measure separated into high or low at the median (high if >19). There was a marginally significant effect of the prevention focus on the level of goal [F(1,111) = 3.5, p = 0.07] such that high-prevention respondents were setting directionally lower goal levels compared to the low-prevention respondents. More to our interest is whether the high-prevention individuals, who are presumably the chronic low goal setters and prone to managing expectations, can "correct" this tendency when made aware of the tendency to over-anticipate negative emotion. In other words, we tested whether after being made aware of the fallibility of predicting future emotion, the lowering of goals can be prevented. Results supported this prediction (see Figure 2). Within the highprevention group, those who read the awareness treatment set their goals significantly higher (M = 13.12%) than those in the no- awareness group (M = 11.00%), [F(1,111) = 4.11, p < 0.05]. In comparison, those in the low-prevention group did not differ significantly in their level of goals ($M_{\text{disapp}} = 12.25\%$, $M_{\text{correct}} = 13.26\%$), (F < 1). Notably, the hi-prevention group under the awareness prime set goals that were not significantly different from the promotion group, suggesting that the dispositional tendency to lowball on goals (together with the negative emotion of disappointment) may be "corrected" by increasing awareness of the inaccuracies in forecasting one's future affect.

Following the stock-picking scenario study, participants also completed the "General Lifestyle Survey," in which they were asked to rate their goals in various domains, such as saving money, going to the gym, and losing weight (Studies 2a, 2b, and 2c, Table 1). It is noted that this study was conducted in mid-January and February, and some of the questions were designed to correspond to seasonal concerns. The participants were asked to set their goals for three other goal-setting domains: Exercise, ("Exercising and going to the gym is an important part of staying healthy. How often do you plan to go to the gym this year?"; 1never, 2-once a month, 3-twice a month, 4-three times a month, 5-four times a month, 6-once a week, 7-twice a week, 8-three times a week, 9-four times a week or more); saving ("People often set savings goals to curb their spending. What is the amount of savings you would strive for this year?"; less than 5%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%, 35%, 40% or more); and losing weight ("Losing weight is an important part of maintaining health. What is your goal for losing and maintaining your weight? In other words, how many pounds do you plan to lose this winter season?"; open-ended response). Participants were then asked to rate the perceived difficulty of the goal they indicated using a 9-point scale (For you, this goal is. . .: 1-very easy; 3-somewhat easy; 5-neither difficult nor easy; 7-somewhat difficulty; 9-very difficult). We used the perceived difficulty of the goal as the main measure of goal level chosen.

Interestingly, the patterns of results were similarly in support of the finding that the chronically low-goal setting (high prevention-focused) individuals who read the one-page description of the affective forecasting research (awareness prime) chose goals that were more difficult (compared to low prevention-focused individuals). For the exercise goal, highprevention individuals who read the awareness treatment set their goals significantly higher in rated difficulty (M = 5.58) than under the no-awareness treatment (M = 3.07), [F(1,111) = 18.40], p < 0.0001], while there was no difference for the low-prevention individuals (5.21 vs. 5.77, n.s.) (Appendix 1, in Supplementary Material). For savings, for the high-prevention individuals, those in the awareness treatment condition set their goals directionally higher in difficulty (M = 5.46) than under the noawareness treatment (M = 4.56), [F(1,111) = 2.94, p = 0.08]; there was no difference for the low-prevention individuals (5.46 vs. 6.06, n.s.) (Appendix 2, in Supplementary Material). Similarly, for losing weight, the pattern was significant and in a similar direction. High-prevention individuals in the awareness condition were setting significantly more difficult goals than high-prevention individuals in the no-awareness treatment [5.38 vs. 3.39; F(1,111) = 5.71, p < 0.05], while no such effects were observed for the low-prevention individuals (5.58 vs. 5.68, n.s.) (Appendix 3, in Supplementary Material).

DISCUSSION

The purpose of Study 2 was fairly straightforward. That is, given that concern with managing future disappointment and negative emotion leads to a counterproductive tendency to lower one's goal, could this tendency be prevented by making better information available about the misguided assumptions behind such a tendency? To verify the premise that a salient desire to avoid disappointment can motivate one to "manage expectations" and set a low goal, we used chronic differences in concerns of avoiding negative outcomes using the motivational construct of a prevention focus. We tested our hypothesis on individuals with different regulatory orientation as a proxy for chronic low-goal setting tendency and found that the chronic tendency may be "corrected" when individuals are made aware that lowering goals is not always helpful in maximizing happiness. While financial decision-making domain was chosen for the parsimonious operationalization and replication of previous research (Cho and Johar, 2011), we test and find consistent results using three additional domains of goal setting. The simple replication across the four domains provides additional validation to the generalizability of awareness as a way to mitigate the goal setting behavior.

Motivation	Awareness condition	Study 2: return goal level (N=113)	Study 2a: savings goal (N=113; 9-very difficult; 1-very easy)	Study 2b: exercise goal (N=113; 9-very difficult; 1-very easy)	Study 2c: weight loss goal (N=113; 9-very difficult; 1-very easy)
Promotion Aw	n Awareness 13.	13.46%	5.46	5.21	5.68
	No awareness	12.45%	6.07	5.77	5.57
Prevention	Awareness	12.79%	5.45	5.58	5.38
	No awareness	10.26%	4.56	3.07	3.89

We manipulated motivational states to induce greater sensitivity to avoiding negative outcome (study 1) as well as measured trait differences (study 2). We tested the efficacy of this implicit strategy of goal lowering and expectations in averting disappointment (study 1) and more importantly, to explore ways to intervene against the potentially negative impact of such a strategy. Our findings suggest that an intervention of a reminder of the initial goal (study 1) or making individuals aware of the potential inaccuracies of trying to manage their future affect (study 2) may help to alleviate the likely negative emotional impact.

Study 1 demonstrated that helping consumers retain their original goals and perspectives might counter the potential impact of upward comparison and the negative emotion that accompanies this process. This study tested more directly whether adverse emotional consequence of lowballing one's expectation could be countered. It was demonstrated that better informing the consumers might be effective in correcting the misguided tendency to lower one's expectations. The results suggest that better informing individuals of the difficulties in accurately forecasting their emotional state can effectively deactivate resorting to lowering one's goals and expectations.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

This research investigated the equivocal claim that managing expectations and setting low goals can help to prepare for a potentially negative outcome. While various streams of research including bracing (Shepperd et al., 1996) and the expectancydisconfirmation model (Oliver, 1980; Van Dijk et al., 2003) have lent support to this lay strategy of "managing expectations," more recent research has offered boundary conditions under which such a strategy may backfire (Ordonez et al., 2009; Townsend and Liu, 2012). Our findings are compatible with previous findings that show that, when goals and expectations are motivated and set low, it may not be stable enough to serve as a reference standard when one's performance outcome is revealed and assessed. Given the instability of reference standards, and the negative emotional consequences, the two studies tested ways to intervene against the counterproductive strategy of setting low expectations. More generally, making individuals aware of the likely inaccuracies in predicting what would be satisfactory in the future, namely,

REFERENCES

- Aspinwall, L. G. (2005). The psychology of future-oriented thinking: from achievement to proactive coping, adaptation, and aging. *Motiv. Emot.* 29, 203–235. doi: 10.1007/s11031-006-9013-1
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. Am. Psychol. 37, 122–147. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122
- Brendl, C. M., and Higgins, E. T. (1996). "Principles of judging valence: what makes events positive or negative?," in *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, Vol. 28, ed. M. P. Zanna (San Diego, CA: Academic Press), 95–160.
- Carroll, P., Sweeny, K., and Shepperd, J. A. (2006). Forsaking optimism. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 10, 56–73. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.10.1.56
- Carver, C. S., and Scheier, M. F. (1990). "Principles of self-regulation: action and emotion," in *Handbook of Motivation and Cognition: Foundations of Social Behavior*, Vol. 2, eds R. M. Sorrentino and E. T. Higgins (New York, NY: Guilford Press), 3–52.

the demonstrated tendency to forecast one's affect inaccurately (Gilbert and Wilson, 2000; Wilson and Gilbert, 2003), may offer a simple remedy for the negative impact of "managing expectations." An interesting avenue for future research would be whether the negative consequence of managing expectation may operate on an organizational level (Locke et al., 1990). Existing research on goals in the workplace suggests that setting goals that are too high can motivate unethical behavior (e.g., Schweitzer et al., 2004). By the same token, it would be worthwhile to examine the possibility that setting too manageable an expectation may be counterproductive in optimally motivating employees. The findings from this study also illuminate the implications of earnings management for stakeholder groups, as well as the capital market (Hirst et al., 2008).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CC initiated the theoretical motivation for the paper, while TC and CC collaborated on the study design and data collection and analyses. CC wrote the first draft and went through multiple iterations with TC.

FUNDING

This study was partially supported by Korea University Business School Research Grant, Institute of Management Research at Seoul National University and the University of California Riverside's School of Business Administration.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper was inspired by the first author's earlier work with Gita Johar. The authors thank Professor Johar for her invaluable suggestions in the earlier stage of developing this paper.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2018.02121/full#supplementary-material

- Carver, C. S., and Scheier, M. F. (1998). On the Self-Regulation of Behavior. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139174794
- Cho, C. K., and Johar, G. V. (2011). Attaining satisfaction. J. Consum. Res. 38, 622-631. doi: 10.1086/660115
- Forster, J., Higgins, E. T., and Idson, L. C. (1998). Approach and avoidance strength during goal attainment: regulatory focus and the "goal looms larger" effect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 75, 1115–1131. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.75.5. 1115
- Freitas, A. L., Liberman, N., and Higgins, E. T. (2002). Regulatory fit and resisting temptation during goal pursuit. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 38, 291–298. doi: 10.1006/jesp.2001.1504
- Friedman, R., and Forster, J. (2001). The effects of promotion and prevention cues on creativity". J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81, 1001–1013. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.81.6. 1001
- Friedman, R. S., and Förster, J. (2005). Effects of motivational cues on perceptual asymmetry: implications for creativity and analytical problem

solving. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 88, 263–275. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 88.2.263

- Friedman, R. S., and Förster, J. (2013). "Activaton and measurement of motivational states," in *Handbook of Approach and Avoidance Motivation*, ed. A. Elliot (New York, NY: Psychology Press).
- Gertner, J. (2003). The futile pursuit of happiness. *The New York Times*, 7th September.
- Gilbert, D. T., and Wilson, T. D. (2000). "Miswanting: some problems in the forecasting of future emotional states," in *Thinking and Feeling: The Role of Affect in Social Cognition*, ed. J. Forgas (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 178–197.
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Methodology in the Social Sciences. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Higgins, E. T. (1987). Self-discrepancy: a theory relating self and affect. *Psychol. Rev.* 94, 319–340. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.94.3.319
- Higgins, E. T. (1996). The self digest. self-knowledge serving self-regulatory functions. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71, 1062–1083. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.6. 1062
- Higgins, E. T. (1997). Beyond pleasure and pain. Am. Psychol. 52, 1280–1300. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.52.12.1280
- Higgins, E. T., Friedman, R. S., Harlow, R. E., Idson, L. C., Ayduk, O. N., and Taylor, A. (2001). Achievement orientations from subjective histories of success: promotion pride versus prevention pride. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 31, 3–23. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.27
- Higgins, E. T., Shah, J., and Friedman, R. (1997). Emotional responses to goal attainment: strength of regulatory focus as moderator. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 72, 515–525. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.72.3.515
- Hirst, D. E., Koonce, L., and Venkataraman, S. (2008). Management earnings forecasts: a review and framework. *Account. Horiz.* 22, 315–338. doi: 10.2308/ acch.2008.22.3.315
- Idson, L. C., Liberman, N., and Higgins, E. T. (2000). Distinguishing gains from non-losses and losses from non-gains: a regulatory focus perspective on hedonic intensity. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 36, 252–274. doi: 10.1006/jesp. 1999.1402
- Jain, S. P., Agrawal, N., and Maheshwaran, D. (2006). When more may be less: the impact of regulatory focus on responses to different comparative frames. *J. Consum. Res.* 33, 91–98. doi: 10.1086/ 504139
- Larrick, R. P., Heath, C., and Wu, G. (2009). Goal-Induced risk taking in negotiation and decision making. Soc. Cogn. 27, 342–364. doi: 10.1521/soco. 2009.27.3.342
- Locke, E. A., Latham, G. P., Smith, K. J., and Wood, R. E. (1990). A Theory of Goal Setting and Task Performance. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall College Division, 544.
- Martin, L. (1986). Set/reset: use and disuse of concepts in impression formation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51, 493–504. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51. 3.493
- McClelland, D. C. (1953). The Achievement Motive. Eastford, CT: Martino Fine Books. doi: 10.1037/11144-000

- Monga, A., and Houston, M. J. (2006). Fading optimism in products: temporal changes in expectations about performance. J. Mark. Res. 18, 654–663. doi: 10.1509/jmkr.43.4.654
- Oliver, R. L. (1980) A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. J. Mark. Res. 17, 460–469.
- Ordonez, L., Schweitzer, M. E., Galinsky, A. D., and Bazerman, M. H. (2009). Goals gone wild: the systematic side effects of overscribing goal setting. *Acad. Manag. Perspect.* 23, 6–16. doi: 10.5465/amp.2009.37007999
- Roese, N. J. (1997). Counterfactual thinking. *Psychol. Bull.* 121, 133–148. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.121.1.133
- Schwarz, N., and Bless, H. (1992). "Constructing reality and its alternatives: an inclusion/exclusion model of assimilation and contrast effects in social judgment," in *The Construction of Social Judgments*, eds L. L. Martin and A. Tesser (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum), 217–245.
- Schweitzer, M. E., Ordóñez, L., and Douma, B. (2004). Goal setting as a motivator of unethical behavior. Acad. Manag. J. 47, 422–432.
- Shah, J., Higgins, E. T., and Friedman, R. S. (1998). Performance incentives and means: how regulatory focus influences goal attainment. J. Pers. Soc. Pers. 74, 285–293. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.2.285
- Shepperd, J. A., Ouellette, J. A., and Fernandez, J. K. (1996). Abandoning unrealistic optimism: performance estimates and the temporal proximity of selfrelevant feedback. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 70, 844–855. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 70.4.844
- Townsend, C., and Liu, W. (2012). Is planning good for you? The differential impact of planning on self-regulation. J. Consum. Res. 39, 688–703. doi: 10. 1086/665053
- Van Dijk, W. W., Zeelenberg, M., and van der Pligt, J. (2003). Blessed are those who expect nothing: lowering expectations as a way of avoiding disappointment. *J. Econ. Psychol.* 24, 505–516. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4870(02) 00211-8
- Wegener, D. T., and Petty, R. E. (1997). "The flexible correction model: the role of naïve theories of bias in bias correction," in Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 35, ed. M. Zanna (New York, NY: Elsevier), 142–208.
- Wilson, T. D., and Gilbert, D. (2003). "Affective forecasting," in Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 35, ed. M. Zanna (New York, NY: Elsevier), 345–411.
- Zhou, R., and Pham, M. T. (2004). Promotion and prevention across mental accounts: when financial products dictate consumers' investment goals. *J. Consum. Res.* 31, 125–135. doi: 10.1086/383429

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Cho and Cho. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impact of Emotional Harassment on Firm's Value

Yun Hyeong Choi¹, Hee Jin Park² and Seong-jin Choi^{1*}

¹ School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Accounting/Tax and Management Information Systems, Kyonggi University, Suwon, South Korea

The activities and consequences of workplace bullying and harassment have been widely explored in the literature but mainly studied within the scope of individuals or at the team level. Taking a holistic approach, we associate the concept of bullying with firm-level performance as well as stakeholders' responses in the market. In this paper, we examine whether and how market investors react to the news of corporate harassment by top officials of publicly listed firms in Korea. Using a standard event study methodology and multiple regression analysis with matched sample, we find significantly negative stock price reactions to news of corporate bullying. We also find that the impact is more salient if emotional bullying is involved and discuss both the theoretical and practical implications of these findings.

Keywords: power trip, emotional harassment, conglomerate, market reaction, Korean-listed firms, event study, event system theory, emotional contagion

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Weon Sang Yoo, Korea University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Seung-Wan Kang, Gachon University, South Korea Khan-Pyo Lee, Sogang University, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Seong-jin Choi seongjin@hanyang.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 12 September 2018 Accepted: 07 November 2018 Published: 04 December 2018

Citation:

Choi YH, Park HJ and Choi S-j (2018) Impact of Emotional Harassment on Firm's Value. Front. Psychol. 9:2333. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02333

INTRODUCTION

Workplace bullying, defined as situations in which employees suffer from persistent and hostile interpersonal behavior at work (Leymann, 1996) has received growing attention. Extant studies in psychological and organizational research explore the negative impacts not only on the victim but also on other employees (Einarsen et al., 1994; Zapf et al., 1996; Mikkelsen and Einarsen, 2002), and firms have shown considerable interest in minimizing the harm of harassment within organizations (Langan-Fox et al., 2007). However, although previous empirical studies examined the relationship between bullying and its consequences at the individual and team level (e.g., Olweus, 1993; Einarsen, 1999; Einarsen et al., 2003; Griffin and O'Leary-Kelly, 2004; Hansen et al., 2006; Langan-Fox et al., 2007; Simons, 2008; Mathisen et al., 2008; Balducci et al., 2009; Nielsen et al., 2010; Dehue et al., 2012; D'Cruz et al., 2018), few have discussed the firm-level dynamics and consequences of bullying in detail. For instance, there have been frequent occurrences of bullying and crises in firms that cannot be solved at the micro level, such as the recent "nut rage" incident on Korean Air.¹ Therefore, research on the corporate-level impact of bullying and its impact on a firm's value, which have been seldom studied, should be conducted.

The term "bullying" was chosen for this research for a reason. Workplace bullying can be divided into abuse by the boss, the co-worker, or the subordinate (Einarsen and Mikkelsen, 2003).

26

¹Korean Air Vice President Cho Hyun-ah was charged with violating aviation safety law. Ms. Cho also forced the flight crew and the junior attendant who served the nuts to apologize on their knees like slaves. She used abusive language and threw documents. Her bullying undoubtedly affected many important relationships at Korean Air. Because she is the daughter of Cho Yang-ho, the airline's chairman, it is likely that when the prosecution's investigation began, the share price, which had soared to 19% before the incident, plummeted by more than 200 billion won (an organization-level feature) (https: //www.nytimes.com/2018/04/13/world/asia/nut-rage-sister-korean-air.html)

Top managers' behaviors are closely related to the firm's reputation and performance (Hambrick and Mason, 1984), and thus we focus on the bullying behaviors of TMT (Top Management Team) to identify the significance of the consequences at the level of the firm. Social undermining and abusive supervision behaviors of the heirs who acquire management rights or executives are different from bullying at work. Therefore, to more accurately define harassment by heirs and executives, we refer to assaults on subordinates as "power trips." This expresses their behavior of harassing people and making their lives difficult just because they have more harassing most other employees. In fact, as a holistic approach, the concept of the power trip should be associated with firm-level performance as well as stakeholders' responses in the market.

Moreover, to extend the prior research on workplace bullying, and especially the concept of the power trip, from the individual and organizational levels to the firm level, we consider two moderators-emotional harassment and conglomerate-in our regression model and attempt to apply them to psychological perspectives. First, we classify power trips into two categories: emotional harassment including both "verbal and physical" abuse, and non-emotional power trips. We hypothesize that not all power trip events are salient (Nigam and Ocasio, 2010) but depend on the components that constitute corporate harassment. According to Morgeson et al. (2015), the more disruptive and critical the event, the more likely it is to transmute or affect behaviors and other events. In addition, harmful talk stemming from negative emotions spreads more quickly than positive sentiments (Samson, 2006; Luo, 2009). Thus, we explore the negative interaction effects caused by emotional harassment on firms' values. Second, and in the same vein, we also suggest that the impact of power trips does not affect firms' value homogeneously; its consequences depend on the level of visibility. Visible firms tend to be subject to greater pressure to contribute more to corporate philanthropy than firms with lower visibility (Brammer and Millington, 2006; Gao and Hafsi, 2015). Moreover, if a renowned firm is the subject of an unexpected scandal, this quickly makes its way onto social media, such as Twitter and Facebook (Aula, 2010). Public anger that is rapidly spread through social media is soon reflected in market reactions. In short, most conglomerates operate in complex industry contexts and their visibility, created by the mass media, is higher than that of small firms. Therefore, the detrimental effect of power trips on conglomerates is much more salient for them than for less visible firms, such as SMEs.

This research provides an empirical contribution to the literature by extending the extant research on workplace bullying at the individual and team level to firm-level bullying through a simultaneous event study and regression analysis. The empirical findings in this study imply that firm-level power trips can be an important variable that affects the firm's value because they undermine the firm's credibility in the market. The current study also contributes to the literature on workplace bullying by applying and testing different management theories in the unique context of Korea. Event-oriented theories have been relatively rare, particularly when compared to feature-oriented theories (Morgeson et al., 2015). In addition, literature on the visibility

of firms has been identified in the Korea context, and especially the *chaebol* environment. In the next section, we review the previous literature and develop our hypotheses. After detailing the methodology and analysis, the results are presented followed by the discussions of the study.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Effect of the Firm-Level Power Trip on the Firm Value in the Market

The consequences of workplace bullying among employees and teams have been well documented. This brings about counterproductive workplace behaviors (Fox and Spector, 2005) and abusive supervision is related to organizational deviance, which puts organizations at risk (Robinson and Bennett, 1995). But, a precise definition for workplace bullying by top-tier managers was not clearly developed in the literature and this, then, is remained as a very broad, inclusive, elusive term (Bartlett and Bartlett, 2011). Bartlett and Bartlett (2011) categorized work-related bullying as following three types; workload, work process, and evaluation and advancement. However, these classifications are based on within-firm analysis. Therefore, we replace workplace bullying with the terminology of "power trip" to further clarify our firm-level interactions. Power trip is called Gapjil in Korea; this term has a negative connotation to it. It is neologism made by combining the word Gap which is used to introduce the first party in a contract as well as refers to a party's superior and powerful status and Jil, a suffix for any actions that is negatively conducted. It is seemingly a similar concept, but these need to be distinct. Workplace bullying is based on hierarchy that reveals job position or relationships but, can even be caused by a subordinate. On the contrary, power trip can take place without being inside firm and the target may not be just employees. The motives of power trip often stem from wealth and social status in an authoritarian society. Korea has deeply been imbued with these thoughts which become a culture that has been followed by individuals. Therefore, an individual who was a victim in the past acts just like a perpetrator in the past when he or she is in the powerful position. As social malady, power trip in Korea is like a diving duck. It could be swimming on the surface or diving deep in the water, but whether it is seen or not, it is always there. This higher power (usually a manager or someone's boss) tends to go to their head causing them to "power trip" and abuse their rights as a manager/boss/owner. Such as picking on people or making their lives difficult, "Just because they can." is a person who is on a power trip. Bullying leadership is based on fear and control, but mainly on negative reinforcement and punishment. Negative reinforcement is an act required to avoid unpleasant and painful consequences, which forces employees to do their employers' work as instructed. Such leadership creates an oppressive culture in the workplace. In this type of work culture, relationships among employees are based strictly on vertical relationships and form a hierarchical relationship where their superiors shape and control the individuals' character. Employees lose self-esteem and self-confidence by succumbing in a servile fashion to the perpetrator's threats and abuse. This can lower employee morale, undermine loyalty, and eventually reduce corporate productivity.

However, it is still questionable how markets react to the news of bullying by managers. This research provides two arguments concerning this issue. The first is based on the consumer's perspective. The existing research suggests that consumers prefer goods that are ethically produced, and this may affect market reactions. In other words, the authors argue that a company's good behaviors, which are reported by the mass media, create a general context for consumers' evaluations. For example, Crever and Ross (1997) find a significant correlation between consumers' preference for a company's service and products and the level of the company's ethical performance. Murray and Vogel (1997) find that managers are more willing to purchase goods from ethical companies. Brown and Dacin (1997) find that consumers' preferences for a new product are associated with consumers' overall assessment of the company's CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) activities. On the contrary, consumers also experience negative emotions regarding companies' unethical behaviors. For example, Choi and Lin (2009) find that consumers showed negative emotions such as anger, fear, worry, and disgust toward the Mattel Product crisis; they recalled which news was posted on online bulletin boards, and this led to a boycott campaign. In sum, prior research suggests that corporate ethnical behaviors unveiled by the mass media have a positive impact on consumers' assessment or willingness to buy, while unethical activities can have a negative effect on consumers' evaluations of products. The second argument is based on the investor's perspective. A power trip not only affects consumers but also directly undermines investors' confidence in the focal firm in a negative way. Kohut (1971) and Kernberg (1979) argue that power trips are a kind of narcissistic leadership caused by a mental disorder. The narcissism is defined as an inflated sense of self and privilege, grandiosity, and low empathy for others (O'Reilly et al., 2014); managers with this characteristic tend to make impulsive and risky decisions (Nevicka et al., 2011; Braun et al., 2015). Narcissistic leaders have a strong sense of self, but their self-concepts are unstable, so they are easy to anger when others make mistakes. In reference to a pathology, managers with narcissism tend to be more aggressive and more flawed (Bushman and Baumeister, 1998). Researchers in the upper echelon argue that characteristics of TMT can signal something about the organization's legitimacy, which influences investors' evaluations of the firm (Higgins and Gulati, 2006). The leads us to expect that managers exerting undue power over subordinates make narcissistic and risky decisions, and investors tend to undervalue this kind of firm; this premise yields the following hypothesis.

H1. The firm-level power trip has a negative effect on a firm's value.

The Moderating Effect of Emotional Harassment

As power trips can occur at the individual, team, and organizational level, they can be classified into many different types. An abusive person can exercise power and control over the victim through physical, psychological, sexual, or financial abuse. In this study, we focus on "emotional" harassment including verbal and non-verbal harassment. On the one hand, the behaviors that simply abuse social superiority in the relatively upper class have potentially abusive power, but no emotions are involved (e.g., push-driven distribution sales, unfair labor practice, and "tunneling"). On the other hand, according to Keashly (1997) and Lutgen-Sandvik (2003), "emotional abuse is the term to articulate the hostile verbal and non-verbal behaviors that are not explicitly tied to sexual or racial content yet are directed at gaining compliance from others." For example, yelling or screaming, nagging, intimidation, aggressive eye contact, negative rumors, ridiculing someone in front of others, silent treatment, and emotional blackmail is examples of emotional abuse. Conceptually, the term "abuse" is cruel and violent treatment among people while the term "harassment" which is intended to trouble or annoy someone is persistent attacks and criticism causing worry and distress. In this respect, the latter word is more appropriate for this research because it is not on a one-off but persisting for the corporate heirs and executives to inflict physical and traumatic damage on their victims. Previous study finds that organizations must have proper processes and procedures to address workplace abuse because it is their financial self-interest to do as well as to protect their workers. (Koonin and Green, 2007). Existing studies on emotions have emphasized that they play an important role in interactions insofar as they concern attitudes, ideas, thoughts, and behaviors (Ekman, 1993; Côté, 2005; Kopelman and Rosette, 2008; Van Kleef et al., 2010). While the expression of negative emotions (e.g., anger, shame, guilty) generally makes social interactions difficult, expressing and amplifying positive emotions could be equally instrumental in shaping relationships with others as they facilitate goal attainment at work (Wong et al., 2013). Such effects are spread through what is called "emotional contagion" (Hatfield et al., 1993). Organizational and psychological researchers have investigated emotional contagion through a variety of field studies (Totterdell et al., 1998; Totterdell, 2000; Bartel and Saavedra, 2000; Barsade, 2002), which have shown that people respond heterogeneously to positive and negative emotions, while negative events are inclined to trigger stronger emotional and behavioral responses than positive or neutral events (Cacioppo et al., 1997). Barsade (2002) also found that unpleasant emotions tend to generate greater emotional contagion than pleasant ones, which is referred to as the ripple effect. Because anger is one of the most contagious emotions (Tavris, 1984; Mattila and Enz, 2002), anger derived from emotional harassment (e.g., abusive language and even assault) by a manager and revealed through media coverage will elicit a more intense response from consumers and investors than a non-emotional power trip. Decision-making is greatly affected by emotions (Luce, 1998; Ruth, 2001) and previous studies have explored how consumers use information on emotions to arrive at efficient decisions. Despite the importance of emotional contagion in making decisions, empirical research on emotional contagion is limited at the micro level. Thus, it is necessary to study how TMT events involving emotional harassment generate negative emotions among consumers and investors that affect a firm's value. In addition, according to event system theory,

not all events are homogeneous but tend to be heterogeneous (Morgeson et al., 2015). From this perspective, events can occur at any level, regardless of the individuals, teams, organizations, and environments involved. Thus, a strong individual event like a TMT's power trip could explain relationships between the event and the firm's value. Organizations confront numerous events every day; however, not all of them are influential (Nigam and Ocasio, 2010). Thus, each event could have different results depending on whether emotional harassment is involved. To identify whether emotional harassment is involved in firmlevel power trips, event system theory focuses on the crucial event feature in terms of its novelty, disruption, and criticality (Morgeson et al., 2015). First, novelty describes the extent to which an event is distinctive in comparison to past events, and thus stands for a new phenomenon (Lee and Mitchell, 1994; Morgeson, 2005). Second, disruptive events may deviate from normal routines (Zellmer-Bruhn, 2003). Disruptive events destroy entities outside of their stereotyped way of thinking (Morgeson et al., 2015). Finally, criticality indicates the degree of importance of the event (Morgeson and DeRue, 2006) and typically leads to additional analyses and changes (Vaara, 2003). Power trips by authorities lead to greater public outrage via emotional contagion than non-emotional power trips. In the same vein, negative word of mouth conveying negative emotions spreads more quickly than positive sentiments (Samson, 2006; Luo, 2009). In short, emotional harassment is more destructive because it is novel, disruptive, and critical compared to events that are emotionally neutral.

H2. The impact of firm-level power trips on a firm's value is negatively interacted when emotion harassment is involved.

The Moderating Effect of Conglomerates

The importance of a firm's visibility and celebrity status as a source of competitive advantage is well documented in the organizational literature (e.g., Hall, 1992). Previous studies have argued that a firm's visibility and celebrity are related to the firm's performance and legitimacy (Deephouse, 2000; Roberts and Dowling, 2002). Organizations with many subsidiaries and considerable revenue are likely to be more visible. The more the media monitor the firm's behavior, the more likely their social activities are to be visible (Matten and Moon, 2008). According to Rindova et al. (2006) and Pfarrer et al. (2010), the firm's visibility is increased when the media highlight a firm as a protagonist in the corrupted institution (Rindova et al., 2006). Examples of highly visible firms in our sample include conglomerates, and especially chaebol (in Korea). These chaebols' unconventional and controversial actions have attracted media attention touting their distinctive cultures, charismatic leaders, and singular identities. In a country where workers are often expected to show unquestioning loyalty, cases have focused on immoral behavior by the rich and powerful, along with public indignation at the family-run conglomerates known as *chaebol*, which dominate South Korea's economy.

Existing studies suggest that larger firms tend to be more visible and more likely to pay attention to social responsibility; they may also suffer from damage that leads to a bad reputation (Udayasankar, 2008). This argument is consistent with Saiia et al. (2003), who found that highly visible firms tend to make larger philanthropic gifts. Highly visible firms are also subject to more pressure and scrutiny from the public to take practical steps and meet social needs (Campbell and Slack, 2006). Korean chaebols have been criticized for misbehavior. Since they became the pivot of the Korean economy, Koreans have considered it a measure of social success to get a job at a *chaebol* conglomerate but, simultaneously, they hold antichaebol sentiments about misbehaviors and owner risk. Using the catchphrase 'chaebol reformation' to improve its transparency and accountability, they argue that the chaebol focuses on accumulating wealth and inheriting the company. Because firms with higher visibility are under great pressure to contribute more to activities involving social responsibility than firms with lower visibility (Gao and Hafsi, 2015), merely symbolic donations are unacceptable and may severely damage the firm's reputation (Boiral, 2007; Lyon and Maxwell, 2011). As corporate philanthropy influences corporate perceptions for a variety of stakeholders, including investors, customers, suppliers, actual or potential employees, and the voluntary sector (Smith, 1994; Himmelstein, 1997; Saiia et al., 2003), a firm's responsiveness to its stakeholder environment plays an important role in the firm's value (Brammer and Millington, 2006). Chang (2003) conducted a study of 419 chaebol affiliates from 1986 to 1996 and found that major shareholders, who are also managers, can be valued by other shareholders. Thus, managers from a chaebol family who hold large numbers of shares tend to abuse the corporate power given by their ownership. These behaviors undermine the firm's ethical and social responsibilities. In this context, when owners or top managers of Korean chaebol behave unethically, power trips are more negatively evaluated by the media and stakeholders. This reasoning leads us to expect that conglomerates with high visibility will experience more negative consequences when power trips occur.

H3. The impact of firm-level power trips on a firm's value is negatively interacted for conglomerates.

SAMPLE SELECTION AND RESEARCH DESIGN

Sample Selection

We selected companies that were reported to the media as culpable of a power trip from those listed on the Korea Stock Exchange. In this study, the power trip variable was set based on the date of the first report on the media such as newspaper and news. For example, the nut rage incident was an air rage incident that occurred on December 5, 2014, at John F. Kennedy International Airport in New York City. Korean Air vice president Heather Cho, dissatisfied with the way a flight attendant served nuts on the plane, ordered the aircraft to return to the gate before takeoff. As another example, On May 8, 2013, Namyang Co., was criticized following an accusation that the firm had pressed local franchises to buy products for a long time, as well as a tape-recording of rough words to local owners. The

TABLE 1 | Sample selection.

Panel A: Sample selection criteria	Sample
Companies reported to the media as guilty of power trips between 2013 and 2018	33
Less: KOSDAQ firms	(2)
Sample used in the event study	31
Less: A company reported to the press as a company guilty of a power trip in the same year	(3)
Less: Companies for which financial data cannot be obtained from the FN-Guide	(7)
Sample used for regression analysis	21

Panel B: Number of companies reported to the media as companies guilty of power trips by year

	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	Total
Ν	1	1	7	6	7	9	31

coverage of each case quickly spread through the media after December 5, 2014 and May 8, 2013.² Since the news of power trip is rapidly spread through media such as SNS and news, the first news day was set as an event day and the stock return from day -1 to day +1 was observed based on the event day. The sample period is from 2013 to 2018. The information on these companies was collected through media press releases on the Internet and in newspapers. We obtained financial data from the KIS-VALUE, which provides the financial statements of all listed firms, and stock data from the Fn-Guide.

The sample selection process is summarized in **Table 1**. The sample used in the event study is a total of 31 firm-year observations. Specifically, there are 33 companies reported to the media as those said to be guilty of harassment. Among them, we conducted an event study on a total of 31 firm-year observations except for two companies belonging to KOSDAQ companies. Since 2015, there has been a significant increase in media coverage of corporate harassment and it is emerging as a social problem.

There are cases where the same company is reported as guilty of harassment several times within one accounting period. When the same company is reported in this way, it is included in the event study analysis, but is used only as one sample in the OLS regression analysis. OLS regression analysis was carried out on 21 firm-year observations excluded seven samples that were not available in the Fn-Guide and three companies reported as duplicate companies in the one accounting period. Each continuous variable was winsorized at the 1st and 99th percentiles to minimize the effect of outliers.

Impact of Corporate Emotional Bullying

Event Study Model

To test our hypotheses, an event study method was used.³ Event studies are designed to measure the effect of an unanticipated event on stock prices. The day of the event (t = 0) is defined as the date when the company is reported to the media as a company in which an incident of bullying, and specifically a power trip has occurred. If there is no stock transaction for the company on the specified date, the first stock trading day after the media report is defined as the event date. The standard method is based on estimating a market model for each firm and then calculating abnormal returns. This study also uses a market model among the methods proposed by Brown and Warner (1985) to calculate the abnormal return (AR).⁴ These ARs are assumed to reflect the stock market's reaction to the arrival of new information.

The method is as follows: The rate of return on the share price of firm i on day t is expressed as

$$R_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_i R_{m,t} + \varepsilon \tag{1}$$

where $R_{i,t}$ is the rate of return on the share price of firm *i* on day *t*, and $R_{m,t}$ is the rate of return on a market portfolio of stocks (such as the KOSPI index) on day *t*. In this study, α and β of equation (1) were estimated using the KOSPI equally weighted index (EWI) and the daily stock return on each firm.

We estimated the market model over 160 trading days, starting 5 days prior to the event day.⁵ Estimated α and β are used to measure the excess return (AR) of each company from day -5 to day +5. The method is as follows in equation (2).

$$AR_{i,t} = R_{i,t} - \hat{R}_{i,t} = R_{i,t} - (\hat{\alpha}_i + \hat{\beta}_i R_{m,t})$$
(2)

where $\hat{\alpha}$ and $\hat{\beta}$ are the ordinary least squares (OLS) parameter estimates obtained from the regression (1). $R_{i,t}$ is the rate of return on the share price of firm *i* on day *t*, and $R_{m,t}$ is the rate of KOSPI market return on day *t*.

After calculating the abnormal returns of individual firms using the market model, the following equation (3) was used to calculate the average abnormal return (AAR) for the entire firm reported by the media to have experienced an incidence of bullying or a power trip.

$$AAR_{i,t} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} AR_{i,t} \times \frac{1}{N}$$
(3)

²In the example above, Korean Air is a conglomerate firm. On December 5, 2014, the incident occurred in a case where the person uttered a speech with a profanity. Therefore, the LARGE30 variable is 1 and the DEMOTION variable is 1. On the other hand, Namyang Co., is a non-conglomerate firm. On May 8, 2013, the incident occurred due to forced sales to subcontractors. Therefore, the LARGE30 variable is 0 and the DEMOTION variable is 0.

³The event study method in accounting has been used in numerous empirical studies since Fama et al. (1969) analyzed the disclosure effect of stock splits for an event study. The first step in the event study is to define the events to be studied and determine the duration of the events. An event period is a period of time when specific information is considered to have an impact on the stock price. In general, the event period is set up according to the event date of the specific information, and includes the before and after periods. The reason for including the pre-event date in the event period is that there is a possibility that the specific information is known to the market before the event date. On the other hand, the reason for inclusion in the event period after the event date is to take into consideration the case where information is disclosed after the stock market is closed.

 $^{^4\}mathrm{Brown}$ and Warner (1980, 1985) found that the constant mean-return model performs as well as more sophisticated approaches.

⁵In the previous studies (Bruner and Simms, 1987; Rutherford, 1990; Dickinson et al., 1991; Agrawal and Kamakura, 1995), the analysis was conducted using 160 trading days.

where N is the number of events being studied among multiple firms, AR is the abnormal return of firm i in period t, and AAR is the average abnormal return in period t.

In equation (3), the AARs are calculated. The cumulative average abnormal return (CAR) is calculated as follows when the AAR is accumulated during the event window. Using CAR, it is possible to analyze how the firm's harassment behavior affects individual stock prices.

$$CAR_N(t_1, t_2) = \sum_{t=t_1}^{t_2} AAR_t$$
 (4)

where t_1 and t_2 are the initial and final dates of the event window, AAR is the average abnormal return in period t, and CAR is the cumulative AAR in period t.

Regression Analysis Model

Hypotheses 1, 2, and 3 are verified by setting equations (5), (6), and (7) with the cumulative abnormal return before and after the event day as dependent variables. The method of using the CAR after the day before the event day has the advantage of mitigating the bias that may arise when analyzing only the return on the event day (t = 0). We set CAR as a dependent variable for 3 days from -1 day before the event day to 1 day after the event day. The cumulative abnormal returns over 3 days before and after the event day are a universal measure of stock returns used in event studies.

$$CAR (-1, 1)_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 SPDUM_{i,t} + \beta_2 SIZE_{i,t} + \beta_3 LEV_{i,t} + \beta_4 OCF_{i,t} + \beta_5 ROA_{i,t} + \beta_6 GROWTH_{i,t} + \varepsilon$$
(5)

$$CAR (-1, 1)_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 SPDUM_{i,t} + \beta_2 SPDUM_{i,t}$$

$$\times DEMOTION_{i,t} + \beta_3 SIZE_{i,t} + \beta_4 LEV_{i,t}$$

$$+ \beta_5 OCF_{i,t} + \beta_6 ROA_{i,t} + \beta_7 GROWTH_{i,t}$$

$$+ \varepsilon$$
(6)

$$CAR (-1, 1)_{i,t} = \alpha_0 + \beta_1 SPDUM_{i,t} + \beta_2 SPDUM_{i,t}$$

$$\times LARGE30_{i,t} + \beta_3 LARGE30_{i,t} + \beta_4 SIZE_{i,t}$$

$$+ \beta_5 LEV_{i,t} + \beta_6 OCF_{i,t} + \beta_7 ROA_{i,t}$$

$$+ \beta_8 GROWTH_{i,t} + \varepsilon$$
(7)

where CAR (-1,1) is the cumulative abnormal returns over 3 days from -1 day before the event day to 1 day after the event day. SPDUM is a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies were reported to media as firms charged with harassment, and 0 otherwise. DEMOTION is a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies were reported to the media as guilty of emotional harassment, and 0 otherwise. LARGE30 is a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies are conglomerate firm groups, and 0 otherwise. SIZE is computed as the natural logarithm of the total assets of the firm. LEV is defined as liabilities over equity. OCF is the operating cash flow scaled by lagged total assets. Return on assets (ROA) is net income divided by lagged total assets and GROWTH is growth of sales in year *t*.

Equation (5) is a model designed to test hypothesis 1 that suggests that the firm-level power trip has a negative effect on the firm's value in the market. The firm's harassment refers to the unfair conduct of an opponent who is in a favorable position in the firm. If the firm's harassment is perceived as bad news in the capital market, the firm's stock price will fall. Hypothesis 1 is supported if the coefficient $\beta 1$ on the experimental variable SPDUM shows a significantly negative value.

The firm's harassment behavior can be divided into emotional and non-emotional harassment. Equation (6) is a model designed to test hypothesis 2, which suggests the capital market's response to the firm's harassment is different for emotional harassment. In equation (5), the experimental variable is interaction term (SPDUM × DEMOTION). DEMOTION is a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies were reported to media as guilty of emotional harassment, and 0 otherwise.⁶ Hypothesis 2 is supported if the coefficient $\beta 2$ on the interaction term (SPDUM × DEMOTION) shows a significantly negative value.

Equation (7) is a model designed to test hypothesis 3, which suggests the capital market's response to the firm's harassment is different if it is a conglomerate firm. In equation (7), the experimental variable is interaction term (SPDUM × LARGE30).⁷ Hypothesis 3 is supported if the coefficient β 3 for the interaction term (SPDUM × LARGE30) shows a significantly negative value.

When the number of samples is small, reliability may be questioned in regression analysis. Therefore, the propensity score matching (PSM) method is used for analysis. In this study, a "1: 5" matching was conducted based on the media reports of the firm's harassment, and OLS regression analysis was performed on a total of 126 firm-year observations.

The control variables of this study are as follows. SIZE is added to control the firm's size. The larger the firm's size, the more information there is about the company in the capital market (Fama and MacBeth, 1973). LEV is defined as liabilities over equity. In the capital market, the higher the liability, the higher the firm's risk. The risk due to the debt ratio is added as a control variable because it may affect the ARs. Companies with a high cash flow ratio in operating activities are more likely to be affected by bad news because they are recognized as having superior ability to respond to crises. The ROA is added to control the impact of an individual firm's performance on the excess return on the capital market. The better the company's performance, the more likely it is that the company will achieve high excess returns in the capital market. GROWTH was included to control the growth of the enterprise.

⁶The firm's harassment behavior is revealed to the capital market through the media (e.g., the Internet, news, etc.). In addition, we analyze whether the emotional harassment occurred by analyzing the reported media. The DEMOTION variable was not included in equation (6) because it cannot distinguish whether the emotional harassment that is not reported in the press is indicative of a firm's harassment behavior.

⁷Conglomerate firms are often called *chaebol* firms. The definition used to identify *chaebol* firms is that of a large business group established by the Korea Fair Trade Commission (KFTC) of which more than 30% of the shares are owned by the group's controlling shareholders and its affiliated companies.

EMPIRICAL RESULTS

Market Reaction to Firm's Harassment

Figure 1A shows the average abnormal return (AAR) and cumulative average excess return rate (CAR) from -5 to +5 days. The AAR is showing a sharp decline from -1 to +1 days, and CAR is beginning to decrease from -1 day before the event day but is showing a trend of repeating ups and downs.

Specifically, the AAR was -0.008 (t = -1.87, p-value = 0.071) at -1 day before the event day and -0.006 (t = -2.12, p-value = 0.042) at event day. CAR shows negative value from -1 day before the event day but shows a tendency to fall sharply at -0.013 (t = -1.68, p-value = 0.104) at event day. This result supports hypothesis 1 that the firm-level power trip has negative effects on a firm's value in the stock market.

Figure 1B is the result of analyzing AAR and CAR before and after the event day after classifying the sample as either an emotional harassment group or a non-emotional harassment group. The first column in **Figure 1B** is the analysis of the emotional harassment group (N = 12) and the second column is the analysis of the non-emotional harassment group (N = 19).

According to the results of the analysis, the drop in AAR is relatively increased at the event day in the emotional harassment group. Specifically, the AAR of the emotional harassment group was -0.017 (t = -1.97, p-value = 0.074) at -1 day before the event day, -0.010 (t = -1.70, p-value = 0.117) at event day. While the AAR of the non-emotional harassment group was -0.002 at -1 day before the event day and -0.003 at event day, but there was no statistical significance found. These results are interpreted to mean that the capital market responds differently if emotional harassment is reported.

Figure 1C is the result of analyzing AAR and CAR before and after the event day after classifying the sample into conglomerate firm groups and non-conglomerate firm groups according to the definition of a conglomerate firm. The first column in **Figure 1C** is the analysis of the conglomerate firm groups (N = 12) and the second column is the analysis of the non-conglomerate firm groups (N = 19).

While the non-conglomerate firm group was statistically significant in the AAR during the event window, the conglomerate firm group was not statistically significant in the AAR in the same period. Specifically, the AAR of the conglomerate firm group was -0.001 at -1 day before the event day and -0.002 at event day, but this was not statistically significant, while the AAR of the non-conglomerate firm group was -0.012 (t = -2.00, p-value = 0.061) at -1 day before the event day and -0.008 (t = -2.06, p-value = 0.054) at event day. These results suggest that the capital market responds differently to events in the type of conglomerate firms. Please refer to **Appendix 1** for specific figures for the abnormal returns for windows surrounding the event day.

Table 2 shows the results of the *t*-test used to analyze the impact of the firm's harassment on the capital market reaction by cumulative abnormal returns. The sample was analyzed by dividing it into emotional and non-emotional harassment groups, and conglomerate and non-conglomerate firm groups.

The cumulative abnormal returns from the firm's reported harassment show -0.006 (t = -2.12, p-value = 0.042) in CAR (0,0) and -0.012 (t = -1.85, p-value = 0.074) in CAR (-1,1), indicating that they were significant during the relatively short-term verification period. The results of dividing the sample into emotional and non-emotional harassment groups are as follows. In the emotional harassment group sample, the cumulative abnormal returns were -0.024 (t = -1.93, p-value = 0.080). Statistical significance was found only in this group.

The results of dividing the sample into conglomerate and non-conglomerate firm groups are as follows. In the nonconglomerate firms, the CARs are significantly negative during the entire verification period. However, there was no statistical significance found for CAR in conglomerate firms. This means that in non-conglomerate firms, CAR continued to decline to negative values after the event day.

The event study method is useful for directly analyzing the impact of specific information on the short-term capital market by excluding the influence of other factors, other than the experimental variables, on the stock price. However, the method is limited by the fact that it excludes corporate characteristics that could affect the firm's abnormal returns. In this study, we conducted additional OLS regression analysis to include the financial factors that affect the firm's abnormal return.

Descriptive Statistics and Correlations

In this study, an OLS regression analysis was performed after constructing a "1: 5" control group by propensity score matching analysis. **Table 3** provides descriptive statistics for the variables used in the regression analysis, while **Table 4** shows the results of the analysis of difference of the major variables according to the firm's harassment.

The standard variable of the difference analysis, SPDUM, is a dummy variable having a value of 1 if companies were reported by the media as harassment firms, or 0 otherwise. The mean value of SPDUM was 0.167. In other words, 21 firm-year observations of the full sample were firms reported by the media to have engaged in harassment.

Panel A of **Table 3** presents the descriptive statistics for the entire sample, Panel B shows the descriptive statistics for the harassment firm (SPDUM = 1) group, and Panel C shows the descriptive statistics for the non-harassment firm (SPDUM = 0) group. In the entire sample, the dependent variable, CAR, was 0.002, which is not significantly different from 0, but the CAR of the SPDUM = 1 group is -0.011, which was lower than the CAR of the SPDUM = 0 group. This result supports hypothesis 1: the abnormal return of the companies reported by media to engage in harassment is low.

In the SPDUM = 1 group, the mean value of the DEMOTION was 0.429. In other words, 9 (= 21×0.429) companies were reported to the press as engaging in emotional harassment. LARGE30, the conglomerate firm group, was 0.571 in both SPDUM = 1 and SPDUM = 0 groups.

The mean (median) value of SIZE in the entire sample was 29.303 (29.614). The mean value of the debt-to-equity ratio (LEV) was 1.244, which reflects a sample of firms that are relatively sound financially. The mean (median) value of the operating cash



flow (OCF) was 0.073 (0.070) and the mean (median) value of ROA was 0.030 (0.022). The mean (median) value of GROWTH, or the growth potential of the company, was -0.004 (-0.007).

Table 4 shows that there is no statistically significant difference between the treatment group and the control group in firm size (SIZE), debt ratio (LEV), operating cash flow (OCF), return on assets (ROA), or growth rate of sales (GROWTH). This is because when the propensity score matching method is considered, logit analysis is performed with the firm size, debt ratio, operating cash flow, total assets profit rate, and sales growth rate. In other words, the absence of statistical significance between the control variables in the analysis of difference means that the control group was appropriately selected. In that analysis, the mean value of CAR in the treatment group (-0.011) was significantly lower than the mean value of CAR in the control group (0.004).

Table 5 presents Pearson correlations among variables used in the main analyses. The correlation of SPDUM and CAR is negatively significant at 5%. The negative correlation between

TABLE 2 | Cumulative abnormal returns for windows surrounding the event day.

Window	Power tr	Power trip (N = 31) Emotional harassment (N = 12) Non-emotional harassment			al harassment (N = 19)	
	CAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	CAR	<i>t</i> -value
CAR (0,0)	-0.006	-2.12**	-0.010	-1.70	-0.003	-1.27
CAR (-1,1)	-0.012	-1.85*	-0.024	-1.93*	-0.005	-0.66
CAR (-2,2)	-0.014	-1.46	-0.021	-1.18	-0.009	-0.85

Panel A: Results of dividing power trips into emotional and non-emotional harassment groups

Panel B: Results of dividing power trips into conglomerate and non-conglomerate groups

Window	Power tr	ip (<i>N</i> = 31)	Conglo	merate (<i>N</i> = 12)	Non-conglomerate (N = 19)		
	CAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	
CAR (0,0)	-0.006	-2.12**	-0.002	-0.66	-0.008	-2.06*	
CAR (-1,1)	-0.012	-1.85*	-0.004	-0.48	-0.018	-1.84*	
CAR (-2,2)	-0.014	-1.46	0.011	0.81	-0.030	-2.59**	

Variable definitions: AAR, the average abnormal return in period t; CAR, the cumulative average abnormal return in period t *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).

TABLE 3 | Descriptive statistics.

	N	Mean	Std.	Min	Median	Max
Panel A: Full samp	le					
CAR (-1,1)	126	0.002	0.035	-0.101	-0.001	0.110
SPDUM	126	0.167	0.374	0	0	1
DEMOTION	126	0.071	0.259	0	0	1
LARGE30	126	0.571	0.497	0	1	1
SIZE	126	29.303	1.505	26.936	29.614	31.196
LEV	126	1.244	1.846	0.035	0.656	12.447
OCF	126	0.073	0.057	-0.019	0.070	0.220
ROA	126	0.030	0.044	-0.085	0.022	0.141
GROWTH	126	-0.004	0.131	-0.323	-0.007	0.333
Panel B: Treatmen	t firms (SPDUM = 1)					
CAR (-1,1)	21	-0.011	0.041	-0.101	0.001	0.070
DEMOTION	21	0.429	0.507	0	0	1
LARGE30	21	0.571	0.507	0	1	1
SIZE	21	29.345	1.515	27.065	29.643	31.196
LEV	21	1.391	2.157	0.035	0.676	9.820
OCF	21	0.073	0.057	-0.012	0.070	0.220
ROA	21	0.026	0.042	-0.046	0.014	0.102
GROWTH	21	0.002	0.126	-0.323	-0.005	0.333
Panel B: Control fi	rms (SPDUM = 0)					
CAR (-1,1)	105	0.004	0.034	-0.073	-0.002	0.110
DEMOTION	105	0	0	0	0	0
LARGE30	105	0.571	0.494	0	1	1
SIZE	105	29.294	1.510	26.936	29.584	31.196
LEV	105	1.215	1.787	0.035	0.656	12.447
OCF	105	0.073	0.058	-0.019	0.070	0.220
ROA	105	0.030	0.045	-0.085	0.022	0.141
GROWTH	105	-0.005	0.132	-0.323	-0.008	0.333

Variable definitions: CAR (-1,1), cumulative abnormal returns over 3 days from -1 day before the event day to 1 day after the event day; SPDUM, a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies were reported to media as harassment firms, and 0 otherwise; DEMOTION, a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies were reported to media as emotional harassment, and 0 otherwise; LARGE30, a dummy variable equal to 1 if companies are conglomerate firm group, and 0 otherwise; SIZE, the natural logarithm of the total assets of the firm; LEV, liabilities over equity in year t; OCF, the operating cash flow scaled by lagged total assets; ROA, net income divided by lagged total assets; GROWTH, growth of sales in year t.

TABLE 4 | Differential analysis results for PSM matching firms.

Variables	Tr	Treatment firms (SPDUM = 1)			ntrol firms (SP	DUM = 0)	Mean difference t-value	Wilcoxon z-value	
	N	Mean	Median	N	Mean	Median			
CAR (-1,1)	21	-0.011	0.001	105	0.004	-0.002	-1.83*	-1.20	
DEMOTION	21	0.429	0	105	0	0	8.80***	6.93***	
LARGE30	21	0.571	1	105	0.571	1	0.00	0.00	
SIZE	21	29.345	29.643	105	29.294	29.584	0.14	0.13	
LEV	21	1.391	0.676	105	1.215	0.656	0.40	0.39	
OCF	21	0.073	0.070	105	0.073	0.070	-0.02	0.05	
ROA	21	0.026	0.014	105	0.030	0.022	-0.37	-0.47	
GROWTH	21	0.002	-0.005	105	-0.005	-0.008	0.19	0.24	

See Table 3 for variable definitions. *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).

TABLE 5 | Pearson correlations.

Variables	CAR (-1,1)	SPDUM	DEMOTION	LARGE30	SIZE	LEV	OCF	ROA
SPDUM	-0.162							
DEMOTION	-0.198	0.620						
LARGE30	0.024	-0.000	-0.009					
SIZE	0.097	0.013	-0.023	0.588				
LEV	0.183	0.036	0.137	0.112	0.146			
OCF	0.043	-0.002	-0.020	-0.111	-0.070	-0.116		
ROA	-0.030	-0.033	-0.072	-0.414	-0.449	-0.456	0.196	
GROWTH	0.059	0.017	-0.010	-0.065	0.085	0.107	0.598	0.233

See **Table 3** for variable definitions; coefficients shown in bold are significant at p < 0.05 (two-tailed test).

SPDUM and CAR suggests that a company reported to the media as engaging in power trips is associated with a negative stock return. There is a significant negative correlation between DEMOTION, which indicates whether the power trip involves emotional harassment, and CAR. Therefore, the first hypothesis gains support from the negative correlation between SPDUM and CAR.

Also, the negative correlation between DEMOTION and CAR supports the second hypothesis which suggests that emotional harassment rather than non-emotional harassment will show more negative market reactions. The correlation between LARGE30 and SIZE is 0.59 has high positive significance in this regard. Among control variables, we find that few correlations are very high. For example, the correlation between OCF and GROWTH is 0.60, while that between LEV and ROA is -0.46. The variance inflation factor (VIF) for independent variables is 2.538 less than 10, which means that there is not a serious multi-collinearity problem.

REGRESSION RESULTS

Results for Market Reaction of Firm-Level Power Trips (H1)

Table 6 presents the results for the test of our first hypothesis from the regression analysis based on equation (5). In **Table 6**, hypothesis 1 is supported if coefficient β_1 shows a significantly negative value. The results of the analysis show that the regression

TABLE 6 | Market reaction of firm-level power trip.

Variables	Exp.sign	CAR (-1,1)	
		Coef.	t-value
Intercept		-0.102	-1.37
SPDUM	-	-0.016	-1.89*
SIZE		0.003	1.31
LEV		0.005	2.33**
OCF		0.057	0.80
ROA		0.106	1.11
GROWTH		-0.017	-0.51
Adj. <i>R</i> ²		0.035	
Ν		126	

See **Table 3** for variable definitions. *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).

coefficient of SPDUM was -0.016 (t = -1.89, p-value = 0.061). These results suggest that participants in the capital market negatively perceive the press reports on the firm's harassment behavior.

Results for Market Reaction by Emotional Harassment (H2)

Table 7 presents the results for the test of our second hypothesis from the regression analysis based on equation (6). In **Table** 7, hypothesis 2 is supported if coefficient β_2
TABLE 7 | Market reaction by emotional harassment.

		CAR (-1,1)			
Variables	Exp.sign	Coef.	t-value		
Intercept		-0.096	-1.30		
SPDUM (B1)	-	-0.005	-0.44		
SPDUM × DEMOTION (β_2)	-	-0.026	-1.70*		
SIZE		0.003	1.22		
LEV		0.005	2.55**		
OCF		0.059	0.83		
ROA		0.104	1.10		
GROWTH		-0.019	-0.57		
Adj. R ²		0.050			
Ν		126			
Test: $\beta_1 + \beta_2 = 0$ <i>F</i> -value (<i>p</i> -value)		6.46 (0.012)**			

See **Table 3** for variable definitions. *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).

in the interaction term (SPDUM × DEMOTION) shows a significantly negative value. The result of the analysis shows that the regression coefficient of SPDUM × DEMOTION was -0.026 (t = -1.70, p-value = 0.093). This result implies that capital market participants perceive media reports on emotional harassment as more negative than media reports on non-emotional harassment.

Results for Market Reaction by Conglomerate (H3)

Table 8 presents the results for the test of our third hypothesis from the regression analysis based on equation (7). SPDUM is a regression coefficient that indicates the capital market response of media reports on a firm's harassment behavior in non-conglomerate firms (LARGE30 = 0). The regression coefficient on SPDUM is -0.025 (t = -1.98, p-value = 0.050). In the non-conglomerate firm group, if the firm's harassment behavior is reported by the media, it indicates that the company will have negative ARs. In hypothesis 3, we expect that the information use's negative response in the conglomerate firm group would be greater than the information use's negative response in the non-conglomerate firm group if the firm's harassment behavior is reported by the media. The regression coefficient of SPDUM × LARGE30, which is the experimental variable of hypothesis 3, is 0.017 (t = 0.98, p-value = 0.331), which is not significant. In the conglomerate firm group, if the firm's harassment behavior is reported by the media, there is no effect on ARs. The sum of the regression coefficients of SPDUM and SPDUM \times LARGE30 was -0.008 (= -0.025 + 0.017), which was not statistically significant.

This result is not consistent with hypothesis 3 that the effect of a firm-level power trip on a firm's value in the market is more salient for the conglomerate firms' group than for the nonconglomerate firms' group. These results reflect the perception of market participants that conglomerate firms will not fail because they enjoy a competitive edge in capital, labor, and TABLE 8 | Market reaction by conglomerate.

		CAR (-1,1)		
Variables	Exp.sign	Coef.	t-value	
Intercept		-0.110	-1.33	
SPDUM (β ₁)	-	-0.025	-1.98**	
SPDUM × LARGE30 (β_2)	-	0.017	0.98	
LARGE30	-	-0.005	-0.62	
SIZE		0.004	1.28	
LEV		0.005	2.26**	
OCF		0.055	0.78	
ROA		0.099	1.02	
GROWTH		-0.016	-0.49	
Adj. R ²		0.027		
Ν		126		
Test: $\beta_1 + \beta_2 = 0$ <i>F</i> -value (<i>p</i> -value)	$+ \beta_2 = 0 F$ -value (p-value) 0.62 (0.432)			

See **Table 3** for variable definitions. *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).

products. In addition, the results of **Table 8** are consistent with the results of the event study analysis in which the CAR variable of non-conglomerate firms is negative in all periods, while the CAR variable of conglomerate firms is not significant in **Figure 1C**.

DISCUSSION

This study examined the effects of power trips by top managers on the firm's valuation in the market. We found that power trips revealed by the mass media have significant and negative effects on a firm's value. We also found that this negative impact is moderated by the type of power trip. This study contributes to the literature in several ways. First, it complements the existing literature by explaining how markets evaluate unethical behavior by top managers. Although many studies have highlighted the malfunctioning and counterproductive workplace behaviors caused by power trips within the firm, few have explored the firm-level consequences of power trips. The issue of power trips should be considered at both the micro- (i.e., the individual and team level) and the macrolevel (of the organization or firm). This study is an effort to fill gaps in the research by exploring the consumers' and investors' perspectives. Second, this study suggests the importance of emotion in the analyses of power trips based on emotional contagion and event system theory. The role of emotions in both the service encounters, where positive or negative emotions spread from employee to consumer, and in media coverage, where negative emotions spread from the emotional harassment event by TMTs to consumers, is still important. The event system theory assumes that events are not homogeneous but heterogeneous. The strength of an event evolves systemically in organizations across space and time. Events cannot be treated as discrete and isolated matters of concern at only one level. Thus, power trips are disruptive events that force organizations out of their conventional response modes. Prior research highlights how employees experience emotional events at work, while affective event theorists have considered how workplace events affect employees' emotions (Weiss and Cropanzano, 1996; Weiss et al., 1999). In this study, we have explored how markets estimate the news of emotional harassment. Our finding is aligned with previous studies of leadership theories. Humphrey et al. (2016) emphasize the important role of emotional factors and represent the usefulness of merging research on leadership and emotions. Empirical studies have also shown that a leader's emotional expressions are more important than the content of the message (Newcombe and Ashkanasy, 2002) because leaders influence follower's attitudes, cognitions, affective states, and behavior (Koning and Van Kleef, 2015). In this vein, we suggest that emotional power tripping by leaders leads to detrimental consequences. Third, our research provides a unique hypothesis of power trips in which effects are contingent on the firm's visibility. However, this hypothesis is not supported, and this can be explained by the following reason. As most conglomerate firms are not businesses that directly deal with consumers, the information that conglomerate firms are reported to the press as firms guilty of harassment may not significantly affect the market participants' judgment on the future profitability of the company. On the other hand, non-conglomerate firms have many substitute goods and often deal directly with consumers. Therefore, if media reports precipitated by firms' harassment behaviors (unethical behavior) are spread by consumer boycotts, they will directly impact the profitability of the company. Thus, the negative relationship between the firm's harassment behaviors and abnormal returns is not apparent in the conglomerate firms, but the relationship for non-conglomerate firms is significantly negative. In fact, Namyang Co., which was reported to the media as a conglomerate firm guilty of harassment, reported a drop in operating profits by 87.7%.8 This evidence is consistent with Korean investors believing the very largest conglomerate firms are "too big to fail." The advantageous position of conglomerates in Korean context

REFERENCES

- Agarwal, R., Sarkar, M. B., and Echambadi, R. (2002). The conditioning effect of time on firm survival: an industry life cycle approach. *Acad. Manag. J.* 45, 971–994.
- Agrawal, J., and Kamakura, W. A. (1995). The economic worth of celebrity endorsers: an event study analysis. J. Mark. 59, 56–62. doi: 10.2307/ 1252119
- Aula, P. (2010). Social media, reputation risk and ambient publicity management. *Strategy Leadersh.* 38, 43–49. doi: 10.1108/108785710110 88069
- Bain, J. S. (1956). Barriers to New Competition, Vol. 3. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. doi: 10.4159/harvard.9780674188037

is widely recognized in the literature from angles of government (Lee et al., 2002) and networking capabilities (Kim, 2005). This is also in consonance with Agarwal et al. (2002)'s study. Her empirical work demonstrates that largeness lowers mortality rates by improving firms' ability to shield themselves from uncertain environments. And the idea of liability of smallness indicates that mortality rates decline with increased size (Hannan and Freeman, 1984). Empirical regularities, in economics, also show a positive relationship between firm size and survival for any given growth rate (Sutton, 1997). This is because the benefits of greater market power (Bain, 1956) and the minimum efficient scale (Mansfield, 1962; Jovanovic, 1982). Thus, the idea that bigger is better contributes to the lower failure rate among conglomerates.

The study has limitations. The empirical analysis was based on listed firms in a single country-Korea-and therefore its generalizability may be limited. The unlisted business in an informal economy shows different behaviors with respect to power trips and thus the consequences will not be consistent with those of listed firms. The causes and outcomes of power tripping can also be found in the cultural context, the social climate, and in psychological factors. According to Hofstede's cultural distance index, Korean culture is known for its high-power distance, high uncertainty avoidance, and short-termism. The Korean decisionmaking process is also heavily influenced by hierarchies. Such a cultural context makes Korean society a place conducive to power trips because people can easily draw on superior power to justify unethical or aggressive behaviors. In this regard, future research could provide valuable insights into the embeddedness of firm behaviors in various cultural and institutional environments.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Sj-C devised the project, the main conceptual ideas, and was in charge of overall direction and planning. YC developed the theoretical framework and took the lead in writing the manuscript. HP contributed to the design and implementation of the research and to the analysis of the results.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the research fund of Hanyang University (HY-2016).

- Balducci, C., Alfano, V., and Fraccaroli, F. (2009). Relationships between mobbing at work and MMPI-2 personality profile, posttraumatic stress symptoms, and suicidal ideation and behavior. *Violence Vict.* 24, 52–67. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708. 24.1.52
- Barsade, S. G. (2002). The ripple effect: emotional contagion and its influence on group behavior. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 47, 644–675. doi: 10.2307/3094912
- Bartel, C. A., and Saavedra, R. (2000). The collective construction of work group moods. Adm. Sci. Q. 45, 197–231. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2017.1627
- Bartlett, J. E., and Bartlett, M. E. (2011). Workplace bullying: an integrative literature review. Adv. Dev. Hum. Resour. 13, 69–84. doi: 10.1177/15234223114 10651
- Boiral, O. (2007). Corporate greening through ISO 14001: a rational myth? *Organ. Sci.* 18, 127–146. doi: 10.1287/orsc.1060.0224

⁹ In May 2013, Namyang Co., was criticized following an accusation that, for a long time, the firm had strongly pressed local franchises to buy its products, as well as a tape-recording of rough words to local owners. Namyang Co., caused more than about 18 million dollars as of July 2018 of damage through illegal activities such as high-pressure sales and shifting wages of salesmen to local franchises for the past seven years. Angry over the behavior at Namyang Co., consumers started to boycott its products.

- Brammer, S., and Millington, A. (2006). Firm size, organizational visibility and corporate philanthropy: an empirical analysis. *Bus. Ethics* 15, 6–18. doi: 10. 1111/j.1467-8608.2006.00424.x
- Braun, S., Aydin, N., Frey, D., and Peus, C. V. (2015). "Leader narcissism predicts followers' malicious envy and counterproductive work behaviors," in *Academy* of *Management Proceedings*, Vol. 2015, ed. G. Atinc (Briarcliff Manor, NY: Academy of Management), 16115. doi: 10.5465/ambpp.2015.16115abstract
- Brown, S. J., and Warner, J. B. (1980). Measuring security price performance. *J. Financ. Econ.* 8, 205–258. doi: 10.1016/0304-405X(80)90002-1
- Brown, S. J., and Warner, J. B. (1985). Using daily stock returns: the case of event studies. J. Financ. Econ. 14, 3-31. doi: 10.1016/0304-405X(85)90042-X
- Brown, T. J., and Dacin, P. A. (1997). The company and the product: corporate associations and consumer product responses. J. Mark. 61, 68–84. doi: 10.1177/ 002224299706100106
- Bruner, R. F., and Simms, J. M. (1987). The international debt crisis and bank security returns in 1982. J. Money Credit Bank. 19, 46–55. doi: 10.2307/1992244
- Bushman, B. J., and Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Threatened egotism, narcissism, selfesteem, and direct and displaced aggression: does self-love or self-hate lead to violence? J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 75, 219–229. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.75.1.219
- Cacioppo, J. T., Gardner, W. L., and Berntson, G. G. (1997). Beyond bipolar conceptualizations and measures: the case of attitudes and evaluative space. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 1, 3–25. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0101_2
- Campbell, D., and Slack, R. (2006). Public visibility as determinant of the rate of corporate charitable donations. *Bus. Ethics* 15, 19–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8608. 2006.00425.x
- Chang, S. J. (2003). Ownership structure, expropriation, and performance of group affiliated companies in Korea. *Acad. Manag. J.* 46, 238–253.
- Choi, Y. H., and Lin, Y. H. (2009). Consumer response to mattel product recalls posted on online bulletin boards: exploring two types of emotion. J. Public Relat. Res. 21, 198–207. doi: 10.1080/10627260802557506
- Côté, S. (2005). A social interaction model of the effects of emotion regulation on work strain. Acad. Manag. Rev. 30, 509–530. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3557
- Creyer, E. H., and Ross, W. T. Jr. (1997). Tradeoffs between price and quality: how a value index affects preference formation. *J. Consum. Aff.* 31, 280–302. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6606.1997.tb00392.x
- D'Cruz, P., Noronha, E., and Lutgen-Sandvik, P. (2018). Power, subjectivity and context in workplace bullying, emotional abuse and harassment: insight from postpositivism. *Qual. Res. Organ. Manag.* 13, 2–9. doi: 10.1108/QROM-12-2017-1587
- Deephouse, D. L. (2000). Media reputation as a strategic resource: an integration of mass communication and resource-based theories. J. Manag. 26, 1091–1112. doi: 10.1177/014920630002600602
- Dehue, F., Bolman, C., Vollinnk, T., and Pouwelse, M. (2012). Coping with bully at work and health related problems. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 19, 175–197. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6095-0
- Dickinson, A., Peterson, D. R., and Christiansen, W. A. (1991). An empirical investigation into the failure of first republic bank: is there a contagion effect? *Financ. Rev.* 26, 303–318. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-6288.1991.tb00383.x
- Einarsen, S. (1999). The nature and causes of bullying at work. *Int. J. Manpow.* 20, 16–27. doi: 10.1108/01437729910268588
- Einarsen, S., Hoel, H., Zapf, D., and Cooper, C. (2003). "The concept of bullying at work," in *Bullying and Emotional Abuse in the Workplace: International Perspectives in Research and Practice*, eds S. Einarsen, H. Hoel, and C. Cooper (Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press), 3–31.
- Einarsen, S., and Mikkelsen, E. G. (2003). "Individual effects of exposure to bullying at work," in *Bullying and Emotional Abuse in the Workplace: International Perspectives in Research and Practice*, eds S. Einarsen, H. Hoel, D. Zapf, and C. L. Cooper (London: Taylor & Francis).
- Einarsen, S., Raknes, B. I., and Matthiesen, S. B. (1994). Bullying and harassment at work and their relationships to work environment quality: an exploratory study. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 4, 381–401. doi: 10.1080/13594329408410497
- Ekman, P. (1993). Facial expression and emotion. Am. Psychol. 48, 384–392. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.48.4.384
- Fama, E. F., Fisher, L., Jensen, M. C., and Roll, R. (1969). The adjustment of stock prices to new information. *Int. Econ. Rev.* 10, 1–21. doi: 10.2307/2525569
- Fama, E. F., and MacBeth, J. D. (1973). Risk, return, and equilibrium: empirical test. J. Polit. Econ. 81, 607–636. doi: 10.1086/260061

- Fox, S., and Spector, P. (2005). Counterproductive Workplace Behavior: An Integration of Both Actor and Recipient Perspectives on Causes and Consequences. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association/APA.
- Gao, Y., and Hafsi, T. (2015). Political dependence, social scrutiny, and corporate philanthropy: evidence from disaster relief. *Bus. Ethics* 26, 189–203. doi: 10. 1111/beer.12144
- Griffin, R. W., and O'Leary-Kelly, A. M. (2004). *The Dark Side of Organizational Behavior*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Hall, R. (1992). The strategic analysis of intangible resources. *Strateg. Manag. J.* 13, 135–144. doi: 10.1002/smj.4250130205
- Hambrick, D. C., and Mason, P. A. (1984). Upper echelons: the organization as a reflection of its top managers. Acad. Manag. Rev. 9, 193–206. doi: 10.5465/amr. 1984.4277628
- Hannan, M. T., and Freeman, J. (1984). Structural inertia and organizational change. Am. Sociol. Rev. 49, 149–164. doi: 10.2307/2095567
- Hansen, A. M., Hogh, A., Persson, R., Karlson, B., Garde, A. H., and Ørbæk, P. (2006). Bullying at work, health outcomes, and physiological stress response. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 60, 63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005. 06.078
- Hatfield, E., Cacioppo, J. T., and Rapson, R. L. (1993). Emotional contagion. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 2, 96–100. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.ep10770953
- Higgins, M. C., and Gulati, R. (2006). Stacking the deck: the effects of top management backgrounds on investor decisions. *Strateg. Manag. J.* 27, 1–25. doi: 10.1002/smj.495
- Himmelstein, J. L. (1997). Looking Good and Doing Good. Bloomington, IN: Indiana University Press.
- Humphrey, R. H., Burch, G. F., and Adams, L. L. (2016). The benefits of merging leadership research and emotions research. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1022. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.01022
- Jovanovic, B. (1982). Selection and the evolution of industry. *Econometrica* 50, 649-670. doi: 10.2307/1912606
- Keashly, L. (1997). Emotional abuse in the workplace: conceptual and empirical issues. J. Emot. Abuse 1, 85–117. doi: 10.1300/J135v01n01_05
- Kernberg, O. (1979). Regression in organizational leadership. *Psychiatry* 42, 29–39. doi: 10.1080/00332747.1979.11024004
- Kim, Y. (2005). Board network characteristics and firm performance in Korea. Corp. Gov. 13, 800–808. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8683.2005.00471.x
- Kohut, H. (1971). *The Analysis of the Self*. New York, NY: International Universities Press.
- Koning, L. F., and Van Kleef, G. A. (2015). How leader's emotional displays shape followers' organizational citizenship behavior. *Leadersh. Q.* 26, 489–502. doi: 10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.03.001
- Koonin, M., and Green, T. M. (2007). The emotionally abusive workplace. J. Emot. Abuse 4, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2012.04.006
- Kopelman, S., and Rosette, A. S. (2008). Cultural variation in response to strategic emotions in negotiations. *Group Decis. Negot.* 17, 65–77. doi: 10.1007/s10726-007-9087-5
- Langan-Fox, J., Cooper, C. L., and Klimoski, R. J. (2007). Research Companion to the Dysfunctional Workplace: Management Challenges and Symptoms. Aldershot: Edward Elgar Publishing. doi: 10.4337/9781847207081
- Lee, C. H., Lee, K., and Lee, K. (2002). Chaebols, financial liberalization and economic crisis: transformation of quasi-internal organization in Korea. Asian Econ. J. 16, 17–35. doi: 10.1111/1467-8381.00140
- Lee, T. W., and Mitchell, T. R. (1994). An alternative approach: the unfolding model of voluntary employee turnover. Acad. Manag. Rev. 19, 51–89. doi: 10.5465/amr.1994.9410122008
- Leymann, H. (1996). The content and development of bullying at work. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 5, 165–184. doi: 10.1080/1359432960841 4853
- Luce, M. F. (1998). Choosing to avoid: coping with negatively emotion-laden consumer decisions. J. Consum. Res. 24, 409–433. doi: 10.1086/209518
- Luo, X. (2009). Quantifying the long-term impact of negative word of mouth on cash flows and stock prices. *Mark. Sci.* 28, 148–165. doi: 10.1287/mksc.1080. 0389
- Lutgen-Sandvik, P. (2003). The communicative cycle of employee emotional abuse: generation and regeneration of workplace mistreatment. *Manag. Commun. Q.* 16, 471–501. doi: 10.1177/0893318903251627

- Lyon, T. P., and Maxwell, J. W. (2011). Greenwash: environmental disclosure under threat of audit. J. Econ. Manag. Strategy 20, 3-41. doi: 10.1111/j.1530-9134.2010.
- Mansfield, E. (1962). Entry, Gibrat's law, innovation, and the growth of firms. Am. Econ. Rev. 52, 1023-1051.
- Mathisen, G. E., Einarsen, S., and Mykletun, R. (2008). The occurrences and correlates of bullying and harassment in the restaurant sector. Scand. J. Psychol. 49, 59-68. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2007.00602.x
- Matten, D., and Moon, J. (2008). "Implicit" and "Explicit" CSR: a conceptual framework for a comparative understanding of corporate social responsibility. Acad. Manag. Rev. 33, 404-424. doi: 10.5465/amr.2008.31193458
- Mattila, A. S., and Enz, C. A. (2002). The role of emotions in service encounters. J. Serv. Res. 4, 268-277. doi: 10.1177/1094670502004004004
- Mikkelsen, E. G., and Einarsen, S. (2002). Relationships between exposure to bullying at work and psychological and psychosomatic health complaints: the role of state negative affectively and generalized self-efficacy. Scand. J. Psychol. 43, 397-405. doi: 10.1111/1467-9450.00307
- Morgeson, F. P. (2005). The external leadership of self-managing teams: intervening in the context of novel and disruptive events. J. Appl. Psychol. 90, 497-508. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.90.3.497
- Morgeson, F. P., and DeRue, D. S. (2006). Event criticality, urgency, and duration: understanding how events disrupt teams and influence team leader intervention. Leadersh. Q. 17, 271-287. doi: 10.1016/j.leagua.2006. 02.006
- Morgeson, F. P., Mitchell, T. R., and Dong, L. (2015). Event system theory: an event-oriented approach to the organizational sciences. Acad. Manag. Rev. 40, 515-537. doi: 10.5465/amr.2012.0099
- Murray, K. B., and Vogel, C. M. (1997). Using a hierarchy-of-effects approach to gauge the effectiveness of CSR to generate goodwill towards the firm: financial versus nonfinancial impacts. J. Bus. Res. 38, 141-159. doi: 10.1016/S0148-2963(96)00061-6
- Nevicka, B., Ten Velden, F. S., De Hoogh, A. H., and Van Vianen, A. E. (2011). Reality at odds with perceptions: narcissistic leaders and group performance. Psychol. Sci. 22, 1259-1264. doi: 10.1177/0956797611417259
- Newcombe, M. J., and Ashkanasy, N. M. (2002). The role of affect and affective congruence in perceptions of leaders: an experimental study. Leadersh. Q. 13, 601-614. doi: 10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00146-7
- Nielsen, M. B., Matthiesen, S. B., and Einarsen, S. (2010). The impact of methodological moderators on prevalence rates of workplace bullying. A metaanalysis. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 83, 955-979. doi: 10.1348/096317909X481256
- Nigam, A., and Ocasio, W. (2010). Event attention, environmental sensemaking, and change in institutional logics: an inducive analysis of the effects of public attention to clinton's health care reform initiative. Organ. Sci. 21, 823-841. doi: 10.1287/orsc.1090.0490
- Olweus, D. (1993). "Victimization by peers: antecedents and long-term outcomes," in Social Withdrawal, Inhibition, and Shyness in Childhood, eds K. H. Rubin and J. B. Asendorpf (Mahwah, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 315-341.
- O'Reilly, C. A., Doerr, B., Caldwell, D. F., and Chatman, J. A. (2014). Narcissistic CEOs and executive compensation. Leadersh. Q. 25, 218-231. doi: 10.1016/j. leagua.2013.08.002
- Pfarrer, M. D., Pollock, T. G., and Rindova, V. P. (2010). A tale of two assets: the effects of firm reputation and celebrity on earnings surprises and investors' reactions. Acad. Manag. J. 53, 1131-1152. doi: 10.5465/amj.2010.54533222
- Rindova, V. P., Pollock, T. G., and Hayward, M. L. A. (2006). Celebrity firms: the social construction of market popularity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 31, 50-71. doi: 10.5465/amr.2006.19379624
- Roberts, P. W., and Dowling, G. R. (2002). Corporate reputation and sustained superior financial performance. Strateg. Manag. J. 23, 1077-1093. doi: 10.1002/ smi.274

- Robinson, S. L., and Bennett, R. J. (1995). A typology of deviant workplace behaviors: a multidimensional scaling study. Acad. Manag. J. 38, 555-572.
- Ruth, J. A. (2001). Promoting a brand's emotion benefits: the influence of emotion categorization processes on consumer evaluations. J. Consum. Psychol. 11, 99-113. doi: 10.1207/S15327663JCP1102 03
- Rutherford, R. C. (1990). Empirical evidence on shareholder value and the sale? leaseback of corporate real estate. Real Estate Econ. 18, 522-529. doi: 10.1111/ 1540-6229.00535
- Saiia, D. H., Carroll, A. B., and Buchholtz, A. K. (2003). Philanthropy as strategy: when corporate charity begins at home'. Bus. Soc. 42, 169-201. doi: 10.1177/ 0007650303042002002
- Samson, A. (2006). Understanding the buzz that matters: negative vs positive word of mouth. Int. J. Mark. Res. 48, 647-657. doi: 10.1177/147078530604800603
- Simons, S. (2008). Workplace bullying experienced by Massachusetts registered nurses and the relationship to intention to leave the organization. Adv. Nurs. Sci. 31, 48-59. doi: 10.1097/01.ANS.0000319571.37373.d7

Smith, C. N. (1994). The new corporate philanthropy. Harv. Bus. Rev. 72, 105-116.

- Sutton, J. (1997). Gibrat's legacy. J. Econ. Literat. 35, 40-59.
- Tavris, C. (1984). On the wisdom of counting to ten: personal and social dangers of anger expression. Rev. Person. Soc. Psychol. 5, 170-191.
- Totterdell, P. (2000). Catching moods and hitting runs: mood linkage and subjective performance in professional sport teams. J. Appl. Psychol. 85, 848.
- Totterdell, P., Kellett, S., Teuchmann, K., and Briner, R. B. (1998). Evidence of mood linkage in work groups. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1504-1515. doi: 10.1037/ 0022-3514.74.6.1504
- Udayasankar, K. (2008). Corporate social responsibility and firm size. J. Bus. Ethics 83, 167-175. doi: 10.1186/s12992-017-0235-7
- Vaara, E. (2003). Post-acquisition integration as sensemaking: glimpses of ambiguity, confusion, hypocrisy, and politicization. J. Manag. Stud. 40, 859-894. doi: 10.1111/1467-6486.00363
- Van Kleef, G. A., Homan, A. C., Beersma, B., and Van Knippenberg, D. (2010). On angry leaders and agreeable followers: how leaders' emotions and followers' personalities shape motivation and team performance. Psychol. Sci. 21, 1827-1834. doi: 10.1177/0956797610387438
- Weiss, H. M., and Cropanzano, R. (1996). "Affective events theory: a theoretical discussion of the structure, causes and consequences of affective experiences a work," in Research in Organizational Behavior, Vol. 18, eds B. M. Staw and L. L. Cummings (Amsterdam: Elsevier Science/JAI Press), 1-74.
- Weiss, H. M., Suckow, K., and Cropanzano, R. (1999). Effects of justice conditions on discrete emotions. J. Appl. Psychol. 84, 786-794. doi: 10.1037/lhb0000172
- Wong, E., Tschan, F., Messerli, L., and Semmer, N. K. (2013). Expressing and amplifying positive emotions facilitate goal attainment in workplace interactions. Front. Psychol. 4:188. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00188
- Zapf, D., Knorz, C., and Kulla, M. (1996). On the relationship between mobbing factors, and job content, social work environment, and health outcomes. Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol. 5, 215-237. doi: 10.1080/13594329608414856
- Zellmer-Bruhn, M. E. (2003). Interruptive events and team knowledge acquisition. Manag. Sci. 49, 514-528. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.49.4.514.14423

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Choi, Park and Choi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

00282 x

APPENDIX 1 | Abnormal returns for windows surrounding the event day.

Panel A: Abnormal returns of stocks concerning reported power trip

Event day	Power trip (<i>N</i> = 31)					
	AAR	t-value	CAR	<i>t</i> -value		
-5	0.000	0.01	0.000	0.01		
-4	0.000	0.04	0.000	0.03		
-3	-0.001	-0.27	-0.001	-0.17		
-2	0.001	0.35	0.000	0.06		
-1	-0.008	-1.87*	-0.007	-1.00		
0	-0.006	-2.12**	-0.013	-1.68		
1	0.001	0.24	-0.012	-1.20		
2	-0.003	-0.82	-0.015	-1.31		
3	0.002	0.60	-0.015	-1.13		
4	0.003	0.93	-0.012	-0.92		
5	-0.006	-1.71*	-0.017	-1.46		

Panel B: Abnormal returns of stocks on emotional harassment and non-emotional harassment

Event day	Emotional harassment (N = 12)			Non-emotional harassment ($N = 19$)				
	AAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	AAR	t-value	CAR	t-value
-5	0.006	0.85	0.006	0.85	-0.004	-1.48	-0.004	-1.48
-4	0.001	0.20	0.007	0.65	-0.001	-0.16	-0.004	-0.93
-3	0.002	0.27	0.010	0.98	-0.003	-0.85	-0.008	-1.14
-2	0.006	1.42	0.016	1.39	-0.002	-0.30	-0.009	-1.48
-1	-0.017	-1.97*	-0.001	-0.06	-0.002	-0.51	-0.011	-1.47
0	-0.010	-1.70	-0.011	-0.68	-0.003	-1.27	-0.015	-1.73
1	0.002	0.43	-0.008	-0.47	0.000	0.06	-0.014	-1.19
2	-0.003	-0.42	-0.011	-0.50	-0.003	-0.77	-0.017	-1.40
3	-0.004	-0.58	-0.015	-0.60	0.006	1.38	-0.014	-1.02
4	0.011	1.72	-0.004	-0.16	-0.002	-0.75	-0.017	-1.29
5	-0.007	-1.39	-0.011	-0.47	-0.004	-1.05	-0.021	-1.79*

Panel C: Abnormal returns of stocks on conglomerate and non-conglomerate firms

Event day	Conglomerate (N = 12)				Non-conglomerate (N = 19)				
	AAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	AAR	t-value	CAR	t-value	
-5	0.002	0.42	0.002	0.42	-0.001	-0.30	-0.001	-0.30	
-4	-0.002	-0.37	-0.000	-0.04	0.002	0.44	0.001	0.10	
-3	-0.002	-0.38	-0.002	-0.23	-0.001	-0.10	-0.000	-0.01	
-2	0.010	1.36	0.008	0.62	-0.004	-1.05	-0.004	-0.64	
-1	-0.001	-0.25	0.007	0.49	-0.012	-2.00*	-0.016	-2.04*	
0	-0.002	-0.66	0.004	0.36	-0.008	-2.06*	-0.024	-2.54**	
1	-0.000	-0.05	0.004	0.23	0.002	0.34	-0.022	-1.93*	
2	0.005	0.79	0.009	0.45	-0.008	-2.13	-0.030	-2.37**	
3	0.009	1.46	0.018	0.79	-0.002	-0.45	-0.036	-2.65**	
4	-0.002	-0.30	0.016	0.69	0.006	1.40	-0.030	-2.37**	
5	-0.010	-3.07**	0.006	0.29	-0.003	-0.57	-0.033	-2.86**	

Variable definitions: AAR, the average abnormal return in period t; CAR, the cumulative average abnormal return in period t; *, **, *** indicate significance at the 10, 5, and 1% levels, respectively (two-tailed).





The Effect of Emotional Labor of College Administrative Service Workers on Job Attitudes: Mediating Effect of Emotional Labor on Trust and Organizational Commitment

Sang-Lin Han1*, Hyeon-Sook Shim2 and Won Jun Choi1

¹ School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Department of Business Administration, Baewha Women's University, Seoul, South Korea

Service providers working for a service organization are asked to express such positive emotions as joy, pleasure, and politeness required at the organizational level rather than their natural emotions they are experiencing at the moment. They cannot express their emotion they are actually going through and accordingly, their level of emotional labor and emotional dissonance influence on their job commitment and trust toward their organization. This study thus set out to investigate the effects of leading variables of emotional labor on the level of emotional labor and the impact of emotional labor on organizational trust and organizational commitment with a subject group of college administrative staffs. Three underlying factors such as job stress, intimacy, and professionalism were identified as the determinants of emotional labor. Based on the conceptual background and our research questions, five research hypotheses and the proposed research model regarding the effects of emotional labor on organizational commitment and trust were developed. We also tried to include the moderating effects of work environment and gender of service providers on the research model. Given those findings, this study offers theoretical implication that confirms the negative results of emotional labor. Unlike many different studies on emotional labor from the traditional perspective of service, this study offers a practical implication by expanding and applying it to the field of college administrative service, which is an area where service providers are in the different working environment from the traditional company work environment. Finally, the managerial implications and the limitations of the study were also discussed.

Keywords: job stress, intimacy, professionalism, emotional labor, organizational commitment, trust

INTRODUCTION

Workers working at service organizations are often required to express positive emotions such as joy, pleasure, and politeness (Sutton and Rafaeli, 1988). In particular, in the case of the service industry, emotional expressions of workers are very important because human contacts are frequently made due to the nature of services. The impressions for a few seconds made through the facial expressions and emotions shown by service workers to

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Weon Sang Yoo, Korea University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Jaewon Yoo, Soongsil University, South Korea Seong Ho Lee, Hanbat National University, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Sang-Lin Han slhan@hanyang.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 14 September 2018 Accepted: 21 November 2018 Published: 14 December 2018

Citation:

Han S-L, Shim H-S and Choi WJ (2018) The Effect of Emotional Labor of College Administrative Service Workers on Job Attitudes: Mediating Effect of Emotional Labor on Trust and Organizational Commitment. Front. Psychol. 9:2473. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02473

41

customers in the process of service production can be directly connected with the profit of the service company. Nevertheless, there was a lack of interest in emotion studies in the field of service marketing, and interest in emotions in marketing has been mainly shown from the viewpoint of customers. That is, studies have mainly focused on the effects of the emotions experienced by customers in the process of purchasing behavior (Babin and Attaway, 2000; Schaubroeck and Jones, 2000) or how workers should be educated for customer emotion management (Menon and Dubé, 2000; McLaughlin and Carr, 2005). After the studies conducted by Hochschild (1983, 1990), which defined service workers' efforts to control their actual emotions and express certain emotions that seem to be desirable in the service industry as emotional labor, studies on service workers' emotions have been actively conducted (Grandey, 2000; Kruml and Geddes, 2000).

Nonetheless, studies on the emotional labor of service workers in the field of administrative services are insufficient. In particular, despite that customers' evaluation of school administrative services may be more conservative in that the services are delivered to school members, school units' interest in service workers' emotion management can be said to be insufficient.

In addition, in the case of administrative services, following the global stream of administrative reform since the 1990s, workers working at service organizations have been required to express mainly those emotions such as joy, pleasure, and politeness (Sutton and Rafaeli, 1988) because the emotional expressions of the service workers positioned at the front lines of service delivery have great effects on the service quality perceived by customers and overall perceptions of the service organizations by the customers. Therefore, in recent years, even public institutions have been regarding emotions as important and have been making effort to break from the existing authoritative forms and derive changes in behavior into the shape of emotional and customer-oriented service suppliers.

However, in the case of service workers who deliver services at the front lines, the situations where they perceive a sort of emotional labor of being unable to express their actual emotions may lead to stress imposed while they work, which may reduce their trust in their organizations or job satisfaction. Eventually, the core of the efforts of workers at educational institutions and administrative service workers can be said to be improving the quality of service and building customer-oriented organization structures and the accompanying work overload may be a leading variable of emotional labor.

As the emotional labor of service providers is regarded as important at service organizations (Adelmann, 1995; Kruml and Geddes, 2000), the present study was intended to investigate the emotion management of service workers in the field of administrative services, which has been studied relatively less extensively thus far (Diefendorff et al., 2005). In particular, the present study was conducted with service workers working at universities with a view to proposing theoretical or practical measures to improve the emotion management of service workers. The present study aimed to investigate the effects of administrative service workers' emotion management on the organizational effectiveness perceived at the level of organization dimensions. More concretely, the present study was intended to review variables such as relational effectiveness (job stress, intimacy, and professionalism), emotional labor, and organizational effectiveness (organizational commitment, organizational trust), which are core variables in this study, and examine the causal relations among these variables.

CONCEPTUAL BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

University Administrative Staff's Functions and Roles

Although university administrative staff members do not directly engage in educational or research activities, they not only support those activities to ensure that the activities are properly conducted but also play core roles of planning and managing all works in universities. In addition, they not only simply assist professors or students but also are in charge of professional administrative management such as arranging and maintaining all conditions for achievement of the goals of university education. University administrative staff members play the role of a bridge between professors and students while playing pivotal roles in the university administration. Teaching activities are direct instructional activities to achieve the educational goals of school organizations. In contrast, university administration can be said to be service activities intended to support teaching activities and achieve educational goals.

Emotional Labor

The Concept of Emotional Labor

Emotional labor is the concept termed emotional work applied to the situation of job performance in organizations. It can be said to be a concept similar to emotional regulation in that it refers to the effort to intentionally express certain emotions beyond suppressing or controlling certain emotions. However, whereas emotional regulation is individuals' intentional behavior to change an excessive positive or negative emotional state into the targeted state of emotions expected by themselves or others, emotional labor is more other-oriented and can be said to be a part of emotional regulation appearing in the process of job performance.

The individuals' efforts to control their actual emotions and express emotions suitable for job performance in organizations as such were conceptualized into emotional labor. In this respect, Hochschild (1983) defined emotion labor as "outward states or facial expressions resulting from induced or suppressed emotions different from actual emotions."

Based on the argument of Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) and Morris and Feldman (1996) presented leading variables of emotional labor and a multidimensional concept of emotional labor for the results of the variables. Unlike the existing viewpoints, they focus on behaviors to express organizationally desirable emotions with regard to the concept of emotional labor and conceptualized emotional labor based on the diverse dimensions of behaviors to express emotions required by organizations. In this study, the researchers stated that emotional labor consists of four dimensions, which are the frequency of emotional display, the degree of attentiveness required for emotional expressions, the diversity of emotional expressions, and emotional dissonance.

In addition, Grandey (2000) defined emotional labor as a process of expression and regulation of emotions intended to achieve the organizations' goals. Through this process, rather than focusing on occupational classification, observable expressions of emotions, or the disagreement between the characteristics of the situation and emotions, the internal emotional regulation approach is used more frequently. As such, the concept of emotional labor varies slightly among researchers and no agreed concept is available even now.

Emotional Labor in University Administrative Services

Recently, schools and public institutions have been making considerable efforts in activities for customer satisfaction and kindliness to customers such as implementing kindliness education and recruiting kind staff members. These changes can be regarded as indicating that the emotional labor of employees, which had been receiving attention mainly in service positions in the private sector, has become an important form of labor in the public sector too. Although emotional labor began in the form of kind behaviors demanded from administrative service workers in departments related to students mainly organized for civil services in the early days, it appears in all school personnel now along with the transparency, accountability, and information disclosure of individual departments.

School personnel are implicitly required to be receptive, tolerant, understanding, and willing to help so that they can provide services that meet the needs of students while constantly coming into contact with students. Therefore, when they come up with pessimistic feelings, anger, or unkindness about students in the course of delivering administrative services, they make great efforts in emotional regulation in order to suppress such feelings and induce receptive and friendly emotions. The labor for emotional management as such may lead to the feeling of exhaustion as much as does physical work. This psychological aspect as such will greatly affect the intimacy, professionalism, job stress, and organizational commitment of school personnel thereby acting as a factor that affects organizational effectiveness.

Previous Studies on Emotional Labor

Hochschild (1983) indicated that emotional labor is directly related to negative behaviors such as drug abuse, alcoholism, and absenteeism and the magnitude of demand for suppression of emotions that must be experienced due to duties was shown to be positively correlated with job stress while being negatively correlated with job satisfaction.

Abraham (1999) conducted a study on customer services (food service industry, telemarketer, apparel retailer, and event company employee) selected from the service industry and indicated that according to the results of the study, job satisfaction (dissatisfaction) mediates the relationship between emotional dissonance and turnover intentions. In addition, job satisfaction, which is affected by emotional dissonance, was shown to be closely related with turnover intentions.

Pugh (2001) studied the process through which the happy emotions expressed by staff members of banks affect the positive emotions of customers, who visit banks, and the positive emotions as such ultimately lead to good perception of the service of banks. Zapf (2002) conducted a study to find what the positive and negative effects of emotional labor on employees who were performing emotional labor were and the results of this study indicated that the positive effect of emotional labor was job satisfaction and the negative effect was emotional exhaustion.

Gountas et al. (2007) examined the effects of flight attendants' emotional expressions on the emotions of customers as airline passengers. The results of this study indicated that flight attendants' positive emotional expressions toward customers affected the positive emotions of customers and the positive emotions of customers eventually affected the customers' overall satisfaction and reuse intentions in relation to the use of the airline.

As such, studies regarding emotional labor have been applied to diverse fields, and discussions on the effects of emotional labor have still produced both positive and negative results. In particular, despite that diverse studies have been conducted in relation to emotional labor, such studies are still insufficient in the field of medical service. The present study was intended to focus on the negative consequences of emotional labor presented by Hochschild (1983).

Job Stress

Thus far, many scholars have diversely presented concepts related to stress in various fields. They defined stress as an inadequate relationship between environments and individuals and regarded that such an inadequate relationship originates in the desire of humans generated due to the stimulation of environments or regarded the interactions between environments and individuals as being dynamic and the inadequate relationship as a dynamic situation where the solution is perceived to be uncertain in the process of making effort to achieve what individuals desire.

Job stress can be defined as harmful physical or mental responses occurring when what the job demands does not match the employee's ability, resources, or demands. Job stress occurs in situations where environments and individuals disagree with each other, that is, in situations where the environment requires jobs that exceed the individual's ability or does not satisfy the individual's demand.

The first definition of the concept of job stress was made from the viewpoint to see job stress as an external stimulus that affects individuals leading to the destruction of the physical and psychological stability of organization members. From this viewpoint, job stress was defined as "a characteristic of negative environmental factors such as excessive work related to a certain job, role conflicts, role ambiguity, and poor working conditions or job environments that threaten organization members" (Beehr and Newman, 1978). The second definition of job stress was made from the viewpoint of interactions between organisms and environments. From this viewpoint, job stress was defined as "a state where an individual's ability does not meet the requirements of the job or the job environment provided by the organization does not meet the individual's desire" (French et al., 1974). Since the subjects of the present study are educational administrative service workers, job stress will be defined as a 'state of uncomfortable psychological responses felt by employees in the process of performing jobs due to the incongruity among factors related to the job.' The effects of job stress on the organization are manifested by job dissatisfaction, absenteeism, and turnover, which eventually lead to negative consequences on the organization's performance.

As for the effects of job stress on psychological tension or emotions, it can be said that as job stress increases, the degree of exhaustion of individuals' emotions increases too (Meyer et al., 1993). This is also shown by the findings of a study conducted by Sutton (1984) indicating that job stress can ultimately lead to the deterioration of mental and physical health. In particular, if an individual performs emotional labor during which he/she is personally controlled by emotions despite that his/her job stress due to work increases, he/she may perceive emotional labor more intensively because he/she has no personal vent. Therefore, we developed the following hypothesis.

H1: Job stress increases the level of emotional labor.

Intimacy

"Intimus," which is the original Latin word for intimacy, means inside or the deepest inside. Therefore, intimacy is related to revealing or sharing one's deep private parts (Price et al., 1995). The largest asset of an enterprise intimate with its customers is naturally customer loyalty. The characteristics of enterprises that pursue customer intimacy as such are reviewed as follows.

First, such enterprises promote long-term relationships with customers. Enterprises intimate with customers recognize their relationships with customers formed in the long term over time as important investments rather than regarding the profits accrued in the first transaction with new customers as important. Second, such enterprises build and maintain a detailed information system for their customers. Third, such enterprises make effort to continuously provide customers with something more than what customers expect.

The intimacy in the present study can be said to be the degree to which the school staff, who are at the forefront of delivery of services, perceive that they are intimate with students or professors, who are their service customers.

Emotional labor can be regarded as a sort of emotional stress experienced in a situation where it is difficult to express one's substantive and negative emotions as they are. In cases where service workers perceive intimate emotions toward their service customers highly, they can express their emotions more frankly and this will ultimately make the service workers perceive the degree of emotional labor as being low. Therefore, we developed the following hypothesis.

Professionalism in Work

The perspective of professionalism in work examined in the present study can be said to be a concept contrary to 'qualitative work overloading.' School staff members with professionalism in works that correspond to the areas of individuals were inferred to be highly likely to have high self-esteem for the works under their charge thanks to increases in work efficiency. In addition, since it was inferred through the foregoing that the level of perception of emotional labor by school staff members might be low, the following hypothesis 3 was established.

H3: Professionalism decreases the level of emotional labor.

Organizational Commitment

Organizational commitment is known to be an important variable explaining the characteristics of organizations as with job satisfaction. Sheldon (1971) regarded organizational commitment as an individual's positive evaluation of his/her organization or the individual's will to achieve the organization's goals. That is, an organization member with strong organizational commitment recognizes the goals of the organization as his/her goals and contributes to the development of the organization.

The reason why diverse studies have been conducted in relation to organizational commitment is that organizational commitment is closely related to the effectiveness of the organizations. Accordingly, many studies have been conducted on the influencing factors that determine organizational commitment. Through a multifaceted study on the leading variables and outcome variables of organizational commitment, Meyer and Allen (1990) presented rewards, the number of years of continuous service, goal identity, positions, age, job satisfaction, job stress, education levels, and job environment as leading variables of organizational commitment and productivity, turnover intentions, absenteeism, and job satisfaction as outcome variables and argued that although the leading variables of organizational are not sufficiently consistent because they are quite diverse, the outcome variables are quite clear.

Eventually, organizational commitment refers to an employee's intention to devote his/her energy and loyalty to the organization to which he or she belongs. The organizational commitment as such can be defined as a psychological characteristic related to the attitudes of the employees, and it can be said that elements such as loyalty to the organization, the mind to make best efforts for the organization, and selfidentification of the employees with the organization are contained in organizational commitment.

It can be inferred that as the intensity of emotional labor increases, the level of attachment or commitment to the organization will became lower. Therefore, the following hypothesis 4 was established.

H2: Intimacy decreases the level of emotional labor.

H4: Emotional labor has negative impact on organizational commitment.

Organizational Trust

Organizational trust is trust in the objective employment relationship between an organization and its members and it is defined as the 'members' overall evaluation and conviction of the organization that the organization will conduct behaviors beneficiary or at least not harmful to the members' (Zapf, 2002).

Concretely, the reason why trust is necessary in organizations is that trust is important for the development of organizations as follows. First, trust promotes the organization to achieve high performance. Second, trust is an important element in achieving the long-term stability of the organization and happiness of the members. Third, trust induces organization members to have a strong sense of community and voluntarily participate in organizations' problems thereby enabling organic and humancentered flexible operation of organizations.

Levering (2000) argued that trust is a complex concept consisting of the factors of veracity, respect for individuals, and fairness, and presented three components of organizational trust; first, trust, which is in the relationship between the employees and the management; second, self – esteem, which is in the relationship between each employee and his/her work; and, third, fun, which is in the relationship between the employees who work together.

As such, trust is a very important element of organization's competitiveness and long-term sustainability in diverse aspects. Therefore, many scholars have promoted studies on interactions between trust and other variables. Such variables include group effectiveness, effective group problem solving, leadership effectiveness, and overall organizational effectiveness.

Trust can be classified by type into emotional trust and rational trust. Lewis and Weigert (1985) conducted a study on trust with a focus on relationships and they classified trust into two axes: emotion and reason. Cognitive trust, which is focused on the aspect of reason, is defined as selecting a person who is trusted based on some good aspects of the person under certain circumstances. This means the formation of subjective trust in relationships with others reflecting aspects that are aimed at pursuing practical interests. On the other hand, emotional trust, which is focused on emotions, is said to be formed through interpersonal emotional ties. That is, trust in others is understood as intimacy and the will to take risks formed through the creation of environments such as emotional ties. In the present study, based on the studies mentioned above, an integrated measurement of trust was made considering both the aspect of emotional trust and the aspect of rational trust.

Service workers who frequently experience emotional labor of being unable to properly deliver actual emotional expressions due to their organizations can be inferred to have low levels of trust in their organizations. Therefore, hypothesis 5 as follows was established.

H5: Emotional labor has negative impact on trust.

Moderating Effects of Work Environment and Gender

In the present study intended to analyze the effects of emotional labor on university administrative staff members, the effects of emotional labor were regarded to appear differently according to the different work environments of universities or the genders of staff members. We tried to analyze the moderating effects of those two variables. The following research hypotheses were established assuming that the organization culture and working environment of 2 years junior colleges should be different from the researchoriented 4 years universities. Many staff members of researchoriented universities provide services to faculty members and graduate students as well as traditional undergraduate students. However, major role of the staff members of 2 years colleges is focusing on services for students only and in that sense, their working environment could be very different from the each other. Similarly, the perception of working condition and the perceived level of emotional labor might be different depending on gender and, therefore we developed the following hypotheses regarding the effects of moderating variables.

H6: Work environment has moderating effect between the antecedent factors and outcome factors of emotional labor. H7: Gender of service provider has moderating effect between the antecedent factors and outcome factors of emotional labor.

Research Model

Based on the theoretical background, findings of previous studies, and research hypotheses described thus far, we set up a research model as follows (**Figure 1**).

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND MODEL TESTING

Questionnaire Survey and Measurement Scale

Composition of Job Stress Questionnaire Items

To examine the job stress of administrative service workers, which is the purpose of the present study, the model of Matteson and Ivancevich (1987) was used to make questionnaire items for job stress and, job stress by using Likert 5-point scale. The



concrete composition of the questionnaire items for job stress is as follows (Table 1).

Composition of Intimacy Questionnaire Items

In the present study, the six items utilized in a study conducted by Nielsen (2001) were utilized to measure intimacy. The concrete composition of the questionnaire items is as follows (**Table 2**).

Composition of Questionnaire Items for Professionalism in Work

In the present study, to examine administrative service workers' professionalism in work, knowledge in related majors, self-improvement, job performance, and commitment to work were examined (**Table 3**).

Composition of Questionnaire Items for Emotional Labor

Emotional labor is a unique characteristic of service labor. In service labor, "the quality of interactions" between employees and service practitioners *per se* constitutes a part of the service delivered to customers. In the present study, emotional labor was measured using a total of 12 items made based on the

TABLE 1 Comp	position of job stress questionnaire items.
Job stress	Scale items
	(1) I have a lot of work and I am always pressed for time while working.
	(2) My workload has increased significantly.
	(3) The work currently under my charge working on does not seem to fit well with my aptitude.
	(4) My work is not interesting and there is no new change.
	(5) My opinions are respected in many cases.
	(6) I have to work with ambiguous instructions or commands in many cases.
	(7) Sometimes, I have to perform tasks against my judgment.
	(8) I sometimes have to perform tasks without the support of appropriate human and material resources.
	(9) Sometimes, tasks beyond my capability are given to me.
	(10) My role is quite ambiguous.
	(11) My job makes me perform tasks against my values.
	(12) My workplace (school)'s promotion policy ensures fair

compensations for tasks performed.

TABLE 2 | Composition of intimacy questionnaire items.

Intimacy	Scale items
Intimacy	(1) I have a very intimate friend in my team.
(2) I maintain friendship with my team members even outside the workplace.(3) I can tell my team members my secrets.	
	(5) I am happy because I can see my team members at work.
	(6) I do not feel anyone in my team as a true friend, no matter
	with whom I work with.

TABLE 3 | Composition of questionnaire items for professionalism in work.

Scale items for professionalism in work

- (1) I have knowledge in majors related with my work.
- (2) I have a certificate related with my work.
- (3) I am investing my time beyond my daily working hours to handle my work.
- (4) I think I have an ability differentiated from other employees for handling my work.
- (5) I have a passion for my work.
- (6) I think I handle tasks faster than others.
- (7) I think I handle my work more accurately than others.

study conducted by Morris and Feldman (1996). The detailed questionnaire items is as follows (**Table 4**).

Composition of Questionnaire Items for Organizational Effectiveness

In the present study, organizational commitment and organizational trust were defined as organizational effectiveness. Organizational commitment can be said to be a strong attitude of service workers to identify the goals of the organization with their goals and try to achieve the goals with positive attachment. The organizational commitment as such was measured with the five items used in a study on organizational commitment conducted by Allen and Meyer (1990). The concept of organizational trust was set as the belief about the organization set by the organization members (**Table 5**).

Survey and Data Collection

The subjects of the present study were limited to staff members who provide administrative services at universities and data were collected through questionnaire surveys conducted with the staff members of four universities and two two-year junior colleges located in Seoul, South Korea. For the questionnaire surveys, the researcher firsthand visited the sites to explain the intent of the questionnaire and collected data through one-to-one questionnaire surveys. A total of 250 copies of the questionnaire were collected over approximately 3 weeks and 235 copies excluding questionnaires with unfaithful responses were used in the final analysis.

Characteristics of Study Respondents

The demographic characteristics of the 235 respondents who responded to the questionnaire in the present study are as follows. As for sex men out numbered women as the percentages of

TABLE 4 | Composition of emotional labor questionnaire items.

Scale items for emotional labor

- (1) I often smile intentionally rather than truly smiling in my workplace.
- (2) I often consciously make effort to make students feel kindness.
- (3) I often have to hide my real emotions to lead my work life well.
- (4) I feel it is very difficult to express real emotions during my work life.
- (5) When I feel bad, I try not to express the emotion.
- (6) It is difficult to respond to students with smiles.

 TABLE 5 | Composition of questionnaire items for organizational commitment and organizational trust.

	Scale items
Organizational commitment	(4) I would strongly recommend it if people around me would apply for a job at our school.
	(5) I find joy at my school.
	(6) I like my school more than do other staff members.
	(7) I am not bored when I work at our school.
	(8) I do not consider choosing another school.
Organizational trust	(1) My workplace (school) is trying to meet my opinion.
	(2) My workplace (school) tries to treat me fairly.
	(3) I believe that my workplace (school) will make wise decisions for the future of our school.
	(4) My workplace (school)'s field management is streamlined.

men was 55.3% while that of women was 44.7%. As for ages, the percentage of subjects in their 30 s was the highest at 35.3% followed by those in their 40 s (27.7%), 20 s (24.3%), 50 s (11.5%), and 60 s (1.3%). As for the types of schools where they work, the percentages of universities, two-year junior colleges, and other schools were shown to be 58.3, 40.0, and 1.7%, respectively. As for the number of years of service, the percentage of nine years or more was the highest at 38.7% followed by $1\sim3$ years (20.0%), less than 1 year (18.3%), $7\sim9$ years (8.9%), $5\sim7$ years (7.2%), and $3\sim5$ years.

Reliability and Validity of Measurement

Cronbach's a coefficient was used to verify the reliability of the measurement items used in this study. As shown in Table 6, Cronbach's α was found to be high, between 0.75 and 0.85. This exceeded the standard (0.70) presented by Nunnally and Bernstein (1994), securing reliability. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was performed on the measurement items to verify the convergent validity of the constructs. The goodnessof-fit index for the CFA was $\chi^2 = 207.32$ (df = 120, p = 0.000), CFI = 0.94, and RMSEA = 0.05, satisfying the guidelines from Hu and Bentler (1999). The results of the CFA indicated that the *t*-values of all factor loadings are significant at p < 0.001, securing convergent validity. In addition, construct reliability (CR) and average variance extracted (AVE) values that measure internal consistency were examined. The CR value of all variables was 0.70 or higher and the AVE value was 0.5, securing convergent validity.

Two methods were used to verify discriminant validity between constructs. First, CFA was performed on each of the items of the constructs included in the research model (Bagozzi and Yi, 1988) to confirm that the correlation between the constructs was less than 1 (**Table 7**). The results indicated that all correlation values between the constructs were less than 0.85, securing discriminant validity. Second, discriminant validity is secured when the AVE value of the construct is larger than the square value of correlation (AVE > φ^2), comparing the AVE values of each constructs. All standards were met, and discriminant validity was secured.

Construct	Scale	Loading*	CR	AVE	Cronbach's alpha
Job stress	JS 1	0.548	0.874	0.777	0.774
	JS 2	0.831			
	JS 3	0.851			
Intimacy	Int 1	0.895	0.933	0.876	0.823
	Int 2	0.818			
	Int 3	0.656			
Professionalism	Pro 1	0.536	0.809	0.680	0.746
	Pro 2	0.860			
	Pro 3	0.746			
Emotional labor	EL 1	0.711	0.922	0.856	0.843
	EL 2	0.867			
	EL 3	0.695			
Organization commitment	Commit 1	0.721	0.930	0.870	0.853
	Commit 2	0.873			
	Commit 3	0.851			
Organization trust	Trust 1	0.540	0.853	0.745	0.758
	Trust 2	0.869			
	Trust 3	0.725			

*All factor loadings are statistically significant at p < 0.001. $\chi^2 = 207.319$; df = 120; p = 0.000; TLI = 0.913; CFI = 0.939; RMSEA = 0.049.

TABLE 7 | Correlation matrix of study constructs*.

TABLE 6 | Reliability and validity of measurement.

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Job stress	1.0					
2. Intimacy	0.254	1.0				
3. Professionalism	0.220	0.191	1.0			
4. Emotional labor	0.385	-0.448	0.056	1.0		
5. Commitment	0.060	0.570	0.341	-0.346	1.0	
6. Trust	-0.186	0.317	0.078	-0.370	0.535	1.0

*All coefficients are significant at p = 0.000 level.

Verification of the Research Hypotheses and Model Testing

Structural equation model analyses were conducted to verifying the research hypotheses (**Table 8**). The goodness-of-fit indices of the overall model were shown to be $\chi^2 = 303.016$ (df = 130, p = 0.000), CFI = 0.878, TLI = 0.964, RMSEA = 0.067 indicating that the model is a good model that satisfies the criteria of Hu and Bentler (1999).

The results of verification of hypothesis 1 indicated that this hypothesis is statistically significant. The results as such can be said to have confirmed the negative consequences of emotional labor that have been shown in many existing studies and also can be said to provide a practical implication that measures to reduce the job stress of service workers should be prepared at the level of organizations.

The results of verification of hypothesis 2 indicated that this hypothesis is statistically significant. The results as such can be said to be interesting ones suggesting that measures to reduce the

Path		Standardized estimate	SE	C.R	Р	Result
H1	Job stress \rightarrow Emotional labor	-0.583	0.097	-7.153	***	Supported
H2	Intimacy \rightarrow Emotional labor	0.478	0.148	5.122	***	Supported
НЗ	Professionalism \rightarrow Emotional labor	0.030	0.150	0.464	0.643	Not supported
H4	Emotional labor \rightarrow Organizational commitment	-0.457	0.073	-4.809	***	Supported
H5	Emotional labor \rightarrow Organizational trust	-0.431	0.073	-5.011	***	Supported

TABLE 8 | Results of hypothesis testing and model analysis.

 χ^2 = 303.016; df = 130; p = 0.000; TLI = 0.964; CFI = 0.878; RMSEA = 0.067; ***p < 0.000.

variable termed emotional labor should be sought at the level of organizations as well as in terms of personal relationships. These results can be regarded to be very interesting in that whereas many existing studies on emotional labor measured emotional labor mainly from the viewpoint of organizations, the present study suggested that the emotional exchanges of individual service workers are a variable that can reduce emotional labor.

The results of analysis of hypothesis 3 indicated that this hypothesis should not be adopted. In other words, professionalism has no statistically significant effect on the emotional labor. That is, professionalism in work can be regarded to have no statistically significant effect on emotional labor. Although the reduction of work burdens through professionalism in work was predicted to act as a factor to reduce emotional labor in the present study, the results of actual measurement indicated that individuals' professionalism in work has no effect on emotional labor. Consequently, the reason can be found from the fact that the work of university administrative staff does not require a high level of professionalism. The reason why the professionalism does not influence the level of emotional labor is maybe because the service worker's job expertise or experience of working knowledge does not necessarily mean the decrease of emotional labor.

The results of verification of hypotheses 4 and 5 indicated that emotional labor has significant effects on both organizational commitment and organizational trust. As mentioned in the research hypotheses, these results can be said to show that emotional labor is an important factor in determining the organizational effectiveness of universities. The above results of verification of the hypotheses were summarized as shown in the following table.

All hypotheses except for hypothesis 3 were shown to have been satisfied. Therefore, on organizing the study findings, it can be seen that job stress is a variable that has significant effects on emotional labor, and that the perception of high levels of job stress lead to the perception of high levels of emotional labor. In addition, it was shown that the perception of intimacy with students leads to the perception of low levels of emotional labor (Hypothesis 2) indicating that organizational support at the level of university is necessary for administrative service workers to form intimate relationships with students. Finally, since emotional labor has significant effects on the variables of organizational effectiveness (organizational commitment and organizational trust), work environment where low level of emotional labor can be perceived should be adapted to improve the organizational performance of administrative service workers of university.

Analysis of Moderating Effect

Moderating Effect of Work Environment

In Hypothesis 6, this study conducted a multi-group analysis to examine the moderating effect of work environment (2- vs. 4-year universities). In order to test the difference between the two different groups, this study analyzed whether there is a χ^2 difference between the free model and structural weight constrained model to verify the moderating effects.

In **Table 9**, the $\chi 2$ difference between the free and constrained models is 280.664, which is much higher than the effective value of χ^2 at the 0.05 significance level. As a result, the hypothesis 6 was supported because the difference between the two models was significant, and the moderating effect of the university work environment was accepted. The moderating effect was verified and the path coefficients between the two groups were compared (**Table 10**). There is a significant difference between the two

TABLE 10 | Comparison of path coefficients between 2- and 4-year universities.

Path			4-Year	2-Year	CR
Intimacy	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	-0.685***	-0.531***	4.918
Job stress	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	0.555***	0.444**	0.541
Professionalism	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	0.113**	-0.296**	2.330
Emotional labor	\rightarrow	Organizational trust	-0.604***	-0.647***	1.779
Emotional labor	\rightarrow	Organizational commitment	-0.550***	-0.757***	1.849

p < 0.01 and *p < 0.000.

TABLE 9 | Comparison of free and constraint models for verification of moderating effect of work environment.

Model	χ ²	df	CFI	RMSEA	$\Delta \chi^2$	$\Delta\chi^2$ /sig.
Free model	1862.229	260	0.842	0.077	_	
Structural weight constrained model	2142.889	295	0.826	0.076	280.664/35	Yes

groups when the critical ratio (CR) value of the path coefficients of the two groups shows as in the **Table 9**.

Moderating Effect of Gender

To test the hypothesis 7, we conducted a multi-group analysis to examine the moderating effect of men and women from the perspective of the level of emotional labor. In order to test the difference between the two different groups (men vs. women), this study analyzed whether there is a $\chi 2$ difference between the free model and structural weight constrained model to verify the moderating effects.

In **Table 11**, the $\chi 2$ difference between the free and constrained models is 158.18, which is much higher than the effective value of 55.76 at the 0.05 level when the degree of freedom is 30. As a result, the hypothesis 7 was supported because the difference between the two models was significant, and the moderating effect of gender was accepted. The moderating effect was also verified and the path coefficients between the two groups were compared (**Table 12**). There is a significant difference between the two groups shows as in the **Table 12**. Based on this result, we can find that the emotional labor of women is relatively more influenced by the level of job stress.

CONCLUSION

Discussion and Managerial Implications

Since service workers' emotion management is regarded as important in the field of services, the present study was intended to be conducted in the aspect of university administrative service workers among the diverse sectors of emotional labor that have been studied thus far. To this end, the present study was intended to be conducted centering on job stress, which is a leading variable of emotional labor that has been presented in many previous studies, with personal variables termed professionalism in work and intimacy, which are aspects where service workers' individual management is necessary, added to job stress.

In addition, the present study was also intended to be conducted from the perspective about emotional labor believing that organizational effectiveness will be reduced due to the effective emotion management, that is, the management of the norms for emotions expressed by service workers at the level of organization.

To this end, in the present study, the leading variables and outcome variables of emotional labor were extracted from the viewpoint of existing previous studies and for the parsimoniousness of study, it was intended to examine the effects of job stress, professionalism in work, and intimacy, which are leading variables of emotional labor, on the level of emotional labor. Accordingly, interviews were conducted in advance to secure the validity of study subject selection and after securing the validity of study subjects based on the results of the interviews, questionnaire surveys were conducted for empirical analysis with administrative workers working at six universities and school personnel at the points of contacts with students and professors.

The hypotheses were verified based on the results of empirical analysis conducted through a series of processes as such. The results of the analysis are as follows.

First, the job stress of service workers was shown to have increasing (+) effects on emotional labor. It was confirmed that the study findings indicating that the awareness of job stress has significant effects on the emotional labor perceived by service workers in other industries, apply to administrative service workers too. Therefore, it provides a practical implication that conditions under which emotion management can be performed should be prepared at the organization level through the reduction of job stress of service workers.

Second, intimacy was shown to reduce the degree of emotional labor of service workers. This is significant in that the fact that the intimacy perceived by administrative service workers in their relationships with customers affects their personal emotion management was confirmed. In addition, it also provides a practical implication that rather than utilizing only emotion management as a means of control at the level of organization, meetings and events that can form positive relationships with customers (students) should be actively utilized by school organizations to support organization members in relation to their emotional exhaustion with interest.

Third, although the professionalism in work of service workers was thought to have decreasing (-) effects on emotional labor, the results of verification indicated that the decreasing

TABLE 12 | Comparison of path coefficients between men and women groups.

Path			Men	Women	CR
Intimacy	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	-0.417***	-0.743***	3.782
Job stress	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	0.623***	0.363***	2.470
Professionalism	\rightarrow	Emotional labor	0.009	0.174**	2.033
Emotional labor	\rightarrow	Organizational trust	-0.407***	-0.551***	1.295
Emotional labor	\rightarrow	Organizational commitment	-0.463***	-0.353***	1.741

p < 0.01 and *p < 0.000.

TABLE 11 Comparison of free and constraint models for verification of moderating effect of gender.

• ·			0			
Model	χ²	df	CFI	RMSEA	$\Delta \chi^2$	$\Delta \chi^2$ /sig.
Free model	1485.567	260	0.908	0.055	_	
Structural weight constrained model	1643.750	295	0.906	0.052	158.183/35	Yes

 $(\chi^2$ -value = 55.76/df of Dif = 30).

effects were not significant. Based on the foregoing, it can be inferred that the sector of personal abilities does not affect service workers' emotion management and that individual service workers perceive emotions and their professionalism in work as separate variables.

Limitations and Future Research Direction

The present study examined the effects of administrative service workers' job stress, intimacy, and professionalism on their emotional labor, and the effects of emotional labor on organizational commitment and organizational trust in administrative service situations. Therefore, the present study has the implications as mentioned above but it has the following limitations.

First, in-depth discussions on the significance of emotional labor, which is a central concept of discussion in the present study, for job attitudes in administrative services were insufficient. Therefore, qualitative studies are judged to be necessary as future studies because shortcomings may occur since the results of the present study have not been derived from the opinions of all administrative service workers although the opinions were surveyed through in-depth interviews with administrative service workers present in the vicinity.

Second, the present study considered only intimacy, professionalism in work, job stress, and organizational

REFERENCES

- Abraham, A. R. (1999). The impact of emotional dissonance on organizational commitment and intention to turnover. J. Psychol. 133, 441–455. doi: 10.1080/ 00223989909599754
- Adelmann, P. K. (1995). "Emotional labor as a potential source of job stress," in Organizational Factor for Job Stress, eds S. L. Sauter and L. R. Murphy (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 110-162.
- Allen, N. J., and Meyer, J. P. (1990). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization. *J. Occup. Psychol.* 63, 1–18. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1990.tb00 506.x
- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). "Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity,". Acad. Manag. Rev. 18, 88–115. doi: 10.3109/09638237. 2012.734656
- Babin, B., and Attaway, J. (2000). Atmospheric affect as tool for creating value and gaining customers share. *Bus. Res. J.* 49, 93–97. doi: 10.1016/S0148-2963(99) 00011-9
- Bagozzi, R., and Yi, Y. (1988). On the evaluation of structure equation models. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 16, 74–94. doi: 10.1007/BF02723327
- Beehr, T. A., and Newman, J. E. (1978). Job stress employee health and organizational effectiveness: a facet analysis model and literature review. *Pers. Psychol.* 31, 665–669. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1978.tb02 118.x
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., and Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The dimensionality and antecedents of emotional labor strategies. J. Vacat. Behav. 66, 339–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001
- French, J., Rogers, W., and Cobb, S. (1974). "Adjustment as person-environment fit," in *Coping and Adaptation*, eds G. V. Coelho, D. A. Hamburg, and J. Adams (New York, NY: Basic Books).
- Gountas, S., Ewing, M. T., and Gountas, J. I. (2007). Testing airline passengers' response to flight attendants' expressive displays: the effects of positive affect. *J. Bus. Res.* 60, 81–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2006.09.022

effectiveness in relation to the effects of emotional labor on job attitudes. However, other underlying factors would affect job attitudes in relation to emotional labor. As follow-up studies, it is hoped that multidimensional studies will be conducted on which factors affect emotional labor and job attitude.

Third, although the present study was conducted in the aspect of administrative service workers, in the future, the effects of emotional labor on the performance of students along with the performance of schools should be examined by conducting surveys on students who are provided with the service along with administrative service workers.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of ethics committee of Hanyang University with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the ethics committee of Hanyang University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

S-LH designed and drafted the work. H-SS designed the work and analyzed the data. WC drafted the work and collected the data.

- Grandey, A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 60, 95–110. doi: 10. 1037/1076-8998.5.1.95
- Hochschild, A. (1990). "Ideology and emotion management: a perspective and path for future research," in *Research Agendas in the Sociology of Emotions*, ed. T. D. Kemper (Albany, NY: State University of New York Press), 117–142.
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The Managed Heart*. Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.
- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Kruml, S. M., and Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor: the heart of hochschild's Work. *Manag. Commun. Q.* 141, 8–49. doi: 10.1177/0893318900141002
- Levering, B. (2000). Disappointment in teacher-student relationships. J. Curr. Stud. 32, 65–74. doi: 10.1080/002202700182853
- Lewis, J. D., and Weigert, A. (1985). Trust as a social reality. *Soc. Forces* 63, 967–985. doi: 10.1093/sf/63.4.967
- Matteson, T. M., and Ivancevich, M. (1987). Controlling Work Stress: Effective Human Resource and Management Strategies. New York, NY: Jossey Bass Business and Management Series.
- McLaughlin, D. M., and Carr, E. G. (2005). Quality of rapport as a setting event for problem behavior: assessment and intervention. J. Posit. Behav. Interv. 7, 68–91. doi: 10.1177/10983007050070020401
- Menon, K., and Dubé, L. (2000). Ensuring greater satisfaction by engineering salesperson response to customer emotions. J. Retailing 76, 285–307. doi: 10. 1016/S0022-4359(00)00034-8
- Meyer, J. P., and Allen, N. J. (1990). The measurement antecedents of affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization. J. Occup. Psychol. 63, 1–18. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1990.tb00506.x
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., and Smith, C. A. (1993). Commitment to organizations and occupations: extension and test of a three component conceptualization. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 78, 578–594. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.78.4.538

- Morris, J. A., and Feldman, D. (1996). "The dimension, antecedents and consequences of emotional labor,". Acad. Manag. Rev. 21, 986–1010. doi: 10. 5465/amr.1996.9704071861
- Nielsen, J. (2001). The forbidden zone: intimacy, sexual relations and misconduct in the relationship between coaches and athletes. *Int. Rev. Sociol. Sport* 36, 165–182. doi: 10.1177/101269001036002003
- Nunnally, J., and Bernstein, I. (1994). The assessment of reliability. *Psychom. Theory* 3, 248–292.
- Price, L., Arnould, E., and Deibler, S. (1995). Consumers' emotional responses to service encounters. *Int. J. Serv. Ind. Manag.* 6, 34–63. doi: 10.1108/ 09564239510091330
- Pugh, S. D. (2001). Service with a smile: emotional contagion in the service encounter. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 1018–1027.
- Schaubroeck, J., and Jones, J. R. (2000). Antecedents of workplace emotional labor dimension and moderators of their effects on physical symptoms. *J. Organ. Behav.* 21, 163–183. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(200003)21:2<163:: AID-JOB37>3.0.CO;2-L
- Sheldon, M. (1971). Investments and involvements as mechanisms producing commitment to the organization. Adm. Sci. Q. 16, 143–150. doi: 10.2307/ 2391824

- Sutton, R. (1984). Job stress among primary and secondary school teachers. Work Occup. 1, 7–28. doi: 10.1177/073088848401100 1002
- Sutton, R., and Rafaeli, A. (1988). Untangling the relationship between displaying emotions and organizational sales: the case of convenience stores. *Acad. Manag.* J. 31, 461–487.
- Zapf, D. (2002). Emotion work and psychological well-being: a review of the literature and some conceptual considerations. *Hum. Res. Manag. Rev.* 12, 237–268. doi: 10.1177/1088868308330104

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Han, Shim and Choi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Research on How Emotional Expressions of Emotional Labor Workers and Perception of Customer Feedbacks Affect Turnover Intentions: Emphasis on Moderating Effects of Emotional Intelligence

Young Hee Lee¹, Suk Hyung Bryan Lee^{2*} and Jong Yong Chung²

¹ R&SD Strategy Center, Industry-Academy Cooperation Foundation, Chungwoon University, Incheon, South Korea, ² School of Integrated Technology and Entrepreneurship, Chungwoon University, Hongseong, South Korea

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jungkun Park, Hanyang University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Jaewook Kim, University of Houston, United States Dongyoup Kim, Kookmin University, South Korea

> *Correspondence: Suk Hyung Bryan Lee blee@chungwoon.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 13 September 2018 Accepted: 27 November 2018 Published: 04 January 2019

Citation:

Lee YH, Lee SHB and Chung JY (2019) Research on How Emotional Expressions of Emotional Labor Workers and Perception of Customer Feedbacks Affect Turnover Intentions: Emphasis on Moderating Effects of Emotional Intelligence. Front. Psychol. 9:2526. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02526 Previous studies have used various external variables and parameters as well as moderator variables such as emotional intelligence have been to understand emotional labor and its related problems. However, a comprehensive model to study such variables' correlations with each other and their overall effect on emotional labor has not yet been established. This study used a structural equation model to understand the relationship between employees' expression of emotional labor and perception of customer feedbacks. The study also looked at how the perception of customer feedback affects emotional exhaustion in order to understand how emotional exhaustion affects job satisfaction and turnover intentions. Further, in order to fully understand the effects of emotion on emotional labor at the service contact points, this study developed and tested a model of emotional labor with four factors of emotional intelligence as moderating factors. Five hundred and seventy nine emotional labor workers in service industries in the United States were collected and 577 valid survey results have been analyzed. The result shows that there exists moderating effects of emotional intelligence on how employees' Deep Acting and Surface Acting recognize customers' reactions, both positive and negative, that would affect employees' Emotional Exhaustion and Job Satisfaction, and hence, Turnover Intention. The result suggests that employees with better understanding of their own emotions, although they are more likely to recover from emotional exhaustion, experience a greater negative effect when there is a discrepancy between what they feel and how they should act.

Keywords: emotional labor, emotional expression, perception of customer feedback, emotional exhaustion, emotional intelligence

INTRODUCTION

The growth of the service industry has prompted the importance of employees' emotional labor, and it has received increased attention from various fields including organizational behavior and organizational psychology (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). A number of studies have found that emotional labor required by organizational norms can negatively affect individual well-being

(Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). Grandey (2000) stated that emotional labor can negatively affect workers' job satisfaction, and the job satisfaction has strong implications for attendance, turnover, sabotage, job performance, and the mental and physical health of employees (Miao et al., 2017).

Emotional labor also indirectly affects employees by negatively affecting the performance of the organization. Among a range of factors leading to turnover intention, burnout has been found to play a significant role (Kilo and Hassmén, 2016), and surface acting contributes to the burnout, job dissatisfaction, and turnover intention (Lee and Chelladurai, 2018). Departures of skilled labor workers would cause additional expenses in recruiting, hiring, and training of new employees. It will also have negative effects on the service quality of the organization. Therefore, higher turnover rate would negatively affect the organizations business performances. In turn, it will negatively affect the job stability of the remaining employees. Therefore, in order to improve corporate performance, increase employee motivation and enhance employees' job satisfaction, it is important to address employees' emotional labor issues.

As the frontline employees are "barometers of the business" (Dagger et al., 2013, p. 498), especially in service industry, the organizations are trying to provide various supports for their employees at the service contact points (Cohen and Wills, 1985; Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993; Rhoades and Eisenberger, 2002; Kim et al., 2017). Social support is one of the supports that can be provided for the employees as it has long been identified as a resource that enables people to cope with stress (Fenlason and Beehr, 1994; Hobfoll, 2002). Social support is loosely defined as "the availability of helping relationships and the quality of those relationships" (Leavy, 1983, p. 5), and it could be provided by coworkers, supervisors, and the organization.

Lately, a number of studies put on more emphasis on the role of emotional reactions and interpersonal aspects (Mearns and Cain, 2003; Ullrich et al., 2012) as emotions are common among customers in service encounters (Gabbott et al., 2011; Strizhakova et al., 2012). Further, many studies have emphasized the importance of emotional intelligence which refers to employees' ability to control their emotions and empathize with customers. Specifically, Mayer stated that "the ability to perceive emotions, integrate emotion to facilitate thinking, understand, and manage emotions to promote personal growth are paramount to professional achievements and mental health and well-being" (Mayer et al., 2016).

As an individual's success at work is 80 percent dependent on emotional quotient and only 20 percent dependent on intelligence quotient (Goleman, 1998), it is important to address how Emotional intelligence affects the emotional labor. Emotional intelligence is found to be negatively associated with burnout, and it could therefore be a potential protective factor (Chan, 2006; Mikolajczak et al., 2007). Zysberg et al. (2017) found the similar result and stated that emotional intelligence can be inversely associated with burnout, a condition brought about by lack of effective emotional regulation and management. Emotional exhaustion is affected by employees' emotional expression in the service encounter, and emotional intelligence of the individual will play a role in controlling these effects (Morris and Feldman, 1997; Park, 2018). As emotional intelligence is known to be improved by learning, experience, and training (Gardner, 1995), finding ways to enhance employees' ability to control their emotions and empathize will help them.

Due to the importance of emotional intelligence as a personal resource to facilitate processing emotions into effective behavior patterns, Laborde et al. (2016) suggested that the organizations "should implement emotional intelligence training workshops for coaches to help them engage in emotional labor that benefits both themselves and the organizations." However, although there have been various researches that looked into the effects of emotional intelligence on emotional labor, a comprehensive model to study the effects of the sub-dimensions of emotional intelligence has not yet been established.

Wong and Law (2002) extended the concept of emotional intelligence defined by Salovey and Mayer (1990), and refined the framework to categorize the sub-dimensions of emotional intelligence as perceiving, understanding, managing, and using emotions. Each of these sub-dimensions has different characteristics from each other. Further, due to their different characteristics, how each dimension can be strengthened and enhanced would be different from each other as well. Therefore, in order to understand how emotional intelligence affects emotional labor and suggest how emotional labor could be properly managed, how each sub-dimension of emotional intelligence affects emotional labor should be investigated instead of looking at the overall effect of emotional intelligence on emotional labor.

This study aims to suggest how employees' turnover intention could be lowered in order to enhance organizational performance as well as their individual happiness. Therefore, this study adapted two main perspectives. The first is to look for solutions through the governing principles that control workers' emotional expressions. The second is to look for solutions through individually controlled emotional intelligence. In order to accomplish these goals, this study used a structural equation model (SEM) to test the structural relationship among Emotional Exhaustion, Job Satisfaction, and Turnover Intention with Verbal and Non-Verbal Expressions, Customer Feedbacks, Surface Acting, and Deep Acting as observed variables. Further, the SEM was applied to the framework of Emotional Labor Model developed by Grandey and Gabriel (2015) to test the moderating effects of subdimensions of emotional intelligence on each stage from Emotional Labor through Emotional Exhaustion and Job Satisfaction to Turnover Intention. Identifying the moderating effects of each sub-dimension of emotional intelligence at each stage would be helpful in suggesting the solutions to employees' emotional problems which would, in turn, reduce their turnover intention.

The results of this study would suggest that effective management of emotions can increase the satisfaction of the customers on the services, reduce emotional exhaustion of employees, and enhance employees' job satisfaction, thereby lowering their turnover intention.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND HYPOTHESIS DEVELOPMENT

Service Encounter

A service encounter occurs every time a customer interacts with the service organization. Specifically, the term 'service encounter' is used to indicate face-to-face interactions between a buyer and a seller in a service setting. These interpersonal exchanges can strongly influence customer satisfaction (Solomon et al., 1985).

Shostack (1985) added that service encounter is not only the interaction between the service provider and the customer, but also the period of interaction. In other words, the concept of service encounter is defined comprehensively by adding factors such as material, convenience, time, and space to human interaction. On the other hand, Keaveney (1995) referred to service encounter as the human interaction between the customer and the service employee, emphasizing that the human factor of the employee and the customer is the most important at that point.

The customer takes a variety of emotions and attitudes through communication with the employee while the service is being provided, and the employees and customers are highly interdependent in the service encounter (McCallum and Harrison, 1985).

Emotional Labor

Emotional labor is generally defined as the act of expressing organizationally desired emotion during the service transactions, and is caused by the difference between the actual emotional state experienced by the employee and the emotional expression required by the organization's emotional expression norms for effective job performance (Hochschild, 1983). Emotional labor is similar and consistently presented regardless of the differences of various cultures (Grandey et al., 2010).

Emotional labor is a type of labor in which emotional management activities for producing and maintaining a specific emotional state required by the job account for more than 40% of the jobs (Hochschild, 1979), and Emotional labor workers express certain emotions in the workplace, regardless of actual emotional experiences, in order to successfully follow the job demands (Hochschild, 1983). Jobs that require emotional labor include call center representatives, department store sales, flight crew, nurses, etc. (Hochschild, 1983; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Williams, 2003).

Morris and Feldman (1996) defined emotional labor as effort, planning and control needed to express emotions demanded by firms while emotional workers are serving customers, and Grandey (2000) defined emotional labor as an effort to comply with organizational or vocational expression rules. Emotional labor is generated by controlling emotional expression during work (Lam and Chen, 2012), and it has been shown to affect counterproductive work behavior (Raman et al., 2016), service quality and customer satisfaction. Emotional labor workers conduct their duties through face-to-face conversations, voices, and actively expressed emotions in order to influence other people's emotions, attitudes, and behaviors. The effects of emotional labor within the organization are largely negative. These adverse effects directly affect the employees in the service encounters and spread to customers and organizations. Employees experience stress, depression, panic disorder, psychological distress, and job dissatisfaction. For the organizations, negative effects are exacerbated by employee dissatisfaction, performance reduction, and turnover. Further, emotional labor causes service quality deterioration, which leads to negative consequences such as decreased satisfaction with service and increased complaints by customers. Therefore, the emotions of the employees who represent the company in the closest position to the customers should be managed as an important variable in order to ensure the effectiveness of the organization.

Therefore, better understanding of emotional labor would provide meaningful insights to maintain customer's favorable attitude, improve the service quality of employees, and lower the turnover intention by managing appropriate emotional expressions at the service contact points.

Employees' Emotional Expressions Surface Acting and Deep Acting

Hochschild (1979, 1983) stemmed her dimensions of the emotional labor based on the approach of performing, and depicted two kinds of emotional labor. The first is Surface Acting. It refers to worker's recreating of feelings, that are not really felt, by changing their outward appearance such as facial gesture, motions, or voice tone, when displaying required feelings. The second is Deep Acting. It happens when representative's sentiments don't fit the circumstance; then they utilize their preparation or past experience to express fitted feelings. Although Ashforth and Mael (1989) added another dimension, Genuine Emotion, to Hochschild's work and suggested three main dimensions, Emotional labor has been mainly studied in two ways: Surface Acting and Deep Acting (Hochschild, 1983; Grandey, 2000; Brotheridge and Lee, 2003; Monaghan, 2006; Johnson and Spector, 2007).

Researchers found that Surface Acting has more negative effects on employees than Deep Acting. For example, employees smile and provide customers with services in kind voice even when they have negative feelings. Such a discrepancy in feelings often leads to emotional conflicts that will have a negative impact on employee job satisfaction. It also leads to emotional exhaustion and burnout for workers (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). On the other hand, Deep Acting refers to one's effort to consciously modify feelings in order to express the desired emotion (Hochschild, 1983). It has a positive effect on the individual's job satisfaction as well as the organization's performance, accompanied by a positive result in interaction with the customer.

Both Surface Acting and Deep Acting are artificial rather than natural behaviors. However, while Surface Acting is a false emotional state that faithfully expresses the organization's expression norm but does not actually control the inner emotional state, Deep Acting is the actual emotional state that attempts to match the organization's expression norm with itself (Diefendorff et al., 2005). As a result, while employees in Deep Acting have a high level of job satisfaction and organizational satisfaction, Surface Acting negatively affects job performance because it is based on surface norms without controlling the inner feelings of employees. For example, Larson and Yao (2005) find that Deep Acting facilitates communication and more genuine forms of empathy toward patients, leading to higher levels of professional satisfaction.

Deep Acting may serve as a buffer against negative moods (Judge et al., 2009; Polletta and Tufail, 2016), and it has been found to reduce emotional exhaustion and emotional dissonance (Brotheridge and Lee, 2003; Kim and Kim, 2018). However, the employees in Deep Acting have negatively affected personal accomplishment, and it leads to conflicting results with surface behavior (Kruml and Geddes, 2000; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Johnson and Spector, 2007). These results suggest that the consequences of emotional labor may depend on the type of emotion strategy utilized as well as the context from which it is performed (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015).

Verbal Expression and Non-verbal Expression

Communication is an important means of interactions that controls and links one's relationship with the others as a member of the society (Gabbott and Hogg, 2001). In service encounters, Non-Verbal Expression and Verbal Expression both are major factors affecting customer satisfaction and job performance (Gayathridevi, 2013). As communication between employees and customers in service encounters could be a differentiating factor that separates a company from its competitors, it is important to manage the verbal and non-verbal communication performed by employees in order to improve the quality of interaction between employees and customers.

When customers choose products and services, they communicate with the company's front line employees instead of the company itself. Therefore, the emotional response of the customer depends on the communication methods used by the employees at the service contact point where many interactions between the customer and the employee occur (Park et al., 2012). However, verbal and non-verbal efforts of employees to communicate with customers are, by nature, emotional labor from the employees' standpoint. Thus, it is important to understand the interaction between the customer and employee at the service contact point.

From customers' point of view, employees' Verbal and Non-Verbal Expressions are considered as their Emotional Expression. Emotional Labor model developed by Grandey and Gabriel (2015) uses both Emotion Regulation (Surface Acting and Deep Acting) and Emotion Performance (Verbal and Non-Verbal Expression). This study would use such a framework to fully understand Emotional Labor and how its variables are structurally related.

Verbal expression

The linguistic communication is an important factor that can never be overlooked in the service environment, and in the relationship between the service provider and the customer. When delivering products and services, employees communicate information about products and services to customers through language. Language is the center of communication in human relationships and is the transmission and expression of meaning (Sommerville, 1982).

Linguistic communication is one of the systems promised by our society that individuals use to express their thoughts and feelings. Therefore, clear and rapid information transfer is an important clue to customer satisfaction (Kim, 2005), and there is a tendency for intimacy and trust to be increased through the communication process (Kim, 2007). In other words, intimacy and comprehension between employees and customers are increased by sending and receiving the necessary meanings between each other (Jandt, 1998). Employees can only reduce the barriers that may arise in the communication process by fully taking the customer's situation into account (Bugental et al., 1970; Dodd, 1998).

Through linguistic communication, employees clearly communicate their desire for customers, and they understand what they need to do and respond to them, thereby creating mutual trust and intimacy, and eventually lead to a positive response from customers (Kim, 2005). Reliable verbal communication can maximize message delivery (Jones and LeBaron, 2002). Furthermore, Berko et al. (2016) noted that linguistic communication is important in corporate marketing activities and that it is directly linked to corporate trust formation. Marketing is closely related to the delivery of product descriptions and services, and marketing activities are mostly conducted in language.

Non-verbal expression

Non-verbal communication is a means of expressing oneself using space, time, and body movements (Dodd, 1998). Goldhaber (1982) defined non-verbal communication as all the silent messages except the language. In other words, non-verbal communication is the interaction of senders and recipients in a communication context, with the exception of language (Samovar et al., 1981).

Verbal communication is necessarily accompanied by nonverbal elements and sometimes non-verbal communication plays a more decisive role than verbal content. Birdwhistell (1955) argued that, in the communication process, 35% of linguistic messages and 65% of non-verbal messages are delivered. A person reads or expresses emotions or intention through non-verbal cues in situations where there is a limit to expressing them only by the use of language in a communication and a large amount of information is acquired in a short time (Stiff et al., 1994). Non-verbal communication also has the function of controlling social interaction. The beginning and end of conversations, the order of utterances, etc. can be controlled through non-verbal signals (Richmond et al., 1991).

Studies on communications have shown that non-verbal communication delivers more meaning faster than language and conveys feelings and emotions more accurately (Delmonte, 1991). Non-verbal communication narrows the psychological distance between employees and customers, increasing positive emotions such as pleasure and satisfaction, and helping to interact with linguistic communication (Sundaram and Webster, 2000).

Sundaram and Webster (2000) classified non-verbal communication into kinesics, proxemics, paralanguage, and physical appearances. Employees must maintain facial expressions with a bright smile (Burgoon et al., 1990), since the emotionless expression of the employees can cause discomfort to the customers. In other words, the face is the most important part that can contain a lot of information. It is called a multi-message system (Argyle, 1975) that can read information about personality, interest, reaction and emotion in facial expression. Looking elsewhere or a failure to pay attention to the customer may be conveyed to the customer in a feeling of indifference and neglect (Leigh and Summers, 2002).

On the other hand, the frequent convergence of employees and customers in service encounter increases the intimacy with each other (Wainwright, 1999). In addition, nodding or proper tilting of the customer's words in the body language can be seen as an act of showing interest to the customer. This body language is one of the important forms of non-verbal communication that can convey interest, intimacy, benevolent feelings, and trust to customers (Mehrabian and Williams, 1969; Burgoon et al., 1990). Overall, individuals tend to rely on non-verbal communication in order to understand the emotion, while they rely on verbal communication in order to understand the thoughts (Hall and Schmid Mast, 2007).

Customer Feedback (Positive/Negative)

We experience emotions, whether they are perceived or not, at every moment in various situations. In general, emotion is generally considered to be composed of two sub-factors that are correlated but independent: positive affect and negative affect. According to Watson et al. (1988), positive affect refers to emotions such as joy, pleasure, satisfaction, and happiness. Negative affect refers to feelings such as anger, fear, sadness, and guilt.

Emotions themselves refer to mental health (Diener, 1984). As static emotion promotes individual's health and has the potential to bring about various physical, psychological and social changes, many scholars actively study the relationship between static emotional and physical health and psychological well-being (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005). In contrast, inadequacy has been widely used as a key indicator of mental health, and many studies have addressed the relationship between such negative emotions and problem behaviors such as psychopathology, suicide, assault, and stress (Sung and Gwon, 2010).

These emotions are also the result of actions or cognitive processes, and they are also the cause of behavior itself as well as cognition (Park and Lee, 2016). According to Pugh (2001), emotions of customers are behavioral responses caused by external environmental stimuli and they cause behavioral change according to the situation. The employees in service encounter can communicate their feelings to the customers during the interaction with the customers, and these feelings that are conveyed to the customers cause the positive or negative feelings of the customers. In service encounter, it is important for employees to understand whether the customer's response in the form of emotional expression is positive or negative. Because of the differences in experiences and values that customers and employees have, perceived meanings of emotional expressions might be different between customers and employees, which may lead to problems. The service provider could prevent such problems that may arise in communication process by conveying the message in full consideration of the customer's situation (Dodd, 1998).

This study will focus on the Customer Feedback perceived by employees that occur in service encounter. Identifying how emotional labor of the employees is related to Customer Feedback would be helpful in suggesting effective ways to reduce emotional labor in service encounter. In particular, it is expected that more positive results from service encounter could be expected when Customer Feedback, whether it is positive or negative, are properly confirmed. So we propose the following hypothesis to be tested in this study.

Hypothesis 1: Employees' emotional expressions will affect perception of customer feedback.

[H1_a1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

[H1_a2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

[H1_a3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

 $[H1_a4] \ \ Verbal \ \ Expression \ \rightarrow \ \ Customer \ \ Feedback \ (Positive)$

[H1_b1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

[H1_b2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative) [H1_b3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

 $[H1_b4]$ Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

Emotional Exhaustion

Emotional exhaustion refers to exhausted and depleted emotions due to work and is a chronic response to work stress situations that are associated with conceptually high levels of human contact (Ryan, 1971; Maslach, 1982; Mikolajczak et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2018). Maslach (1982) described emotional exhaustion as a negative self-concept, a negative attitude toward work, and physical and emotional exhaustion symptoms including loss of interest or feelings to the customer. It is defined as the negative psychological experience that a person in charge of a job with high interpersonal contact experiences is exposed to a long time stressor (Maslach and Schaufeli, 1993).

Emotional exhaustion is caused by persistent and excessive emotional labor. Hochschild (1983) explained that emotional labor causes negative consequences such as emotional inactivation stress, physical exhaustion, emotional exhaustion, and absenteeism. Grandey (2000) also said that the emotional adjustment and social needs of emotional labor workers cause job exhaustion. In order to alleviate this emotional depletion, a phenomenon of de-personification that seeks psychological distance from others appears. When this de-personalization becomes severe, it leads to a decrease in the sense of self-fulfillment that a person feels no more efficient in performing tasks related to customers or performing their jobs (Maslach, 1982).

The surface behavior follows the norm of the emotional behavior manual given by the organization regardless of the employee's own feelings (Hochschild, 1983). When such a surface behavior is performed and the different emotions than the workers' true feelings should be expressed, emotional laborers experience significant suffering, and, thus, they are more likely to experience emotional exhaustion. Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) argued that when the surface behavior is performed while the disparity between the emotional state of the person and the needs of the organization exists, the worker experiences job exhaustion by dissatisfaction with his job and his own internal feelings. In addition, Brotheridge and Lee (2003) asserted that emotional exhaustion is caused by emotional incongruity. This suggests that emotional incongruity deepened by surface behavior causes emotional exhaustion.

Pugliesi (1999) found that both surface and internal actions negatively affect job satisfaction, while internal actions were less negative than surface activities. Ashforth and Humphrey (1993) suggested that the degree of exhaustion experienced while performing in-depth activities was low. In addition, Abraham (1998) and Morris and Feldman (1996) found that emotional labor is not necessarily negative, and in-depth behavior may be associated with positive outcomes because of positive feedback or self-fulfillment.

On the other hand, inner behavior refers to the effort to consciously modify the emotions of the employees according to their norms to express desirable behaviors (Hochschild, 1983), and emotional inconsistency between their actual behavior and how they actually feel is not large. It may not be easily confirmed that its effect on emotional exhaustion is smaller than the effect of the surface behavior, but the direction of the effect is opposite to the surface behavior. Because the concept of labor is included in the definition of emotional labor itself, internal action must also accompany the intended effort.

In the study of Kammeyer-Mueller et al. (2013), which metaanalyzes the leading and the inferring factors of surface and inner behavior, surface behavior showed a positive correlation with stress and burnout, while inner behavior was estimated to be positively correlated, but not statistically significant.

The influence of employees' emotional exhaustion in service encounter is negative and extends from individuals to organizations. Emotional depletion and emotional exhaustion refer to a state of weakened sense of accomplishment that negatively affects one's self, not just one's emotions (Maslach and Jackson, 1981). Therefore, it is difficult to continuously treat people nicely when the person who is doing the work is emotionally depleted. In this context, Lee and Ashforth (1993) and Maslach et al. (1996) argue that job exhaustion affects job satisfaction and organizational commitment, reduce job satisfaction and increase absenteeism and turnover intentions.

There is also a direct negative relationship between emotional exhaustion and service performance (Wright and Cropanzano, 1998). Employees who have experienced emotional exhaustion will have difficulty making the same effort with their customers (Krishnan et al., 2002). Emotional employees are less likely to be considered genuinely thoughtful or pleasant by their customers, and experience limited patience when they respond to customers (Grandey, 2003). And Emotional Exhaustion affects counterproductive work behavior (Raman et al., 2016).

According to a study by Barger and Grandey (2006), emotions are known to have a contagion among organizational members as well as affecting job performance and job satisfaction of the parties. Emotional labor required as a role within an organization increases emotional exhaustion (Grandey, 2003), and emotional labor induces tension by emotional dysregulation and consumes emotional resources in the process of emotional labor (Hochschild, 1983; Wharton, 1993). In other words, emotional labor, which sells its emotions for pay, exhausts cognitive and emotional resources (Hochschild, 1983).

Previous researches regarding emotional labor have a common opinion that surface behaviors increase emotional exhaustion (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Grandey, 2003), but there is a disagreement about the relationship between inner behavior and emotional exhaustion.

Grandey (2003) argued that both surface and inner behaviors can increase emotional exhaustion. Surface behaviors increase emotional exhaustion by increasing discrepancies between normative emotions and actual emotions, and inner actions can also consume considerable energy and effort to match emotions with normative emotions. In contrast, Brotheridge and Grandey (2002) argued that surface behavior increases emotional exhaustion, but internal action reduces emotional exhaustion. This is because employees can perform inner actions to minimize the state of emotional dissonance and achieve achievement through achieving high performance.

Grandey (2003) hypothesized that inner behaviors would increase emotional exhaustion, but research shows that internal behavior is not significant for emotional exhaustion. These results suggest that inner behavior minimizes emotional dissonance and affirms customer's positive response. Based on the results of previous studies, this study hypothesized that each employee's emotional expression and customer's response would affect employee emotional exhaustion.

Hypothesis 2: Employees' emotional expressions will affect emotional exhaustion.

[H2_1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

[H2_2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

[H2_3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

[H2_4] Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

Hypothesis 3: Perception of Customer feedbacks will affect emotional exhaustion.

[H3_1] Customer Feedback (Positive) \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

 $[\mathrm{H3}_\mathrm{2}]$ Customer Feedback (Negative) \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

Job Satisfaction

There have been various attempts to define Job Satisfaction. Hoppock (1935) defined job satisfaction as a combination of psychological, physiological, and environmental contexts of organizational members. Locke (1976) defined it as a pleasant and positive emotional state resulting from the evaluation of his or her job or job experience, and described it as being emotional and therefore being discovered and understood only by internal assumptions.

Job satisfaction is determined not only by the difference between the expectation recognized by the employees and the actual experience but also by the relationship between the organizational environment and personal characteristics such as the relationship between the supervisor and the employee. Job satisfaction is a personal response and can be viewed as an emotional response to a task or job (Bhuian and Mengue, 2002). It is known that emotions do not only affect individual performance and job satisfaction but also spread among the members of the organization (Barger and Grandey, 2006). In a recent study, job satisfaction refers to the state of emotions that the members feel in their subjective and relative view of the process of performing their duties and the results of their job performance, based on the individual's values and beliefs (Park et al., 2011).

Job satisfaction is classified into various dimensions such as job, working environment, compensation, administration, position, and promotion depending on purpose and subject of research (Locke, 1976; Farber, 1991; Park et al., 2011). In terms of the society as a whole, the level of job satisfaction of the organizers is the basis for measuring the smooth operation and performance of the organization. Satisfaction with the job also affects the life outside the duty of the organizer; it has a positive side effect (Robbins, 1998). Employees' satisfaction with their duties has a significant impact on the performance as their positive attitude toward the organization would have a great influence on the organization's performance. Job satisfaction of the employees increases the quality of service and directly affects the evaluation of consumers, which is an important factor affecting repurchase (Brown and Peterson, 1993).

Job satisfaction is important because it contributes not only to personal happiness but also to the efficient operation and performance improvement of the organization. In addition to affecting positive mental health through satisfaction of work life on an individual level, job satisfaction is also known to have a direct relationship with exhaustion from work, low morale, and productivity.

In previous studies, emotional exhaustion has been reported as a major variable that negatively affects job satisfaction. The emotions of the employees facing the customers at the service contact point are related to the satisfaction of the customers, the emotions of the employees are related to the relationship with the customers, and they affect the job satisfaction (Macdonald and Sirianni, 1996; Kinnie et al., 1999). Also, a study by Park et al. (2011) on the manager of the retail industry showed that the manager's emotional exhaustion had a negative effect on job satisfaction. Based on the previous findings, this study has established the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 4: Employees' emotional exhaustion will affect job satisfaction.

Turnover Intentions

Price (2001) defined the turnover as the departure from the organizational status of the employees, which means disqualification as a member of the organization to which it belongs. The turnover intention, which is the stage immediately before the turnover, is used as an indicator to predict turnover. Employee turnover lowers other employees' willingness and duties to remain in the firm. Further, departures of skilled labor workers would cause additional expenses in recruiting, hiring, and training of new employees. It will also have negative effects on the service quality of the organization. Therefore, higher turnover rate would negatively affect the organizations business performances (Mohsin et al., 2013). Therefore, there is an increasing tendency in interest and effort to decrease the turnover rate of the employees (Cho et al., 2009; Lee and Ryu, 2014).

Although there are various factors that cause the turnover of employees in the service industry, the one of the biggest problems is emotional exhaustion caused by emotional labor resulting from customer service work (Lee and Ashforth, 1996; Choi et al., 2012). Therefore, it is very important for the service organizations to pay close attention to job exhaustion as it would affect their turnover problems.

Based on the results of previous studies, this study has established the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 5: Employees' emotional exhaustion will affect turnover intention.

Hypothesis 6: Employees' job satisfaction will affect turnover intention.

Emotional Intelligence

Salovey and Mayer (1990) found that emotional intelligence enables us to observe and look at one's emotions, to properly manage one's emotions, to synchronize one's own emotions, to empathize with other's emotions, and to make good human relations. In other words, emotional intelligence is the ability to lead emotions productively and to synchronize oneself for their own goals in emotional situations. Therefore, emotional intelligence is associated with good job performance (Myers and DeWall, 2017).

In psychology, emotions are interpreted in the same way as emotional intelligence related to the know-hows involved in social situations and the successful management of oneself (Myers and DeWall, 2017). In the process of the perception of external stimuli, emotion has a significant influence on individual decision making according to age, gender, education, psychological state, family relation, economy, customs, religion, race (Prinz, 2007). It is also an interrelated skill related to the ability to create and approach emotions, the ability to understand emotions and emotional knowledge, and the ability to control emotions to promote emotional and intellectual growth, and is distinguished from general intelligence and personality (Mayer and Salovey, 1997; Wong and Law, 2002).

Goleman (1995) showed that emotional intelligence can synchronize individuals and keep oneself from frustration, control impulse and delay satisfaction, prevent emotional accidents and stressful accidents, and empathize with others. Abraham (1999) defined emotional intelligence as the ability to accurately assess and express emotions of oneself and others, the ability to regulate emotions, and the ability to use emotional knowledge to solve problems. Dulewicz and Higgs (2000) defined emotional intelligence as a concept that persuades and influences others by keeping it and motivating it, away from recognizing emotions.

Salovey and Mayer (1990) defined emotional intelligence as 'the ability to accurately perceive, express and express emotions, the ability to generate and use emotions to promote thinking, the ability to understand emotions and emotional knowledge, the ability to adjust emotions to promote development'. Mayer et al. (2016) added areas of reasoning and claimed that emotional intelligence contained the four major components: (a) the appraisal of emotions; (b) the understanding of emotions; (c) the management of emotions; and (d) the utilization of emotions.

Wong and Law (2002) extended the concept of emotional intelligence defined by Salovey and Mayer (1990), and refined the framework to categorize the sub-dimensions of emotional intelligence as perceiving, understanding, managing, and using emotions. Wong and Law (2002) also developed WLEIS questionnaire, and it has been used in subsequent studies such as Law et al. (2004) to verify reliability and validity.

It is necessary for the individual to recognize the reality and cause of his emotions, as well as to understand and empathize with emotions of others. The ability to express and manipulate controlled emotions is the behavior for problem solving and achievement. It has been found that the ability to self-manage emotions is a key factor in stressful situations and overall emotional management (Benson et al., 2012; Faguy, 2012; Rankin, 2013; Ivcevic and Brackett, 2014; Shanta and Gargiulo, 2014; Conley et al., 2015; Görgens-Ekermans et al., 2015; Ranjbar, 2015; Stelnicki et al., 2015; Fitzpatrick, 2016).

Previously, the effects of individual differences such as emotional intelligence or self-monitoring of emotional workers on emotional labor have been studied (Shin et al., 2008; Baeck et al., 2014). Emotional intelligence, the mental ability related to one's emotional experiences (Mayer et al., 2016), was used to identify the cognitive determinants of emotional labor (Lee and Chelladurai, 2018). Also, the ability to perceive emotions, integrate emotion to facilitate thinking, understand, and manage emotions to promote personal growth are paramount to professional achievements and mental health and well-being (Mayer et al., 2016), and emotionally intelligent workers have positive attitudes toward their job and produce optimal performance (Pau and Sabri, 2015).

Emotional intelligence is known to be improved by learning, experience, and training (Gardner, 1995). People with high emotional intelligence tend to be sociable and well-perceived, and those with high emotional control tend to enjoy a high degree of interaction with others. Individuals with high emotional intelligence are better equipped to select effective emotional regulation strategies than those with low emotional intelligence (Wagstaff et al., 2012). Therefore, emotional intelligence should help minimize the negative impact of Surface Acting and enhance the positive effects of Deep Acting. Laborde et al. (2016) noted that emotional intelligence was a marker of effective emotional regulation strategy. Lee and Chelladurai (2016) included both emotional labor and emotional intelligence in the study, and emotional intelligence was examined as a moderator between emotional labor and emotional exhaustion, rather than considering the direct relationship between emotional intelligence and emotional labor. Developed from these previous studies, Park (2018) examined the moderating effects of the sub-dimensions of Emotional Intelligence between Emotional Labor and Job Satisfaction. Perceiving Emotion and Understanding Emotion showed moderating effects while Managing Emotion and Using Emotion didn't.

Although the importance of emotional intelligence receives more attention, there hasn't been a comprehensive study to investigate the moderating effects of the sub-dimensions of emotional intelligence on Emotional Labor. Therefore, this study would use the Four-Branch Ability Model (Mayer and Salovey, 1997; Wong and Law, 2002; Mayer et al., 2016) to investigate the moderating effects of Emotional Intelligence.

Perceiving Emotion

The ability to accurately understand and express one's emotions is used to better recognize and recognize one's emotions. In other words, recognizing that emotion when it occurs is a major part of emotional intelligence.

Understanding Emotion

It is the core of emotional intelligence, and is the ability to understand and experience the emotions of others who are affected by such emotions. In addition, as a harmony of emotions, it is the source of self-awareness and altruism and the basis of moral judgment and action. Those with social competence carry out the functions of maintaining good interpersonal relationships, influencing others, successfully leading human relationships, and facilitating people.

Managing Emotion

Regulation of emotions forms the background of all accomplishments. The ability to control emotions for oneself is fast restoration ability in psychological frustration, restoration time from joy or anger to normal state, and self- restraint and control ability to control their emotions so that they do not become excited.

Using Emotion

The ability to utilize emotions to improve performance, and to control emotions in a positive and productive manner. A person with good self-synchronization is motivated by his inner desire for achievement, and is more efficient and productive in some work.

Based on the findings of previous studies, we propose that the previous hypotheses will show different results based on the level of emotional intelligence.

Hypothesis 7: Hypothesis 1 \sim Hypothesis 6 will be different according to employee's emotional intelligence

(Perceiving emotion, Understanding emotion, Managing emotion, Using emotion).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Model

In previous studies, various external variables and parameters as well as moderator variables have been used to understand emotional labor and its related problems. Emotional Intelligence has been used in many studies in order to understand its effect on Emotional Labor at an individual level as well as at an organizational level (Miao et al., 2017). However, a comprehensive model to study the variables' correlation and their overall effect on emotional labor has not yet been established. This study tries to understand the effects of emotion on emotional labor for both employees and customers at the service contact points, and test the role of emotional intelligence at each stage.

In order to accomplish this goal, a SEM would be used. SEM refers to a multivariate model that includes simultaneous equations, factor analysis, and multilevel models, for single and multi-group data. It is the combination of factor analysis and multiple regression analysis, and it is used to analyze structural relationship among variables. In the analysis using SEM, latent variables are created using multiple observed variables through factor analysis. Then, multiple regression analysis is performed on latent variables level.

Therefore, a SEM with Verbal and Non-Verbal Expressions, Customer Feedbacks, Surface Acting, and Deep Acting as observed variables, and Emotional Intelligence and its subdimensions as a moderator variable will be used to investigate the simultaneous relationship among Emotional Exhaustion, Job Satisfaction, Turnover Intentions, Verbal and Non-Verbal Expressions, Customer Feedbacks, Surface Acting, Deep Acting, and Emotional Intelligence.

Variables

There exist various emotional labor related problems including Employee Well-being and Organizational Wellbeing (Diefendorff et al., 2011; Grandey and Gabriel, 2015), Self-actualization through the interaction, Job Commitment, Professional Efficacy, Turnover Intentions (Quinones et al., 2016), Job Stressor (Mauno et al., 2017), Job Burnout (Chan, 2006; Zhao et al., 2018), Emotional Burden in the Interaction (Hujala and Oksman, 2018), and Work-life balance and Job Satisfaction (Hofmann and Stokburger-Sauer, 2017).

External Factors that are related to emotional labor can be divided into person characteristics related factors and event characteristics related factors. Person characteristics related factor means person-job congruence, and event characteristics related factor means emotion-goal congruence (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). Person characteristics refer to personality traits, work motives, and emotional abilities, while event characteristics refer to moods, emotions, and customer mistreatment. Emotional Intelligence (Lee and Chelladurai, 2018), Frequency of Emotional Display, Attentiveness to Required Display Rules, Variety of Emotions Required to be expressed, Emotional Dissonance (Morris and Feldman, 1996; Hayyat et al., 2017; Serebrenik, 2017) have also been used. In addition to these factors, two other variables should be taken into consideration in order to fully understand emotional labor: Emotional Regulations and Emotional Intelligence. The former refers to external factors that dictate how employees should express their emotions, and the latter refers to employees' ability to control their emotions and empathize with customers (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015).

Various control variables have been used in previous studies. Kim et al. (2017) used perceived supports from supervisors, co-workers, and organization as control variables. There are also relational factors and contextual factors (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). Relational factors include emotional traits/abilities, identification/values, and relational power/intimacy, and contextual factors include job status/autonomy, financial reward, and social support. Emotional Intelligence (Lee and Chelladurai, 2016) and Emotion Regulation Self-Efficacy (Deng et al., 2017) have also been used.

This study will follow Grandey and Gabriel (2015) and use Emotion Regulation (Surface Acting and Deep Acting) and Emotion Performance (Verbal and Non-Verbal Communication) at the same time as factors to analyze Emotional Labor. This study will focus on the structural relationship among Emotional Exhaustion, Job Satisfaction, and Turnover Intention with four factors mentioned above and Emotional Intelligence as a moderator variable.

Hypotheses

Hypothesis 1: Employees' emotional expressions will affect perception of customer feedback.

[H1_a1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

[H1_a2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

[H1_a3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

 $[H1_a4]$ Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)

[H1_b1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

[H1_b2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

[H1_b3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

 $[H1_b4]$ Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)

Hypothesis 2: Employees' emotional expressions will affect emotional exhaustion.

[H2_1] Surface Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion [H2_2] Deep Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion [H2_3] Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion [H2_4] Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion Hypothesis 3: Perception of Customer feedbacks will affect emotional exhaustion.

[H3_1] Customer Feedback (Positive) \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

[H3_2] Customer Feedback (Negative) \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

Hypothesis 4: Employees' emotional exhaustion will affect job satisfaction.

Hypothesis 5: Employees' emotional exhaustion will affect turnover intention.

Hypothesis 6: Employees' job satisfaction will affect turnover intention.

Hypothesis 7: Hypothesis 1 \sim Hypothesis 6 will be affected by employee's emotional intelligence (Perceiving Emotion, Understanding Emotion, Managing Emotion, Using Emotion).

Sample and Measures

The survey has been conducted to collect data on emotional labor and emotional intelligence at the service contact points. Survey questionnaires were created with enhancements and supplemental questions utilizing previous studies. The 7-point response format ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). A structured questionnaire was used to collect the data from the employees of the service industry using internet survey. Five hundred and seventy nine data was collected through convenience sampling and 577 valid data were used in the analysis. Two invalid data were disregarded.

Industries that are included in this study are Wholesale or Retail Stores (19.8%), Restaurants (19.4%), Telecommunication (14.7%), Education Service (10.6%), and others (35.5%). Mean age of participants of the survey is 34.7 (SD = 10.7). 59.1% of participants were male and 40.9% were female.

Socio-Demographic Characteristics of participants are provided in **Table 1** and the list of Measured Variables are provided in **Table 2**.

Overview of Statistical Analyses

Data analysis of this study utilized SPSS 24 and AMOS 18 programs. The hypotheses were tested using frequency analysis and confirmatory factor analysis, structural equation, and statistical analysis method of group comparison.

Firstly, descriptive statistics and the reliability of the variables were computed using SPSS 24.0. Then a structural equation modeling technique, which is available through AMOS 18.0, was used to test both the measurement and structural models. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was conducted on the latent variables to check convergent and discriminant validity of the variables, and then the proposed structural relationship was tested by assessing structural coefficients of the relationship among the constructs in the research model. CFA is used to study the relationships between a set of observed variables and a set of continuous latent variables. The measurement model for CFA is a multivariate regression model that describes the relationships between a set of observed dependent variables and a set of continuous latent variables.

Further, the moderating effect of emotional intelligence was tested. Multisample confirmatory factors analysis (MCFA) allowed us to determine if components of the structural model were equal across different groups (Byrne, 2001). Moderating effects of Emotional Intelligence that comprises four TABLE 1 | Respondents' socio-demographic characteristics.

Variable	Group	N (%)
Gender	Male	341(59.1)
	Female	236(40.9)
	Total	577(100.0)
Age	Less than 30 years	200(34.9)
	30~39years	237(41.4)
	40~49 years	77(13.4)
	50 years or more	59(10.3)
	Total	573(100.0)
	Mean(SD)	34.7(10.7)
Annual Income	Less than \$30,000	183(31.7)
	\$30,000~\$50,000	157(27.2)
	\$50,000~\$70,000	104(18.0)
	\$70,000 or more	133(23.1)
	Total	577(100.0)
Education	Graduated high school	111(19.2)
	Graduated college	299(51.8)
	Post- graduate study without degree	37(6.4)
	Post-graduate degree	130(22.5)
	Total	577(100.0)
Marital status	Married	311(53.9)
	Single	232(40.2)
	Separated/Divorced/Widowed	34(5.9)
	Total	577(100.0)
Position	Ordinary employee	312(54.1)
	Manager	225(39.0)
	Director/CEO	40(6.9)
	Total	577(100.0)
Employment type	Regular job	505(87.5)
	Temporary job	43(7.5)
	Freelance work	29(5.0)
	Total	577(100.0)
Business type	Bank/Insurance	81(14.0)
	Whole sale or retail(department store/mart/store)	114(19.8)
	Transportation (bus/airplane/ship)	23(4.0)
	Tele communication (information service)	85(14.7)
	Restaurant	112(19.4)
	Education service	61(10.6)
	Leisure(art/sport/culture)	22(3.8)
	Etc.	79(13.7)
	Total	577(100.0)

factors (Perceiving Emotion, Understanding Emotion, Managing Emotion, and Using Emotion) were tested using Multi-Group Structural Equation Model (MSEM).

Cross Validation was performed using Multi-Sample Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MCFA). This method allowed us to conduct analyses at multiple levels at the same time in a single analysis. By decomposing the variance of variables into their between-group and within-group components, MSEM accounts for the fact that relationships might be different on the between-group and the within-group levels. Thus, multilevel mediation analyses with MSEM are less prone to biases than

TABLE 2 | Measurements of variables.

Construct		Measurement items	Sources
Surface Acting		(1) I put on an acting when interacting with customers.	Brotheridge and Lee, 2003;
		(2) I show feelings to customers that are different from what I feel inside.	Grandey et al., 2005; Üzümcü et al., 2017
Deep Acting		(3) I fake the emotions I show when dealing with customers. (1) I make an effort to actually feel the emotions that I need to display toward others.	Brotheridge and Lee, 2003; Kipfelsberger et al., 2016;
		(2) I try to feel the emotions that I'm expressing to my customers.	Üzümcü et al., 2017
		(3) I work at developing the feelings inside of me that I need to show to customers.	
Non-Verbal Expression		(1) I smile kindly to the customer.	Burgoon et al., 1990; Gabbott
		(2) I keep eye contact with customers appropriately when talking.	and Hogg, 2000; Sundaram and Webster, 2000
		(3) I greet my customers with familiarity.	
		(4) I serve with a big smile.	
Verbal Expression		(1) I talk to customers in the right tone.	
		(2) I talk to customers in a gentle tone.	
		(3) I talk to customers in a reasonable voice without being noisy.	
Perception of Customer Fee	dback Positive	(1) My customer seemed satisfied.	Watson et al., 1988; Mano and
		(2) My customer seemed happy.	Oliver, 1993; Richins, 1997; Bagozzi et al., 1999; Ryu and
		(3) My customer seemed good.	Jang, 2007
		(4) My customer seemed pleased.	0,
Perception of Customer Fee	dback Negative	(1) My customer seemed angry.	
		(2) My customer seemed hostile to me.	
		(3) My customer seemed nervous.	
		(4) My customer felt unhappy.	
Emotional Exhaustion		(1) I'm exhausted from work.	Maslach and Jackson, 1981;
		(2) I feel frustrated about my job.	Wharton, 1993; Quinones
		(3) I feel tired when I finish work.	et al., 2017
Job Satisfaction		(1) My company gives equal opportunity to get a promotion based on their hard work.	Brown and Peterson, 1993; Spector, 1997
		(2) My career helps me develop and improve my skills.	
		(3) My current salary is fair in the light of what I do.	
		(4) My boss takes suggestions and complaints with sincerity.	
		(5) I am satisfied with the company's policy.	
Turnover Intentions		(1) Sometimes, I'd like to work for another company.	Mobley, 1977; Cropanzano
		(2) If reemployment is guaranteed and I am financially stable, I will quit this job.	et al., 1993; Quinones et al., 2017
		(3) I'd like to quit this job if I could.	
Emotional Intelligence	Perceiving emotion	(1) I usually know why I have such feelings.	Wong and Law, 2002
		(2) I understand my feelings well.	
		(3) I understand what I feel.	
		(4) I always know whether I am happy or not.	
	Understanding emotion	 I can usually understand people's feelings through their actions. 	
		(2) I'm good at understanding other people's emotions.	
		(3) I understand other people's feelings well.	
		(4) I am sensitive to the feelings of others.	
	Managing emotion	(1) I can control my anger.	
		(2) I can calm down myself quickly, even when I'm angry.	
		(3) I have the ability to control my emotions (sensibility).	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Construct		Measurement items	Sources	
		(4) I have the ability to control my feelings.		
	Using emotion	(1) I always do my best to achieve my goals.		
		(2) I believe myself that I am a competent person.		
		(3) I am a self-motivated person.		
		(4) I encourage myself to do my best.		

other techniques of multilevel mediation analysis (Zhang et al., 2009).

Confirmatory factor analysis on the measurement model was performed using AMOS 18.0. Goodness-of-Fit Test on the model using maximum likelihood estimation showed $\chi^2 = 844.01$, df = 426, *p*-value = 0.00, GFI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.04, NFI = 0.94, RFI = 0.93, IFI = 0.97, and CFI = 0.97, indicating that the model shows good fit indices of measured variables on overall latent factor. Further, standardized factor loading is greater than 0.6, indicating that it is statistically significant. Detailed result of CFA is provided in **Table 3**.

Construct Reliability (CR) and Average Variance Extracted (AVE) of each variable satisfy general standards (CR > 0.7, AVE > 0.5) and therefore have Convergent Validity (Bagozzi, 1988).

Discriminant Validity can be tested by using AVE-SE comparison (Fornell and Larcker, 1981) using error-adjusted inter-construct correlation derived from CFA. Results provided in **Table 4** show that SE does not exceed AVE and therefore indicating that all constructs showed sufficient discriminant validity.

Then SEM was analyzed as validity and reliability of the variables have been confirmed.

RESULTS

Structural Models

The model showed good fit and all indices satisfy the acceptance criteria ($\chi^2 = 1282.10$, df = 439, *p*-value = 0.00, GFI = 0.88, RMSEA = 0.06, NFI = 0.90, RFI = 0.89, IFI = 0.93, TLI = 0.93, CFI = 0.93).

Test results showed that Deep Acting (Estimate = 0.22, t-value = 3.95, p-value = 0.00) and Non-Verbal Communication (Estimate = 0.66, t-value = 3.11, p-value = 0.00) have statistically significant effects on Perception of Customer Feedback (Positive) while Surface Acting and Verbal Expression failed to show significant effects. Therefore, [H1_a2] and [H1_a3] were supported while [H1_a1] and [H1_a4] were not supported.

Surface Acting (Estimate = 0.47, *t*-value = 10.20, *p*-value = 0.00), Deep Acting (Estimate = 0.33, *t*-value = 5.65, *p*-value = 0.00), and Non-Verbal Communication (Estimate = -0.51, *t*-value = -2.39, *p*-value = 0.02) all showed statistically significant effects on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative). Only Verbal Communication failed to show statistically significant effect on Perception of Customer

Feedback (Negative). As a result, [H1_b1], [H1_b2], and [H1_b3] were supported while [H1_b4] was not supported.

When the effects of variables on Emotional Exhaustion were tested, only Surface Acting showed significant effect (Estimate = 0.40, *t*-value = 8.24, *p*-value = 0.00). Deep Acting (Estimate = 0.00, *t*-value = 0.01, *p*-value = 0.63), Non-Verbal Communication (Estimate = -0.09, *t*-value = -0.48, *p*-value = 0.99), and Verbal Communication (Estimate = 0.01, *t*-value = 0.05, *p*-value = 0.96) all failed to show significant effects and, thus, [H2_2], [H2_3], and [H2_4] were not supported while [H2_1] was supported.

Test results support that customers' reactions and feedbacks affect employees' emotional exhaustion as well. Although Perception of Customer Feedback (Positive) didn't show significance (Estimate = -0.01, *t*-value = -0.14, *p*-value = 0.89) and, therefore, [H3_1] was not supported, Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) showed significance (Estimate = 0.47, *t*-value = 9.60, *p*-value = 0.00) for [H3_2] to be supported.

Employees' emotional exhaustion showed statistically significant effects on both Job Satisfaction (Estimate = -0.23, *t*-value = -4.70, *p*-value = 0.00) and Turnover Intention (Estimate = 0.79, *t*-value = 18.18, *p*-value = 0.00) and, therefore, both [H4] and [H5] were supported.

Finally, Job Satisfaction does have a significant effect (Estimate = -0.18, *t*-value = -5.63, *p*-value = 0.00) on Turnover Intention and therefore [H6] was supported.

Detailed results of the test on each hypothesis are provided in **Table 5** and **Figure 1**.

Moderating Effects of Emotional Intelligence

Moderating effects of Emotional Intelligence that comprises four factors (Perceiving Emotion, Understanding Emotion, Managing Emotion, and Using Emotion) were tested using MSEM. Cross Validation was performed using MCFA, then multiple group comparison analysis was conducted in order to test overall moderating effect of emotional intelligence level compared to Unconstrained Model (**Table 6**).

The analysis of MSEM of Perceiving Emotion showed that the paths from Deep Acting to Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) (Critical Ration = -2.95, *p*-value < 0.01), Surface Acting to Emotional Exhaustion (Critical Ration = -2.30, *p*-value < 0.05), and Emotional Exhaustion to Job Satisfaction (Critical Ration = -4.19, *p*-value < 0.00) were significant. This result could be interpreted as that the effects of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback

TABLE 3 | Reliability and validity tests.

Variable	Indicator	Estimate	t-value	SMC	Cronbach's a	AVE	CR
Surface Acting	SA_1	1.00	-	0.65	0.85	0.65	0.85
	SA_2	0.98	19.53	0.65			
	SA_3	1.03	19.53	0.65			
Deep Acting	DA_1	1.00	-	0.69	0.85	0.65	0.85
	DA_2	0.97	21.22	0.67			
	DA_3	0.92	19.89	0.60			
Non-Verbal Expression	NVE_1	1.00	23.46	0.72	0.87	0.64	0.88
	NVE_2	1.00	-	0.66			
	NVE_3	0.92	20.74	0.61			
	NVE_4	0.93	20.55	0.58			
Verbal Expression	VE_1	1.00	-	0.72	0.84	0.64	0.84
	VE_2	0.89	19.40	0.52			
	VE_3	0.98	23.07	0.67			
Customer Feedback Positive	CFP_1	1.00	-	0.58	0.88	0.65	0.88
	CFP_2	1.05	20.40	0.70			
	CFP_3	0.99	19.74	0.66			
	CFP_4	1.03	19.77	0.66			
Customer Feedback Negative	CFN_1	1.00	-	0.79	0.93	0.76	0.93
	CFN_2	1.02	30.80	0.80			
	CFN_3	0.94	27.35	0.71			
	CFN_4	1.02	29.64	0.77			
Emotional Exhaustion	EE_1	1.00	-	0.62	0.85	0.62	0.83
	EE_2	1.15	22.07	0.75			
	EE_3	0.85	21.65	0.49			
Job Satisfaction	JS_1	1.15	20.52	0.71	0.89	0.62	0.89
	JS_2	1.13	19.60	0.66			
	JS_3	1.06	17.22	0.52			
	JS_4	1.00	-	0.56			
	JS_5	1.08	19.80	0.67			
Turnover Intentions	TI_1	1.00	_	0.78	0.92	0.79	0.92
	TI_2	0.98	29.08	0.76			
	TI_3	1.06	31.96	0.85			

Goodness-of-fit: x² = 844.01, df = 426, p = 0.00, GFI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.04, NFI = 0.94, RFI = 0.93, IFI = 0.97, TLI = 0.96, CFI = 0.97.

	SA	DA	NVE	VE	CFP	CFN	EE	JS	ті
SA	1.00								
DA	0.05	1.00							
NVE	0.13	0.52	1.00						
VE	0.11	0.46	0.80	1.00					
CFP	0.01	0.45	0.54	0.47	1.00				
CFN	0.37	0.07	-0.19	-0.19	-0.16	1.00			
EE	0.49	0.04	-0.07	-0.07	-0.09	0.56	1.00		
JS	-0.02	0.60	0.47	0.36	0.52	0.01	-0.20	1.00	
TI	0.44	-0.09	-0.12	-0.11	-0.14	0.45	0.74	-0.31	1.00
Means	4.76	5.09	5.62	5.70	5.35	3.27	4.20	5.09	4.13
SD	1.45	1.31	1.14	1.10	1.19	1.72	1.64	1.31	1.90

SA, Surface Acting; DA, Deep Acting; NVE, Non-Verbal Expression; VE, Verbal Expression; CFP, Perception of Customer Feedback (Positive); CFN, Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative); EE, Emotional Exhaustion; JS, Job Satisfaction; TI, Turnover Intentions.

TABLE 5 | Structural models results.

Structural Path		Estimate	t-value	p-value
H1_a1 Surface Acting	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	-0.08	-1.96	0.05
H1_a2 Deep Acting	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	0.22	3.95***	0.00
H1_a3 Non-Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	0.66	3.11**	0.00
H1_a4 Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	-0.19	-0.96	0.34
H1_b1 Surface Acting	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)	0.47	10.20***	0.00
H1_b2 Deep Acting	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)	0.33	5.65***	0.00
H1_b3 Non-Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)	-0.51	-2.39*	0.02
H1_b4 Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)	0.02	0.08	0.94
H2_1 Surface Acting	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	0.40	8.24***	0.00
H2_2 Deep Acting	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	0.00	0.01	0.63
H2_3 Non-Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	-0.09	-0.48	0.99
H2_4 Verbal Expression	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	0.01	0.05	0.96
H3_1 Customer Feedback (Positive)	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	-0.01	-0.14	0.89
H3_2 Customer Feedback (Negative)	\rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion	0.47	9.60***	0.00
H4 Emotional Exhaustion	\rightarrow Job Satisfaction	-0.23	-4.70***	0.00
H5 Emotional Exhaustion	\rightarrow Turnover Intention	0.79	18.18***	0.00
H6 Job Satisfaction	\rightarrow Turnover Intention	-0.18	-5.63***	0.00

Goodness-of-fit: x² = 1282.10, df = 439, p = 0.00, GFI = 0.88, RMSEA = 0.06, NFI = 0.90, RFI = 0.89, IFI = 0.93, TLI = 0.93, CFI = 0.93.



(Negative) is bigger for the group with Low Perceiving Emotion, while the effect of Surface Acting on Emotional Exhaustion and the effect of Emotional Exhaustion on Job Satisfaction are greater for the group with High Emotional Intelligence.

The analysis on MSEM of Understanding Emotion showed that the path from Emotional Exhaustion to Job Satisfaction (Critical Ration = -3.60, *p*-value < 0.00) is significant. The result shows that the effect of Emotional Exhaustion on Job Satisfaction is greater for a group with High Emotional Intelligence.

The analysis on MSEM of Managing Emotion showed that the paths from Deep Acting to Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) (Critical Ration = -2.26, *p*-value < 0.05), Verbal Expression to Emotional Exhaustion (Critical Ration = -2.02, *p*-value < 0.05), and Job Satisfaction to Turnover Intention (Critical Ration = 2.50, *p*-value < 0.05) were significant. The effects of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) and Job Satisfaction on Turnover Intention were greater for a group with Low Emotional Intelligence, while the

effect of Verbal Expression on Emotional Exhaustion was greater for a group with High Emotional Intelligence.

The analysis on MSEM of Using Emotion showed that the paths from Deep Acting to Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) (Critical Ration = -2.23, *p*-value < 0.05), Surface Acting to Emotional Exhaustion (Critical Ration = -2.09, *p*-value < 0.05), and Emotional Exhaustion to Job Satisfaction (Critical Ration = -5.44, *p*-value < 0.00) were significant. The effect of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) is greater for a group with Low Emotional Intelligence, while the effects of Surface Acting on Emotional Exhaustion and Emotional Exhaustion on Job Satisfaction are greater for a group with High Emotional Intelligence.

DISCUSSION

In order to provide solutions to the problems regarding Emotional Labor, especially in service industry, two main

Hypothesis	Per	Perceiving emotion		Under	Understanding emotion	Ē	Μa ^a	Managing emotion		D	Using emotion	
	Low(296)	High(281)	Critical Ration	Low(304)	High(273)	Critical Ration	Low(283)	High(294)	Critical Ration	Low(305)	High(272)	Critical Ration
	Coefficient (t-Value)	Coefficient (<i>t</i> -Value)		Coefficient (<i>t</i> -Value)	Coefficient (t-Value)		Coefficient (<i>t</i> -Value)	Coefficient (<i>t</i> -Value)		Coefficient (t-Value)	Coefficient (<i>t</i> -Value)	
H1_a1	0.04 (0.38)	-0.13 (-2.04)*	-1.21	-0.03 (-0.37)	-0.10 (-1.54)	-0.44	-0.02 (-0.30)	-0.12 (-2.00)*	-0.82	0.12 (1.24)	-0.11 (-1.94)	-1.97
H1_a2	0.25 (2.46)*	0.26 (3.43)***	-0.12	0.23 (2.58)*	0.18 (1.98)*	-0.28	0.17 (1.92)	0.24 (2.85)**	0.53	0.14 (1.45)	0.27 (3.36)***	1.24
H1_a3	0.73 (2.05)*	0.33 (1.86)	-0.16	0.61 (2.13)*	0.61 (1.48)	0.57	0.72 (2.73)**	0.46 (1.44)	0.08	0.67 (2.33)*	0.42 (1.93)	0.48
H1_a4	-0.31 (-0.91)	-0.07 (-0.45)	0.41	-0.24 (-0.95)	-0.24 (-0.62)	-0.23	-0.21 (-0.87)	-0.17 (-0.57)	-0.16	-0.22 (-0.81)	-0.10 (-0.51)	0.07
H1_b1	0.45 (4.00)***	0.48 (7.95)***	-0.14	0.48 (4.77)***	0.47 (7.75)***	0.44	0.44 (4.97)***	0.49 (8.44)***	1.41	0.51 (4.48)***	0.45 (7.48)***	-0.86
H1_b2	0.67 (5.20)***	0.19 (2.71)**	-2.95**	0.54 (5.48)***	0.17 (2.12)*	-1.86	0.57 (5.48)***	0.16 (2.05)*	-2.26*	0.54 (4.93)***	0.18 (2.33)*	-2.23*
H1_b3	-0.97 (-2.40)*	-0.19 (-1.18)	0.86	-0.83	-0.16 (-0.44)	0.51	-0.74	-0.20 (-0.69)	0.33	-0.88	-0.08 (-0.39)	1.13
				(-2.69)**			(-2.68)**			(-2.77)**		
H1_b4	0.12 (0.31)	-0.06 (-0.38)	-0.48	0.19 (0.73)	-0.12 (-0.37)	-0.58	-0.06 (-0.22)	-0.06 (-0.22)	-0.13	0.14 (0.47)	-0.20 (-1.03)	-1.11
H2_1	0.64 (4.85)***	0.31 (5.20)***	-2.30*	0.60 (5.13)***	0.31 (5.09)***	-1.67	0.52 (4.90)***	0.31 (5.55)***	-1.34	0.58 (4.58)***	0.32 (5.51)***	-2.09*
H2_2	0.24 (1.64)	-0.03 (-0.55)	-1.70	0.13 (1.19)	-0.04 (-0.54)	-1.22	0.07 (0.60)	-0.05 (-0.75)	-0.93	-0.05 (-0.49)	0.03 (0.41)	0.64
H2_3	-0.55 (-1.36)	0.02 (0.16)	1.09	-0.56 (-1.78)	0.22 (0.68)	1.25	-0.41 (-1.36)	0.21 (0.83)	1.36	-0.11 (-0.37)	-0.13 (-0.74)	-0.41
H2_4	0.20 (0.60)	-0.15 (-1.16)	-1.22	0.31 (1.27)	-0.26 (-0.85)	-1.21	0.32 (1.30)	-0.38 (-1.64)	-2.02*	0.10 (0.40)	0.01 (0.08)	-0.17
H3_1	0.06 (0.61)	-0.05 (-0.87)	-1.02	0.09 (1.15)	-0.08 (-1.36)	-1.78	0.05 (0.56)	-0.05 (-0.93)	-1.02	-0.02 (-0.18)	-0.01 (-0.10)	0.08
H3_2	0.32 (3.00)**	0.50 (8.28)***	1.88	0.36 (3.97)***	0.52 (8.34)***	1.70	0.38 (3.80)***	0.50 (8.66)***	0.78	0.38 (3.93)***	0.50 (8.25)***	1.17
H4	0.13 (1.77)	-0.31 (-4 73)***	-4.19***	0.04 (0.62)	-0.34 (-5.07)***	-3.60***	-0.09 (-1.27)	-0.30 (4.66)***	-1.46	0.19 (2.61)**	-0.36 (-5.37)***	-5.44***
H5	0.83 (10.11)***	0.77 (14.33)***	-1.27	0.80 (10.11)***	0.80 (15.19)***	-0.28	0.74 (9.51)***	0.83 (15.86)***	0.20	0.89 (10.77)***	0.78 (13.83)***	-0.80
HG	-0.28	-0.20	0.50	-0.30	-0.15	1.56	-0.33	-0.11	2.50*	-0.30	-0.16	1.43
	(-4.82)***	(-4.78)***		(-5.27)***	(3.68)***		(-5.84)***	(-2.73)**		(-5.35)***	(-3.70)***	
$p_{\rm H1}^{*} > 0.05, p_{\rm H2}^{**}$	*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. H1 a1 Surface Acting → Customer F	* $p < 0.05$, ** $p < 0.01$, *** $p < 0.001$. H1 a1 Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	itive)									
H1_a2 Deep / H1_a3 Non-V/	\cting → Custome	H1_a2 Deep Acting → Customer Feedback (Positive) H1 a3 Nnn-Verbal Extrassion → Customer Feedback (Positive)	ve) ack (Positive)									
H1_a4 Verbal	Expression $\rightarrow Out$	$H1_a4$ Verbal Expression \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Positive)	Positive)									
H1_b1 Surfact	igree Acting ightarrow Custon	$H1_b1$ Surface Acting \rightarrow Customer Feedback (Negative)	gative)									
H1_b2 Deep /	$H1_b2$ Deep Acting \rightarrow Custome	H1_b2 Deep Acting → Customer Feedback (Negative) H1_b3 Non Verbal Evenancian → Customar Ecodhack (Neartina)	tive) col: (Niocotiuc)									

Frontiers in Psychology | www.frontiersin.org

66

January 2019 | Volume 9 | Article 2526

 $H2_3$ Non-Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion $H2_4$ Verbal Expression \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

 $H2_1$ Surface Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion $H2_2$ Deep Acting \rightarrow Emotional Exhaustion

H1_b3 Non-Verbal Expression → Customer Feedback (Negative) H1_b4 Verbal Expression → Customer Feedback (Negative)

 $H3_1$ Customer Feedback (Positive) → Emotional Exhaustion H3_2 Customer Feedback (Negative) → Emotional Exhaustion H4 Emotional Exhaustion → Job Satisfaction H5 Emotional Exhaustion → Turnover Intention H6 Job Satisfaction → Turnover Intention approaches were used in this study. Firstly, we looked at Emotional Labor in the perspective of Emotional Expression regulated by organizational norms. Then we looked at Emotional Intelligence which is individuals' ability to understand and control his/her own emotions. As looking into these two perspectives simultaneously could provide more in-depth understanding of the nature of Emotional Labor, a SEM with various emotional expressions of the employees and the perception of customer feedbacks was tested in order to test how these variables are related to and affecting emotional exhaustion, job satisfaction, and turnover intention.

The results show that both Deep Acting and Surface Acting are valid influential factors to recognize customer's reactions. Deep Acting of employees is a valid factor to recognize customers' positive and negative reactions. It suggests that employees' effort to understand or experience their true feelings is the behavior intending to understand customers' emotion in service encounter. Also, the employees' Surface Acting is a valid factor to recognize customers' negative reactions. In other words, employees' behavior to hide their true feelings and express their emotions according to organizations' regulations and norms affect employees' ability to recognize customers' negative reactions.

Non-Verbal Expression was shown to be a factor that increases Perception of Customer Feedback (Positive) and reduces Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative). This result is consistent with previous findings regarding the characteristics of Non-Verbal Expression. Body language can convey interest, intimacy, benevolent feelings, and trust to customers (Mehrabian and Williams, 1969; Burgoon et al., 1990), and non-verbal communication narrows the psychological distance between employees and customers, increasing positive emotions (Sundaram and Webster, 2000).

The effects of Non-Verbal Communication might vary according to the characteristics of services provided and of customers. Therefore, more detailed studies on the guideline of Non-Verbal Communication that incorporates the characteristics of the service and the customers would be necessary. Further, as online services grow, in-depth study on non-verbal online communication might provide meaningful insights as well.

In addition, it was shown that customers' negative reaction influences the way Surface Acting leads to Emotional Exhaustion. This result supports the previous findings that the employees' Surface Acting negatively affects employees themselves while Deep Acting positively affects employees. Therefore, more systematic and effective approaches that will enable employees to act and behave based on voluntary Deep Acting at the service contact points should be established rather than coercing employees into unconditional Surface Acting in order to find solutions to the problems related to Emotional Labor.

Emotional Exhaustion caused by Emotional Labor and Perception of Customer Feedback lowers employees' Job Satisfaction and increases Turnover Intention, while Job Satisfaction lowers Turnover Intention, which, again, support previous findings. Therefore, in order to lower Turnover Intention, organizations should find ways to increase Job Satisfaction and reduce factors that lead to Emotional Exhaustion.

This study also tested four factors of Emotional Intelligence in order to verify its moderating effects. The results show that it affects Emotional Exhaustion and Job Satisfaction, and hence, Turnover Intention.

The results of the analysis on Perceiving Emotion show that there exists a difference between the effect of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) and the effect of Surface Acting on Emotional Exhaustion. This result suggests that an employee with better understanding of his/her own emotions experience greater negative effect when there is a discrepancy between what they feel and how they should act. Therefore, organizations should collect employees' opinions prior to establishing organizational guidelines of employee behaviors. Behavioral guidelines that incorporate employees' opinions would help reduce Emotional Exhaustion caused by Emotional Labor.

The result of the analysis on Understanding Emotion also suggests that the effect of Emotional Exhaustion on Job Satisfaction depends on the level of Emotional Intelligence. An employee with higher Emotional Intelligence experiences a greater effect on Job Satisfaction from Emotional Exhaustion.

The analysis on Managing Emotion suggests a similar result. It shows that the effect of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative) and the effect of Job Satisfaction on Turnover Intention vary depending on the employees' Emotional Intelligence. This result could be interpreted as that an employee with a high Emotional Intelligence is more likely to recover from psychological frustration and emotional depletion and therefore would have lower Turnover Intention.

Lastly, the analysis on Using Emotion showed that the effect of Deep Acting on Perception of Customer Feedback (Negative), the effect of Surface Acting on Emotional Exhaustion, and the effect of Emotional Exhaustion on Job Satisfaction vary depending on Emotional Intelligence. This result confirms that the ability to utilize his/her own emotions would enhance Job Performance of employees.

Contributions and Implications

There are two main perspectives of this research. The first is to look for solutions through the governing principles that control workers' emotional expressions. The second is to look for solutions through individually controlled emotional intelligence. Utilizing these two perspectives that are independent yet interrelated, the more thorough and effective solutions to the problems regarding Emotional Labor could be suggested.

The findings of this study regarding the effects of Emotional Expression are consistent with previous findings. The study showed moderating effects of the sub-dimensions of Emotional Intelligence on Emotional Labor and how they affect structural relationships among variables of Emotional Labor. Based on the findings of this study, two suggestions can be made.

Firstly, organizations in the service industry should provide training programs for their employees to improve their communication skills with the customers at the service contact points. The program should be divided into two categories: Verbal and Non-Verbal. As the importance of Non-Verbal communication was emphasized in the result, the training program to improve employees' non-verbal communication skills would be more important. Further, it should be noted that communication within the organization would be as important as the communication between employees and customers.

Secondly, it would be important to actively include customers in the communication process at the service contact points. The characteristic of non-separability in service could be utilized to include customers in the communication process. Redesigning the service process and introducing various motivating incentives may enhance customer participation as well. By including customers more actively in the service process, organizations could build more positive and trusting emotions with customers.

The findings of this study would suggest the solutions that could enhance job satisfaction of the workers in the service industry with higher turnover rate, and in turn will increase the job security. The sustainability of workers' lifestyle as well as the quality of their lives are, therefore, expected to be enhanced. Further, more effective management of the emotional labor would help organizations establish more positive organizational culture and enhance effectiveness of job performances, which will eventually increase the organizations' profitability.

Lastly, this research shall provide meaningful results that confirm the importance of individual emotional intelligence. These results will help the organizations and individual workers understand how enhancing emotional intelligence will strengthen their adaptiveness to rapidly changing socioeconomic environments.

Limitations and Future Directions

This study has a few limitations. Firstly, as this study focused on showing the moderating effects of the sub-dimensions of Emotional Intelligence, the data used in this study didn't take industry-specific characteristics into account. Future studies may collect industry-specific data, such as banking or hospitality industry, in order to provide more in-depth findings of the moderating effects of emotional intelligence on how emotional expressions and perception of customer feedbacks affect employees' Turnover Intention.

Further, the data used in this study was collected in the United States only and hence make it difficult for us either to generalize our findings or to conduct cross-country comparisons. Future studies may replicate the findings of this study with data collected from other countries or regions to enable cross country comparisons of the moderating effects of emotional intelligence.

Lastly, only the existence of the moderating effects of emotional intelligence was examined in this study. How

REFERENCES

- Abraham, R. (1998). Emotional dissonance in organizations: antecedents, consequences and moderators. *Genet. Soc. Gen. Psychol. Monogr.* 124, 229–246. doi: 10.1108/01437739810210185
- Abraham, R. (1999). Emotional intelligence in organization: a conceptualization. Genet. Soc. Gen. Psychol. Monogr. 125, 209–224. doi: 10.12691/rpbs-2-4-2

Argyle, M. (1975). Bodily Communication. New York, NY: Methuen.

employees' emotional intelligence can be enhanced and thus help them manage emotional exhaustion should be more thoroughly studied, maybe in cultural contexts as well, in order to provide meaningful solutions to increase organizational effectiveness and sustainability. In order to do this, future studies may examine how emotional intelligence affects a person's ability to empathize and to communicate.

CONCLUSION

The result of this study provides the support for moderating effect of emotional intelligence on how employees' Deep Acting and Surface Acting recognize customers' reactions that would affect employees' Emotional Exhaustion and Job Satisfaction, and hence, Turnover Intention. The result suggests that an employee with better understanding of his/her own emotions experience greater negative effect when there is a discrepancy between what they feel and how they should act.

Emotional Intelligence affects employees and the organizations in various ways. Although an employee with higher Emotional Intelligence experiences a greater effect on Job Satisfaction from Emotional Exhaustion, the one with a high Emotional Intelligence is more likely to recover from psychological frustration and emotional depletion and therefore would have lower Turnover Intention.

In addition, the ability to utilize his/her own emotions would enhance Job Performance of employees.

ETHICS STATEMENT

An ethics approval was not required as per institutional guidelines and national laws and regulations because no unethical behaviors existed in this study. We just conducted paperpencil test and were exempt from further ethics board approval since this research did not involve human clinical trials or animal experiments. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Research respondents were ensured confidentiality and anonymity. All participation was voluntary.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YL and SL contributed to design models and hypotheses. YL and JC acquired, analyzed, and interpreted the data. YL and SL wrote and revised the article. YL, JC, and SL approved the final version.

- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 18, 88–115. doi: 10.2307/ 258824
- Ashforth, B. E., and Mael, F. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. Acad. Manag. Rev. 14, 20–39. doi: 10.2307/258189
- Baeck, S.-G., Shin, K.-H., Lee, J.-H., and Heo, C.-G. (2014). Who can enjoy the unavoidable emotional labor: a moderation of self-monitoring. *Korean J. Ind. Organ. Psychol.* 27, 719–745.

- Bagozzi, R. P. (1988). An investigation into the role of intentions as mediators of the attitude-behavior relationship. J. Econ. Psychol. 10, 35–62. doi: 10.1016/ 01674870(89)900561
- Bagozzi, R. P., Gopinath, M., and Nyer, P. U. (1999). The role of emotions in marketing. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 27, 184–206. doi: 10.1177/0092070399272005
- Barger, P. B., and Grandey, A. A. (2006). Service with a smile and encounter satisfaction: emotional contagion and appraisal mechanisms. *Acad. Manag. J.* 49, 1229–1238. doi: 10.5465/AMJ.2006.23478695
- Benson, G., Martin, L., Ploeg, J., and Wessel, J. (2012). Longitudinal study of emotional intelligence, leadership, and caring in undergraduate nursing students. J. Nurs. Educ. 51, 95–101. doi: 10.3928/01484834-2012 0113-01
- Berko, R., Wolvin, A., Wolvin, D. R., and Aitken, J. E. (2016). Communicating: A Social, Career, and Cultural Focus, 12th Edn. New York, NY: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9781315506937
- Bhuian, S. N., and Mengue, B. (2002). An extension and evaluation of job characteristics, organizational commitment and job satisfaction in an expatriate, guest worker, sales setting. *J. Pers. Selling Sales Manag.* 22, 1–11. doi: 10.1080/08853134.2002.10754288
- Birdwhistell, R. L. (1955). Background to kinesics. ETC 13, 10-18.
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: comparing two perspectives of "people work". J. Vocat. Behav. 60, 17–39. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2003). Development and validation of the emotional labor scale. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 76, 365–379. doi: 10.1348/ 096317903769647229
- Brown, S. P., and Peterson, R. A. (1993). Antecedents and consequences of salesperson job satisfaction: a meta-analysis and assessment of causal effects. *J. Mark. Res.* 30, 63–77. doi: 10.2307/3172514
- Bugental, D. E., Kaswan, J. W., and Love, L. R. (1970). Perceptions of contradictory meanings conveyed by verbal and non-verbal channels. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 16, 647–655. doi: 10.1037/h0030254
- Burgoon, J. K., Birk, T., and Pfau, M. (1990). Non-verbal behaviors, persuasion, and credibility. *Hum. Commun. Res.* 17, 140–169. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.1990. tb00229.x
- Byrne, B. M. (2001). Structural equation modeling with AMOS, EQS, and LISREL: comparative approaches to testing for the factorial validity of a measuring instrument. Int. J. Test. 1, 55–86. doi: 10.1207/S15327574IJT0101_4
- Chan, D. W. (2006). Emotional intelligence and components of burnout among Chinese secondary school teachers in Hong Kong. *Teach. Teacher Educ.* 22, 1042–1054. doi: 10.1016/j.tate.2006.04.005
- Cho, S., Johanson, M. M., and Guchait, P. (2009). Employees intent to leave: a comparison of determinants of intent to leave versus intent to stay. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 28, 374–381. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2008.10.007
- Choi, S., Cheong, K., and Feinberg, R. A. (2012). Moderating effects of supervisor support, monetary rewards, and career paths on the relationship between job burnout and turnover intentions in the context of call centers. *Manag. Serv. Qual.* 22, 492–516. doi: 10.1108/09604521211281396
- Cohen, S., and Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychol. Bull.* 98, 310–357. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310
- Conley, C. S., Durlak, J. A., and Kirsch, A. C. (2015). A meta-analysis of universal mental health prevention programs for higher education students. *Prev. Sci.* 16, 487–507. doi: 10.1007/s11121-015-0543-1
- Cropanzano, R., James, K., and Citera, M. (1993). A goal hierarchy model of personality, motivation, and leadership. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 15, 267–267.
- Dagger, T. S., Danaher, P. J., Sweeney, J. C., and McColl-Kennedy, J. R. (2013). Selective halo effects arising from improving the interpersonal skills of frontline employees. J. Serv. Res. 16, 488–502. doi: 10.1177/1094670513481406
- Delmonte, M. M. (1991). Use of non-verbal construing and metaphor in psychotherapy. Int. J. Psychosom. 38, 1-4.
- Deng, H., Walter, F., Lam, C. K., and Zhao, H. H. (2017). Spillover effects of emotional labor in customer service encounters toward coworker harming: a resource depletion perspective. *Pers. Psychol.* 70, 469–502. doi: 10.1111/peps. 12156
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., and Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The dimensionality and antecedents of emotional labor strategies. J. Vocat. Behav. 66, 339–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001

- Diefendorff, J. M., Erickson, R. J., Grandey, A. A., and Dahling, J. J. (2011). Emotional display rules as work unit norms: a multilevel analysis of emotional labor among nurses. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 16, 170–186. doi: 10.1037/ a0021725
- Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. Psychol. Bull. 95, 542–575. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.95.3.542
- Dodd, C. H. (1998). Dynamics of Intercultural Communication, 5th Edn. New York, NY: McGrawHill.
- Dulewicz, V., and Higgs, M. (2000). Emotional intelligence-a review and evaluation study. J. Manag. Psychol. 15, 341–372. doi: 10.1108/ 02683940010330993
- Faguy, K. (2012). Emotional intelligence in health care. *Radiol. Technol.* 83, 237–253.
- Farber, B. A. (1991). Crisis in Education: Stress and Burnout in the American Teacher. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Fenlason, K. J., and Beehr, T. A. (1994). Social support and occupational stress: effects of talking to others. J. Organ. Behav. 15, 157–175. doi: 10.1002/job. 4030150205
- Fitzpatrick, J. J. (2016). Helping nursing students develop and expand their emotional intelligence. Nurs. Educ. Perspect. 37:124. doi: 10.1097/01.nep. 000000000000020
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobserved variables and measurement error. J. Mark. Res. 18, 39–50. doi: 10.2307/3151312
- Gabbott, M., and Hogg, G. (2000). An empirical investigation of the impact of non-verbal communication on service evaluation. *Eur. J. Mark.* 34, 384–398. doi: 10.1108/03090560010311911
- Gabbott, M., and Hogg, G. (2001). The role of non-verbal communication in service encounters: a conceptual framework. J. Mark. Manag. 17, 5–26. doi: 10.1362/0267257012571401
- Gabbott, M., Tsarenko, Y., and Mok, W. H. (2011). Emotional intelligence as a moderator of coping strategies and service outcomes in circumstances of service failure. J. Serv. Res. 14, 234–248. doi: 10.1177/1094670510391078
- Gardner, H. (1995). Reflections on multiple intelligences: myths and messages. *Phi* Delta Kappan 77, 202–209.
- Gayathridevi, K. S. (2013). A study on non-verbal communication of salespersons and their service behavior towards customers in a sales encounter. *J. Contemp. Res. Manag.* 8, 70–83.
- Goldhaber, M. (1982). Organizational Communication. Ottumwa IA: William C. Brown Co.
- Goleman, D. P. (1995). Emotional Intelligence: Why It Can Matter More than IQ. London: Bloomsbury.
- Goleman, D. P. (1998). Working with Emotional Intelligence. New York, NY: Bantam.
- Görgens-Ekermans, G., Delport, M., and Du Preez, R. (2015). Developing Emotional Intelligence as a key psychological resource reservoir for sustained student success. SA J. Ind. Psychol. 41, 1–13. doi: 10.4102/sajip.v41i1. 1251
- Grandey, A., Rafaeli, A., Ravid, S., Wirtz, J., and Steiner, D. D. (2010). Emotion display rules at work in the global service economy: the special case of the customer. *J. Serv. Manag.* 21, 388–412. doi: 10.1108/095642310110 50805
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Vocat. Behav. 64, 1–23. doi: 10.1037//1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When the show must go on: surface and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-related service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96. doi: 10.5465/30040678
- Grandey, A. A., Fisk, G. M., and Steiner, D. D. (2005). Must "service with a smile" be stressful? The moderate role of personal control for American and French employees. J. Appl. Psychol. 90, 893–904. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 90.5.893
- Grandey, A. A., and Gabriel, A. S. (2015). Emotional Labor at the Crossroads: where do we go from here? Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 2, 323–349. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111400
- Hall, J. A., and Schmid Mast, M. (2007). Sources of accuracy in the empathic accuracy paradigm. *Emotion* 7, 438–446. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7.2.438

- Hayyat, U., Nisar, Q. A., Imran, M., and Ikram, M. (2017). Consequences of emotional labor in health sector of Pakistan. *Int. J. Res. Bus. Manag. Account.* 3, 64–79.
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2002). Social and psychological resources and adaptation. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 6, 307–324. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.6.4.307
- Hochschild, A. R. (1979). Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure. Am. J. Sociol. 85, 551–575. doi: 10.1086/227049
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Hofmann, V., and Stokburger-Sauer, N. E. (2017). The impact of emotional labor on employees' work-life balance perception and commitment: a study in the hospitality industry. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 65, 47–58. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2017. 06.003

Hoppock, R. (1935). Job Satisfaction. New York, NY: Harper.

- Hujala, A., and Oksman, E. (2018). Emotional dimensions in integrated care for people with multiple complex problems. *Adm. Sci.* 8:59. doi: 10.3390/ admsci8040059
- Hülsheger, U., and Schewe, A. (2011). On the costs and bene?ts of emotional labour: a meta-analysis of three decades of research. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 16, 361–389. doi: 10.1037/a0022876
- Ivcevic, Z., and Brackett, M. (2014). Predicting school success: comparing conscientiousness, grit, and emotion regulation ability. J. Res. Pers. 52, 29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2014.06.005
- Jandt, F. E. (1998). Intercultural Communication: An Introduction. Thousand Oak, CA: Sage Publications.
- Johnson, H. A. M., and Spector, P. E. (2007). Service with a smile: do emotional intelligence, gender, and autonomy moderate the emotional labor process? *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 12, 319–333. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12.4.319
- Jones, S. E., and LeBaron, C. D. (2002). Research on the relationship between verbal and non-verbal communication: emerging integrations. J. Commun. 52, 499–521. doi: 10.1111/j.14602466.2002.tb02559.x
- Judge, T. A., Woolf, E. F., and Hurst, C. (2009). Is emotional labor more difficult for some than for others? A multilevel, experience-sampling study. *Pers. Psychol.* 62, 57–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2008.01129.x
- Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D., Rubenstein, A. L., Long, D. M., Odio, M. A., Buckman, B. R., Zhang, Y., et al. (2013). A meta-analytic structural model of dispositional affectivity and emotional labor. *Pers. Psychol.* 66, 47–90. doi: 10.1111/peps. 12009
- Keaveney, S. M. (1995). Customer switching behavior in service industries: an exploratory study. J. Mark. 59, 71–82. doi: 10.2307/1252074
- Kilo, R. A., and Hassmén, P. (2016). Burnout and turnover intentions in Australian coaches as related to organisational support and perceived control. *Int. J. Sports Sci. Coach.* 11, 151–161. doi: 10.1177/1747954116636710
- Kim, H. J., Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., and Jun, J. K. (2017). Is all support equal? The moderating effects of supervisor, coworker, and organizational support on the link between emotional labor and job performance. *BRQ Bus. Res. Q.* 20, 124–136. doi: 10.1016/j.brq.2016.11.002
- Kim, J., and Kim, Y.-G. (2018). The effect of emotional labor on job burnout, emotional dissonance, and turnover intentions: a case of resort workers. J. Tour. Leis. Res. 30, 45–62. doi: 10.31336/JTLR.2018.09.30.9.45
- Kim, S.-H. (2005). A study on consumers' emotion expression and a salesperson's responses in service encounter: verbal and non-verbal communication. *Korean Stud. Inf. Serv. Syst.* 16, 113–115.
- Kim, S.-H. (2007). Effect of the verbal and non-verbal communication of salespersons in service encounter on customers' emotion and behavioral intension: focusing on the emotional contagion phenomenon. *Korean Stud. Inf. Serv. Syst.* 18, 97–131. doi: 10.12940/jfb.2013.17.2.136
- Kinnie, N., Purcell, J., Hutchinson, S., Terry, M., Collinson, M., and Scarbrough, H. (1999). Employment relations in SMEs: market-driven or customer-shaped? *Employee Relat.* 21, 218–236. doi: 10.1108/01425459910273071
- Kipfelsberger, P., Herhausen, D., and Bruch, H. (2016). How and when customer feedback influences organizational health. J. Manag. Psychol. 31, 624–640. doi: 10.1108/JMP09-2014-0262
- Krishnan, B. C., Netemeyer, R. G., and Boles, J. S. (2002). Self-efficacy, competitiveness, and effort as antecedents of salesperson performance. *J. Pers. Selling Sales Manag.* 22, 285–295.
- Kruml, S. M., and Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor. Manag. Commun. Q. 14, 8–49. doi: 10.1177/0893318900141002

- Laborde, S., Dosseville, F., and Allen, M. S. (2016). Emotional intelligence in sport and exercise: a systematic review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 26, 862–874. doi: 10.1111/sms.12510
- Lam, W., and Chen, Z. (2012). When I put on my service mask: determinants and outcomes of emotional labor among hotel service providers according to affective event theory. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 31, 3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2011. 04.009
- Larson, E. B., and Yao, X. (2005). Clinical empathy as emotional labor in the patient-physician relationship. JAMA 293, 1100–1106. doi: 10.1001/jama.293. 9.1100
- Law, K. S., Wong, C. S., and Song, J. (2004). The construct and criterion validity of EI and its potential utility for management. J. Appl. Psychol. 89, 483–496. doi: 10.1037/00219010.89.3.483
- Leavy, R. (1983). Social support and psychological disorder: a review. J. Commun. Psychol. 11, 3–21. doi: 10.1002/1520-6629(198301)11:1<3::AID-JCOP2290110102>3.0.CO;2-E
- Lee, C.-H., and Ryu, K.-S. (2014). The relationships between burnout, job satisfaction, organizational commitment and turnover intention by possible emotional labor level in the foodservice industry: the application of scenario. *Korean J. Hosp. Tour.* 3, 183–200.
- Lee, R. T., and Ashforth, B. E. (1993). A further examination of managerial burnout: toward an integrated model. J. Organ. Behav. 14, 3–20. doi: 10.1002/ job.4030140103
- Lee, R. T., and Ashforth, B. E. (1996). A meta-analytic examination of the correlates of the three dimensions of job burnout. J. Appl. Psychol. 81, 123–133. doi: 10.1037/00219010.81.2.123
- Lee, Y., and Chelladurai, P. (2016). Affectivity, emotional labor, emotional exhaustion, and emotional intelligence in coaching. J. Appl. Sport Psychol. 28, 170–184. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2015.1092481
- Lee, Y., and Chelladurai, P. (2018). Emotional intelligence, emotional labor, coach burnout, job satisfaction, and turnover intention in sport leadership. *Eur. Sport Manag.* Q. 18, 393–412. doi: 10.1080/16184742.2017.1406971
- Leigh, T. W., and Summers, J. O. (2002). An initial evaluation of industrial buyers' impressions of salespersons' non-verbal cues. J. Pers. Selling Sales Manag. 22, 41–53. doi: 10.1080/08853134.2002.10754292
- Locke, E. A. (1976). "The nature and causes of job satisfaction," in *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, ed. M. D. Dunnette (Chicago, IL: Rand McNally).
- Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., and Diener, E. (2005). The benefits of frequent positive affect: does happiness lead to success? *Psychol. Bull.* 131, 803–855. doi: 10.1037/ 0033-2909.131.6.803
- Macdonald, C., and Sirianni, C. (1996). *Working in the Service Society*. Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.
- Mano, H., and Oliver, R. L. (1993). Assessing the dimensionality and structure of the consumption experience: evaluation, feeling, and satisfaction. J. Consum. Res. 20, 451–466. doi: 10.1086/209361
- Maslach, C. (1982). Burnout: The Cost of Caring. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Maslach, C., and Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. J. Occup. Behav. 2, 99–113. doi: 10.1002/job.4030020205
- Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., and Leiter, M. P. (1996). *MBI: Maslach Burnout Inventory*. Sunnyvale, CA: CPP, Incorporated.
- Maslach, C., and Schaufeli, W. (1993). History and conceptual specificity of burnout. Rec. Dev. Theory Res. Hemisphere 1, 44–52.
- Mauno, S., Ruokolainen, M., De Bloom, J., and Kinnunen, U. (2017). Does recovery buffer against emotional labor in terms of motivational outcomes at work? Analyzing age differences among Finnish health care professionals. *Appl. Nurs. Res.* 36, 88–94. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2017. 06.007
- Mayer, J. D., Caruso, D. R., and Salovey, P. (2016). The ability model of emotional intelligence: principles and updates. *Emot. Rev.* 8, 290–300. doi: 10.1177/ 1754073916639667
- Mayer, J. D., and Salovey, P. (1997). "What is emotional intelligence?," in *Emotional Development and Emotional Intelligence: Implications for Educators*, eds P. Salovey and D. Sluyter (New York, NY: Basic Books), 3–31.
- McCallum, J. R., and Harrison, W. (1985). "Interdependence in the service encounter," in *The Service Encounter*, Vol. 18, eds J. Czepiel, M. Solomon, and C. Surprenant (Lexington, MA: Lexington Books), 35–48.

- Mearns, J., and Cain, J. E. (2003). Relationships between teachers, occupational stress and their burnout and distress: roles of coping and negative mood regulation expectancies. *Anxiety Stress Coping* 16, 71–82. doi: 10.1080/ 1061580021000057040
- Mehrabian, A., and Williams, M. (1969). Non-verbal concomitants of perceived and intended persuasiveness. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 13, 37–58. doi: 10.1037/ h0027993
- Miao, C., Humphrey, R. H., and Qian, S. (2017). A meta-analysis of emotional intelligence and work attitudes. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 90, 177–202. doi: 10.1111/joop.12167
- Mikolajczak, M., Menil, C., and Oliver, L. (2007). Explaining the protective effect of trait emotional intelligence regarding occupational stress: exploration of emotional labor process. J. Res. Pers. 41, 1107–1117. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2007. 01.003
- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. J. Appl. Psychol. 62, 237–240. doi: 10.1037//0021-9010.62.2.237
- Mohsin, A., Lengler, J., and Kumar, B. (2013). Exploring the antecedents of intentions to leave the job: the case of luxury hotel staff. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 35, 48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.05.002
- Monaghan, D. M. (2006). Emotional Labor in Customer Service Work: The Perceived Difficulty and Dispositional Antecedents. Doctoral thesis, University of Akron, Akron, OH.
- Morris, J. A., and Feldman, D. C. (1996). The dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of emotional labor. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 21, 986–1010. doi: 10.2307/259161
- Morris, J. A., and Feldman, D. C. (1997). Managing emotions in the workplace. J. Manag. Issues 9, 257–274.
- Myers, D. G., and DeWall, C. N. (2017). Launchpad for Psychology in Modules, Six Month Access. Duffield: Worth Pub.
- Park, H.-S., and Lee, J.-M. (2016). A validation study of Korean version of PANASrevised. *Korean J. Psychol. Gen.* 35, 617–641. doi: 10.4040/jkan.2015.45.2.240
- Park, J., Lee, J., Lee, H., and Truex, D. (2012). Exploring the impact of communication effectiveness on service quality, trust and relationship commitment in IT services. *Int. J. Inf. Manag.* 32, 459–468. doi: 10.1016/j. ijinfomgt.2012.02.005
- Park, J.-K., Rutherford, B. N., Yoo, W.-S., and Lee, Y.-H. (2011). The effects of retail manager's personal traits and emotional variables on multi-faceted job satisfaction. J. Distrib. Res. 16, 95–127.
- Park, K.-H. (2018). The effects of emotional labor on job satisfaction of hotel employees: analyzing moderating effects of emotional intelligence. *Korean J. Stress Res.* 26, 166–172. doi: 10.17547/kjsr.2018.26.3.166
- Pau, A., and Sabri, B. A. (2015). Relationship between emotional intelligence and job satisfaction in newly qualified Malaysian dentists. *Asia Pac. J. Public Health* 27, 1733–1741. doi: 10.1177/1010539512449855
- Polletta, F., and Tufail, Z. (2016). Helping without caring: role definition and the gender-stratified effects of emotional labor in debt settlement firms. *Work Occup.* 43, 401–433. doi: 10.1177/0730888416656031
- Price, J. L. (2001). Reflections on the determinants of voluntary turnover. Int. J. Manpow. 22, 600–624. doi: 10.1108/EUM000000006233
- Prinz, J. (2007). The Emotional Construction of Morals. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pugh, S. D. (2001). Service with a smile: emotional contagion in the service encounter. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 1018–1027. doi: 10.2307/3069445
- Pugliesi, K. (1999). The consequences of emotional labor: effects on work stress, job satisfaction, and well-being. *Motiv. Emot.* 23, 125–154. doi: 10.1023/A: 1021329112679
- Quinones, C., Rodriguez-Carvajal, R., Clarke, N., and Griffiths, M. D. (2016). Cross-cultural comparison of Spanish and British "service-witha-smile" outcomes. J. Manag. Psychol. 31, 960–975. doi: 10.1108/JMP-04-2015-0128
- Quinones, C., Rodríguez-Carvajal, R., and Griffiths, M. D. (2017). Testing a eustress-distress emotion regulation model in British and Spanish front-line employees. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 24, 1–28. doi: 10.1037/str0000021
- Raman, P., Sambasivan, M., and Kumar, N. (2016). Counterproductive work behavior among frontline government employees: role of personality, emotional intelligence, affectivity, emotional labor, and emotional exhaustion. *Rev. Psicol. Trab. Organ.* 32, 25–37. doi: 10.1016/j.rpto.2015.11.002

- Ranjbar, H. (2015). Emotional intelligence training: a necessity for nursing education curriculum. Nurse Educ. Today. 35:1053. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015. 08.028
- Rankin, B. (2013). Emotional intelligence: enhancing values based practice and compassionate care in nursing. J. Adv. Nurs. 69, 2717–2725. doi: 10.1111/jan. 12161
- Rhoades, L., and Eisenberger, R. (2002). Perceived organizational support: a review of the literature. J. Appl. Psychol. 87, 698–714. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87.4.698
- Richins, M. L. (1997). Measuring emotions in the consumption experience. J. Consum. Res. 24, 127–146. doi: 10.1086/209499
- Richmond, V. P., McCroskey, J. C., and Payne, S. K. (1991). Non-Verbal Behavior in Interpersonal Relations. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Robbins, S. (1998). Organizational Behavior: Concepts, Controversies, and Applications, 8th Edn. Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Ryan, W. (1971). Blaming the Victim. New York, NY: Pantheon Books.
- Ryu, K., and Jang, S. S. (2007). The effect of environmental perceptions on behavioral intentions through emotions: the case of upscale restaurants. J. Hosp. Tour. Res. 31, 56–72. doi: 10.1177/1096348006295506
- Salovey, P., and Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. Imagin. Cogn. Pers. 9, 185–211. doi: 10.2190/DUGG-P24E-52WK-6CDG
- Samovar, L. A., Porter, R. E., and Jain, N. (1981). Understanding Intercultural Communication. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Serebrenik, A. (2017). "Emotional labor of software engineers," in *Belgian-Netherlands Software Evolution Symposium*, eds S. Demeyer, A. Parsai, G. Laghari, and B. van Bladel (Antwerp: CEUR-WS.org), 1–6.
- Shanta, L., and Gargiulo, L. (2014). A study of the influence of nursing education on development of emotional intelligence. J. Prof. Nurs. 30, 511–520. doi: 10.1016/j.profnurs.2014.06.005
- Shin, K.-H., Hahn, Y.-S., Kim, W.-S., and Kim, W.-H. (2008). Emotional labor and job burnout and job engagement: the moderating effect of emotional intelligence. *Koran J. Ind. Organ. Psychol.* 21, 475–491. doi: 10.24230/ksiop.21. 3.200808.475
- Shostack, G. L. (1985). "Planning the service encounter," in *The Service Encounter*, eds J. A. Czepiel, M. R. Solomon, and C. F. Suprenant (Lexington, MA: Lexington Books), 243–254.
- Solomon, M. R., Surprenant, C. F., Czepiel, J. A., and Gutman, E. G. (1985). A role theory perspective on dyadic interactions: the service encounter. J. Mark. 49, 99–111. doi: 10.2307/1251180
- Sommerville, A. N. (1982). The pre-search reference interview: a step by step guide. *Data Base* 5, 32–38.
- Spector, P. E. (1997). Job Satisfaction: Application, Assessment, Causes, and Consequences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Stelnicki, A. M., Nordstokke, D. W., and Saklofske, D. H. (2015). Who is the successful university student? An analysis of personal resources. *Can. J. High. Educ.* 45, 214–228.
- Stiff, J., Corman, S., Krizek, B., and Snider, E. (1994). Individual differences and changes in non-verbal behavior: unmasking the changing faces of deception. *Commun. Res.* 21, 555–581. doi: 10.1177/009365094021005001
- Strizhakova, Y., Tsarenko, Y., and Ruth, J. A. (2012). "I'm mad and I can't get that service failure off my mind" coping and rumination as mediators of anger effects on customer intentions. J. Serv. Res. 15, 414–429. doi: 10.1177/ 1094670512443999
- Sundaram, D. S., and Webster, C. (2000). The role of non-verbal communication in service encounters. J. Serv. Mark. 14, 378–391. doi: 10.1108/08876040010341008
- Sung, M.-Y., and Gwon, G.-N. (2010). The influences of young children's emotionality and inter/intrapersonal intelligence on behavioral problems. *Korean Home Econ. Assoc.* 48, 39–49. doi: 10.6115/khea.2010.48.2.039
- Ullrich, A., Lambert, R. G., and McCarthy, C. J. (2012). Relationship of German elementary teachers' occupational experience, stress, and coping resources to burnout symptoms. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 19, 333–342. doi: 10.1037/a00 30121
- Üzümcü, T. P., Günsel, A., and Yavaş, A. (2017). The consequences of internal marketing activities on emotional labor in tourism industry. *J. Hum. Sci.* 14, 1909–1923. doi: 10.14687/jhs.v14i2.4580
- Wagstaff, C. R., Fletcher, D., and Hanton, S. (2012). Exploring emotion abilities and regulation strategies in sport organizations. Sport Exerc. Perform. Psychol. 1, 268–282. doi: 10.1037/a0028814
- Wainwright, M. J. (1999). Visual adaptation as optimal information transmission. Vis. Res. 39, 3960–3974. doi: 10.1016/S0042-6989(99)00101-7
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Wharton, A. S. (1993). The affective consequences of service work: managing emotions on the job. Work Occup. 20, 205–232. doi: 10.1177/0730888493020002004
- Williams, C. (2003). Sky service: the demands of emotional labor in the airline industry. Gend. Work Organ. 10, 513–550. doi: 10.1111/1468-0432.00210
- Wong, C., and Law, K. S. (2002). The effect of leader and follower emotional intelligence on performance and attitude: an exploratory study. *Leadersh. Q.* 13, 243–274. doi: 10.1016/S1048-9843(02)00099-1
- Wright, T. A., and Cropanzano, R. (1998). Emotional exhaustion as a predictor of job performance and voluntary turnover. J. Appl. Psychol. 83, 486–493. doi: 10.1037/00219010.83.3.486
- Zhang, Z., Zyphur, M. J., and Preacher, K. J. (2009). Testing multilevel mediation using hierarchical linear models: problems and solutions. Organ. Res. Methods 12, 695–719. doi: 10.1177/1094428108327450

- Zhao, J.-L., Li, X.-H., and Shields, J. (2018). Managing job burnout: the effects of emotion-regulation ability, emotional labor, and positive and negative affect at work. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 25. doi: 10.1037/str00 00101
- Zysberg, L., Orenshtein, C., Gimmon, E., and Robinson, R. (2017). Emotional intelligence, personality, stress, and burnout among educators. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 24, 122–136. doi: 10.1037/str 0000028

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lee, Lee and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Do Emotional Laborers Help the Needy More or Less? The Mediating Role of Sympathy in the Effect of Emotional Dissonance on Prosocial Behavior

Yun-na Park¹, Hyowon Hyun¹ and JiHoon Jhang^{1,2*}

¹ School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea, ² Spears School of Business, Oklahoma State University, Oklahoma, United States

OPEN ACCESS prosocial behavio that higher emoti

Edited by:

Weon Sang Yoo, Korea University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Jin Ho Jung, Ohio Northern University, United States Jungkeun Kim, Auckland University of Technology, New Zealand

> *Correspondence: JiHoon Jhang jihoonjhang@hanyang.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 18 October 2018 Accepted: 14 January 2019 Published: 07 February 2019

Citation:

Park Y-n, Hyun H and Jhang J (2019) Do Ernotional Laborers Help the Needy More or Less? The Mediating Role of Sympathy in the Effect of Ernotional Dissonance on Prosocial Behavior. Front. Psychol. 10:118. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00118 Despite the growing body of research on emotional labor, little has been known about the social consequences of emotional labor. Drawing on emotional dissonance theory, the authors investigate the relationship between the felt emotional dissonance and prosocial behavior (e.g., donation to a charity). Findings from multiple studies suggest that higher emotional dissonance serially influences perceived lack of control, emotional exhaustion, lowered sympathy for others' feeling, and subsequently lower willingness to help others. When individuals are asked to recall their past experiences of emotional dissonance, they expressed lack of control and emotional exhaustion (Study 3), lower sympathy for others' feeling (Studies 1, 3), and subsequently become less willing to help others both in their intention (Studies 2A and 3) and with actual money (Study 2B). Further, this negative relationship is moderated by the display rules (i.e., surface acting vs. deep acting, Study 3). Managerial and public policy implications are discussed.

Keywords: emotional labor, emotional dissonance, surface acting, deep acting, sympathy for others' feeling, emotional exhaustion, prosocial behavior

INTRODUCTION

According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2016), about 80% of total U.S. workers are employed by the service sector, and employment in the service sector is projected to increase over 12% between 2008 and 2018 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2016). Situations in other developing countries do not differ much (The World Bank, 2016). As the proportion of service-sector employees increases, it becomes more important to understand and manage these service-sector employees.

One characteristic peculiar to service-sector employees is their frequent contacts with customers. Therefore, previous research has emphasized the importance of managing these employees because evaluation of a service firm often depends on how customers perceive the interaction they have with the frontline employees (Bitner, 1990; Abraham, 1998). For instance, Babakus et al. (2009) showed that frontline employees play a crucial role not just in the service delivery but also in customer relationship building. More important, research shows that the expressed emotions of service providers heavily influence customers' perceptions of service quality (Abraham, 1998). For this reason, many organizations in the service industry attempt to control the way their employees display their emotions. Consequently, the service-sector employees are very often required to

express certain emotions different from their true ones. The term 'emotional labor,' first coined by Hochschild (1979, 1983) was originated from describing a situation wherein employees are required to display emotions that may differ from what they truly feel at the moment especially in the context of client contacts.

Despite its positive impact on customers' perceptions of service quality, the enforced emotional display rules are known to have negative impacts on both individual and organizational well-being (Grandey, 2000). To name a few, a body of research in emotional labor consistently found that emotional laborers tend to have lower identification with the organization, lower job involvement, lower job satisfaction, higher work stress, and lower well-being (Pugliesi, 1999; Schaubroeck and Jones, 2000; Cho et al., 2013). Because of its significance, much research efforts have been devoted to examine the antecedents, dimensions, and consequences of emotional labor (e.g., Rafaeli and Sutton, 1987; Morris and Feldman, 1996; Groth et al., 2009).

Common in the aforementioned works is that most research has focused only on the outcome variables related to organizations' performance. That is, the majority of works has been done from the perspectives of organizations. In spite of its practical and theoretical significance of this topic, there is a dearth of research on this topic from consumers' perspectives. To our best knowledge, no research efforts have been devoted to examine the behaviors of emotional laborers as consumers. Although this may not be directly related to organizational well-being such as job performance or job retention rate, we argue that it would have even bigger implications to the society given that the majority of employees are to some extent considered as emotional laborers (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2016). Therefore, it is very timely and important to investigate how these emotional laborers behave as consumers. For instance, how these people would treat other service workers (e.g., emotional laborers) when they become customers? Would they be sympathetic for others' feeling more or less? why? And what would be the consequences of that? These are the questions of interest the present research would address.

The purpose of this research is to understand the psychology of emotional labor and its consequences beyond the organizational boundary. Specifically, we examine how emotional laborers would differ in their degree to feel sympathy toward others (or others' feeling) and how this difference results in their pro-social intention and actual pro-social behavior. By examining these, we would like to shed light on the societal consequences of emotional labor, which has been neglected in the previous literature.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Emotional Labor as Regulatory Behavior

Since Hochschild (1983) first coined the term 'emotional labor' as "*the management of feeling* to create a publicly observable facial and bodily display" (p. 7), many researchers have attempted to grasp the concept of emotional labor by providing their

own definition for the term. For instance, Ashforth and Humphrey (1993), focusing more on the observable behavior rather than the management of feeling, defined emotional labor as "*the act* of displaying appropriate emotions with the goal to engage in a form of impression management for the organization" while Morris and Feldman (1996) defined it as "the effort, planning, and control needed to express organizationally desired emotional labor as *the process of faking and suppressing their true emotions* to follow the guidelines imposed by organizations.

Although the exact wording varies by scholars, what is common among various definitions is the notion of *emotion regulation* for the organization; emotional laborers must regulate their emotions to achieve bigger goals (i.e., organizational goals). Therefore, Diestel and Schmidt (2011) think emotional labor as a goal-directed regulatory behavior.

Deep Acting and Surface Acting

One important (and implicit) assumption implied by the term 'emotion regulation' is that some emotions have to be regulated because, without being regulated, they might not be appropriate from the perspectives of organizations. For instance, if there is a conflict between the emotions an employee wants to express and the emotions an organization wants their employees to express, the employee must regulate emotions.

According to Gross (1998), people can regulate emotions in two ways; focusing on either the precursors of emotions (e.g., the situation) or the observable signs of emotions (e.g., facial expressions). In the first emotion regulation technique, employees adjust their emotional responses to the situation by *modifying the way they perceive the situation*. By either thinking about events that call up specific emotions needed in the situation or reappraising the objects or situations, employees try to modify their thoughts and feelings with the goal to make the expression more genuine. This type of emotion regulation process corresponds to the emotional labor concept of 'deep acting' (Hochschild, 1983).

By contrast, in the second emotion regulation technique, employees just manipulate emotional expressions of their responses to the situation without adjusting the perception of the situation. By either faking the expressions entirely or adjusting the intensity of the displayed emotions, employees try to *modify their expressions without changing their thoughts or feelings*. This type of emotion regulation process corresponds to the emotional labor concept of 'surface acting' (Hochschild, 1983).

When an employee is engaged in this second type of emotion regulation technique (i.e., surface acting), the employee recognizes that the emotion he/she expressed differs from the emotion he/she actually felt, and consequently feels emotional discrepancy. This perceived discrepancy is called 'emotional disconance' (Hochschild, 1983; Abraham, 1998; Kruml and Geddes, 2000). In the literature on emotional labor, it is a widely held notion that surface acting is linked with emotional dissonance (e.g., Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993; Deng et al., 2017).

Emotional Dissonance and Perceived Control

Emotional dissonance, in many aspects, is analogous to cognitive dissonance (Festinger, 1957). Specifically, the following three propositions are noteworthy. According to the cognitive dissonance theory (Festinger, 1957), (1) people are sensitive to the discrepancy between their belief and action, (2) people, when recognizing the discrepancy, are motivated to resolve the discrepancy, and (3) people, in attempting to resolve the discrepancy, usually trace back to why the discrepancy arose (e.g., Ben, 1967). When we apply these to the context of emotional labor, an employee engaged in surface acting can recognize the discrepancy between their felt and expressed emotions and be motivated to resolve the discrepancy. In attempting to resolve the discrepancy, the employee would trace back to why the perceived emotional discrepancy arose. The reason is obvious; they had to follow the display rule enforced by the organization. Therefore, we argue that this reasoning leads the employee to perceive that she has no control over the way she expresses her true feeling, which may result in a generalized lower sense of control¹ (or perceived lack of autonomy).

Organizational behavior literature on the perceived control has equivocally reported positive relationship between high levels of perceived control and job-related variables (e.g., Spector, 1986; O'driscoll and Beehr, 2000; Thompson and Prottas, 2005). For instance, Spector (1986) showed that employees' high levels of perceived control positively affect not only organizational (e.g., job satisfaction, commitment, involvement, performance, and motivation) but also individual facets (e.g., emotional distress, role stress, absenteeism, and turnover rate). In a similar vein, Thompson and Prottas (2005) found that job autonomy and perceived control are positively associated with numerous organizational outcomes. These findings imply that lower (vs. high) perceived control that results from emotional dissonance, would have negative impacts on job-related variables.

More relevant to our theorizing are the findings by Muraven et al. (2007) that demonstrate the relationship between the lowered sense of control and resource depletion. In their studies, Muraven et al. (2007) randomly assigned employees to either controlling situation (i.e., working environment where everything was structured so that no autonomy is allowed) or autonomy supportive situation (i.e., working environment where maximum autonomy is allowed) and examined employees' degrees of depletion. The results show that people tend to be depleted more when they were working in the controlling situation. This suggests that when people perceive lack of control over the situation they are working in, they are more likely to be depleted. Taken together, we argue that emotional dissonance leads to resource depletion via lowered perceived control.

Emotional Exhaustion and Sympathy for Others' Feeling

Although the role of perceived control has not been explicitly highlighted in the previous literature, the relationship between emotional dissonance and resource depletion is not a new notion. Rather, emotional dissonance has been regarded as a major source of ego-depletion (Baumeister et al., 2007; Deng et al., 2017). The reason behind this relationship is as follows. According to the self-regulation resource theory (Muraven et al., 1998; Vohs and Heatherton, 2000), people use some types of resources to regulate themselves. If an individual is involved in any kinds of regulatory behavior, this uses the resources and leads to depletion (e.g., Schmeichel et al., 2003; Vohs and Schmeichel, 2003). In the context of emotional labor, faking or suppressing emotions requires considerable self-regulatory resource expenditure, which leads to depletion.

Many emotional labor researchers have also examined the relationship between emotional dissonance and a construct very similar to resource depletion under different names such as emotional exhaustion, burnout, fatigue, and energy depletion (e.g., Gross, 1998; Grandey, 2000). Largely, two lines of research stream are noteworthy. In one line of research, emotional dissonance has been found to mediate the effect of emotional labor on emotional exhaustion (e.g., Lewig and Dollard, 2003). In another line of research, emotional exhaustion has been found to mediate the effect of poly. In another line of research, emotional dissonance on job-related outcomes (e.g., Karatepe and Aleshinloye, 2009). These findings together lend a strong support to the relationship between emotional dissonance and emotional exhaustion.

One subtle difference between self-regulation and emotional regulation theory lies in at which level it defines resource depletion (or emotional exhaustion). The latter theory defines emotional exhaustion as the physiological responses while the former theory includes not only physiological but also psychological states. In this research, we take the perspectives of the former.

Then, what would be the consequences of emotional exhaustion? We argue that when people are emotionally exhausted, they have no emotional resources they can use in the interaction with others. As a result, they would be less likely to feel sympathy for others' feeling. Taken together, we propose that if an individual experiences emotional dissonance, they would feel less sympathy toward others. It is formally stated as,

H1: Those experiencing emotional dissonance (vs. not) would be less likely to feel sympathy for others' feeling.

Sympathy and Prosocial Behavior

What, then would be the consequences of this lowered sympathy? A body of literature on prosocial behavior shows the strong linkage between individual's sympathy (or empathy) and prosocial behavior (Eisenberg et al., 1989; Eisenberg and Fabes, 1990). For example, Eisenberg et al. (1989) measured the degree to which one feels sympathy toward others using various ways including facial expression, physiological index (e.g., heart-rate), as well as self-report. Each measure was shown to be a strong predictor of one's prosocial behavior, supporting the notion that

¹It should be noted that this lowered sense of control would be observed only in the employees engaged in surface acting. If an employee is engaged in deep acting, he/she would not recognize any discrepancy between the felt and expressed emotions (i.e., no emotional dissonance). Therefore, they would perceive that they have control over the way they express their true feeling, which results in enhanced sense of control. In fact, previous research has suggested that deep acting promotes a sense of control (e.g., Brotheridge and Lee, 2002; Scott and Barnes, 2011).

sympathy and prosocial behavior is strongly linked. Further, Jolliffe and Farrington (2006) administered the 20-item Basic Empathy Scale (BES) to 363 K-10 adolescents (aged about 15) and found that empathy was positively related to prosocial behavior and a lack of empathy associated with aggressive and antisocial behavior. A corollary hypothesis of these finding, along with our H1, is that emotional dissonance would have negative impacts on prosocial behavior. Therefore, we argue that, if people experience (or recall their experiences of) emotional dissonance, they would be less likely to act pro-socially because of lowered sympathy from feeling emotional dissonance. This argument is formally hypothesized as,

H2: Those experiencing emotional dissonance (vs. not) would be less likely to act pro-socially.

H3: The effect of emotional dissonance on prosocial behavior will be mediated by sympathy for others' feeling.

Differential Effects of Surface and Deep Acting on Sympathy and Prosocial Behavior

If our proposed effects are driven by emotional dissonance, emotional laborers engaged in deep acting (vs. surface acting) would not exhibit the same pattern of behavior (i.e., lowered sympathy and lowered willingness to act pro-socially). For deep acting, by definition, is a strategy to adapt one's inner thoughts and feeling (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993), it is less likely to trigger emotional dissonance because, for those engaged in deep acting, the discrepancy between felt and expressed emotions would be minimal. This would subsequently lead to higher sense of control, and less emotional exhaustion. Hence, we predict that those taking deep acting strategy would be more likely to feel sympathy for others' feeling (than those taking surface acting strategy) and thus results in higher prosocial behavior intention. This hypothesis is formally stated as,

H4: Different emotion regulation strategies would have differential effects on prosocial behavior intention; those engaged in deep (vs. surface) acting would be more (vs. less) likely to feel sympathy for others' feeling, and subsequently exhibit higher (vs. lower) willingness to act pro-socially

Overview of Studies

In a series of multiple studies, we tested our hypotheses. We first report the results of a study that examines the relationship between emotional dissonance and the degree to which one feels sympathy for the needy (Study 1). Then, we report two studies that establish the basic effect. We either manipulated (Study 2A) or measured (Study 2B) individual's emotional dissonance and found that, the greater dissonance one feels, the less one is willing to help others (Study 2A) or the less money one actually donates to a charity (Study 2B). Finally, we tested if different emotion regulation strategies (i.e., deep acting vs. surface acting) would have differential impacts on prosocial intention (Study 3). Additionally, more refined process measures (e.g., sense of control and emotional exhaustion) are tested with serial mediation tests (Study 3).

STUDY 1 DOES FEELING EMOTIONAL DISSONANCE LEAD TO LESS SYMPATHY?

The purpose of Study 1 is to examine the relationship between emotional dissonance and sympathy for others' feeling. As we stated in our theorizing, previous research predicts that those experiencing emotional dissonance would become less sympathetic for others' feelings. We test this hypothesis in this study.

Methods

A total of 201 participants ($M_{age} = 36.06, 41.8\%$ Women) who claimed themselves as service workers were recruited through Amazon's mTurk. We divided the participants into two groups and varied the degree to which one feels emotional dissonance. Thus, the experimental design was a simple factor (Emotional dissonance vs. Control) between-subjects design. Participants' emotional dissonance was manipulated with a writing task. Specifically, we asked half of the participants to vividly recall and write about their own experiences where they had to hide their true feelings because of the guidance imposed by their employer (see Appendix A). This instruction was carefully crafted by combining the definitions of both emotional dissonance and emotional labor proposed by previous literature (Hochschild, 1983). For the other half of the participants, we asked them to write about the place in which they were at the moment (Nikolova et al., 2017; see Appendix A). This group of participants serve as a control group. There were no requirements for or limits on the length or content, but we forced the participants to write at least for one and half minutes to proceed to the next page in the survey by hiding the next button. All participants wrote at their pace, and the average time they spent on this writing task was 2 min and 21 s.

After completing the writing task, all participants were informed that the first study was done. Then, they completed a filler task described as an unrelated second study. Following the filler task, participants answered to a battery of demographic questions into which we ostensibly inserted the six-item 'Sympathy for the Feelings of Others' scale (Lee, 2009, see **Appendix B** for more details). This scale was measured on 7-point Likert scale (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree) and serves as our dependent variable. Any negatively worded items (e.g., I really don't get emotional when I see people crying) were reverse-coded in all of the analyses throughout the paper. Thus, the higher score means that people feel more sympathetic for others' feeling.

Results and Discussion

Independent *t*-test results showed that there is a significant difference in the sympathy for others' feeling scores (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.76$) between the two groups (emotional dissonance vs. control). Participants in the emotional dissonance group reported a lower sympathy score (M = 3.94, SD = 1.30) than those in the control group [M = 4.50, SD = 1.28, t(199) = -3.06, p < 0.01]. This result is consistent with and thus support H1

that people experiencing emotional dissonance would be less likely to feel sympathy for others' feeling. The result of Study 1 provides initial evidence for the notion that emotional dissonance negatively influences sympathy for others' feeling. In the next study, we examine the consequence of this lowered sympathy – prosocial behavior.

STUDY 2A DOES FEELING EMOTIONAL DISSONANCE LEAD TO LOWER WILLINGNESS TO HELP OTHERS?

The objectives of Study 2A are twofold. First, we examine if there exists a hypothesized relationship between emotional dissonance and prosocial behavior. We predict that if participants feel emotional dissonance, they would be less likely to act prosocially. Second, we provide process evidence. We propose that lowered sympathy for others' feeling would mediate the effect of emotional dissonance on prosocial behavior.

Methods

Two hundred and five participants were recruited from Amazon's mTurk ($M_{age} = 38.31$, 52.7% Women). As in Study 1, we randomly assigned participants to two experimental groups (Emotional Dissonance vs. Control). Thus, the design of Study 2A is again a single factor between-subjects design. However, different from Study 1 where only service workers were allowed to participate, we imposed no restrictions on the participants' qualifications in Study 2A for convenience.

Prior to the study, all the participants were informed that they would be participating in several short studies. The first study was introduced as a writing task. We used the same writing task as in Study 1 to manipulate emotional dissonance. We did not, however, hide the next button nor did measure the time spent on the writing task.

Following the writing task, participants proceeded to the next stage framed as an unrelated second study. In this stage, participants were asked to view two fictitious posters of a non-profit organization. Each poster highlights different causes. One poster depicts a group of children in the classroom, soliciting for help on educating children in underdeveloped countries. The other poster portrays people looking over the area seriously damaged by the earthquake, appealing for help on recovering from a disaster. To make them look real, we put the UNICEF logo in the corner of both posters (see **Appendix C**).

Participants were presented with one poster at a time. Along with the poster, we measured an individual's willingness to act pro-socially using the following two questions; 'how much would you be willing to *donate*?' and 'how much would you be willing to *share the poster on social media like Facebook or Instagram*?' (1 = Very unlikely, 7 = Very likely). Given that prosocial behavior includes a broad category of acts such as helping, sharing, donating, cooperating, and/or volunteering (Brief and Motowidlo, 1986; Penner et al., 2005), there are various ways to measure prosocial behavior. We, however, intentionally chose the above two items for reasons. Among many different forms of prosocial acts that maintain or produce the well-being of others, donation (i.e., giving one's monetary resources to benefit others) is considered as a way that often entails the highest monetary cost to the self (Twenge et al., 2007). In contrast, sharing or click 'like' on social media is regarded as a way to help and support others, with minimal monetary, emotional, and temporal cost to the self (see Wang et al., 2017). Therefore, with these two measures, we hope to investigate the effect on emotional dissonance on the full span of prosocial behaviors.

Finally, we collected the same six-item sympathy for others' feeling scale (Lee, 2009) within the demographic questions as we did in Study 1. We predicted that, compared to the control condition, participants in the emotional dissonance condition would exhibit lower sympathy for others' feeling and lower willingness to act pro-socially (i.e., less willing to donate and less willing to share the posters on Social Media).

Results

Participants in the emotional dissonance condition reported lower sympathy for others' feeling (M = 4.59, SD = 1.62) than those in the control condition [M = 4.96, SD = 1.43, t(203) = 1.74,p < 0.05, one-tailed], replicating the results of Study 1. Next, we separately analyzed the willingness to donate and the willingness to share scales, but no significant differences emerged. Thus, we averaged the two items to create a composite 'willingness to help others' measure (r = 0.723). Results showed that, compared to the control condition (M = 4.04, SD = 1.93), participants in the emotional dissonance condition indicated lower willingness to help others [M = 3.53, SD = 2.01, t(203) = 1.81, p < 0.05, onetailed]. The results do not statistically vary when we analyzed the data separately for each poster or using the repeatedmeasures ANOVA. In either case, when participants recalled their experiences of emotional dissonance, they expressed lower willingness to help providing children with better education and recovering the areas damaged by a natural disaster (see Table 1). Taken together, the results are consistent with our prediction and thus support H2.

Finally, a mediation analysis (PROCESS model 4 with 5,000 bootstrapped samples, Hayes, 2018) with emotional dissonance as the independent variable, 'sympathy for others' feeling' as the mediator, and the composite measure of 'the willingness to help others' as the dependent variable yielded significant mediation via 'the sympathy for the feeling of others' (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = -.2174, 90% CI = 0.0101, 0.4464) (See **Figure 1**). This suggests that the negative effect of emotional dissonance on the willingness to help others is mediated by (lowered) sympathy for others' feeling, which provides support for H3.

Discussion

The results of Study 2A provide initial evidence for the notion that people experiencing emotional dissonance are less willing to help others. Specifically, we used two different causes (i.e., providing children with better education and recovery from a natural disaster) and two different ways to help (i.e., donation and sharing on social media) to examine the willingness to help others, and the results did not vary by the causes nor by the types of acts, which together increases the generalizability of our findings. Moreover, in Study 2A, we examined the underlying

TABLE 1 | Sympathy for others' feeling.

	Emotional dissonance	Control	t-value	P-value
Children's education	3.48 (2.07)	3.97 (1.98)	<i>t</i> (203) = -1.71	p < 0.05
Recovery from Natural Disaster	3.59 (2.10)	4.11 (1.98)	t(203) = -1.80	p < 0.05

Higher number means higher sympathy. All p-values were calculated with one-tailed test.



mechanism and found that this emotional dissonance effect is mediated by the lowered sympathy.

It should be, however, noted that the effect sizes reported here are rather weak. We conjecture that this might be due to the fact that we did not impose any restrictions on the qualifications of potential participants. That is, we allowed anyone to participate in our study. Therefore, if a non-service worker was asked to recall their experiences of emotional dissonance, he/she might not be able to vividly recall them, which subsequently may affect our manipulation of emotional dissonance. The data on employment status shows that among 205 participants, only 79% (162/205) were the paid employees (not all of them were service workers), while 14.1% (29/205) and 6.9% (14/205) of the participants were self-employed and not working, respectively. Although we have no data on specific industries in which the participants are working, we posit that the proportion of service workers was lower than 79%, which might contribute to our weak effect sizes. Therefore, hereafter throughout the remaining studies, we collected the data only from the service-workers.

Although the results suggest that emotional laborers (vs. nonemotional laborers) would be less likely to help others, our results in Study 2A are solely based on a self-reported willingness rather than actual behavior. Of course, it is not always required to examine actual behavior in order to generalize the findings on willingness to real behavior because there is a widely accepted notion that attitudes and intention are the precursors of behavior (e.g., Ajzen and Fishbein, 1977). Nevertheless, especially in a prosocial behavior domain, there exists a reason to be more careful in drawing conclusion. Many researchers found that the link between people's willingness to help and their actual helping behavior is weak (Yoon and Kim, 2018). This implies that nonemotional laborers (i.e., participants in the control condition) who expressed greater willingness to help others actually may not help others more than emotional laborers (i.e., participants in the emotional dissonance condition). Then, the observed

between-group difference in the willingness to help others might not be that evident in the real environment, thus practical implications are limited. Therefore, it would be beneficial to examine if the observed emotional dissonance effect can be demonstrated not just in prosocial intentions but also in actual prosocial behavior.

STUDY 2B. DO EMOTIONAL LABORERS ACTUALLY HELP OTHERS LESS?

The purpose of Study 2B is to examine actual prosocial behavior of emotional laborers. For this, we developed a simple experimental paradigm where participants are unexpectedly provided with an opportunity to earn a small amount of money and then determine what percentage of that money they would like to donate to a charity. We employed actual donation behavior because it would be a strong test; the money is real, and the participants have economic incentives not to donate. Therefore, using this experimental paradigm, if we find a difference in the amount of donation by the degree to which one feels emotional dissonance, it would lend more support to our proposition that emotional dissonance negatively affects prosocial behavior.

Methods

To test if our proposed emotional dissonance effect holds in a situation where the real money is involved, we piggybacked our study on another unrelated survey. We covertly asked three sets of questions at three locations of the unrelated survey; the eligibility questions at the beginning, emotional dissonance questions in the middle, and an extra money offer question at the end. We described these questions more in detail below.

First, the eligibility questions consist of two items about employment status and the specific job functions. If respondents are paid-employees and work in the service-related industry, they are the potential subjects qualified for our study. Second, emotional dissonance is measured with the two-item emotional dissonance questions (Kruml and Geddes, 2000, see **Appendix B** for more details). Only the qualified respondents saw and answered to the questions on a 5-point scale (1 = never, 5 = always). Finally, the extra money offer question was presented only to them when they reached the last page of the survey after getting the mTurk completion code for the original unrelated survey. The message was titled as 'Chance for additional \$1!' and asked if respondents want to participate in a 1-min short survey for an extra \$1. It was completely their choice to accept the offer. If one wants to participate, they can continue by clicking the 'yes' button. Otherwise, they can just opt out by clicking the 'no' button.

Once participants have agreed to continue, they were instructed that the purpose of the short survey is to examine how much people would like to donate to a certain non-profit organization. Specifically, they read that they can pledge to donate any percentages of their \$1 bonus payment that will be actually matched by us, and their bonus payment will be determined by deducting their pledged amount from the original \$1. For instance, if a participant decides to donate 40% of the bonus money (i.e., \$.4), a total of \$.8 (after we match the amount) will be donated to the charity, and the participant will be receiving \$.6 (i.e., \$1-\$.4). It was emphasized that they can freely choose any percentages between 0 and 100%. Moreover, they read, not to be compelled to look nice, and it would be completely their choice. On the following page, participants viewed a modified version of the UNICEF poster used in Study 2A that solicits donations for children in the underdeveloped country. Participants then indicated what percentages they would like to donate to the charity and what percentages they would like to keep to themselves, respectively, which should sum to 100%.

Participants were recruited through Amazon's mTurk. Among 1133 mTurkers who accepted the HIT, 301 respondents claimed themselves as the paid-workers in the service industry, thus passed our predetermined criteria. Only these respondents answered to the two-item emotional dissonance questions in the middle of the unrelated survey. Subsequently, it was only to these respondents that the extra money offer question was shown at the end of the unrelated survey. Two hundred forty-four respondents agreed to participate in this extra short survey. Therefore, all of the analyses in Study 2B hereafter are based on these 244 participants ($M_{age} = 31.36, 31.1\%$ Women).

Results

We averaged the two emotional dissonance scales (r = 0.704) to create a composite measure. Then, it was reverse-coded so that the higher score means the higher felt emotional dissonance. To test our hypothesis on the relationship between emotional dissonance and actual donation behavior, we regressed the pledged percentages to donate ($0\% \sim 100\%$) on emotional dissonance. The result of our regression analysis was consistent with H2. Specifically, those who reported experiencing higher emotional dissonance pledged lower percentages to donate [*Standardized b* = -0.189, t(242) = -2.998, p < 0.01]. Thus, H2

was supported again in a setting where actual prosocial behavior is engaged.

Although we clearly understand the problems of dichotomizing a continuous independent variable (Fitzsimons, 2008), given that our regression analysis was significant, for illustrative purpose only, we median-split our independent variable (i.e., emotional dissonance) to run ANOVA. A single-factor between-subjects ANOVA yielded the same result; those experiencing high (vs. low) emotional dissonance actually donated less [$M_{high} = 26.45\%$, $M_{low} = 35.95\%$, F(1,242) = 6.945, p < 0.01].

Discussion

In Study 2B, we replicated the findings of Study 2A that emotional dissonance decreases prosocial behavior. The study design of Study 2B, however, is quite different from Study 2A in several aspects. First, the sample was carefully selected. In contrast to Study 2A where the sample was drawn from the general population, in Study 2B, we drew our sample from the specific group of people that fits our purpose better; paid-employees working in the service-related industry.

Second, different from the previous two studies where we manipulated emotional dissonance, we measured emotional dissonance in Study 2B. In Studies 1 and 2A, we used the recall-based writing task to manipulate emotional dissonance. Despite our efforts to carefully craft the instructions for emotional dissonance manipulation, the ad-hoc data analysis shows that many participants failed to recall and write about their experiences in the work context. Specifically, only 31.2 and 32.7% of participants in the emotional dissonance conditions in Studies 1 and 2A, respectively, described their experienced emotional dissonance in the work place, but the remaining 68.8 and 67.3% described general emotional dissonance experienced in the context of social interaction. Although we believe that it may not debunk our arguments nor change the implications of our findings, we should admit that some constructs (e.g., emotional dissonance) are harder to manipulate than other constructs, and thus manipulation may not be the best way to conduct research on emotional dissonance.

Finally, we used the real money in Study 2B to test our hypothesis. By demonstrating that the results still hold when participants were asked to donate their real money, we showed that our hypothesized effect is very robust. One thing to note here is, the final set of subjects in our Study 2B (n = 244) was those who had higher desire for additional money compared with those who had opted out. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that our sample consists of those the least willing to donate real money. Nevertheless, the result was consistent with our hypothesis; people experiencing higher emotional dissonance pledged to donated 26% less amount of money to the needy.

So far, in three studies, we have demonstrated that those experiencing emotional dissonance are less willing to help the needy, and this effect is mediated by lowered sympathy for others' feeling. Then, can we conclude that emotional laborers help the needy less? What would happen if an emotional laborer does not experience emotional dissonance much? Does he/she still help others less or more? Our theory suggests that only those experiencing emotional dissonance would be less likely to help others. Therefore, if one is engaged in an emotion regulation strategy that does not lead to emotional dissonance (i.e., deep acting), he/she would not exhibit lowered sympathy nor lowered willingness to help others. We test this idea in the next study.

STUDY 3. DIFFERENTIAL EFFECTS OF DIFFERENT EMOTION REGULATION STRATEGIES ON PROSOCIAL BEHAVIOR

The objectives of Study 3 are twofold. First, as we discussed above, we examine if different emotion regulation strategies would have differential effects on prosocial behavior. We expect that the negative effect of emotion regulation on prosocial behavior would be attenuated in those engaged in deep acting. Second, we test additional mediators between emotion regulation and sympathy for others' feeling. Following our theorizing, we examine if different emotion regulation strategies affect one's sense of control and emotional exhaustion differently. By explicitly measuring and testing this theoretically proposed mechanism, we would like to provide with clearer picture of how emotional labor shapes an emotional laborers' prosocial behavior.

Participants

We recruited our participants through Amazon's mTurk. As in Study 2B, we asked two-item eligibility questions at the beginning of the survey, and only those who passed our predetermined qualification (paid-employees working in the service-related industry) participated. We targeted to collect 300 subjects. A total of 2021 mTurkers answered to the eligibility questions until 301 subjects completed our survey ($M_{age} = 36.11, 46.5\%$ Women).

Independent Variables

Although emotional dissonance is a concept very closely related to surface acting, and thus they are often interchangeably used in the emotional labor literature, emotional dissonance is distinct from surface acting in the sense that the former arises as resulting experiences from performing the latter (Van Dijk and Brown, 2006). Given that the purpose of Study 3 is to examine the effects of different emotion regulation strategies (not emotional dissonance) on prosocial behavior, what we have to measure is the degree to which an employee uses a certain emotion regulation strategy not the degree to which an employee perceives emotional discrepancy between the felt and expressed emotions. Therefore, the independent variable in Study 3 (i.e., surface and deep acting) should be different from those in previous studies (i.e., emotional dissonance). For this reason, we moved away from the two-item emotional dissonance scales used in Study 2B to surface and deep acting scales in Study 3. We used five items from Grandey (2003) to measure surface acting (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.91$), and four items from Brotheridge and Lee (2003) and Grandey (2003) to measure deep acting (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$). They were all measured on 5-point scales (1 = Never, 5 = Always, see **Appendix B** for details).

Mediators

Another purpose of Study 3 is to measure additional mediators. According to our theorizing, whether people are engaged in surface or deep acting, their sense of control will be influenced. This perceived control then influences emotional exhaustion, sympathy for others' feeling, and subsequently prosocial intention. Therefore, the potential mediators we could measure include 'sense of control,' 'emotional exhaustion,' and 'sympathy for others' feeling.'

Participants' perceived 'sense of control' was measured with Yoon and Kim's (2018) one item question on a 10-point scale (1 = none at all, little, 10 = a great deal, a lot; see **Appendix B** for details). 'Emotional exhaustion' (Cronbach's α = 0.95) was measured with nine items adopted from Maslach and Jackson's (1981) Burnout scale (1 = Never, 7 = Always). This burnout scales consist of three subscales; emotional exhaustion (nine items), depersonalization (five items), and personal accomplishment (seven items). Although we were not interested in the other two subscales (i.e., depersonalization and personal accomplishment), we just used the whole burnout scale for exploratory purpose². 'Sympathy for others' feeling' (Cronbach's α = 0.83) was measured with the same six items used in Studies 1 and 2A (Lee, 2009) on 7-point Likert scales (1 = Strongly disagree, 7 = Strongly agree).

Dependent Variables

We measured our dependent variables using two scales; prosocial behavior (Caprara et al., 2005) and charitable behavior (Charities Aid Foundation, 2012). The former consists of 16 items (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.95$) that encompass a variety of prosocial behaviors from sensing friends' discomfort ("I immediately sense my friends' discomfort even when it is not directly communicated to me.") to lending money ("I easily lend money or other things."). The latter consists of eight items (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.89$) that also cover various charitable behaviors an individual can do for a non-profit organization. The former was measured on 5-point scales (1 = Never/Almost never true, 5 = Almost always/Almost true) while the latter on 7-point scales (1 = Very unlikely, 7 = Very likely). Each scale was presented to participants with specific instructions (see **Appendix B**).

Procedure

All of our independent variables, mediators, and dependent variables were measured in the reverse order to avoid demand artifact. That is, participants answered to the questions about prosocial and charitable behavior first, then about sympathy for others' feeling, emotional exhaustion, sense of control, and finally about surface and deep acting followed by demographic questions.

Results

Prosocial Behavior

To test our hypothesis, we first ran two simple regressions. When we regressed prosocial behavior on surface acting, surface acting

²Later we analyzed the data including the other two subscales and found that those two subscales are also significant mediators in some model specifications, however, we did not include these measures and would not discuss any further.

was found to be negatively associated with prosocial behavior [*Standardized b* = -0.118 t(299) = -2.057, p < 0.05]. This result is conceptually consistent with the findings of Studies 2A and 2B that emotional dissonance leads to lower willingness to help others. In contrast, when we regressed prosocial behavior on deep acting, the opposite pattern emerged. The result shows that deep acting is positively associated with prosocial behavior [*Standardized b* = 0.401 t(299) = 7.562, p < 0.001]. Taken together, these results show that different emotion regulation strategies (i.e., surface and deep acting) have differential effects on prosocial behavior. Thus, H4 was supported. When we analyzed each item of prosocial behavior separately, the pattern of the results did not vary. Hence, we just report the results with the composite measure hereafter.

Charitable Behavior

We ran the same two regressions with charitable behavior as the dependent variable. When we first regressed charitable behavior on surface acting, different from our prediction and findings of Studies 2A and 2B, no significant associations were found [*Standardized b* = 0.046 t(299) = 0.799, p = 0.425]. We address this unexpected null effect in discussion section below. In contrast, when we regressed charitable behavior on deep acting, deep acting was found to be positively related to charitable behavior [*Standardized b* = 0.390 t(299) = 7.321, p < 0.001]. Taken together, the results again support the idea that different emotion regulation strategies differentially affect prosocial behavior.

Mediational Analyses

To test if the theorized variables serially mediate the effect of emotion regulation strategies on prosocial behavior, we fit the data with model 6 in SPSS PROCESS macro with 5,000 bootstrapped samples (Hayes, 2018). When we ran a mediation analysis with surface acting as the independent variable, 'sense of control,' emotional exhaustion,' and 'sympathy for others' feeling' as the mediators by the order, and the composite measure of 'prosocial behavior' as the dependent variable, the indirect effect of 'surface acting' on 'prosocial behavior' via three mediators was significant (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = -0.0029, 95% CI = -0.0077, -0.0003).

The signs of beta coefficients were also all consistent with our theory. Specifically, 'surface acting' was negatively associated with 'sense of control' [b = -0.363, t(299) = -2.855,p < 0.005]. 'Sense of control' was negatively associated with 'emotional exhaustion' [b = -0.191, t(298) = -5.060, p < 0.001].'Emotional exhaustion' was negatively associated with 'sympathy' [b = -0.152, t(297) = -2.643, p < 0.01]. 'Sympathy' was positively associated with 'prosocial behavior' [b = 0.273,t(296) = 8.886, p < 0.001]. These results suggest that when people are engaged in surface acting, they would perceive lowered sense of control, and experience more emotional exhaustion. Emotionally exhausted employees become less sympathetic toward others and subsequently less willing to behave prosocially. This result again conceptually replicates our main premise that emotional dissonance decreases prosocial behavior via lowered sympathy.

In addition to this big mediational model, two other mediational paths were also significant. Specifically, the indirect effect of surface acting on prosocial behavior via 'sense of control' (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = -0.0367, 95% CI = -0.0741, -0.0067), and via 'emotional exhaustion' and 'sympathy for others' feeling' (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = -0.0387, 95% CI = -0.0732, -0.0102) were significant (see **Figure 2A** – Any solid lines mean significant paths). The former path indicates that surface acting lowered one's sense of control, and this lowered perceived control directly influences prosocial behavior. The latter path implies that surface acting (in addition to sense of control) can directly increases emotional exhaustion, and lowered sympathy, then lower willingness to help others.

When we ran a serial mediational analysis with the same dependent variable and mediators but with deep acting as the independent variable, the indirect effect of 'deep acting' on 'prosocial behavior' via three mediators was again significant (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = 0.0056, 95% CI = 0.0009,0.0127). The direct effect of deep acting on prosocial behavior remains significant [b = 0.324, t(296) = 7.695, p < 0.001].

The signs of beta coefficients were also all consistent with our theory. Specifically, 'deep acting' was positively associated with 'sense of control' [b = 0.381, t(299) = 2.897, p < 0.005]. 'Sense of control' was negatively associated with 'emotional exhaustion' [b = -0.271, t(298) = -6.070, p < 0.001]. 'Emotional exhaustion' was negatively associated with 'sympathy' [b = -0.214, t(297) = -4.380, p < 0.001]. 'Sympathy' was positively associated with 'prosocial behavior' [b = 0.256, t(296) = 9.155, p < 0.001]. These results suggest that when people are engaged in deep acting, they would perceive enhanced sense of control, and be less likely to experience emotional exhaustion. Without emotionally exhausted, employees can be sympathetic toward others and subsequently become more willing to behave pro-socially.

In addition to this big mediational model, one additional mediational path was significant. Specifically, the indirect effect of deep acting on prosocial behavior via 'sense of control' (The Bootstrapped Indirect Effect = -0.0279, 95% CI = 0.0035, 0.0630) was significant (see **Figure 2A**). This significant indirect effect indicates that deep acting enhanced one's sense of control, and this enhanced perceived control directly influences prosocial behavior.

When we ran the same mediational analyses with charitable behavior as the dependent variable, we found very similar results (see **Figure 2B**), which suggest that surface acting and deep acting influence one's sense of control in opposite directions and subsequently prosocial and charitable behavior. In summary, the results of Study 3 provide strong support for H4 and theorized mechanism.

Discussion

The results of Study 3 are consistent with our theorizing as well as the prediction of H4. The effect of different emotion regulation strategies on prosocial behavior is serially mediated by perceived control, emotional exhaustion, and sympathy for others' feeling. When an individual uses surface acting strategy, the pattern is the same as when one feels emotional dissonance; lowered sympathy



and lowered prosocial intention. However, when an individual uses deep acting, the pattern is different from when one feels emotional dissonance; enhanced sympathy and higher prosocial intention. This opposite pattern results from the fact that deep acting does not trigger emotional dissonance, which lends more support for our proposed hypothesis that emotional dissonance is the driver of the effects. In Study 3, two things are noteworthy. First, when we measured the mediators not explicitly hypothesized but believed to mediate the effect of emotional regulation strategies on prosocial behavior, an interesting pattern emerged; the indirect path from surface or deep acting to prosocial behavior via 'sense of control' was significant. It is a very interesting result that could lead to a totally different interpretation and model configuration.



When people feel high (vs. low) perceived control due to deep (vs. surface) acting, they would be more (vs. less) likely to help others because they feel powerful (e.g., Inesi et al., 2011). However, another line of research also suggests that people, when feeling lack of control, could donate and help more in order to enhance self-image or to restore illusory control by helping others (e.g., Fiske et al., 1996). We therefore cannot make predictions in one or the other way. Nevertheless, it is possible that sense of control exerts direct influence on prosocial behavior independent of emotional exhaustion. Further, among three mediators tested in Study 3, sense of control seems to be closer to cognitive process while the other two mediators affective. From this reasoning, we explored a different model shown in Figure 3. This model assumes that the effect of emotion regulation strategies on prosocial behavior is mediated by dual paths (i.e., cognitive and affective). When we estimated the model, some of fit indices did not pass the threshold (GFI = 0.84, AGFI = 0.81, CFI = 0.94, RMSEA = 0.05). Hence, we dropped this model.

Second, when we tested the effect of surface acting on charitable behavior, we found no associations between two variables. This result is not consistent with our findings that surface acting negatively influences prosocial behavior. We have gone extra miles to come up with plausible explanations, but our best conjecture is that participants might be influenced by the instructions. That is, when we asked the questions regarding charitable behavior, we asked our participants to think about a non-profit organization, and answer if they would do various charitable behavior. Therefore, people may think about their favorite organization, and probably answer more positively. But there exists no ancillary data to test this conjecture, thus we leave this issue as it is.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Findings of four studies provide consistent support for the emotional dissonance effect. That is, individuals experiencing emotional dissonance tend to be less sympathetic for others' feeling, and subsequently less willing and likely to help others. This interesting phenomenon appears to hold true across various operationalizations. For instance, the pattern of results remains the same when emotional dissonance was manipulated (Studies 1 and 2A) or measured (Studies 2B and 3), and when the decision was hypothetical (Studies 2A and 3) or real (Study 2B), and when participants were considering children's education or recovery from a disaster (Studies 2A and 2B). Moreover, this effect is found to be dependent on one's emotion regulation strategies (Study 3). When people are engaged in deep (vs. surface) acting, the observed emotional dissonance effect disappeared. Taken together, the proposed emotional dissonance effect seems very robust.

Although we repeatedly replicated our key findings over multiple studies, statistical significance of support for our claim varied across studies. Especially, the results of Study 2A were significant only with a one-tailed test. We therefore conducted meta-analysis to examine (1) if the effect is on average statistically significant and (2) whether the effect sizes across studies are homogeneous. Following the recommendations by Lipsey and Wilson (2001), we tested the first by a Z statistic and the second by a *Q* statistic with df = number of studies compared minus one (see Table 2). Table 2 shows the effect of emotional dissonance on a) sympathy for others' feeling (Studies 1, 2A, and 3) and b) prosocial behavior (Studies 2A, 2B, and 3). Z statistics for both variables indicate that our effects are very robust and statistically significant. Q statistics for both variables are non-significant, which indicates that the null hypothesis of homogeneity cannot be rejected. In summary, the results of meta-analysis suggest that our effects replicated with multiple operationalizations and measures are very robust.

Despite the results of meta-analysis, some may argue that our effects are driven not by the felt emotional dissonance but by different income levels. That is, people are less likely to donate if their income level is low while they are more likely to donate if their income level is high. If the significant results we demonstrated so far were not just spurious correlations (Simon, 1954), it should remain significant when we control for the income. Thus, we tested this possibility for Studies 2A, 2B, and 3. For Study 2A, when we regressed the willingness to help others on both sympathy for others' feeling and participants' income, only sympathy for others' feeling remains significant while income was not. For Study 2B, the unrelated survey did not collect the income data. But we were able to get some data similarly utilized – the p-value of Q

넁

σ

95% CI Lower

35% CI Upper

Ν

SE of the mean

effect size

Weighted mean effect size (based on

dissonance on DVs of

interest

Effect of emotional

Fisher's Zr)

punoq

ponnoq

0.659 (n.s.)

N

0.835

-0.228

-0.061

-3.387

0.043

-0.144

Prosocial Behavior (Studies

ŝ

and

2B,

Å,

0.516 (n.s.)

N

.324

-0.336

-0.126

-4.318

0.053

-0.231

Sympathy for others' feeling

(Studies 1, 2A, and 3)

last month's salary. It was sensitive question and thus not forced to answer. As a result, there were many missing values in the Study 2B's dataset. But when we ran the same regression analysis with only those who answered to the question, the results are basically the same; the salary data was not statistically significant. For Study 3, when we ran the same four regression models in **Figure 2**. While controlling for income, the patterns of the results were the same and income was also significant positive (0.03 < b's < 0.08, all p's < 0.01). Taken together, we think that the alternative explanation of the income level is not viable.

Theoretical Implications

To our best knowledge, the present research is the first attempt to examine the effect of emotional labor from the perspectives of consumers. Our research suggests that there exist many unexplored variables beyond the boundary of organizations. For instance, prosocial behavior that we introduced in this research is the variable that has never been examined along with emotional labor. We, however, proposed and demonstrated the significant linkage between emotional labor and prosocial behavior.

Additionally, we proposed multiple theoretical mediators including 'sense of control.' By showing that perceived control mediates the effect of emotional dissonance on emotional exhaustion, we unveiled one important construct between emotional dissonance and emotional exhaustion.

Despite not without limitations, we not only measured but also manipulate the degree to which emotional dissonance is perceived.

Research on emotional laborer from the perspectives of consumers has just begun. That means there exist numerous research opportunities in this topic. Especially, it would be fruitful to examine some consumer behavior that can be benefited from perceived emotional dissonance. For instance, if emotional dissonance makes people less emotional, it might be beneficial to consumers in a certain environment where consumers may easily fall prey to strong emotions (e.g., impulsive buying, addiction). The burgeoning area of financial decision making is one of the future areas to which this emotional dissonance research can contribute.

Practical Implications

Our research suggests that the negative consequences of emotional labor may extend beyond organizational outcomes like Job retention rate or job satisfaction. Although we examined prosocial behavior as our main dependent variable, it is possible that emotional laborers act in ways more detrimental to the society. For instance, if emotional labor makes people to be less sympathetic toward others, it implies that people become more selfish and opportunistic. When more people become selfish, it is obvious that their behavior would incur societal costs. Additionally, it would be more difficult for government or policy makers to encourage people to join the force to solve many problems that should be solved by the society together (e.g., global warming, find dust problems in Asia). Therefore, policy makers may want to establish regulations guiding the display rules imposed by organizations in the service-sector.

 IABLE 2 | Meta-analysis of Key Effect of Emotional Dissonance in Studies 1–3.

Frontiers in	n Psychology	www.frontiersin.org

Although we are not sure how long the effect of experienced emotional dissonance would last, we found that even briefly reminding of past experiences of emotional labor made people become less sympathetic and less willing to help others. This implies that even after leaving the job, the negative impact of working as a emotional laborer might last for a long time. Therefore, both legislators and policy makers need to think about devising the remedy for this. Guaranteed opportunities for consultation might be one possible solution.

Our findings suggest that deep acting does not lead to lowered prosocial behavior. One quick solution, thus, might be to train employees how to change the way they perceive the situation. Additionally, we found that it is perceive sense of control resulting from emotional dissonance that leads to lowered sympathy and willingness to help others. Thus, if managers could somehow induce this sense of control by various ways, we can expect to reduce the negative consequences of emotional labor.

Companies can improve the situation as well. For instance, increasing number of call centers in South Korea are nowadays allowing customer service workers to end a phone call at their discretion when experiencing verbal abuse (Song, 2017). As many companies in the service sector adopted this policy, it is reported that the well-beings of both companies and employees drastically improved (e.g., number of abusive calls dropped, increased job satisfaction, etc.).

CONCLUSION

Our work reported here is, to our best knowledge, the first academic investigation to examine the effect of emotional labor on prosocial intention and actual behavior. We believe that this paper along with our findings shed light on the area that has been neglected; emotional laborers' behaviors as consumers. As we stated in our introduction, this has significant impact on the

REFERENCES

- Abraham, R. (1998). Emotional dissonance in organizations: a conceptualization of consequences, mediators and moderators. *Leadersh. Organ. Dev. J.* 19, 137–146. doi: 10.1108/01437739810210185
- Ajzen, I., and Fishbein, M. (1977). Attitude-behavior relations: a theoretical analysis and review of empirical research. *Psychol. Bull.* 84, 888–918. doi: 10. 1037/0033-2909.84.5.888
- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 18, 88–115. doi: 10.3109/09638237. 2012.734656
- Babakus, E., Yavas, U., and Ashill, N. J. (2009). The role of customer orientation as a moderator of the job demand-burnout-performance relationship: a surfacelevel trait perspective. *J. Retailing* 85, 480–492. doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2009.07. 001
- Baumeister, R. F., Vohs, K. D., and Tice, D. M. (2007). The strength model of self-control. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 16, 351–355. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2007. 00534.x
- Ben, D. J. (1967). Self-perception: an alternative interpretation of cognitive dissonance phenomena. *Psychol. Rev.* 74, 183-200. doi: 10.1037/h0024835
- Bitner, M. J. (1990). Evaluating service encounters: the effect of physical surroundings and employee responses. J. Market. 54, 69–82. doi: 10.1177/ 002224299005400206

society. Our finding suggests that organizations have to carefully design the display rules so that the negative impact of being involved in emotional labor can be minimized. Very often, the focus of organizations can be on just their customers, but their employees need to be considered together for better outcomes for the society.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of IRB committee at Oklahoma State University with online informed consent from all subjects. The protocol was approved by the IRB committee at Oklahoma State University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-nP developed the basic ideas and concepts. All authors designed and ran the experiments together. All analyses were done by Y-nP under the supervision of JJ. Y-nP drafted the manuscript and HH and JJ revised together.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the research fund of Hanyang University (HY-2018).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2019.00118/full#supplementary-material

- Brief, A. P., and Motowidlo, S. J. (1986). Prosocial organizational behaviors. Acad. Manag. Rev. 11, 710–725. doi: 10.5465/amr.1986. 4283909
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2002). Testing a conservation of resources model of the dynamics of emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 7, 57–67. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.7.1.57
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2003). Development and validation of the emotional labor scale. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 76, 365–379. doi: 10.1348/ 096317903769647229
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2016). Bureau of Labor Statistics. Available at: https://www.bls.gov/home.htm
- Caprara, G. V., Steca, P., Zelli, A., and Capanna, C. (2005). A new scale for measuring adult's prosocialness. *Eur. J. Psychol. Assess.* 21, 77–89. doi: 10.1027/ 1015-5759.21.2.77
- Charities Aid Foundation (2012). World Giving Index 2012: A Global View of Giving Trends. London: Charities Aid Foundation.
- Cho, Y., Rutherford, B. N., and Park, J. (2013). The impact of emotional labor in a retail environment. *J. Bus. Res.* 66, 670–677. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012. 04.001
- Deng, H., Walter, F., Lam, C. K., and Zhao, H. H. (2017). Spillover effects of emotional labor in customer service encounters toward coworker harming: a resource depletion perspective. *Pers. Psychol.* 70, 469–502. doi: 10.1111/peps. 12156

- Diestel, S., and Schmidt, K. (2011). Costs of simultaneous coping with emotional dissonance and self-control demands at work: results from two german samples. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 96, 643–653. doi: 10.1037/a0022134
- Eisenberg, N., and Fabes, R. A. (1990). Empathy: conceptualization, measurement, and relation to prosocial behavior. *Motiv. Emot.* 14, 131–149. doi: 10.1007/ BF00991640
- Eisenberg, N., Fabes, R. A., Miller, P. A., Fultz, J., Shell, R., Mathy, R. M., et al. (1989). Relation of sympathy and personal distress to prosocial behavior: a multimethod study. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 57, 55–66. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.57. 1.55
- Festinger, L. (1957). A Theory of Cognitive Dissonance. Stanford, CA: Stanford University.
- Fiske, S. T., Morling, B., and Stevens, L. E. (1996). Controlling self and others: a theory of anxiety, mental control, and social control. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. B* 22, 115–123. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.03.043
- Fitzsimons, G. J. (2008). Death to dichotomizing. J. Consum. Res. 35, 5-8. doi: 10.1086/589561
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotion regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5, 95–110. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When "the show must go on": surface acting and deep acting determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96.
- Gross, J. J. (1998). The emerging field of emotion regulation: an integrative review. *Rev. Gen. Psychol.* 2, 271–299. doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.2.3.271
- Groth, M., Hennig-Thurau, T., and Walsh, G. (2009). Customer reactions to emotional labor: the roles of employee acting strategies and customer detection accuracy. *Acad. Manag. J.* 52, 958–974. doi: 10.5465/amj.2009.44634116
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hochschild, A. R. (1979). Emotion work, feeling rules, and social structure. Am. J. Soc. 85, 551–575. doi: 10.1086/227049
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Inesi, M. E., Botti, S., Dubois, D., Rucker, D. D., and Galinsky, A. D. (2011). Power and choice: their dynamic interplay in quenching the thirst for personal control. *Psychol. Sci.* 22, 1042–1048. doi: 10.1177/0956797611413936
- Jolliffe, D., and Farrington, D. P. (2006). Development and validation of the basic empathy scale. *J. Adoles.* 29, 589–611. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.08.010
- Karatepe, O. M., and Aleshinloye, K. D. (2009). Emotional dissonance and emotional exhaustion among hotel employees in nigeria. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 28, 349–358. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2008.12.002
- Kruml, S. M., and Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor. Manag. Commun. Q. 14, 8–42. doi: 10.1177/0893318900141002
- Lee, S. A. (2009). Measuring individual differences in trait sympathy: instrument construction and validation. J. Pers. Assess. 91, 568–583. doi: 10.1080/ 00223890903228620
- Lewig, K. A., and Dollard, M. F. (2003). Emotional dissonance, emotional exhaustion and job satisfaction in call center workers. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 12, 366–392. doi: 10.1080/13594320344000200
- Lipsey, M. W., and Wilson, D. B. (2001). *Practical Meta-Analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Maslach, C., and Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *J. Occup. Behav.* 2, 99–113. doi: 10.1002/job.4030020205
- Morris, J. A., and Feldman, D. C. (1996). The dimensions, antecedents, and consequences of emotional labor. Acad. Manag. Rev. 21, 986–1010. doi: 10. 5465/amr.1996.9704071861
- Muraven, M., Rosman, H., and Gagné, M. (2007). Lack of autonomy and selfcontrol: performance contingent rewards lead to greater depletion. *Motiv. Emot.* 31, 322–330. doi: 10.1007/s11031-007-9073-x
- Muraven, M., Tice, D. M., and Baumeister, R. F. (1998). Self-control as limited resource: regulatory depletion patterns. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 774–789. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.3.774
- Nikolova, H., Lamberton, C., and Coleman, N. V. (2017). Stranger danger: when and why consumer dyads behave less ethically than individuals. *J. Consum. Res.* 45, 90–108.

- O'driscoll, M. P., and Beehr, T. A. (2000). Moderating effects of perceived control and need for clarity on the relationship between role stressors and employee affective reactions. *J. Soc. Psychol.* 140, 151–159. doi: 10.1080/00224540009600454
- Penner, L. A., Dovidio, J. F., Piliavin, J. A., and Schroeder, D. A. (2005). Prosocial behavior: multilevel perspectives. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 56, 365–392. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.psych.56.091103.070141
- Pugliesi, K. (1999). The consequences of emotional labor: effects on work stress, job satisfaction, and well-being. *Motiv. Emot.* 23, 125–154. doi: 10.1023/A: 1021329112679
- Rafaeli, A., and Sutton, R. I. (1987). Expression of emotion as part of the work role. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 12, 23–37. doi: 10.5465/amr.1987.4306444
- Schaubroeck, J., and Jones, J. R. (2000). Antecedents of workplace emotional labor dimensions and moderators of their effects on physical symptoms. *J. Organ. Behav.* 21, 163–183. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(200003)21:2<163:: AID-JOB37>3.0.CO;2-L
- Schmeichel, B. J., Vohs, K. D., and Baumeister, R. F. (2003). Intellectual performance and ego depletion: role of the self in logical reasoning and other information processing. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 85, 33–46. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 85.1.33
- Scott, B. A., and Barnes, C. M. (2011). A multilevel field investigation of emotional labor, affect, work withdrawal, and gender. *Acad. Manag. J.* 54, 116–136. doi: 10.5465/amj.2011.59215086
- Simon, H. A. (1954). Spurious correlation: a causal interpretation. J. Am. Stat. Assoc. 49, 467–479.
- Song, A. (2017). Call Center Workers' Right to Hang Up on Unruly Customers. The Korea Bizwire. Available at: http://koreabizwire.com
- Spector, P. E. (1986). Perceived control by employees: a meta-analysis of studies concerning autonomy and participation at work. *Hum. Relat.* 39, 1005–1016. doi: 10.1177/001872678603901104
- The World Bank (2016). The World Bank. Available at: https://www.worldbank. org/
- Thompson, C. A., and Prottas, D. J. (2005). Relationships among organizational family support, job autonomy, perceived control, and employee well-being. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 10, 100–118.
- Twenge, J. M., Baumeister, R. F., DeWall, C. N., Ciarocco, N. J., and Bartels, J. M. (2007). Social exclusion decreases prosocial behavior. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 92, 56–66. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.1.56
- Van Dijk, P. A., and Brown, A. K. (2006). Emotional labour and negative job outcomes: an evaluation of the mediating role of emotional dissonance. J. Manag. Organ. 12, 101–115. doi: 10.1017/S18333672000 04053
- Vohs, K. D., and Heatherton, T. F. (2000). Self-regulatory failure: a resourcedepletion approach. *Psychol. Sci.* 11, 249–254. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280. 00250
- Vohs, K. D., and Schmeichel, B. J. (2003). Self-regulation and the extended now: controlling the self alters the subjective experience of time. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 85, 217–230. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85. 2.217
- Wang, Z. E., Mao, H., Li, Y. J., and Liu, F. (2017). Smile big or not? Effects of smile intensity on perceptions of warmth and competence. J. Consum. Res. 43, 787–805.
- Yoon, S., and Kim, H. C. (2018). Feeling economically stuck: the effect of perceived economic mobility and socioeconomic status on variety seeking. J. Consum. Res. 44, 1141–1156. doi: 10.1093/jcr/ucx091

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Park, Hyun and Jhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Is Deep Acting Prevalent in Socially Responsible Companies? The Effects of CSR Perception on Emotional Labor Strategies

Se Hyung Oh*, Yein Hwang and Hwayoung Kim

School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea

This study examines the relationship between corporate social responsibility (CSR) perception and emotional labor strategies, and the effects of the interaction between CSR perception and moral identification on emotional labor strategies via affective organizational commitment. Our data from 352 frontline employees in the service industry show the main effect of CSR perception on emotional labor strategies. We find that CSR perception is positively (negatively) related to deep acting (surface acting). Affective organizational commitment mediates the relationship between CSR perception and surface acting but not between CSR perception and deep acting. Moral identification moderates the effects of CSR perception on surface acting through affective organizational commitment. This paper reveals that the employees' views on their organization's social responsiveness and morality affect their emotional labor strategies.

Keywords: CSR perception, deep acting, surface acting, moral identification, affective organizational commitment

INTRODUCTION

Service workers often confront emotional challenges. Although employees frequently encounter demanding or even aggressive customers, they need to display the organizationally required emotions irrespective of their inner feelings. Presenting organizationally mandated emotions in this way is called emotional labor (Hochschild, 1983). To meet these emotional display rules and norms, employees usually engage in two types of emotional labor strategies: deep acting and surface acting. Deep acting is regulating the inner feelings to match the required emotional displays, whereas surface acting is superficially displaying the required feelings without modifying one's inner feelings (Hochschild, 1983). Deep acting is considered to be a better emotional display strategy than surface acting since the resulting emotional expressions are perceived as authentic by customers (Grandey, 2003).

In the early studies of emotional labor, scholars have focused on the influence of organizations. In the seminal work of Hochschild (1983), emotional labor is seen as an occupational requirement which is a mean to achieve organizational objectives. In another early influential work by Rafaeli and Sutton (1987), emotional work is described as the behaviors obligated by organizations. Including these two studies, the focus in early works in emotional labor was the effects of organizational practices (e.g., selection, training, performance evaluation, socialization, culture,

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Weon Sang Yoo, Korea University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Young Kyun Chang, Sogang University, South Korea Likuo Sung, Shanghai University of Finance and Economics, China

> *Correspondence: Se Hyung Oh ohsh1@hanyang.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 15 October 2018 Accepted: 31 January 2019 Published: 18 February 2019

Citation:

Oh SH, Hwang Y and Kim H (2019) Is Deep Acting Prevalent in Socially Responsible Companies? The Effects of CSR Perception on Emotional Labor Strategies. Front. Psychol. 10:308. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00308

87

etc.) on service employees (e.g., Rafaeli and Sutton, 1987; Van Maanen and Kunda, 1989; Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). However, since the early works, most emotional labor studies have focused on the effects of individual traits and dyadic relationships (see Pugh et al., 2013; Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). As a result, relatively little has been known about the effects of organizational-level factors on emotional labor (Pugh et al., 2013).

One important way to investigate the effects of organizational factors is to explore employees' perceptions about the organization. Micro organizational behavior researchers have been using this way (e.g., Moorman et al., 1998; DeConinck, 2010; Alfes et al., 2013; Rupp et al., 2018). Although perceptions are different from objective organizational reality, they are more proximal predictors of individual attitudes and behaviors (e.g., Khilji and Wang, 2006; Nishii et al., 2008). Therefore, perceptions about the organization are a key to understand how organizational factors influence employee minds and behaviors.

This study investigates the effects of employees' perceptions about their employer's involvement in corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities, called CSR perception (Rupp et al., 2013), on their emotional labor strategies. Drawing on social identity theory (Tajfel and Turner, 1986), we expect that the positive perceptions and emotions about the employer generated from CSR perception induce strong motivation to engage in genuine rather than superficial emotional labor strategies. Through examining this hypothesis, this study intends to reveal that employees' evaluation of the employer is an important determinant of emotional labor strategies.

Another objective of this study is to show the individual concerns about their employers' morality can be a boundary condition of the effects of CSR perception. Employees' CSR perception reflects the employer's involvement in ethical and philanthropic activities (Maignan and Ferrell, 2000). Therefore, CSR perception would affect employees with high desire to belong to an ethical organization (May et al., 2015) more strongly than those with low desire. Through testing this proposition, we aim to show how employees' moral desires interact with the employers' perceived involvement in morally right activities (CSR) to affect the employees' emotional labor strategies. The results of this study thus will demonstrate the importance of employer's morality and employees' moral desires on frontline service workers' effectiveness and morale.

The current study fills the theoretical gap in both emotional labor and CSR literature. As mentioned, there is a lack of studies about the influence of organizational factors in the emotional labor literature (Pugh et al., 2013). Through investigating frontline service employees' emotional and behavioral reactions to their perceptions about the employer, this study will provide insight toward the better understanding of the organizationlevel influences on employee emotional labor. This study will also contribute to CSR literature. Different from emotional labor research, CSR studies have mainly focused on the macrolevel of analysis (Glavas, 2016) although CSR is a construct bridging macro and micro levels (Lindgreen and Swaen, 2010). Consequently, little has been known about how CSR directly influences employee behaviors (Glavas and Kelley, 2014). Through examining the effects of CSR perceptions on frontline employees, this study expands the current knowledge of mediation mechanism between corporate CSR activities and employee outcomes.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND HYPOTHESES

Corporate social responsibility refers to all company activities demonstrating the inclusion of social and environmental concerns in business operations, and in interactions with stakeholders, also according to the ambition levels of corporate sustainability (van Marrewijk, 2003). CSR has gained significant attention from researchers and practitioners (Aguinis and Glavas, 2012; Gond et al., 2017) because it generates various types of positive organizational outcomes such as corporate credibility in product (Lin et al., 2012), enhanced financial performances (Orlitzky et al., 2003), and positive relationships with customers (Matute-Vallejo et al., 2011). These positive effects are mainly due to enhanced organization's image and attractiveness for external stakeholders (e.g., customers, shareholders, and society) (Minor and Morgan, 2011).

Researchers have also found that CSR activities induce positive outcomes from internal stakeholders. For example, Jones (2010) actually found that volunteering program through which employees perform community service enhances employee organizational citizenship behaviors (OCBs), and in-role performance. Turker (2009) also found that CSR were the significant predictors of employees' organizational commitment. CSR activities for employees such as providing career growth opportunities or family-friendly policies affected the level of employees' organizational commitment (Turker, 2009). Glavas and Piderit (2009) revealed that CSR induced positive employee outcomes such as engagement and creativity. These results confirm Rupp et al. (2006) proposition that CSR activities can trickle down to affect employees' subsequent attitudes and behaviors in a positive way.

Despite the growing number of studies and interests on the effects of CSR activities on incumbent employees, due to the lack of the investigations about the mediational processes (Ng et al., 2018), how the macro-level CSR activities affect employees' attitudes and performances are still vastly unknown (Glavas, 2016; Aguinis and Glavas, 2017). As a way of overcoming this theoretical problem, the concept of CSR perception is getting increasing attention from researchers. CSR perception is "employees' perceptions of the extent to which their employer engages in various CSR activities" (Rupp et al., 2018, p. 560). It reflects how employees make sense of their organizations' CSR activities and help explain the process of the individuallevel consequences of CSR activities (Aguilera et al., 2007). Similar with objective CSR, CSR perception produces various types of positive employee outcomes such as identification (Kim et al., 2010), engagement (Caligiuri et al., 2013), performance (Jones, 2010), and creativity (Hur et al., 2016). Compared with objective CSR activities, CSR perception actually better predicted employee behaviors such as job satisfaction and

turnover intentions (Valentine and Fleischman, 2008; Valentine and Godkin, 2016). It is because perception is a more immediate predictor of the employee attitudes and behaviors than the objective organizational reality (Rupp et al., 2013).

Our first hypothesis deals with the relationship between service employees' CSR perceptions and their emotional labor strategies. Social identity theory maintains that an individual's self-description is significantly influenced by the membership of social groups (Tajfel and Turner, 1986). According to this theory, because of self-enhancement needs, if a group is perceived as having characteristics positively distinguishing it from other groups, members increasingly identify with the group and accept its rules and norms (Tajfel and Turner, 1986; Ashforth and Mael, 1989). More importantly, when individuals strongly identify with a group, they are motivated to engage in behaviors that are beneficial for the group because they tend to identify the group's wellbeing with their own (Tajfel and Turner, 1986).

Deep acting involves the motivation to alter the inner feelings to conform to the organization's rules and norms (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005). This motivation is enhanced when employees like their organization (Mishra et al., 2012), accept its emotional display rules and norms (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005), and identify its success with their own (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). CSR activities enhance an organization's image and attractiveness not only for external stakeholders (e.g., customers, shareholders, society) but also for incumbent employees (Rupp et al., 2006; Brammer et al., 2007; De Roeck et al., 2014). This means that if employees perceive that their employer actively engages in CSR activities, they increasingly identify with it and accept its rules and norms because of the employer's enhanced images and attractiveness. Consequently, employees are motivated to match their inner feelings with the organization's emotional display rules and norms to provide good customer service, enhancing the organization's success. Based on this reasoning, we presume that employees' CSR perceptions about their organizations are positively related to their deep acting.

Different from deep acting, surface acting reflects employees' disengagement from the organizational norms and rules (Ozcelik, 2013). When employees are dissatisfied with their organization, they tend to dissociate themselves from it (Farrell, 1983). This type of employee is typically demotivated and follows organizational rules and norms superficially (Farrell, 1983). However, as mentioned, CSR perception increases employees' satisfaction and identification with their organization. CSR perception also motivates employees to regulate their emotions to follow the organization's emotional display rules and norms. Hence, we predict that employees' CSR perceptions about organizations are *negatively* related to their surface acting.

H1: Employees' CSR perceptions are positively related to their deep acting.

H2: Employees' CSR perceptions are negatively related to their surface acting.

The next set of hypotheses deals with the mechanism of the influence of CSR perception on emotional labor strategies. In this study, we argue that affective organizational commitment is an important mediator between CSR perception and emotional labor strategies. Affective organizational commitment refers to the employee's emotional attachment to, identification with, and involvement in the organization (Mowday et al., 1979). Affective commitment positively affects important employee outcomes such as job satisfaction (Boles et al., 2007), OCB (Ng and Feldman, 2011), and in-role performance (Meyer et al., 2002).

As mentioned, when employees are attracted to and proud of their organization, they are more likely to identify with and affectively committed to it (Ashforth and Mael, 1989; Brammer et al., 2007). This increased affective commitment, in turn, enhances employees' motivation to follow the organization's rules and norms (Mowday et al., 1979). When employees perceive that their organization is socially responsible, they increasingly identify with and affectively commit to it because of the organization's distinctive positive characteristics (Aguilera et al., 2007; Brammer et al., 2007; Glavas and Kelley, 2014). This increased affective commitment would, in turn, intensify employees' motivation to modify their inner feelings to provide good and professional customer service to support the achievements of the organization. In addition, the increased affective commitment due to CSR perception would reduce the inclination to provide superficial and shallow customer service. Hence, our hypotheses are as follows.

H3: The positive relationship between employees' perceptions of their company's CSR activities and their deep acting is mediated by their affective organizational commitment.
H4: The negative relationship between employees' perceptions of their company's CSR activities and their surface acting is mediated by their affective organizational commitment.

Recently, May et al. (2015, p. 682) developed a new construct called moral identification, which is defined as "the perception of oneness or belongingness associated with an organization that exhibits ethical traits (e.g., care, kindness, compassion), which also involves a deliberate concern of the membership with an ethical organization." This construct reflects employees' judgment about their organization's morality as well as their desire to be part of an ethical organization. Employees with high moral identification tend to avoid unethical behaviors and have low turnover intentions when they believe that their organization is ethical (May et al., 2015).

In this study, we argue that moral identification moderates the relationship between CSR perception and affective organizational commitment. People with high moral identification care about the morality of their organizations and have a strong desire to be part of ethical organizations (May et al., 2015). Given that CSR activities are thought to be the ethical behaviors of companies (Carroll, 1991; Joyner and Payne, 2002), employees with high moral identification would show more positive attitudinal reactions to the CSR activities of their organizations. Empirical evidence shows that people with high moral concerns are more likely to react positively to organization activities focusing on helping external and internal stakeholders. For example, Rupp et al. (2013) found that a positive relationship between CSR perceptions and OCB

was more pronounced among employees with high (vs. low) moral concerns (Rupp et al., 2013). Kolodinsky et al. (2010) also found that business students who have strong ethics of caring others showed more favorable attitude about CSR. Additionally, Wang et al. (2017) found that employees' moral concerns amplified the positive effects of CSR perception on organizational identification. Consequently, we hypothesize that moral identification moderates the positive relationship between CSR perceptions and affective organizational commitment. More specifically, the influence of employees' CSR perceptions on their affective organizational commitment would be stronger (weaker) when employees have high (low) moral identification.

H5: The positive effects CSR perception on affective organizational commitment is moderated by moral identification such that the effect is stronger (weaker) when moral identification is strong (weak).

Thus far, we have hypothesized that (a) the relationship between CSR perception and emotional labor strategies is mediated by affective organizational commitment and that (b) the relationship between CSR perception and affective organizational commitment is moderated by moral identification. These hypotheses collectively suggest a moderated mediation model. As suggested, when employees perceive their organizations are socially responsible, they have enhanced affective organizational commitment, leading to increased deep acting and decreased surface acting. This indirect relationship will be stronger (vs. weaker) when the employees have strong (vs. weak) moral identification, given that CSR activities are thought to be the ethical behaviors of companies (Carroll, 1991; Joyner and Payne, 2002). Figure 1 depicts our research model. Our model predicts the first stage moderation mediation model where moral identification moderates the indirect effect of CSR perception on emotional labor strategies via affective organizational commitment.

H6: The positive indirect effect of CSR perception on deep acting via affective organizational commitment is moderated by moral identification such that the indirect effect is stronger (weaker) when moral identification is high (low).

H7: The negative indirect effect of CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment is moderated by moral identification such that the indirect effect is stronger (weaker) when moral identification is high (low).

METHODS

To test our hypotheses, we collected data from 352 service workers through an online research company that has more than one million panels. All respondents were frontline workers working as full-time regular employees in the organizations mostly in service (hotel, tourism, airline, etc.) (51%) and retail (department store, mall, etc.) (40%) industries. Rest of the respondents worked in hospitals, insurance companies, and transportation companies. Respondents' average age was 37.8 years (SD = 9.8; min = 20; max = 72) and average tenure was 73.7

months (SD = 67.7; min = 1; max = 362). The average education level was between 2-year college and 4-year college. Over half (52%) of the respondents were women.

Measures

We used a seven-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) throughout the questionnaire. The questionnaires were originally constructed in English but were translated into Korean. We used a translation and back-translation procedure (Brislin, 1980) to ensure the accuracy of the translation.

Corporate Social Responsibility Perception

Corporate social responsibility perception was measured with the five-item scale developed by Maignan and Ferrell (2000). A sample item is "Flexible company policies enable employees to better coordinate work and personal life." The Cronbach's alpha is 0.86.

Affective Organizational Commitment

Affective organizational commitment was measured with Meyer et al. (1993) six-item scale. However, exploratory factor analysis revealed that three items of the scale were double-loaded with CSR perception and these were excluded. The three remaining items used to measure affective organizational commitment are "I do not feel a strong sense of 'belonging' to my organization" (reverse coded), "I do not feel 'emotionally attached' to this organization" (reverse coded), and "I do not feel like 'part of the family' at my organization" (reverse coded). The Cronbach's alpha is 0.94.

Deep Acting and Surface Acting

Deep acting and surface acting were measured by using the sixitem scale developed by Brotheridge and Grandey (2002). Three items measured deep acting and the other three items measured surface acting. A sample item of deep acting is "when doing your job, how often do you try to actually experience the emotions you must show to customers?" The Cronbach's alpha of deep acting is 0.86. A sample item of surface acting is "when doing your job, how often do you fake a good mood when interacting with customers?" The Cronbach's alpha of surface acting is 0.81.

Moral Identification

Moral identification was measured by the five-item scale developed by May et al. (2015). This scale first requests respondents to imagine a person who is caring, compassionate, fair, friendly, generous, helpful, hardworking, honest, and kind. Then, it asks five questions based on the image of this person, such as "I strongly desire to be a member of an organization whose members have these characteristics." The Cronbach's alpha is 0.86.

Data Analysis

In order to test Hypothesis 1 through 5, we conducted a series of regression analysis. The mediation hypotheses (Hypotheses 3 and 4) were examined by the methods suggested by Sobel (1982) and Baron and Kenny (1986). Finally, the moderated



mediation hypotheses (Hypotheses 6 and 7) were tested through the bias-corrected bootstrapping techniques with 5,000 bootstrap samples using the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2013). This bootstrap technique involves the computation of the 95% bias-corrected bootstrap confidence intervals and it tests for a non-zero weight of the moderator in the indirect effect process. If the 95% bias-corrected confidence interval does not include zero, the moderation mediation is present.

RESULTS

Preliminary Analyses

Table 1 presents the descriptive statistics, reliabilities, and correlations. CSR perception has a positive correlation with affective organizational commitment and moral identification. Affective organizational commitment and surface acting are negatively correlated.

We conducted a series of confirmatory factor analyses to verify the plausibility of our hypothesized factor structure. The proposed five-factor model demonstrated an acceptable fit to the data (χ^2 = 458.89, df = 142, *p* < 0.001, CFI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.08, TLI = 0.90, SRMR = 0.08). Furthermore, the five-factor model provided a significantly better fit than the other models, namely the four-factor model that combined CSR perception and moral identification into a single factor ($\chi^2 = 1264.57$, df = 146, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.69, RMSEA = 0.15, TLI = 0.73, SRMR = 0.09), the three-factor model that combined CSR perception, moral identification, and affective organizational commitment into a single factor (χ^2 = 1725.66, df = 149, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.556, RMSEA = 0.18, TLI = 0.49, SRMR = 0.14), the two-factor model that merged CSR perception, moral identification, affective organizational commitment, and surface acting into a single factor (χ^2 = 2260.89, df = 151, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.41, RMSEA = 0.208, TLI = 0.37, SRMR = 0.17), and the onefactor model that merged all five variables into a single factor $(\chi^2 = 2581.2, df = 152, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.32, RMSEA = 0.22,$ TLI = 0.23, SRMR = 0.19). These results confirm the validity of our suggested factor structure.

When all data are self-reported and collected through the same questionnaire during the same period of time, common method variance is of specific concern. To assess the potential impact of common method variance, we conducted Harman's single-factor test using the un-rotated principal component analysis and principal component analysis with varimax rotation was conducted. One-factor model of the un-rotated principal component analysis explained only 27.1% of total variance. The result of principal component analysis with varimax rotation showed that the first five eigenvalues were greater than 1.15. The five factors accounted for 73.5% of the total variance; however, no one single factor accounted for more than 25% of the variance, and the highest variance explained by any single factor was 17.6%, suggesting that the common method bias was mitigated.

Hypothesis Testing

Table 2 reports the results of a series of regression analyses to test Hypotheses 1 to 5. In our analyses, we included age, sex, education, tenure, and company size. Sex affects individual differences in detecting emotional cues and managing own emotions (Domagalski, 1999). Age is influential on emotion control abilities (Kruml and Geddes, 2000) and tenure affects the experience of emotional dissonance (Hochschild, 1983; Kruml and Geddes, 2000). Education-level was found to affect emotional experience (Hamid and Cheng, 1996). Company size is influential on customers attitudes toward the company and its employees (Jarvenpaa et al., 1999), potentially affecting the frontline workers' customer experience. All independent and control variables were mean-centered prior to entering the regression analyses.

Hypothesis 1 proposed that CSR perception is positively related to deep acting. As shown in model 1, after accounting for the effects of the control variables, we found that CSR perception significantly and positively affects deep acting ($\beta = 0.136$, p < 0.01), supporting Hypothesis 1. Hypothesis 2 predicted the

negative influence of CSR perception on surface acting. Model 4 shows that CSR perception significantly and negatively affects surface acting ($\beta = -0.106$, p < 0.05), supporting Hypothesis 2. Hypotheses 3 and 4 predicted the mediating effects of affective organizational commitment between CSR perception and the two emotional labor strategies, deep acting (H3) and surface acting (H4). To test these hypotheses, we conducted a series of regression analyses suggested by Baron and Kenny (1986). As shown in model 1, the direct effect of CSR perception on deep acting is significant. Model 7 shows that CSR perception has a significant positive effect on the mediator variable, affective organizational commitment ($\beta = 0.301$, p < 0.01). However, as shown in model 2, the effect of the mediator variable, affective organizational commitment, on deep acting is not significant $(\beta = 0.004, p = n.s.)$. In fact, compared with model 1, the effect of CSR perception on deep acting does not reduce even though affective organizational commitment is included in model 3.

Therefore, Hypothesis 3 is not supported. Hypothesis 4 suggests the mediating effect of affective organizational commitment between CSR perception and surface acting. As seen in model 4, CSR perception has a significant negative effect on surface acting ($\beta = -0.106$, p < 0.05). Model 7 shows the CSR perception has a significant effect on affective organizational commitment ($\beta = 0.301$, p < 0.01). Model 5 shows that the mediator variable, affective organizational commitment, has a significant negative effect on surface acting ($\beta = -0.161$, p < 0.05). Finally, compared with model 4, the significant negative effect of CSR perception becomes insignificant when affective organizational commitment is added into model 6 $(\beta = -0.061, p = n.s.)$, demonstrating the full mediating effect of affective organizational commitment. The result of the Sobel test (Z = -2.95, p < 0.01) confirms that CSR perception has an indirect effect on surface acting via affective organizational commitment. Therefore, Hypothesis 4 is supported. Hypothesis

	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Age	37.81	9.76										
2. Sex	1.52	0.50	-0.154**									
3. Education	3.36	0.89	-0.143**	-0.232**								
4. Tenure	73.67	67.67	0.488**	-0.149**	-0.054							
5. Company size	4.88	1.64	-0.043	-0.050	-0.003	0.160**						
6. CSR perception	4.21	1.26	0.019	0.010	0.010	0.144**	0.285**	(0.860)				
7. Affective organizational commitment	3.98	1.42	0.032	0.046	-0.030	0.126*	-0.022	0.248**	(0.865)			
8. Surface acting	4.92	1.11	-0.127*	0.073	0.041	-0.064	0.098*	-0.078	-0.204**	(0.807)		
9. Deep acting	4.45	1.01	-0.017	-0.063	0.056	-0.044	0.113*	0.179**	-0.006	0.446**	(0.861)	
10. Moral identification	4.85	0.96	0.136**	-0.056	-0.014	0.157**	0.126*	0.412**	0.211**	0.016	0.229**	(0.862

N = 352. Numbers in parentheses on the diagonal are Cronbach's alphas of the measures used in the study. * $p \le 0.05$, ** $p \le 0.01$.

TABLE 2 | Regression test results.

	Dependent variables									
	Deep acting			Surface acting			Affective organizational commitmen			
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6	Model 7	Model 8	Model 9	
Step 1. Control variables										
Age	0.045	0.042	0.045	-0.132*	-0.131	-0.133*	-0.008	-0.030	-0.042	
Sex	-0.115	-0.101	-0.112	0.174	0.187	0.191	0.120	0.135	0.111	
Education	0.048	0.053	0.047	0.058	0.051	0.054	-0.031	-0.029	-0.043	
Tenure	-0.058	-0.047	-0.056	0.026	0.031	0.035	-0.060	0.058	0.056	
Company size	0.046	0.075*	0.044	0.086*	0.059	0.072	-0.090	-0.091	-0.094	
Step 2. Independent variables										
CSR perception	0.136**		0.144**	-0.106*		-0.061	0.301**	0.241**	0.239**	
Affective organizational commitment		0.004	-0.027		-0.161**	-0.148*				
Moral identification								0.196*	0.215*	
Step 3. Interaction										
CSR perception \times moral identification									0.135*	
R^2	0.049*	0.023	0.051*	0.044*	0.073**	0.077*	0.078**	0.092**	0.109*	
ΔR^2			0.028*			0.004			0.017*	

N = 352. *p < 0.05 **p < 0.01.



5 is about the moderating effect of moral identification on the relationship between CSR perception and affective organizational commitment. Models 7, 8, 9 show the sequence of hierarchical regression analysis. In model 9, the interaction effect between CSR perception and moral identification on affective organizational commitment is significant ($\beta = 0.135$, p < 0.05). **Figure 2** shows the patterns of interaction effects. Compared with employees with low moral identification, those with high moral identification showed a more positive relationship between CSR perception and affective organizational commitment. Therefore, Hypothesis 5 is supported.

Hypotheses 6 and 7 suggest that the indirect effects of CSR perception on the two emotional labor strategies (deep acting and surface acting) through affective organizational commitment are moderated by moral identification. We tested the moderated mediation model suggested in Hypotheses 6 and 7 by using the PROCESS macro (Hayes, 2013). Tables 3A,B summarize the results of the two moderated mediation tests. The 95% bias-corrected confidence intervals for the bootstrapped indirect effects at the two levels of the moderator, moral identification, were generated to test the significance of the conditional indirect effects. Table 3A shows the results of the test for Hypothesis 6. When moral identification is both high (+1 SD) and low (-1 SD), The 95% bias-corrected confidence intervals for the bootstrapped indirect effects from CSR perception to deep acting contain zero, indicating that moral identification does not moderate the indirect effect (see Table 3A). Therefore, Hypothesis 6 is rejected. Table 3B shows the results of the test for Hypothesis 7. When moral identification is low (-1 SD), the negative indirect effect of CSR perception is insignificant (b = -0.02, boot SE = 0.02, $CI_{95\%} = [-0.05, 0.02]$). However, when moral identification is high (+1 SD), the negative indirect effect of CSR perception is significant (b = -0.05, boot SE = 0.03, CI_{95%} = [-0.11, -0.02]), showing that the significance of the indirect effects of CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment depends on the values of moral identification.

In order to probe the tested effect further, we used the Johnson-Neyman technique (Preacher et al., 2007; Hayes and Matthes, 2009). As seen in **Figure 3**, when moral identification is greater than 4.2, the negative indirect effect different from zero. This means that the negative effects of CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment are significant and amplified by moral identification when moral identification is greater than 4.2. Since the indirect effects of CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment are moderated by moral identification and the moderating effect occurs in the predicted direction, Hypothesis 7 is supported.

DISCUSSION

The purpose of this study was to examine whether employees' perceptions about the employer's involvement in CSR activities affect their emotional labor strategies. Another purpose was to explore the mechanism and a potential moderator of the suggested relationship. Our results show that CSR perception significantly affects employees' emotional labor strategies. We found that CSR perception is positively associated with deep acting and negatively associated with surface acting. It seems that employees' evaluation of their employer's responsiveness to social matters and needs does affect their choice of emotional labor strategies. The perceived positive distinctiveness of the employer (CSR activities) seems to motivate employees to provide professional customer services with genuine emotional displays while reducing their inclination to serve customers superficially.

We also found that CSR perception significantly influences affective organizational commitment. Our data revealed that CSR perception has a significant positive impact on affective organizational commitment. It appears that employees have an increased sense of emotional attachment to the employer when they perceive that it is socially reputable. However, this increased affective organizational commitment accounts for the TABLE 3A | Conditional indirect effects of CSR perception on deep acting at values of moral identification.

Path	Moderator	Indirect effects	Boot SE	Boot LLCI	Boot ULC
Dependent variable: Deep acting					
Simple path for low moral identification (-1 SD)	-0.96	0	0.01	-0.02	0.01
Simple path for high moral identification (+1 SD)	0.96	-0.01	0.02	-0.05	0.02
95% bias-corrected confidence interval.					
TABLE 3B Conditional indirect effects of CSR perce	otion on deep acting at	values of moral identification.			
Dath	Madavatav	Indive at offerste	Deat SE	Past II Cl	Beatlu

Path	Moderator	Indirect effects	Boot SE	Boot LLCI	Boot ULCI
Dependent variable: Surface acting					
Simple path for low moral identification (-1 SD)	-0.96	-0.02	0.02	-0.05	0.02
Simple path for high moral identification $(+1 \text{ SD})$	0.96	-0.05	0.03	-0.11	-0.02

95% bias-corrected confidence interval.

mechanism between CSR perception and surface acting only. Our results showed that affective organizational commitment fully mediates the relationship between CSR perception and surface acting. However, affective organizational commitment does not mediate the relationship between CSR perception and deep acting. Employees working for companies actively engaging in CSR activities enjoy the socio-emotional benefits from customers and society due to the company's enhanced images and reputations (Minor and Morgan, 2011; Lii and Lee, 2012; Hur et al., 2014). This extrinsic rewards might account

for the positive relationship between CSR perception and deep acting. Further investigation of the mediating mechanism of the CSR perception-deep acting relationship is worthwhile.

We found that moral identification moderates the positive effects of CSR perception on service employees' organizational attitudes and emotional labor strategies. The positive effects of CSR perception on affective organizational commitment were stronger (weaker) when employees had a strong (weak) desire to be part of an ethical organization. Furthermore, moral identification moderated the indirect negative effect of



CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment. Our data showed that the negative indirect effect of CSR perception on surface acting through affective organizational commitment is stronger (weaker) when employees have strong (weak) moral identification. It appears that employees who have a strong desire to be a member of an ethical organization tend to react to employer's CSR activities more positively, resulting in a weaker tendency to provide superficial customer service.

Theoretical Implications

This study offers several contributions to current emotional labor literature. First, it reveals a novel determinant of emotional labor strategies, CSR perception. Given that emotional labor is identity-challenging experiences (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993), perceptions about an employer, which affects employees' identity significantly (Hogg and Terry, 2000), should generate various types of emotional and behavioral consequences from service employees. This study provides one example. Our data show that how employees see the employers' responsiveness to social needs (CSR perception) indeed had significant positive effects on deep acting and negative effect on surface acting. Similar with other studies about the effects of the perceptions about the employer (Duke et al., 2009; Janssen et al., 2010; Kraemer and Gouthier, 2014; Hur et al., 2016), enhanced organizational attitudes seem to account for the mediating mechanism. Future studies need to investigate more specific mediating mechanism between CSR perception and emotional labor strategies. For example, given that emotional labor has three components [emotion requirements (e.g., emotion display rules), emotion regulation (e.g., modifying feelings), and emotion performance (e.g., observable emotional expressions congruent with requirements)] (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015), how CSR perception affect each component of emotional labor is worthwhile to explore. Also how employee identity interacts with the three component of emotional labor is another important and interesting research topic.

This study provides implication on organizational moralityemotional labor relationship. CSR is an ethical organizational behavior in nature (Carroll, 1991). Therefore, the results of the current study imply that morality of the employer influences employee's mindset and behaviors when they serve customers. Previous emotional labor researchers have found that the degree of organizational efforts on service ethics are positively associated with service employee emotional performances (e.g., appropriate emotional expression) (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). For example, Dietz et al. (2004) found that service workers provided enhanced customers services when excellent service is an important theme in an organization. Lam et al. (2010) also found that the service climate has a positive impact on positive emotional display and buffers negative influences from supervisors. Additionally, Pugh et al. (2013) pointed out that the organization-level utilization of human resource management (e.g., recruitment, training, performance monitoring, etc.) stressing customer service quality should have positive influences on employees' emotional labor practices. This line of research is about the positive relationship between an

organization's efforts on service ethics and employees' emotional performances. However, the current study suggests that not only the organization's work- or service-related ethics but its ethics in general (e.g., responsibility about external and internal stakeholders in general) can generate important emotional labor consequences. Although there are emotional labor studies about the effects of ethics-related organizational factors such as organizational justice (Moliner et al., 2005) and perceived organizational support (Duke et al., 2009; Hur et al., 2013), we could not find any study explicitly focusing on the organizational morality and employee emotional labor. Given that individual and organizational morality is one of the major factors of employee identity, decision making and behaviors (Trevino et al., 2006), organizational morality is more likely to affect employee emotional performance. Our data provide initial evidence. Future researchers need to investigate more about the organizational morality-emotional labor relationship.

Finally, the current study provides implications on the conservation of resources (COR; Hobfoll, 1989) theory-based emotional labor studies. COR theory, originally introduced as a motivation theory, claims that "individuals strive to obtain, retain, protect, and foster those things that they value" (Hobfoll, 2011, p. 341). COR theory is one of the main theoretical frameworks in explaining the processes and consequences of emotional labor (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). It suggests that involuntary emotional regulation to match the organization's emotional requirements consumes psychological resources, resulting in emotional exhaustion (Brotheridge and Lee, 2002). It also suggests that gains in motivational resources such as task significance and social support can help service workers to prevent resource losses and enable them to cope with stresses from service works (Grandey and Diamond, 2010). There are many emotional labor studies based on COR theory (e.g., Chau et al., 2009; Grandey and Diamond, 2010; Goodwin et al., 2011; Bhave and Glomb, 2016) and most evidence fit well with the theory. The current study provides novel insight on this resource-based perspective. The results of this study imply that CSR perception can be a source of motivational resources that service workers consume when they interact with customers. Although we could not find any studies framing perceptions about employer as a source of resources, we noticed that there are several studies resonating with this idea. For example, Duke et al. (2009) demonstrated that perceived organizational support can provide a psychological buffer from the frustration and dissatisfaction experienced from service works in retail stores. Gouthier and Rhein (2011) showed that frontline employees' pride about organization affects their motivation to commit to customer service positively. Kraemer and Gouthier (2014) also revealed that service workers' organizational pride alleviate the emotional exhaustion and turnover intention. This line of research suggests that positive perceptions about the employer such as CSR perception provide psychological and motivational resources to cope with negative experiences from service works. Whether CSR perception actually works as other resources (e.g., helping employees to tolerate stresses and emotional exhaustion) is a worthwhile topic to investigate for future researchers.

Managerial Implications

This study provides clear practical implications. First, it is important for service organizations to become socially responsible. Our results show that when employees see that their organizations have high responsibility on social matters and needs, their organizational attitudes become positive and their emotional performance toward customers is enhanced. CSR activities have long been considered to be only as a tool for public relations (Middlemiss, 2003; Kim and Park, 2011). However, practitioners should also consider them to be an instrument to enhance employee morale and organizational performance.

Second, management needs to understand the individual differences in the reaction to CSR activities. Indeed, CSR activities can generate both positive and negative impacts on the employees' morale (McShane and Cunningham, 2012). Based on our results, we can speculate that individual differences such as moral identification could be one of the reasons. Therefore, for example, recruiting employees for CSR activities based on their individual differences in values and personalities should increase the positive consequences of CSR activities.

Finally, managers need to be concerned about employees' emotional attachment to the organization. Our results suggest that employees' affective organizational commitment, which rises with their CSR perceptions, plays an important role in service workers' attitudes and emotional performance. Given that affective organizational commitment is the direct precursor of emotional labor strategies, a manager who wants to enhance employees' emotional performance should care about their emotional attachment to the organization.

Limitations and Future Research

The current study is not without limitations. First, our results are based on cross-sectional data. Although cross-sectional data are still widely used in emotional labor studies (e.g., Molino et al., 2016; Indregard et al., 2018a,b), using time-lagged data would increase the persuasiveness of the suggested causal relationships in this study. Future research would thus benefit from using time-lagged data to analyze the dynamics of employees' CSR perceptions on their organizational attitudes and behaviors. Second, our data depend on self-reports. We used self-report data because all our variables deal with employees' feelings, which are difficult for others to measure correctly. Although Harman's single factor results showed that our data do not have a common method variance problem (Podsakoff et al.,

REFERENCES

- Aguilera, R. V., Rupp, D. E., Williams, C. A., and Ganapathi, J. (2007). Putting the S back in corporate social responsibility: a multilevel theory of social change in organization. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 32, 836–863. doi: 10.5465/amr.2007.2527 5678
- Aguinis, H., and Glavas, A. (2012). What we know and don't know about corporate social responsibility: a review and research agenda. J. Manag. 38, 932–968. doi: 10.1177/0149206311436079
- Aguinis, H., and Glavas, A. (2017). On corporate social responsibility, sensemaking, and the search for meaningfulness through work. J. Manag. doi: 10.1177/0149206317691575

2012), future studies can confirm our results by conducting a study collecting data from multi sources (e.g., customers, coworkers, etc.). Third, our data were collected only from Korean subjects. Since cultural orientation affects employees' attitudes and behaviors in organizational settings (Hofstede and Hofstede, 2005), our collectivistic Koreans data may show different patterns from individualistic Westerner data. Further research using data from subjects with different cultural orientation is thus required to confirm the external validity of our results.

CONCLUSION

This study examines the influence of employees' CSR perceptions on their emotional labor strategies. Our results demonstrate that CSR perception encourages deep acting and discourages surface acting. Affective organizational commitment explains why CSR perception discourages the inclination to provide superficial customer services. Finally, employees' desire to be a member of an ethical organization amplifies or diminishes the effect of CSR perception on surface acting via affective organizational commitment. This study suggests that management should be concerned about employees' perceptions of an emotional attachment to the organization in order to enhance their emotional performance to customers.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Hanyang University Institutional Review Board with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Hanyang University Institutional Review Board.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SO conceived the original idea, developed the theoretical models, and took the lead in writing the manuscript. YH helped developing theories and wrote theories for Hypotheses 1, 2, 3. HK carried out data analyses, interpreted the results, and wrote the "Materials and Methods" and "Results" section. SO, YH, and HK, all three of them, significantly contributed to manuscript.

- Alfes, K., Shantz, A. D., Truss, C., and Soane, E. C. (2013). The link between perceived human resource management practices, engagement and employee behavior: a moderated mediation model. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 24, 330–351. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2012.679950
- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 18, 88–115. doi: 10.2307/258824
- Ashforth, B. E., and Mael, F. (1989). Social identity theory and the organization. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 14, 20–39. doi: 10.2307/258189
- Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 51, 1173–1182. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51. 6.1173

- Bhave, D. P., and Glomb, T. M. (2016). The role of occupational emotional labor requirements on the surface acting-job satisfaction relationship. J. Manag. 42, 722–741. doi: 10.1177/0149206313498900
- Boles, J., Madupalli, R., Rutherford, B., and Wood, J. A. (2007). The relationship of facets of salesperson job satisfaction with affective organizational commitment. *J. Bus. Ind. Mark.* 22, 311–321. doi: 10.1108/0885862071077 3440
- Brammer, S., Millington, A., and Rayton, B. (2007). The contribution of corporate social responsibility to organizational commitment. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 18, 1701–1719. doi: 10.1080/09585190701570866
- Brislin, R. W. (1980). "Translation and content analysis of oral and written materials," in *Handbook of Cross-Cultural Psychology. Social Psychology*, ed. H. C. Triandis (Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon), 349–444.
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: comparing two perspectives of "people work". J. Vocat. Behav. 60, 17–39. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2002). Testing a conservation of resources model of the dynamics of emotional labor. J. Occup. Health. Psychol. 7, 57–67. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.7.1.57
- Caligiuri, P., Mencin, A., and Jiang, K. (2013). Win-win-win: the influence of company-sponsored volunteerism programs on employees, NGOs, and business units. *Pers. Psychol.* 66, 825–860. doi: 10.1111/peps.12019
- Carroll, A. B. (1991). The pyramid of corporate social responsibility: toward the moral management of organizational stakeholders. *Bus. Horiz.* 34, 39–48. doi: 10.1016/0007-6813(91)90005-g
- Chau, S. L., Dahling, J. J., Levy, P. E., and Diefendorff, J. M. (2009). A predictive study of emotional labor and turnover. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 1151–1163. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.7.1.57
- De Roeck, K., Marique, G., Stinglhamber, F., and Swaen, V. (2014). Understanding employees' responses to corporate social responsibility: mediating roles of overall justice and organisational identification. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 25, 91–112. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2013.781528
- DeConinck, J. B. (2010). The effect of organizational justice, perceived organizational support, and perceived supervisor support on marketing employees' level of trust. J. Bus. Res. 63, 1349–1355. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2010. 01.003
- Dietz, J., Pugh, S. D., and Wiley, J. W. (2004). Service climate effects on customer attitudes: an examination of boundary conditions. *Acad. Manag. J.* 47, 81–92. doi: 10.5465/20159561
- Domagalski, T. A. (1999). Emotion in organizations: main currents. *Hum. Relat.* 52, 833–852. doi: 10.1177/001872679905200607
- Duke, A. B., Goodman, J. M., Treadway, D. C., and Breland, J. W. (2009). Perceived organizational support as a moderator of emotional labor/outcomes relationships. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 39, 1013–1034. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2009. 00470.x
- Farrell, D. (1983). Exit, voice, loyalty, and neglect as responses to job dissatisfaction: a multidimensional scaling study. Acad. Manag. J. 26, 596–607. doi: 10.5465/ 255909
- Glavas, A. (2016). Corporate social responsibility and organizational psychology: an integrative review. *Front. Psychol.* 7:144. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00144
- Glavas, A., and Kelley, K. (2014). The effects of perceived corporate social responsibility on employee attitudes. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 24, 165–202. doi: 10.5840/ beq20143206
- Glavas, A., and Piderit, S. K. (2009). How does doing good matter? Effects of corporate citizenship on employee. J. Corp. Citizsh. 36, 51–70. doi: 10.9774/ GLEAF.4700.2009.wi.00007
- Gond, J. P., El Akremi, A., Swaen, V., and Babu, N. (2017). The psychological microfoundations of corporate social responsibility: a person-centric systematic review. J. Organ. Behav. 38, 225–246. doi: 10.1002/job.2170
- Goodwin, R. E., Groth, M., and Frenkel, S. J. (2011). Relationships between emotional labor, job performance, and turnover. J. Vocat. Behav. 79, 538–548. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.001
- Gosserand, R. H., and Diefendorff, J. M. (2005). Emotional display rules and emotional labor: the moderating role of commitment. J. Appl. Psychol. 90, 1256–1264. doi: 10.1037/e518632013-185
- Gouthier, M. H., and Rhein, M. (2011). Organizational pride and its positive effects on employee behavior. J. Serv. Manag. 22, 633–649. doi: 10.1108/ 09564231111174988

- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When "the show must go on": surface acting and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96. doi: 10.5465/30040678
- Grandey, A. A., and Diamond, J. A. (2010). Interactions with the public: bridging job design and emotional labor perspectives. J. Organ. Behav. 31, 338–350. doi: 10.1002/job.637
- Grandey, A. A., and Gabriel, A. S. (2015). Emotional labor at a crossroads: where do we go from here? Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 2, 323–349. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111400
- Hamid, P. N., and Cheng, S. T. (1996). The development and validation of an index of emotional disposition and mood state: the chinese affect scale. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 56, 995–1014. doi: 10.1177/0013164496056006006
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hayes, A. F., and Matthes, J. (2009). Computational procedures for probing interactions in OLS and logistic regression: SPSS and SAS implementations. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 924–936. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.3.924
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: a new attempt at conceptualizing stress. Am. Psychol. 44, 513–524. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.44.3.513
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2011). Conservation of resource caravans and engaged settings. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 84, 116–122. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.2010.02016.x
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Hofstede, G., and Hofstede, G. J. (2005). *Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Hogg, M. A., and Terry, D. J. (2000). Social identity and self-categorization processes in organizational contexts. Acad. Manag. Rev. 25, 121–140. doi: 10.5465/amr.2000.2791606
- Hur, W. M., Kim, H., and Woo, J. (2014). How CSR leads to corporate brand equity: mediating mechanisms of corporate brand credibility and reputation. J. Bus. Ethics 125, 75–86. doi: 10.1007/s10551-013-1910-0
- Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., and Jun, J. K. (2013). The role of perceived organizational support on emotional labor in the airline industry. J. Int. Contemp. Hosp. Manag. 25, 105–123. doi: 10.1108/09596111311290246
- Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., and Ko, S. H. (2016). How employees' perceptions of CSR increase employee creativity: mediating mechanisms of compassion at work and intrinsic motivation. *J. Bus. Ethics* 153, 629–644. doi: 10.1007/s10551-016-3321-5
- Indregard, A. M. R., Nielsen, M., and Knardahl, S. (2018a). Emotional dissonance, mental health complaints, and sickness absence among healthand social workers. The moderating role of self-efficacy. *Front. Psychol.* 9:592. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00592
- Indregard, A. M. R., Ulleberg, P., Knardahl, S., and Nielsen, M. B. (2018b). Emotional dissonance and sickness absence among employees working with customers and clients: a moderated mediation model via exhaustion and human resource primacy. *Front. Psychol.* 9:436. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00436
- Janssen, O., Lam, C. K., and Huang, X. (2010). Emotional exhaustion and job performance: the moderating roles of distributive justice and positive affect. *J. Organ. Behav.* 31, 787–809. doi: 10.1002/job.614
- Jarvenpaa, S. L., Tractinsky, N., and Saarinen, L. (1999). Consumer trust in an internet store: a cross-cultural validation. J. Comput. Mediat. Commun. 5, 526–538. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.1999.tb00337.x
- Jones, D. A. (2010). Does serving the community also serve the company? Using organizational identification and social exchange theories to understand employee responses to a volunteerism programme. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 83, 857–878. doi: 10.1348/096317909X477495
- Joyner, B. E., and Payne, D. (2002). Evolution and implementation: a study of values, business ethics and corporate social responsibility. J. Bus. Ethics 41, 297-311. doi: 10.1023/A:1021237420663
- Khilji, S. E., and Wang, X. (2006). Intended" and "Implemented" HRM: the missing linchpin in strategic human resource management research. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 17, 1171–1189. doi: 10.1080/09585190600756384
- Kim, H.-R., Lee, M., Lee, H.-T., and Kim, N.-M. (2010). Corporate social responsibility and employee—company identification. J. Bus. Ethics 95, 557– 569. doi: 10.1007/s10551-010-0440-2
- Kim, S. Y., and Park, H. (2011). Corporate social responsibility as an organizational attractiveness for prospective public relations practitioners. J. Bus. Ethics 103, 639–653. doi: 10.1007/s10551-011-0886-x

- Kolodinsky, R. W., Madden, T. M., Zisk, D. S., and Henkel, E. T. (2010). Attitudes about corporate social responsibility: business student predictors. J. Bus. Ethics 91, 167–181. doi: 10.1007/s10551-009-0075-3
- Kraemer, T., and Gouthier, M. (2014). How organizational pride and emotional exhaustion explain turnover intentions in call centers: a multi-group analysis with gender and organizational tenure. *J. Serv. Manag.* 25, 125–148. doi: 10.1108/josm-07-2013-0173
- Kruml, S. M., and Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor: the heart of hochschild's work. *Manag. Commun. Q.* 14, 8–49. doi: 10.1177/ 0893318900141002
- Lam, C. K., Huang, X., and Janssen, O. (2010). Contextualizing emotional exhaustion and positive emotional display: the signaling effects of supervisors' emotional exhaustion and service climate. J. Appl. Psychol. 95, 368–376. doi: 10.1037/a0017869
- Lii, Y. S., and Lee, M. (2012). Doing right leads to doing well: when the type of CSR and reputation interact to affect consumer evaluations of the firm. *J. Bus. Ethics* 105, 69–81. doi: 10.1007/s10551-011-0948-0
- Lin, C. P., Tsai, Y. H., Joe, S. W., and Chiu, C. K. (2012). Modeling the relationship among perceived corporate citizenship, firms' attractiveness, and career success expectation. *J. Bus. Ethics* 105, 83–93. doi: 10.1108/hrmid.2012.04420ca a.009
- Lindgreen, A., and Swaen, V. (2010). Corporate social responsibility. *Int. J. Manag. Rev.* 12, 1–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2370.2009.00277.x
- Maignan, I., and Ferrell, O. C. (2000). Measuring corporate citizenship in two countries: the case of the United States and France. J Bus Ethics 23, 283–297. doi: 10.1023/a:1006262325211
- Matute-Vallejo, J., Bravo, R., and Pina, J. M. (2011). The influence of corporate social responsibility and price fairness on customer behavior: evidence from the financial sector. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* 18, 317–331. doi: 10.1002/csr.247
- May, D. R., Chang, Y. K., and Shao, R. (2015). Does ethical membership matter? Moral identification and its organizational implications. J. Appl. Psychol. 100, 681–694. doi: 10.1037/a0038344
- McShane, L., and Cunningham, P. (2012). To thine own self be true? Employees' judgments of the authenticity of their organization's corporate social responsibility program. *J. Bus. Ethics* 108, 81–100. doi: 10.1007/s10551-011-1064-x
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., and Smith, C. A. (1993). Commitment to organizations and occupations: extension and test of a three-component conceptualization. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 78, 538–551. doi: 10.1037//0021-9010.78.4.538
- Meyer, J. P., Stanley, D. J., Herscovitch, L., and Topolnytsky, L. (2002). Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: a meta-analysis of antecedents, correlates, and consequences. J. Vocat. Behav. 61, 20–52. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1842
- Middlemiss, N. (2003). Authentic not cosmetic: CSR as brand enhancement. J. Brand Manag. 10, 353–361. doi: 10.1057/palgrave.bm.2540130
- Minor, D., and Morgan, J. (2011). CSR as reputation insurance: primum non nocere. *Calif. Manag. Rev.* 53, 40–59. doi: 10.1525/cmr.2011. 53.3.40
- Mishra, S. K., Bhatnagar, D., D'Cruz, P., and Noronha, E. (2012). Linkage between perceived external prestige and emotional labor: mediation effect of organizational identification among pharmaceutical representatives in India. *J. Wor. Bus.* 47, 204–212. doi: 10.1016/j.jwb.2011.04.007
- Moliner, C., Martínez-Tur, V., Peiró, J. M., Ramos, J., and Cropanzano, R. (2005). Relationships between organizational justice and burnout at the work-unit level. *Int. J. Stress. Manag.* 12, 99. doi: 10.1037/1072-5245.12.2.99
- Molino, M., Emanuel, F., Zito, M., Ghislieri, C., Colombo, L., and Cortese, C. G. (2016). Inbound call centers and emotional dissonance in the job demandsresources model. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1133. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01133
- Moorman, R. H., Blakely, G. L., and Niehoff, B. P. (1998). Does perceived organizational support mediate the relationship between procedural justice and organizational citizenship behavior? *Acad. Manage. J.* 41, 351–357. doi: 10.5465/256913
- Mowday, R. T., Steers, R. M., and Porter, L. W. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. J. Vocat. Behav. 14, 224–247. doi: 10.1016/0001-8791(79)90072-1
- Ng, T. W., and Feldman, D. C. (2011). Affective organizational commitment and citizenship behavior: linear and non-linear moderating effects of organizational tenure. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 79, 528–537. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011.03.006

- Ng, T. W., Yam, K. C., and Aguinis, H. (2018). Employee perceptions of corporate social responsibility: effects on pride, embeddedness, and turnover. *Pers. Psychol.* 72, 107–137. doi: 10.1111/peps.12294
- Nishii, L. H., Lepak, D. P., and Schneider, B. (2008). Employee attributions of the "Why" of HR Practices: their effects on employee attributes and behaviors, and customer satisfaction. *Pers. Psychol.* 61, 503–545. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570. 2008.00121.x
- Orlitzky, M., Schmidt, F. L., and Rynes, S. L. (2003). Corporate social and financial performance: a meta-analysis. Organ. Stud. 24, 403–441. doi: 10.1002/csr.1480
- Ozcelik, H. (2013). An empirical analysis of surface acting in intra-organizational relationships. J. Organ. Behav. 34, 291–309. doi: 10.1002/job.1798
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 63, 539–569. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452
- Preacher, K. J., Rucker, D. D., and Hayes, A. F. (2007). Addressing moderated mediation hypotheses: theory, methods, and prescriptions. *Multiv. Behav. Res.* 42, 185–227. doi: 10.1080/00273170701341316
- Pugh, S. D., Diefendorff, J. M., and Moran, C. M. (2013). Emotional Labor: Organization-Level Influences, Strategies, and Outcomes. Routledge: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Rafaeli, A., and Sutton, R. I. (1987). Expression of emotion as part of the work role. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 12, 23–37. doi: 10.2307/257991
- Rupp, D. E., Ganapathi, J., Aguilera, R. V., and Williams, C. A. (2006). Employee reactions to corporate social responsibility: an organizational justice framework. J. Organ. Behav. 27, 537–543. doi: 10.1002/job.380
- Rupp, D. E., Shao, R., Skarlicki, D. P., Paddock, E. L., Kim, T. Y., and Nadisic, T. (2018). Corporate social responsibility and employee engagement: the moderating role of CSR-specific relative autonomy and individualism. J. Organ. Behav. 39, 559–579. doi: 10.1002/job.2282
- Rupp, D. E., Shao, R., Thornton, M. A., and Skarlicki, D. P. (2013). Applicants' and employees' reactions to corporate social responsibility: the moderating effects of first-party justice perceptions and moral identity. *Pers. Psychol.* 66, 895–933. doi: 10.1111/peps.12030
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. Sociol. Methodol. 13, 290–312. doi: 10.2307/270723
- Tajfel, H., and Turner, J. (1986). "The social identity theory of intergroup behavior," in *Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, eds S. Worchel and W. G. Austin (Chicago: Nelson-Hall), 7–24.
- Trevino, L. K., Weaver, G. R., and Reynolds, S. J. (2006). Behavioral ethics in organizations: a review. J. Manag. 32, 951–990. doi: 10.1177/0149206306294258
- Turker, D. (2009). How corporate social responsibility influences organizational commitment. J. Bus. Ethics 89, 189–204. doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9993-8
- Valentine, S., and Fleischman, G. (2008). Ethics programs, perceived corporate social responsibility and job satisfaction. J. Bus. Ethics 77, 159–172. doi: 10.1007/ s10551-006-9306-z
- Valentine, S., and Godkin, L. (2016). Ethics policies, perceived social responsibility, and positive work attitude. *Ir. J. Manag.* 35, 114–128. doi: 10.1515/ijm-2016-0013
- Van Maanen, J., and Kunda, G. (1989). "Real feelings: emotional expression and organizational culture," in *Research in Organizational Behavior*, eds B. M. Staw and L. L. Cummings (Greenwich, CT: JAI Press), 43–103.
- van Marrewijk, M. (2003). Concepts and definitions of CSR and corporate sustainability: between agency and communion. J. Bus. Ethics 44, 95–105. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4126-3_32
- Wang, W., Fu, Y., Qiu, H., Moore, J. H., and Wang, Z. (2017). Corporate social responsibility and employee outcomes: a moderated mediation model of organizational identification and moral identity. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1906. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01906

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Oh, Hwang and Kim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Relationship Bonds and Service Provider's Emotional Labor: Moderating Effects of Collectivism

Myoung-Soung Lee, Sang-Lin Han*, Suji Hong and Hyowon Hyun

School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea

Since service providers directly conduct emotional labor to customers, it is important to identify the factors influencing emotional labor of service providers. Even though the studies identifying the predisposing factors influencing emotional labor are taking place, there is no empirical evidence confirming how relationship bonds, which have been established between corporations and service providers, are related to emotional labor. This study examined the influences of relationship bonds on emotional labor through person-organization fit (P-O fit) and the moderating effects of collectivism between P-O fit and emotional labor. Analysis was conducted by performing questionnaire surveys targeting 350 employees in the financial industry. As a result of the analysis, it has been found that financial bonds, social bonds, and structural bonds enhanced P-O fit and P-O fit improved deep acting. In addition, this study identified that collectivism of service providers strengthened the influence of P-O fit toward deep acting. This study not only suggested the empirical evidence identifying the process of relationship bonds influencing emotional labor but also expanded the scope of study by examining moderating roles of collectivism in cultural psychology aspect.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ki-Joon Back, University of Houston, United States

Reviewed by:

Juan M. Madera, University of Houston, United States Gilbert Ernest Franco, Beacon College, United States

> *Correspondence: Sang-Lin Han slhan@hanyang.ac.kr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 14 September 2018 Accepted: 06 February 2019 Published: 26 February 2019

Citation:

Lee M-S, Han S-L, Hong S and Hyun H (2019) Relationship Bonds and Service Provider's Emotional Labor: Moderating Effects of Collectivism. Front. Psychol. 10:370. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00370 Keywords: relationship bonds, emotional labor, person-organization fit, collectivism, service provider

INTRODUCTION

Emotional labor is a service provider's effort to present emotions in a way that is desired by the organization (Meier et al., 2006) and a form of emotion control which creates a publicly visible facial and bodily display in the workplace (Hochschild, 1983). Therefore, service providers engaged in emotional labor try to induce customers' positive responses with the display of appropriate emotions such as smile by controlling personal emotion (Wang, 2014). Such emotional labor is closely related with service providers as it happens mainly during the interaction between customers and service providers on behalf of an organization (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993).

Many of the preceding studies on emotional labor focused on customer response to the emotional labor (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006; Groth et al., 2009), or the influence of emotional labor on the employee's job outcomes (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993; Van Dijk and Brown, 2006). Not a few researchers confirmed that service provider's display of positive emotion enhances customer evaluation about service quality (Pugh, 2001), increases reuse intentions (Wang, 2009), and leads to positive word-of-mouth (Wang, 2014). From the perspective of corporations, emotional labor of the service provider leads to positive results. From the service provider's viewpoint, however, it can cause negative outcomes such as an increase of job stress and sick leave and high turn-over rate (Hatzinikolakis and Crossman, 2010).

Affective delivery means the delivery of emotion to the customer by service provider (Christoforou and Ashforth, 2015). Affective delivery is associated with emotional exhaustion

(Trougakos et al., 2008). Emotional labor requires more emotional resources than affective delivery and causes a higher level of emotional exhaustion (Smith et al., 2009). If corporations neglect emotional labor and job stress of service providers, they are exposed to a bigger risk of emotional exhaustion which can lead to higher turnover and lower commitment to the organization (Huang and Dai, 2010). In that sense, it is important for firms to understand the factors influencing emotional labor of service providers but there have been only few studies regarding the antecedent factors of emotional labor. Furthermore, previous studies have been conducted with regard to the factors influencing emotional labor based on the factors related to job and individual characteristics (Hur et al., 2014). Job autonomy (Diefendorff and Gosserand, 2003), emotional requirement (Grandey, 2003), time pressure (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993) have been identified as the leading factors related to job influencing emotional labor. Some important issues with regard to individual characteristics, the effects of emotional intelligence (Delpechitre and Beeler, 2018), chronological age and work experience (Hur et al., 2014), demographic factor (Schaubroeck and Jones, 2000) of service providers have been identified. Even though scope of study on emotional labor is being expanded, researches on predisposing factors of emotional labor are very limited.

One of the factors influencing service provider's emotional labor is related to the organization which they belong to. As their perception about the organization influences the emotional labor (Yoo and Arnold, 2016), businesses need to make an effort to have a positive relationship with the service providers working for them. Studies on relationship marketing suggest relationship bonds as strategy for a corporation to build a relationship with customers which proved crucial for better relationship performance (Dash et al., 2009). Most of the existing research on relationship bond focused on strategies to build ties between corporations and customers, or between corporations, and studies from the perspective of employees has not been adequate. Accordingly, this study aims to identify the influences of the relationship bond on the emotional labor of service providers.

Relationship between a corporation and service providers positively influences the service provider's affective commitment and normative commitment to the corporations (Wang, 2014), which in turn enhances person-organization fit. Conversely, this person-organization fit can influence the emotional labor of the service providers. When individuals perceive organizational characteristics or values consistent with their own, they tend to show positive emotions and attitude toward the organization but when they perceive the opposite, they are more likely to be negative in their emotions and attitude due to conflicting values (Cable and Judge, 1996; Lauver and Kristof-Brown, 2001). As value conflicts between individuals and organization tend to require more emotional resources, poor person-organization fit affects negatively emotional labor. On the other hand, cultural propensity of an individual is another factor influencing emotional labor. Employees with collectivistic tendencies are more likely to be cooperative as they put more emphasis on the relationship with the group than on personal needs (Ozdemir and Hewett, 2010). This indicates that service providers with higher collectivist tendencies are more actively engaged in emotional labor to achieve corporate goals. Therefore, collectivism can moderate the influence of person-organization fit (P-O fit) on emotional labor.

This study aims to examine the influences of relationship bonds on emotional labor through person-organization fit: The influence of the three elements of relationship bond (financial bonds, social bonds, and structural bonds) on P-O fit of service providers, the influence of P-O fit of service providers on their emotional labor, and moderating effects of collectivism between P-O fit and emotional labor.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND AND RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

Emotional Labor

Emotional labor, using employees' emotions to enhance goals of firms (Grandey and Melloy, 2017), is the effort to expose the emotions actually felt by employees as the emotions wanted by customers after regulating and managing them (Grandey, 2000; Molino et al., 2016). Corporations set employees' emotions and the expression modes toward customers and employees moderate their own emotions by conforming to emotional display rules (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). Such an emotional labor has a lot to do with service providers who interact with customers instead of corporations (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993). Since service providers not only perform work while interacting with customers but also become a part of outcomes of expressing emotions, moderating one's emotions is direct and essential. Thus, emotional labor of service providers is higher than that of other office workers or physical laborers (Hochschild, 1983; Grandey and Melloy, 2017).

Previous studies divided emotional labor strategies into surface acting and deep acting (Grandey, 2000; Yoo and Arnold, 2016). Surface acting is expressing emotions after matching them with emotional display rules required by corporations (van Gelderen et al., 2017) and deep acting is matching individual's emotions with emotional display rules required by corporations (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006). In other words, with regard to surface acting, emotions are suppressed and expressed deceivingly in order to conduct emotional display rules (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993) and with regard to deep acting, emotions to be expressed to customers are internalized and efforts are made to actually feel them (Yoo and Arnold, 2016). Since service providers must express emotions according to emotional display rules, they have to follow the rules after choosing either surface acting or deep acting (Hochschild, 1983). Therefore, corporations should induce service providers to do deep acting. If service providers do express the emotions required by corporations but feel different emotions, they are stressed from emotional discord. On the other hand, if service providers feel the emotions which must be expressed to customers, emotional discord is removed and positive psychological result is brought about (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). In that sense, the factors influencing emotional labor of service providers must be identified.

Relationship Bonds

Relationship bonds refers to corporations more effectively reaching stakeholders and forming long-term and continuous relationships (Copulsky and Wolf, 1990; Wu and Lin, 2014). Through such relationship bonds, stakeholders make a commitment to the relationships with corporations since they can get continuous outcomes (Wang, 2014).

Previous studies divided the relationship bonds into financial bonds, social bonds, and structural bonds based on characteristics of relationship bonds, customization, and degree of relationship sustainability (Berry, 1995; Kim and Kim, 2018). Financial bonds refer to providing financial benefits through the most fundamental relationship formation strategy (Berry, 1995) and some examples are corporations providing incentives to customers and striving to form relationships through discounts (Hsieh et al., 2005). Similarly, relationships can be formed with stakeholders other than customers through financial dependence. Financial incentives such as salary become financial bonds to service providers (Wang, 2014) and degree of financial bonds is decided based on level of salary.

Social bond is based on establishing close ties among stakeholders through social interaction or friendship (Liang and Wang, 2005) and they can acquire psychological gains through it (Gwinner et al., 1998). Moreover, establishing relationship through interaction creates emotional engagement among stakeholders and makes no replacing relationship by another target (Lee et al., 2015). Service providers establish and progress relationships through the interaction with other colleagues (Gremler and Gwinner, 2000). Also, interaction among service providers provides psychological benefits by forming intimacy and trust (Rodríguez and Wilson, 2002). Service providers who have established positive social relations become emotionally immersed in that corporation and have the will to belong to it continuously (Wang, 2014). Therefore, from the standpoint of service providers, social bond is the corporate effort to establish social relations.

Structural bond refers to create the value stakeholders need (Wang, 2014). This means providing unique and customized values which cannot be obtained from others and these customized values are generated when the right to make decisions is given to stakeholders (Bolton et al., 2003). Giving the right to stakeholders to make decisions by themselves – the arrangement of the opportunities to receive the services tailored to the needs of stakeholders – can create the values of customization (Nath and Mukherjee, 2012). In the standpoint of service providers, structural bond refers to corporate efforts such as the introduction of policies and programs to design customized jobs. The right to make decisions regarding jobs such as business hours and business schedule by service providers is receiving customized values tailored to the needs of service providers from the corporation (Wang, 2014).

Relationship Bonds and P-O Fit

Individuals' attitude or behavior may change within organization based on whether there is a high similarity between individuals and organization or the degree of individual's value and organization's values coinciding with each other (Meglino and Ravlin, 1998). P-O fit, a part of person-environment fit, may be defined as the degree of compatibility between individuals and organization (Kristof, 1996). This is determined through how similar organization's values and objectives are with individuals or how far organization can support individual's values and objectives (Downes et al., 2017). When individual's values and organization's values are judged to be similar to each other, individual thinks that he/she is a part of organization (Saks and Ashforth, 1997), perceives organization's goal as his/her goal and, pursues it with the strong sense of unity with organization (Cable and DeRue, 2002). On the contrary, when P-O fit is low, individual experiences psychological discomfort due to the discrepancy between the two different values and shows negative emotion and attitude (Lauver and Kristof-Brown, 2001). For this reason, previous studies identified P-O fit as the predisposing factor influencing job attitude of employees. P-O fit improves job satisfaction and organizational commitment by having positive influence on engagement of employees (Biswas and Bhatnagar, 2013) and lowers turnover intention (Liu et al., 2010). In particular, P-O fit not only lowers emotional exhaustion of service provider but also makes positive influence on occupational behavior of service provider (Yoo et al., 2014). Thus, it is important to understand some underlying factors which influence P-O fit of current employees.

Financial incentives not only motivate individuals but also become an element of values (Miao and Evans, 2007). Individuals interact with organization to obtain financial values. Individuals accomplish the goal organization wants and organization satisfies individuals' financial needs. Through this continuous interaction process, individuals match their values and goals with organization (Abdalla et al., 2018). If individuals do not receive financial compensation which is proper to their performance in interaction with organization, individuals are likely to show negative response after feeling that it is unequal (Newman and Sheikh, 2012). On the other hand, individuals who have received plenty of financial values through interaction with organization feel guilty about the behaviors going against the interests of organization (Wang, 2014). This is the powerful evidence which shows that the values of service providers and the values of firm coincide with each other owing to financial values.

H1. Financial bonds will increase the P-O fit of service providers.

Powerful social interaction is helpful for work performance through relationship network between individuals or enables approaching essential information (Biong and Ulvnes, 2011). Furthermore, one can make joint interpretation with regard to certain phenomenon or situation by sharing and understanding one another's vision, goal, and meaning to a high level (Tsai and Ghoshal, 1998). When this is expanded, the values of organization and the values of individuals coincide with each other through interaction between individuals. Service providers can make specific contribution through values and jobs of organization by sharing information through communication with colleagues. As examined so far, the socialization process within organization plays an important role in forming values of service providers so that they match corporate values (Kilroy et al., 2017).

H2. Social bonds will increase the P-O fit of service providers.

Structural bonds, providing customized organization system to resolve occupational problems of service providers, improves the relationship between corporation and service providers. Designing corporate system so that it enables flexible business schedule setting have service providers be immersed in corporation by providing customized values which are difficult to get from other corporation (Wang, 2014). Furthermore, structural bond plays the role of the sign of delivering corporate values and goals to service providers. High autonomy with regard to job is perceived as the message that corporation is convinced of individuals' capabilities (Saragih, 2011). Thus, participation in corporate objective development increases and ownership and sharing of corporate values increase (Kilroy et al., 2017). Eventually, corporation can enhance P-O fit by providing the parts necessary in job to service providers and sharing similar characteristics through structural bonds (Kristof, 1996).

H3. Structural bonds will increase the P-O fit of service providers.

P-O Fit and Emotional Labor

Previous studies identified that P-O fit not only had positive influence on individuals' attitude and performance with regard to job (Downes et al., 2017; Abdalla et al., 2018) but also reduced negative factors such as burnout (Kilroy et al., 2017). Other emotional labor strategies are used in customer service context based on the degree of service providers perceiving P-O fit. When service providers perceive that their own values coincide with corporate values, they enthusiastically immerse themselves into job (Kim et al., 2013). In other words, since service providers take conducting emotional labor to accomplish corporate goals as one's own role, service providers consciously try to revise their own emotions and internalize the emotions required by corporation. Thus, service providers earnestly express emotions through deep acting. On the contrary, service providers who experienced discord with organization undergo less positive or even negative emotions (Lauver and Kristof-Brown, 2001; Gabriel et al., 2014). Since service providers do not perceive their own values and corporate values as separate things, service providers are not motivated by the role corporations demands from them. Therefore, service providers can make positive expressions by suppressing or deceiving their emotions but do not revise emotions or make the effort to internalize display rules (Kilroy et al., 2017). Based on what has been examined so far, the following hypotheses have been set.

- H4. P-O fit will reduce the surface acting of service providers.
- H5. P-O fit will increase the deep acting of service providers.

Moderating Effect of Collectivism

The studies on collectivism either examine the difference of value between countries with different cultures (Takano and Osaka, 1999) or are taking place on the aspect of exploring

different tendencies of individuals (Arpaci et al., 2018). The purpose of this study is not comparing nations with different cultural values but examining how individual tendencies have varying influence on occupational aspects. Thus, this study aims to explore the effect of collectivism in terms of personal aspect. Collectivism has the characteristic of binding individuals through strict social framework and dividing them into in-group and out-group. Individuals display high loyalty toward in-group and expects that in-group will look after them (Hofstede, 1980). Service providers with strong collectivism put greater emphasis on relational aspect than their needs and make responses which are cooperative toward organization after perceiving relational behaviors as important (Ozdemir and Hewett, 2010). Thus, if service providers cannot match their objectives to organizational goals (Triandis and Gelfand, 1998) and cannot abide by the norms between organization and themselves, service providers come to have greater will to accomplish the goal desired by organization since they feel guilty (Li and Dant, 1997). Since individuals with collective values have interest toward harmonizing with organization (Mulki et al., 2015), they can match their own values with organization's values faster and stronger. Service corporation aims to satisfy customers by delivering intangible services and emotional display rules of service providers are performed at this time. If service providers have a high collectivism value, they strive to more actively internalize emotional display rules required by corporation since individual values and corporate values are matched stronger. Thus, surface acting will be weakened and deep acting will be strengthened.

- H6. As the collectivism of service provider increases, the effect of P-O fit reducing surface acting will be strengthened.
- H7. As the collectivism of service provider increases, the effect of P-O fit increasing deep acting will be strengthened. Based on the research hypotheses, we developed the final research model which is shown in the **Figure 1**.

METHODOLOGY AND MODEL TESTING

Participants and Procedure

This study collected data from 350 employees working in the financial industry in South Korea through online questionnaire survey panel and analyzed them. The employees are the leading service providers performing emotional labor while frequently coming into contact with customers. The corresponding panel has a lot of participants who agreed to take part in the study. The authors requested survey participants to choose their own occupation among several job categories and those who were not service providers were excluded in the survey. Then, respondents were asked about the industry they belong to and the survey was conducted for those who chose the financial industry.

The gender of the respondents was comprised of 195 men (55.7%) and 155 women (44.3%). When it came to age bracket, those in their 30s was the highest with 120 employees (34.3%) and it was followed by those in their 40s (109 employees, 31.1%), those in their 20s (80 employees, 22.9%), and those



in their 50s (41 employees, 11.7%). When it came to work period, less than 3 years were 103 employees (29.5%), 3 years and longer and less than 6 years were 84 employees (24.0%), 6 years and longer and less than 9 years were 47 employees (13.4%), 9 years and longer and less than 12 years were 47 employees (13.4%), and 12 years and longer were 69 employees (19.7%). When it came to position, 178 respondents were staff (50.9%), 70 respondents were administrative managers (20.0%), 75 respondents were section chiefs (21.4%), and 27 respondents were general managers (7.7%).

Measures

Relationship bond was assessed with ten items developed by Wang (2014). Financial bond was measured by three items.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Financial bonds	0.94						
2. Social bonds	0.24**	0.87					
3. Structural bonds	0.30**	0.30**	0.81				
4. P-O fit	0.50**	0.59**	0.50**	0.85			
5. Collectivism	0.43**	0.36**	0.26**	0.57**	0.88		
6. Surface acting	-0.02	0.11	-0.14*	0.04	0.16*	0.81	
7. Deep acting	0.18**	0.39**	0.38**	0.47**	0.25**	0.13*	0.86
Mean	2.57	3.60	3.38	3.11	3.07	3.36	3.64
SD	0.99	0.67	1.01	0.71	0.75	0.74	0.63

The bolded value in the diagonal is the square root of the AVE; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

An example item is "My company provides satisfactory total income." Cronbach's alpha was 0.96. Social bond was measured by four items. An example item is "My company supports me so that I communicate well with co-workers." Cronbach's alpha was 0.88. Structural bond was measured by three items. An example item is "My company allows me to flexibly manage work schedules." Cronbach's alpha was 0.87. Correlations among the study constructs are displayed in the **Table 1**.

P-O fit was assessed with four items developed by Saks and Ashforth (2002). An example item is "To what extent are the values of the organization similar to your own values?" Cronbach's alpha was 0.88. Collectivism was assessed with three items developed by Wu (2006). An example item is "Group success is more important than individual success." Cronbach's alpha was 0.87.

Emotional labor was assessed with eight items developed by Diefendorff et al. (2005). Surface acting was measured by four items. An example item is "I fake the emotions I show when dealing with customers." Cronbach's alpha was 0.85. Deep acting was measured by four items. An example item is "I try to actually experience the emotions that I must show to customers." Cronbach's alpha was 0.86.

All items were scored on a five point scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree. Measurement scales of the study constructs are shown in the **Appendix**.

Convergent and Discriminant Validity of Constructs

Prior to verifying hypotheses, this study identified convergent validity and discriminant validity of constructs through

confirmatory factor analysis (Nunnally, 1978; Fornell and Larcker, 1981). Convergent validity was identified by composite reliability (CR) and average variance extracted (AVE). The evaluation standard of CR is 0.7 and higher and the evaluation standard of AVE is 0.5 and higher. In a bid to identify discriminant validity, whether the square root value of AVE exceeded the correlations between constructs was examined. Since the fit of confirmatory factor analysis was shown as $\chi^2 = 574.59(df = 254, p = 0.00), GFI = 0.88, CFI = 0.95,$ NFI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.06, they were generally acceptable. Also, since the standards which could evaluate convergent validity exceeded the standard level, convergent validity was identified. As a result of identifying discriminant validity, the square root value of AVE with regard to constructs had been found to exceed the correlations between constructs. Therefore, discriminant validity had been found to have no problems.

Common Method Bias

Since self-reported measures are utilized, there is a danger of common method bias. In their argument of the causes and complications of this bias, Podsakoff et al. (2003) suggested both procedural antidotes, such as acquiring measures from different respondents or methodologically disconnecting measures, and statistical antidotes to diagnose the bias. This study adopts Harman's single factor test that Podsakoff et al. (2003) announced as a statistical remedy. Adopting exploratory factor analysis, the number of factors and variances inferred from the unrotated factor solutions are tested. The analysis identifies seven factors with an eigenvalue greater than 1; their variances are 30.92, 12.30, 10.27, 7.83, 6.02, 5.69, and 4.05%. As the analysis identifies more than one factor and the factor with the highest variance elucidate less than 50% of the total variance, it can be considered that the study does not have a serious common method bias.

Test of Hypotheses

Since the fit of this study model was $\chi^2 = 529.94(df = 201,$ p = 0.00), GFI = 0.88, CFI = 0.94, TLI = 0.93, NFI = 0.90, RMSEA = 0.07, it is generally at an acceptable level. Figure 2 is the result of verifying hypotheses through structural equation model. This study expected that relationship bonds will have positive influence on P-O fit of service providers. As a result of identifying the hypotheses, relationship bonds elements financial bonds ($\beta = 0.31$, p < 0.01), social bonds ($\beta = 0.44$, p < 0.01), and structural bonds ($\beta = 0.28, p < 0.01$) – had positive influence on P-O fit. Thus, H1, H2, and H3 were supported. Next, this study expected that P-O fit will have negative influence on surface acting and positive influence on deep acting. As a result of identifying the hypotheses, P-O fit did not have any influence on surface acting ($\beta = 0.04$, p > 0.05) but had positive influence on deep acting ($\beta = 0.49$, p < 0.01). Therefore, Hypothesis 4 was rejected but Hypothesis 5 was supported.

Test of Moderating Effect

This study aimed to identify the moderating effects of collectivism between P-O fit of service providers and emotional labor. Since P-O fit had been found to not have any influence on surface acting, the moderating effect toward deep acting was identified. In order to identify moderating effects, interaction effect was verified through the process model using bootstrap (Preacher and Hayes, 2008; Hayes, 2013). Hayes (2013) used No.1 model out of the suggested process models, Y inserted deep acting, X inserted P-O fit, and M inserted collectivism. In addition, education, work period, position and income of service providers were controlled. As a result of the analysis (**Table 2**), the interaction effect of collectivism was statistically significant with regard to deep acting ($\beta = 0.1197$, CI = [0.0040, 0.2354], p < 0.05). In a bid to specifically identify moderating effect,



Variable	Bias-corrected bootstrap 95% confidence interval									
	Coeff.	s.e.	р	Cl _{low}	Cl _{high}					
DV = DEEP ACTING										
Main effects: P-O fit	0.3429	0.0583	0.0000	0.2282	0.4575					
Collectivism	0.0499	0.0568	0.3801	-0.0618	0.1616					
Interactions: P-J fit × Collectivism (H 7)	0.1197	0.0588	0.0427	0.0040	0.2354					
Controls: Education	-0.0223	0.0325	0.4932	-0.0862	0.0416					
Work period	0.0458	0.0278	0.1003	-0.0089	0.1006					
Position	-0.0285	0.0432	0.5096	-0.1135	0.0565					
Income	0.0624	0.0328	0.0583	-0.0022	0.1269					
(High group) P-J fit × Collectivism	0.4323	0.0713	0.0000	0.2921	0.5725					
(Mean group) P-J fit × Collectivism	0.3429	0.0583	0.0000	0.2282	0.4575					
(Low group) P-J fit × Collectivism	0.2535	0.0747	0.0008	0.1066	0.4003					

Process model 1; N = 350; Bootstrap samples 5,000.

post hoc test was conducted. For this aim, low level simple slope (-1 SD) and high level simple slope (+1 SD) were identified from the average of collectivism (Aiken and West, 1991). As a result of the *post hoc* test, as shown in **Figure 3**, the influence by P-O fit on deep acting increased as collectivism of service providers went higher. Thus, Hypothesis 7 was supported.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

This study examined relationship bonds for corporation to form relationship with service providers. This study developed and tested the model which identified the influence on emotional labor by relationship bonds through P-O fit and the role of collectivism. This study discovered the following findings. Three elements of relationship bonds – financial bonds, social bonds, and structural bonds – are positively related to deep acting through the increase of P-O fit. The influence on deep acting by P-O fit is moderated by collectivism of service provider. Specifically, as collectivism of service provider goes higher the effect of P-O fit increasing deep acting becomes stronger.

Theoretical Implications

There are several theoretical contributions. First, it contributed to relationship marketing literature by applying the concept of relationship bonds into service providers. Owing to the influence by service providers regarding customers, the importance of forming relationship between corporation and service providers is being emphasized (Tortosa et al., 2009). Relationship marketing literature found that relationship bonds is the strategy for forming relationships and the antecedent factor for accomplishing relationship performance (Dash et al., 2009). Previous studies identified relationship bonds as the strategy to maintain relationship between corporation and customers or corporations (Wang, 2014) but the studies on service providers merely stay at initial level. Moreover, the studies have identified that performances changing owing to the ways corporation handle service providers but academic discussion on forming relationship between corporation and service providers is not taking place (Herington et al., 2006). This study aimed to overcome the limitation of previous studies by examining relationship bonds from the aspect of service providers.

Second, this study suggested the empirical evidence identifying the process of relationship bonds influencing emotional labor. Since service providers directly perform emotional labor to customers, it is important to identify the factors influencing emotional labor of service providers. The previous studies on emotional labor treated individual characteristics – personality traits, emotional abilities, and so on – and event characteristics – moods, customer mistreatment,



and so on – as major predisposing factors (Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). However, there was no empirical evidence identifying how relationship bonds, forming relationship between corporation and service provider, was related to emotional labor. This study suggested relationship bonds as the major previous study having influence on emotional labor.

Third, owing to relationship bonds, this study identified the roles of P-O fit when emotional labor response is occurring. This study provides the understanding of the mechanism explaining how environmental factors of service providers affect emotional labor. Emotional labor is an essential element for service providers and this implies that it is crucial for corporations, which have to induce positive emotional labor strategies from service providers, to give support so that individuals feel conformity with organization. Almost all service sites require emotional labor (Tschan et al., 2005). Therefore, understanding of P-O fit roles in service jobs is a good way of carrying out positive emotional labor strategies in service industry which frequently interacts with customers.

Fourth, this study was expanded since the moderating effect of collectivism between P-O fit and emotional labor was identified. Previous studies suggested the moderating role of collectivism from cultural psychology aspect with regard to work behavior and performance of employees (Hui et al., 2015; O'Neill et al., 2015). However, specific role between fit and emotional labor was not mentioned. This study suggested clear and specific viewpoint explaining emotional labor from cultural psychology aspect by identifying the moderating effect of collectivism between P-O fit and emotional labor.

Practical Implications

Through the results of this study, several practical implications can be discussed. First, corporations can improve P-O fit of service providers through relationship bonds. Since P-O fit enhances performance by being positively applied to service providers (Downes et al., 2017; Abdalla et al., 2018), it is important to manage relationship bonds. Corporate financial support becomes the element of value to individuals and acts positively toward accomplishing organization's goals since individuals equate themselves and organization (Miao and Evans, 2007). Therefore, corporations need to form financial bonds by establishing financial compensation system which service providers perceive as sufficient. In addition, corporations need to come up with the measures to improve the social relations among service providers. Communication among service providers improves the ability or skills to resolve problems by promoting information sharing (Felício et al., 2014). Thus, corporate efforts to establish positive relationship among service providers by invigorating corporate communities and organizing horizontal corporate culture are necessary. Through these efforts, social sense of belonging by service providers can also be fulfilled. Structural bond is a positive factor toward P-O fit. The system of service providers flexibly adjusting one's own work schedule assists the balance between work and life and immerses workers into jobs (Martin and MacDonnell, 2012). Since corporate efforts to form structural bonds plays the role of resources in service providers doing work, the efforts not only appear as performance

by being connected to work efficiency improvement but also reduces the expenses arising from stress (Zablah et al., 2012).

Second, P-O fit can improve deep acting of service providers. Corporation needs to interact with service providers to deliver the goals and values pursued by corporations. Corporations can induce positive behaviors by enhancing similarity between corporation and service providers (Meglino and Ravlin, 1998). Since deep acting by service providers lets customers to experience high service quality after delivering sincere emotions (Pugh, 2001; Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006), relationship bonds strengthens deep acting through P-O fit and is positively related to performance. Meanwhile, the influence by P-O fit on surface acting was not significant. Surface acting, service providers expressing their emotions to customers after controlling and adjusting them, appears in the interaction with customers. Therefore, the negative factors related to customers such as customer incivility have direct influence on surface acting (Sliter et al., 2010). Since P-O fit is not the factor related to direct interaction with customers, it cannot influence surface acting.

Third, collectivism increases the influence by P-O fit with regard to deep acting of service providers. This study suggested that corporation managers must take into account cultural values. In particular, since corporate global management increases, managers must consider countries' cultural backgrounds and values. This can provide better insight and understanding regarding employment, arrangement, and education of service providers when it comes to service firms entering new markets. While Asian countries like Korea can use the method of hiring collective individuals as the corporate measure to manage emotional labor, U.S. has limited number of applicants with collective values (Astakhova, 2016). Therefore, service firms must apply management styles suiting cultural norms so as to accomplish maximum results by hiring local talents.

Limitations and Future Direction of Study

Even though this study suggested theoretical and practical implications, it has several limitations. First, this study examined the factors of relationship bonds into three aspects: financial bonds, social bonds, and structural bonds. Service providers border between corporation and customer owing to occupational characteristics. Thus, social bonds has to be examined by dividing into social bonds of internal aspect related to corporation and social bonds of external aspect related to customer. However, this study examined social bonds only in the aspect related to corporation. The scope of study will be expanded further if social bonds is divided into two aspects.

Second, this study identified that relationship bonds act positively in deep acting through P-O fit of service providers. It can be expected that performance will improve if deep acting increases but this study did not reflect performance aspect. Future studies need to suggest more completed study model by taking into consideration performance aspect of service corporations.

Third, this study collected data targeting service providers in the financial industry. The employees in the financial industry have the characteristics distinct from other industries. For instance, services dealt by employees in the financial industry are more complicated than other service industries. This may make applying this study results into the entire service industries difficult. Therefore, the generalization of this study results has to be induced by conducting studies targeting diverse industries.

Fourth, this study identified which organizational level factors influence emotional labor through P-O fit of current employees. It is also important to identify the effects of job characteristics on emotional labor through P-O fit and therefore, future study needs to investigate how P-O fit can be influenced by job characteristics of current employees.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of ethics committee of Hanyang University with

REFERENCES

- Abdalla, A., Elsetouhi, A., Negm, A., and Abdou, H. (2018). Perceived personorganization fit and turnover intention in medical centers: the mediating roles of person-group fit and person-job fit perceptions. *Pers. Rev.* 47, 863–881. doi: 10.1108/PR-03-2017-0085
- Aiken, L. S., and West, S. G. (1991). Multiple Regression: Testing and Interpreting Interactions. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Arpaci, I., Baloğlu, M., and Kesici, Ş. (2018). The relationship among individual differences in individualism-collectivism, extraversion, and self-presentation. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 121, 89–92. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.09.034
- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. Acad. Manag. Rev. 18, 88–115. doi: 10.3109/09638237. 2012.734656
- Astakhova, M. N. (2016). Explaining the effects of perceived person-supervisor fit and person-organization fit on organizational commitment in the US and Japan. J. Bus. Res. 69, 956–963. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.08.039
- Berry, L. L. (1995). Relationship marketing of services growing interest, emerging perspectives. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 23, 236–245. doi: 10.1177/009207039502300402
- Biong, H., and Ulvnes, A. M. (2011). If the supplier's human capital walks away, where would the customer go? *J. Bus. Bus. Mark.* 18, 223–252.
- Biswas, S., and Bhatnagar, J. (2013). Mediator analysis of employee engagement: role of perceived organizational support, PO fit, organizational commitment and job satisfaction. Vikalpa 38, 27–40. doi: 10.1080/1051712X.2011.541375
- Bolton, R. N., Smith, A. K., and Wagner, J. (2003). Striking the right balance: designing service to enhance business-to-business relationships. J. Serv. Res. 5, 271–291. doi: 10.1177/1094670503005004001
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: comparing two perspectives of "people work". J. Vocat. Behav. 60, 17–39. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815
- Cable, D. M., and DeRue, D. S. (2002). The convergent and discriminant validity of subjective fit perceptions. J. Appl. Psychol. 87, 875–884. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 87.5.875
- Cable, D. M., and Judge, T. A. (1996). Person–organization fit, job choice decisions, and organizational entry. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 67, 294–311. doi: 10.1006/obhd.1996.0081
- Christoforou, P. S., and Ashforth, B. E. (2015). Revisiting the debate on the relationship between display rules and performance: considering the explicitness of display rules. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 100, 249–261. doi: 10.1037/ a0036871
- Copulsky, J. R., and Wolf, M. J. (1990). Relationship marketing: positioning for the future. J. Bus. Strategy 11, 16–20. doi: 10.1108/eb060069
- Dash, S., Bruning, E., and Guin, K. K. (2009). A cross-cultural comparison of individualism's moderating effect on bonding and commitment in banking relationships. *Mark. Intell. Plan.* 27, 146–169. doi: 10.1108/02634500910928380

written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the ethics committee of Hanyang University.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M-SL designed the work and analyzed the data. S-LH designed and drafted the work. SH collected and analyzed the data. HH collected and analyzed the data.

FUNDING

This research was supported by the research fund of Hanyang University (HY-2018).

- Delpechitre, D., and Beeler, L. (2018). Faking it: salesperson emotional intelligence's influence on emotional labor strategies and customer outcomes. J. Bus. Ind. Mark. 33, 53–71. doi: 10.1108/JBIM-08-2016-0170
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., and Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The dimensionality and antecedents of emotional labor strategies. J. Vocat. Behav. 66, 339–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001
- Diefendorff, J. M., and Gosserand, R. H. (2003). Understanding the emotional labor process: a control theory perspective. J. Organ. Behav. 24, 945–959. doi: 10.1002/job.230
- Downes, P. E., Kristof-Brown, A. L., Judge, T. A., and Darnold, T. C. (2017). Motivational mechanisms of self-concordance theory: goal-specific efficacy and person–organization fit. *J. Bus. Psychol.* 32, 197–215. doi: 10.1007/s10869-016-9444-y
- Felício, J. A., Couto, E., and Caiado, J. (2014). Human capital, social capital and organizational performance. *Manag. Decis.* 52, 350–364. doi: 10.1108/MD-04-2013-0260
- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J. Mark. Res. 18, 39–50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- Gabriel, A. S., Diefendorff, J. M., Chandler, M. M., Moran, C. M., and Greguras, G. J. (2014). The dynamic relationships of work affect and job satisfaction with perceptions of fit. *Pers. Psychol.* 67, 389–420. doi: 10.1111/peps.12042
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotional regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5, 95–110. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When "the show must go on": surface acting and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96.
- Grandey, A. A., and Gabriel, A. S. (2015). Emotional labor at a crossroads: where do we go from here? Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 2, 323–349. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111400
- Grandey, A. A., and Melloy, R. C. (2017). The state of the heart: emotional labor as emotion regulation reviewed and revised. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 22, 407–422. doi: 10.1037/ocp0000067
- Gremler, D. D., and Gwinner, K. P. (2000). Customer-employee rapport in service relationships. J. Serv. Res. 3, 82–104. doi: 10.1177/109467050031006
- Groth, M., Hennig-Thurau, T., and Walsh, G. (2009). Customer reactions to emotional labor: the roles of employee acting strategies and customer detection accuracy. Acad. Manag. J. 52, 958–974. doi: 10.5465/amj.2009.44634116
- Gwinner, K. P., Gremler, D. D., and Bitner, M. J. (1998). Relational benefits in services industries: the customer's perspective. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 26, 101–114. doi: 10.1177/0092070398262002
- Hatzinikolakis, J., and Crossman, J. (2010). Are business academics in Australia experiencing emotional labour? A call for empirical research. *J. Manag. Organ.* 16, 425–435. doi: 10.1017/S1833367200002066
Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Hennig-Thurau, T., Groth, M., Paul, M., and Gremler, D. D. (2006). Are all smiles created equal? How emotional contagion and emotional labor affect service relationships. J. Mark. 70, 58–73. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.70.3.058
- Herington, C., Johnson, L. W., and Scott, D. (2006). Internal relationships: linking practitioner literature and relationship marketing theory. *Eur. Bus. Rev.* 18, 364–381. doi: 10.1108/09555340610686958
- Hochschild, A. (1983). The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Motivation, leadership, and organization: do American theories apply abroad? Organ. Dyn. 9, 42-63. doi: 10.1016/0090-2616(80) 90013-3
- Hsieh, Y. C., Chiu, H. C., and Chiang, M. Y. (2005). Maintaining a committed online customer: a study across search-experience-credence products. J. Retailing 81, 75–82. doi: 10.1016/j.jretai.2005.01.006
- Huang, P. F., and Dai, C. W. (2010). The impacts of emotional contagion and emotional labor perception on employees' service performance. *Int. J. Electron. Bus. Manag.* 8, 68–79.
- Hui, C., Lee, C., and Wang, H. (2015). Organizational inducements and employee citizenship behavior: the mediating role of perceived insider status and the moderating role of collectivism. *Hum. Resour. Manag.* 54, 439–456. doi: 10. 1002/hrm.21620
- Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., and Han, S. J. (2014). The role of chronological age and work experience on emotional labor: the mediating effect of emotional intelligence. *Career Dev. Int.* 19, 734–754. doi: 10.1108/CDI-12-2013-0162
- Kilroy, S., Flood, P. C., Bosak, J., and Chênevert, D. (2017). Perceptions of high-involvement work practices, person-organization fit, and burnout: a timelagged study of health care employees. *Hum. Resour. Manag.* 56, 821–835. doi: 10.1002/hrm.21803
- Kim, M., and Kim, J. (2018). The effects of perceived online justice on relational bonds and engagement intention: evidence from an online game community. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 84, 410–419. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.03.022
- Kim, T. Y., Aryee, S., Loi, R., and Kim, S. P. (2013). Person–organization fit and employee outcomes: test of a social exchange model. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 24, 3719–3737. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2013.781522
- Kristof, A. L. (1996). Person-organization fit: an integrative review of its conceptualizations, measurement, and implications. *Pers. Psychol.* 49, 1–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1996.tb01790.x
- Lauver, K. J., and Kristof-Brown, A. (2001). Distinguishing between employees' perceptions of person-job and person-organization fit. J. Vocat. Behav. 59, 454-470. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1807
- Lee, Y. K., Kim, S., Kim, M. S., Lee, J. H., and Lim, K. T. (2015). Relational bonding strategies in the franchise industry: the moderating role of duration of the relationship. J. Bus. Ind. Mark. 30, 830–841. doi: 10.1108/JBIM-10-2013-0237
- Li, Z. G., and Dant, R. P. (1997). An exploratory study of exclusive dealing in channel relationships. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 25, 201–213. doi: 10.1177/ 0092070397253002
- Liang, C. J., and Wang, W. H. (2005). Integrative research into the financial services industry in Taiwan: relationship bonding tactics, relationship quality and behavioral loyalty. *J. Financ. Serv. Mark.* 10, 65–83. doi: 10.1057/palgrave. fsm.4770174
- Liu, B., Liu, J., and Hu, J. (2010). Person-organization fit, job satisfaction, and turnover intention: an empirical study in the Chinese public sector. Soc. Behav. Pers. 38, 615–625. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2010.38.5.615
- Martin, B. H., and MacDonnell, R. (2012). Is telework effective for organizations? A meta-analysis of empirical research on perceptions of telework and organizational outcomes. *Manag. Res. Rev.* 35, 602–616. doi: 10.1108/ 01409171211238820
- Meglino, B. M., and Ravlin, E. C. (1998). Individual values in organizations: concepts, controversies, and research. J. Manag. 24, 351–389. doi: 10.1177/ 014920639802400304
- Meier, K. J., Mastracci, S. H., and Wilson, K. (2006). Gender and emotional labor in public organizations: an empirical examination of the link to performance. *Public Adm. Rev.* 66, 899–909. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-6210.2006. 00657.x

- Miao, C. F., and Evans, K. R. (2007). The impact of salesperson motivation on role perceptions and job performance-A cognitive and affective perspective. J. Pers. Selling Sales Manag. 27, 89–101. doi: 10.2753/PSS0885-3134270106
- Molino, M., Emanuel, F., Zito, M., Ghislieri, C., Colombo, L., and Cortese, C. G. (2016). Inbound call centers and emotional dissonance in the job demandsresources model. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1133. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01133
- Mulki, J. P., Jaramillo, F., Goad, E. A., and Pesquera, M. R. (2015). Regulation of emotions, interpersonal conflict, and job performance for salespeople. J. Bus. Res. 68, 623–630. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.08.009
- Nath, P., and Mukherjee, A. (2012). Complementary effects of relational bonds in information asymmetry contexts. J. Serv. Mark. 26, 168–180. doi: 10.1108/ 08876041211223979
- Newman, A., and Sheikh, A. Z. (2012). Organizational rewards and employee commitment: a Chinese study. J. Manag. Psychol. 27, 71–89. doi: 10.3760/cma. j.issn.1001-9391.2017.02.014
- Nunnally, J. C. (1978). Psychometric Theory. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- O'Neill, T. A., McLarnon, M. J., Xiu, L., and Law, S. J. (2015). Core self-evaluations, perceptions of group potency, and job performance: the moderating role of individualism and collectivism cultural profiles. *J. Occup. Organ. Psychol.* 89, 447–473. doi: 10.1111/joop.12135
- Ozdemir, V. E., and Hewett, K. (2010). The effect of collectivism on the importance of relationship quality and service quality for behavioral intentions: a crossnational and cross-contextual analysis. *J. Int. Mark.* 18, 41–62. doi: 10.1509/ jimk.18.1.41
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 88, 879–903. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 88.5.879
- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Pugh, S. D. (2001). Service with a smile: emotional contagion in the service encounter. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 1018–1027.
- Rodríguez, C. M., and Wilson, D. T. (2002). Relationship bonding and trust as a foundation for commitment in US-Mexican strategic alliances: a structural equation modeling approach. J. Int. Mark. 10, 53–76. doi: 10.1509/jimk.10.4.53. 19553
- Saks, A. M., and Ashforth, B. E. (1997). A longitudinal investigation of the relationships between job information sources, applicant perceptions of fit, and work outcomes. *Pers. Psychol.* 50, 395–426. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.1997. tb00913.x
- Saks, A. M., and Ashforth, B. E. (2002). Is job search related to employment quality? It all depends on the fit. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 87, 646–654. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 87.4.646
- Saragih, S. (2011). The effects of job autonomy on work outcomes: self efficacy as an intervening variable. *Int. Res. J. Bus. Stud.* 4, 203–215. doi: 10.21632/irjbs.4. 3.203-215
- Schaubroeck, J., and Jones, J. R. (2000). Antecedents of workplace emotional labor dimensions and moderators of their effects on physical symptoms. J. Organ. Behav. 21, 163–183. doi: 10.1007/s10551-018-3851-0
- Sliter, M., Jex, S., Wolford, K., and McInnerney, J. (2010). How rude! Emotional labor as a mediator between customer incivility and employee outcomes. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 15, 468–481. doi: 10.1037/a0020723
- Smith, J. R., Dorsey, K. D., and Mosley, A. L. (2009). Licensed funeral directors: an empirical analysis of the dimensions and consequences of emotional labor. *Int. Manag. Rev.* 5, 30–43.
- Takano, Y., and Osaka, E. (1999). An unsupported common view: comparing Japan and the US on individualism/collectivism. Asian J. Soc. Psychol. 2, 311–341. doi: 10.1111/1467-839X.00043
- Tortosa, V., Moliner, M. A., and Sánchez, J. (2009). Internal market orientation and its influence on organisational performance. *Eur. J. Mark.* 43, 1435–1456. doi: 10.1108/03090560910989975
- Triandis, H. C., and Gelfand, M. J. (1998). Converging measurement of horizontal and vertical individualism and collectivism. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 118–128. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.118
- Trougakos, J. P., Beal, D. J., Green, S. G., and Weiss, H. M. (2008). Making the break count: an episodic examination of recovery activities, emotional experiences,

and positive affective displays. Acad. Manag. J. 51, 131–146. doi: 10.5465/amj. 2008.30764063

- Tsai, W., and Ghoshal, S. (1998). Social capital and value creation: the role of intrafirm networks. Acad. Manag. J. 41, 464–476.
- Tschan, F., Rochat, S., and Zapf, D. (2005). It's not only clients: studying emotion work with clients and co-workers with an event-sampling approach. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 78, 195–220. doi: 10.1348/096317905X3 9666
- Van Dijk, P. A., and Brown, A. K. (2006). Emotional labour and negative job outcomes: an evaluation of the mediating role of emotional dissonance. *J. Manag. Organ.* 12, 101–125. doi: 10.1017/S1833367200004053
- van Gelderen, B. R., Konijn, E. A., and Bakker, A. B. (2017). Emotional labor among police officers: a diary study relating strain, emotional labor, and service performance. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 28, 852–879. doi: 10.1080/09585192. 2016.1138500
- Wang, E. S. T. (2009). Displayed emotions to patronage intention: consumer response to contact personnel performance. Serv. Ind. J. 29, 317–329. doi: 10.1080/02642060701846747
- Wang, E. S. T. (2014). The effects of relationship bonds on emotional exhaustion and turnover intentions in frontline employees. J. Serv. Mark. 28, 319–330. doi: 10.1108/JSM-11-2012-0217
- Wu, M. (2006). Hofstede's cultural dimensions 30 years later: a study of Taiwan and the United States. *Intercult. Commun. Stud.* 15, 33-42.

- Wu, S. I., and Lin, T. R. (2014). The influence of relational bonds and innovative marketing on consumer perception - A study of theme parks. J. Manag. Strategy 5, 54–67. doi: 10.5430/jms.v5n4p54
- Yoo, J., and Arnold, T. J. (2016). Frontline employee customer-oriented attitude in the presence of job demands and resources: the influence upon deep and surface acting. J. Serv. Res. 19, 102–117. doi: 10.1177/1094670515589956
- Yoo, J. J., Arnold, T. J., and Frankwick, G. L. (2014). Promoting boundary-spanning behavior among service personnel. *Eur. J. Mark.* 48, 1626–1647. doi: 10.1108/ EJM-10-2012-0610
- Zablah, A. R., Franke, G. R., Brown, T. J., and Bartholomew, D. E. (2012). How and when does customer orientation influence frontline employee job outcomes? A meta-analytic evaluation. J. Mark. 76, 21–40. doi: 10.1509/jm.10.0231

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lee, Han, Hong and Hyun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

TABLE A1 | Items and CFA results.

Construct	Items	λ^{a}	α	CR ^b	AVEc
Financial bonds	1. My company provides satisfactory total income.	0.94	0.96	0.95	0.88
	2. My company provides satisfactory monthly salary.	0.98			
	3. My company provides anticipated wage.	0.90			
Social bonds	1. My company supports me so that I communicate well with co-workers.	0.81	0.88	0.93	0.76
	2. My company supports me so that I maintain good relationships with co-workers.	0.80			
	3. My company supports me so that I communicate well with my boss.	0.83			
	4. My company supports me so that I maintain a good relationship with my boss.	0.80			
Structural bonds	1. My company allows me to decide the amount of extra work.	0.68	0.87	0.85	0.66
	2. My company allows me to freely adjust working hours.	0.91			
	3. My company allows me to flexibly manage work schedules.	0.90			
P-O fit	1. To what extent are the values of the organization similar to your own values?	0.79	0.88	0.91	0.72
	2. To what extent does your personality match the personality or image of the organization?	0.82			
	3. To what extent does the organization fulfill your needs?	0.79			
	4. To what extent is the organization a good match for you?	0.80			
Collectivism	1. Group welfare is more important than individual rewards.	0.79	0.87	0.91	0.77
	2. Group success is more important than individual success.	0.93			
	3. Employees should pursue their goals after considering the welfare of the group.	0.78			
Surface acting	1. I put on an act in order to deal with customers in an appropriate way.	0.63	0.85	0.88	0.66
	2. I fake a good mood when interacting with customers.	0.77			
	3. I put on a "mask" in order to display the emotions I need for the job.	0.90			
	4. I fake the emotions I show when dealing with customers.	0.76			
Deep acting	1. I try to actually experience the emotions that I must show to customers.	0.81	0.86	0.92	0.74
	2. I make an effort to actually feel the emotions that I need to display toward others.	0.84			
	3. I work hard to feel the emotions that I need to show to customers.	0.81			
	4. I work at developing the feelings inside of me that I need to show to customers.	0.69			
$\chi^2 = 574.59$, df = 2	54, p = 0.00, GFI = 0.88, CFI = 0.95, TLI = 0.93, NFI = 0.91, RMSEA = 0.06				

^a All factor loadings are significant (p < 0.01). ^bCR, composite reliability. ^cAVE, average variance extracted.





The Role of Emotional Service Expectation Toward Perceived Quality and Satisfaction: Moderating Effects of Deep Acting and Surface Acting

Ji Youn Jeong¹, Jungkun Park^{2*} and Hyowon Hyun²

¹ School of Ecological Environment and Eco-tourism, Kyungpook National University, Sangju, South Korea, ² School of Business, Hanyang University, Seoul, South Korea

A conceptual model articulating the nature of customer expectations and satisfaction over services was proposed with emotional factors. Five propositions about consumer emotional service expectations as a primary antecedent toward confirmation, perceived quality, and satisfaction were provided. As moderators, two dimensions of consumer detection of emotional labor (i.e., detecting deep acting and surface acting) were imposed on each of the relationships. Evidence demonstrated the roles of emotional service expectation in service confirmation and satisfaction. The moderating effects of consumer detections of employees' emotional strategies were limited to the relationship between emotional service expectation and confirmation; its relationship was weakened by detections of surface acting while the other relationships were not moderated by detections of deep nor surface acting. Structural equation modeling analyses were conducted using online survey data targeting consumers in the hotel industry.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Monica Gomez-Suárez, Autonomous University of Madrid, Spain

Reviewed by:

Teresa Villacé-Molinero, Universidad Rey Juan Carlos, Spain Jorge Pelegrín-Borondo, University of La Rioja, Spain

*Correspondence:

Jungkun Park viroid2007@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 September 2018 Accepted: 01 February 2019 Published: 12 March 2019

Citation:

Jeong JY, Park J and Hyun H (2019) The Role of Emotional Service Expectation Toward Perceived Quality and Satisfaction: Moderating Effects of Deep Acting and Surface Acting. Front. Psychol. 10:321. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00321 Keywords: emotional service, customer expectation, satisfaction, emotional labor, deep/surface acting

INTRODUCTION

Having motivated employees who proactively and professionally engage in customer interactions is undoubtedly critical to service firm's success (Menguc et al., 2013; Schepers et al., 2016). In the hospitality industry, employees are deeply involved in everyday interactions with customers, such interactions being regarded as essential to the delivery of quality service experiences to customers (Farrell and Oczkowski, 2009). As a result, establishing effective strategies for employee–customer interactions, is recognized as the most important step in enhancing firms' competitiveness (Lam et al., 2018). Indeed, huge resources are invested in training employees to enhance their interaction performance in the hospitality industry (Schepers et al., 2016).

Some researchers argue that service components are categorized into two attributes: (i) the core attributes that consist of functional quality factors; and (ii) the relational attributes that describe the interpersonally recognized factors during the service delivery (Babin et al., 2004). On the other hand, other researchers suggest that such a classification is artificial and fuzzy because the nature of services involves intangible and experiential consumption (Gaur et al., 2014; Koenig-Lewis and Palmer, 2014). They argue that factors perceived interpersonally by customers can be a core factor that significantly influences service quality, increasing consumer satisfaction and loyalty

111

behaviors. These conflicting arguments lead to a main question of this study: does employees' emotional service delivery during customer interactions, that is one of the relational attributes, significantly influence service outcomes, such as service confirmation, quality perceptions, and satisfaction? The second research question is as follows: if so, do different detections of employees' emotional service strategies lead to different customer reactions? Typically, service employees are expected to express positive emotions and to suppress negative emotions in their interactions with customers (Diefendorff and Richard, 2003), but it is inherently impossible always to feel genuine positive emotions for customers (Groth et al., 2009). Consequently, employees attempt to utilize surface acting, faking a positive emotional display, to comply with their job requirements and meet customer needs for positive emotional services (Hochschild, 1983; Lam et al., 2018). However, customers may detect surface acting, and show less positive responses (i.e., service satisfaction and perceived quality) than when detecting deep acting (Lam et al., 2018).

To address these two research questions, we developed a theoretical model consisting of customer emotional expectations, overall confirmation, perceived quality, satisfaction, and two moderators of consumer detection of deep acting and surface acting. Affective elements have been well-reported in relation to the expectation - performance discrepancy link (Burns and Neisner, 2006) and customer satisfaction (Oliver, 1980). Nevertheless, the relationships between customer's emotional service expectations and consumer satisfaction have not been fully addressed in the service literature. Furthermore, it has not yet been concluded how customer detections of employees' emotional service strategies influence such relationships among emotional expectation, service quality perception, and satisfaction (Groth et al., 2009). Thus, this study would fill the void in the literature by addressing emotional service expectation and customer detection of the emotional display strategies in the hospitality service context.

LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES

Emotional Service Expectation and Confirmation

Emotional labor can be defined as service employees' efforts to demonstrate and express desired emotions at work by managing feelings (Hochschild, 1983; Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993; Grandey, 2000). For example, Hochschild (1983) defined emotional labor as "the management of feelings to create a publicly observable facial and bodily display" which is "sold for wage and therefore has exchange value" (p. 7). Similarly, Grandey (2000, p. 97) defined emotional labor as the "process of regulating both feelings and expressions for the organizational goals." Previous literature has indicated critical roles of emotional labor in the service context. Tsai (2001) stated that employees' emotional services are all part of the service itself. Hochschild (1983) also pointed out that "the emotional style of offering the service is part of the service itself" (p. 5). The importance of emotional services in confirming customer expectation is unanimously accepted among scholars and practitioners in the service field (Park et al., 2018).

The notion of confirmation has been explained in relation to expectation, which is defined as belief probabilities of the consequences of an event (Roch and Poister, 2006). Burgoon and Walther (1990, p. 236) identified expectation as "what is predicated to occur rather than what is desired." According to expectation violation theory (Burgoon, 1993), an individual interacts with others with expectancy that refers to what will happen in a given situation and so, the disconfirmation of such expectancy negatively influences outcomes of the interaction. In the hospitality service context, customers seem to have a certain level of emotional service expectation and want to confirm it during the interaction; they expect employees to express positive emotions, such as friendliness, positivity, compassion, and/or warmth, while suppressing negative emotions, such as anger, indifference, or frustration (Beal et al., 2006; Grandey and Gabriel, 2015).

The literature has suggested that customer expectation positively influences confirmation. For example, Park et al. (2018) argued that high expectation increases customers' involvement levels, leading to easy confirmation. Groth et al. (2009) also empirically demonstrated that positive attitude with high expectation results in high confirmation. Consistent with the results in the existing studies, this study hypothesized that customers' expectation of emotional services will positively influence overall confirmation of a service outcome.

H1: Emotional service expectation has a positive effect on overall confirmation.

Emotional Service Expectation Toward Perceived Quality and Customer Satisfaction

In their seminal work on SERVQUAL, Parasuraman et al. (1985) indicated that service quality is determined by the evaluation of a service provider by comparing the service provider's performance with the customer's expectations of how similar service providers should perform. In other words, customers set the range of expected outcomes of emotional services as a quality standard in which a given service quality is likely to be evaluated (Tsai, 2001; Humphrey et al., 2007). Therefore, quality of services depends on customers' expectation of how effectively and positively employees express positive emotions. In addition to service expectation, overall confirmation is likely to directly influence quality perception. Parasuraman et al. (1988) stated that service quality results from overall assessments in an integral dimension of expectations. Grönroos (1984) addressed service quality can be measured in the two dimensions of process quality and technical quality, and these two dimensions are intricately connected, indicating service quality is related to overall confirmation. Confirming this argument, Homburg and Stock (2004) argued that quality perception is related to customers' confirmation of cognitive and affective factors of services. In a hotel setting, satisfying interaction experiences with employees confirmed customer expectation of emotional services and so, enhanced overall service quality perception (Ladhari, 2009). Further, Brady and Cronin (2001) demonstrated quality perception is determined by overall impression of a given service. Since the nature of service involves intangibility and inseparability, service quality seems to be influenced by overall confirmation of expectations. In summary, the literature suggested that perceived quality is influenced by customer expectation and overall confirmation, so we hypothesized as follows:

H2: Emotional service expectations have a positive effect on perceived quality.

H3: Overall confirmation has a positive effect on perceived quality.

Gracia et al. (2011) found that five service quality components, including reliability, assurance, responsiveness, empathy, and tangibles, have positive effects on customer emotions and, as a result, increase satisfaction in the hotel and restaurant service context. Han and Jeong (2013) also empirically demonstrated that customers' service quality perception significantly influences service experiences and emotional satisfaction. Due to their close relationship, quality perception is often used as an indicator of measures of customer satisfaction (Homburg and Stock, 2004; Wong, 2004).

Ladhari (2009) claimed that satisfaction consists of cognitive (i.e., customer's judgment) and affective components (i.e., happy, pleasant, and joyful), both of which are evaluated to confirm service expectation. In addition, customer satisfaction seems to be influenced by various external attributes, such as instore environment and feelings (Han, 2013). Therefore, this study hypothesized that both perceived quality and overall confirmation influence customer satisfaction.

H4: Perceived quality has a positive effect on customer satisfaction.

H5: Overall confirmation has a positive effect on customer satisfaction.

Two Emotional Strategies: Deep and Surface Acting

Emotional services, such as displays of enthusiasm, friendless, and warmth, are identified as the important services of worth in service delivery (Diefendorff et al., 2006; Sutton et al., 2013). The literature has confirmed that emotional services have positive effects on customer perceptions and satisfaction (Groth et al., 2009; Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). Lin and Liang (2011) study also confirmed that displays of positive emotions increase customers' positive responses, such as customer delight, repurchase intent, and positive word-ofmouth. Similarly, Johanson and Woods (2008) argued that emotional services help achieve organizational goals, such as customer satisfaction and firms' long-term profitability.

Service firms, in general, require employees to regulate their emotions to express only positive emotions to customers. To comply with the job requirement, employees tend to adopt two main strategies of emotional displays: deep acting and surface acting. Deep acting refers to "good faith" by "putting one's self in another's shoes" (Diefendorff et al., 2006) and it is a genuine feeling created within themselves (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006). Deep acting is regarded as sincerely showing the emotions that match their genuine feelings and organization desires by feeling customers' feelings and having empathy (Grandey, 2003). In turn, employees who use deep acting are likely to be customeroriented and so, provide their customers sincere service (Allen et al., 2010). Deep acting has been reported to increase job performance and, as a result, lead to positive feedback from customers (Hatfield et al., 1994). In contrast, surface acting involves "simulating emotions that are not actually felt" (Ashforth and Humphrey, 1993, p. 92). Surface acting occurs when service employees modify only their visible emotions and deceive customers by "putting on a mask," without actually changing how they feel. Surface acting can bring out an emotional discrepancy between true feelings and expressions because employees just pretend to feel positive to meet the organization's requirements (Johnson and Spector, 2007).

The Moderating Role of Employee Deep/Surface Acting

Mattila and Enz (2002) stated that customers' evaluation of service consumption experience depends on how effectively employees display positive emotions during customer interactions. Deep acting strategy allows employees to express their genuine feelings in line with the desired emotions that service firms require, and customers expect (Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009). Deep acting is related to trustworthiness and authenticity that have been known as the main components of service performance to enhance quality perceptions and satisfaction (Krumhuber et al., 2007). Indeed, employees who use deep acting are likely to understand customers and respond to their needs well (Sandström et al., 2008).

When employees cannot modify their inner feelings, employees may use the surface acting strategy (Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009), but this may result in negative outcomes (Hatfield et al., 1994). Grandey et al. (2005) stated "when service providers do not seem sincere in their expressions... it is less likely to create a positive impression in the customer; instead, a false smile may seem manipulative and the employee's impression management attempt fails" (p. 52). Since people tend to prefer honesty and authenticity in social interactions, employees' fake emotional displays are unlikely to meet customers' emotional expectation (Grandey, 2003; Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006). From the employees' perspective, surface acting may also impair their service performance in that expressing a fake emotion involves additional waste of cognitive resources, affecting job satisfaction (Johnson and Spector, 2007). According to fit theory, when there is wide discrepancy between outward and inward feelings at work, employees are likely to be frustrated and dissatisfied with their jobs, decreasing work performance (Gabriel et al., 2015) which is a primary reason of negative feedback from customers (Heskett et al., 1994).

All things considered, it was anticipated detecting deep acting is likely to strengthen the link of expectation-confirmation toward satisfaction, while detections of surface acting may counteract it. In this study, Hypotheses 6 through 10 were proposed with regard to the positive moderating effects of customer detection of deep acting while Hypotheses 11 through 15 were about the negative moderating effects of customer detection of surface acting. All hypothesized paths in the study model are shown in **Figure 1**.

H6–10: Customer detection of deep acting positively moderates the relationship among the study constructs (i.e., emotional service expectation, overall confirmation, perceived quality, and satisfaction).

H11–15: Customer detection of surface acting negatively moderates the relationship among the study constructs (i.e., emotional service expectation, overall confirmation, perceived quality, and satisfaction).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

A web-based online survey using email invitation was conducted using a nationally recognized consumer research panel service. A sample of 220 individuals from across the United States over 20 years old was used with screening questions of their hotel service experience with scenario explanation. All participants who satisfied the sampling conditions, opted in to the survey in exchange for a credit of \$1. Participants answered the questions to examine the role of emotional service expectation toward customer satisfaction and the moderating roles of detections of deep acting and surface acting on their relationships in the service industry. The measurement items were adopted based on the literature review. **Table 1** shows demographic results, including gender, age, income, marital status, education level, and annual income. Males made up 51.4% and 48.6% was female. Participants were categorized by age into young adults (ages 20– 39 years; n = 142) and older adults (ages 40–50 and over+ years, n = 78). More than half of the sample had less than \$50,000 in annual income.

Measures

The questionnaires contained question items focusing on the emotional service expectation, overall confirmation, perceived quality, customer satisfaction, and customer detection of deep and surface acting. Latent variables are not directly observable, so compound multi-item scale measures, including at least two items for each variable, were used (Kenny, 2014). Based on the existing literature, well-validated measurement items for study constructs were adopted and included in the questionnaire. Specifically, emotional service expectation measures were adopted from Davis et al. (1999) three-item scale using sympathy, enjoyment, and compassion dimensions. Overall confirmation was assessed using a two-item scale developed by Oliver (1980). For perceived service quality, three items were adopted from Fornell and Larcker (1981) study. A 5-point Likert-type scale was used, with response options ranging from 1 to 5 in three different dimension standards (e.g., 1 = "poor," 5 = "excellent"; 1 = "inferior," 5 = "superior"; and 1 = "low," 5 = "high"). For customer satisfaction, two items were borrowed from Westbrook and Oliver (1991) study, designed to measure customer satisfaction and emotions with services.



TABLE 1 | Respondents' socio-demographic characteristics.

Variable	Group	Frequency	Percent
Age	20–29	51	23.2
	30–39	91	41.4
	40–49	37	16.8
	50 and over	41	18.6
	Total	220	100.0
Gender	Male	113	51.4
	Female	107	48.6
	Total	220	100.0
Income	Under \$20,000	33	15.0
	20,001-30,000	45	20.5
	30,001-40,000	46	20.9
	40,001-50,000	27	12.3
	60,001-70,000	24	10.9
	70,000 or over	45	20.5
	Total	220	100.0
Marital	1	104	47.3
	2	16	7.3
	3	5	2.3
	4	95	43.2
	Total	220	100.0
Education	High school	27	12.3
	2-year college	72	32.7
	Bachelor's degree	84	38.2
	Graduate school	33	15.0
	High school	4	1.8
	Total	220	100.0

To assess customer detections of employees' deep and surface acting, three-item measures were derived from previous study (Groth et al., 2009). These measures were developed "from Grandey (2003), originally developed by Brotheridge and Lee (2003)" (Groth et al., 2009, p. 964). Given the fact that most recent studies still adopt the measures of Brotheridge and Lee (2003) or Grandey (2003), Groth et al. (2009) measures are relatively updated (see Baranik et al., 2017; Uy et al., 2017; Lam et al., 2018; Moin, 2018). Except for quality dimensions, all other variables consistently used the same semantic measurement tool (e.g., 1 ="I would not feel this way at all," 5 ="I would feel this way very much"). All items included in each variable are reported in Table 2.

RESULTS

Measurement Model Tests

Before analyzing the structural model, the measurement model was assessed with Confirmatory Factor Analyses (CFA) using AMOS 22 and SPSS. CFA evaluated goodness of fit with the six key variables, including emotional expectations, conformation, quality perception, satisfaction, detections of deep acting and surface acting. The results confirmed good fit indices ($\chi^2_{86} = 175.408$, p < 0.000; RMSEA = 0.063; CFI = 0.978; NFI = 0.959; GFI = 0.925; RFI = 0.942; IFI = 0.978; TLI = 0.970)

TABLE 2 | Items, standardized factor loadings and Cronbach's a.

Constructs/Scale items	Standardized factor loadings	Cronbach's α
Emotional service expectation		0.789
I anticipated experiencing sympathy in relation to this service provider.	0.813	
I anticipated experiencing compassion in relation to this service provider.	0.952	
I anticipated experiencing enjoyment in relation to this service provider.	0.510	
Overall confirmation		0.815
Overall, this service was worse than expected. ¹	0.805	
Overall, this service was better than expected.	0.871	
Perceived quality		0.975
Poor-excellent	0.969	
Inferior-superior	0.955	
Low standards-high standards	0.968	
Customer satisfaction		0.933
I am satisfied with my decision to visit this service provider. I think I did the right thing when I purchased this service.	0.979 0.893	
Deep acting emotional labor		0.934
This service provider tried to actually experience the emotions s/he had to show to me.	0.914	
This service provider worked hard to feel the emotions that s/he needed to show to me.	0.882	
This service provider made a strong effort to actually feel the emotions that s/he needed to display toward me.	0.931	
Surface acting emotional labor		0.898
This service provider just pretended to have the emotions s/he displayed to me.	0.871	
This service provider put on a 'mast' in order to display the emotions his/her boss wants him/her to display.	0.918	
This service provider showed feelings to me that are different from what s/he actually felt.	0.805	

¹Reverse coded item.

of the measurement model. Factor loadings for the indicators for each variable were all significant and sufficiently higher than the recommended value of 0.50 (Table 2), indicating convergent validity (Grayson and Marsh, 1994). All Cronbach's alpha values for each variable were above the minimum threshold of 0.70 (Hair et al., 1998), suggesting internal consistency in measurement items. As shown in Table 3, composite reliability values for each construct ranged from 0.815 to 0.975, greater than 0.70, indicating good reliability (Hair et al., 2011). Average value extracted (AVE) values ranged from 0.609 to 0.929, all above 0.50, confirming convergent validity (Hair et al., 2011). Also, these AVE values were all greater than the square of correlation between pairs of constructs, achieving discriminant validity (Fornell and Larcker, 1981). All constructs' correlations were less than the threshold of 0.85, confirming further discriminant validity (Kline, 2005). The means, standard deviations, composite reliability, average variance extracted, and Pearson's correlations of variables are reported in Table 3.

TABLE 3 | Means, standard deviations, reliabilities, AVE, and correlations.

	DA	SA	ESE	ос	PQ	CS
DA	0.935 ^a	0.020	0.141	0.460	0.364	0.476
SA	-0.141 ^b	0.900	0.011	0.075	0.044	0.032
ESE	0.375	0.107	0.815	0.132	0.125	0.163
OC	0.678	-0.273	0.363	0.826	0.630	0.672
PQ	0.603	-0.209	0.354	0.794	0.975	0.601
CS	0.690	-0.180	0.404	0.820	0.775	0.931
Means	4.239	3.813	4.232	4.333	4.442	4.693
SD	1.510	1.490	1.290	1.702	1.680	1.584
AVE	0.827	0.750	0.609	0.703	0.929	0.878

DA, deep acting; SA, surface acting; ESE, emotional service expectation; OC, overall confirmation; PQ, perceived quality; CS, customer satisfaction; SD, standard deviation; AVE, average variance extracted. Model measurement fit: $\chi^2_{86} = 175.408$, p < 0.000; RMSEA = 0.063; CFI = 0.978; NFI = 0.959; GFI = 0.925; RFI = 0.924; IFI = 0.978; TLI = 0.970. ^aComposite reliabilities highlighted in shade are along the diagonal. ^bCorrelations between constructs are above the diagonal.

TABLE 4 | Results of the tests of path coefficients.

Hypotheses	Paths	Path coefficient (β)	p-value
H1 (supported)	$ESE\toOC$	0.582	***
H2 (rejected)	$ESE\toPQ$	-0.054	0.401
H3 (supported)	$OC\toPQ$	0.899	***
H4 (supported)	$OC\toCS$	0.930	***
H5 (rejected)	$PQ\toCS$	0.004	0.973

***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05. Goodness-of-fit: $\chi^2_{25} = 53.801$, p < 0.000; GFI = 0.961; NFI = 0.980; CFI = 0.989; RFI = 0.964; IFI = 0.989; TLI = 0.981; RMSEA = 0.066. ESE, emotional service expectation; OC, overall confirmation; PQ, perceived quality; CS, customer satisfaction.

Structural Model Tests

The results of the structural equation modeling (SEM) with maximum likelihood estimation procedure showed a good model fit (χ^2_{25} = 53.801, p < 0.000; $\chi^2/df = 2.151$; GFI = 0.961; NFI = 0.980; CFI = 0.989; RFI = 0.964; IFI = 0.989; TLI = 0.981; RMSEA = 0.066). Table 4 presents empirical findings of the hypothesized relationships within the original model. Emotional service expectations were found to significantly and positively influence the overall confirmation ($\beta = 0.582$, p < 0.001, H1), but not significantly influence perceived quality $(\beta = -0.054, p = 0.401, H2)$. Overall confirmation significantly and positively linked to perceived quality ($\beta = 0.899$, p < 0.001, H3) and customer satisfaction ($\beta = 0.930$, p < 0.001, H4). The hypothesized path from perceived quality to customer satisfaction was found to be insignificant ($\beta = 0.004$, p = 0.973, H5). Overall, the findings supported Hypotheses 1, 3, and 4, but provided no support for Hypotheses 2 and 4.

Tests of Measurement Invariance

Prior to testing moderating effects, a measurement invariance test across two groups of moderators was conducted (Steenkamp and Baumgartner, 1998). In this study, respondents were divided into two groups of each of moderators of deep and surface acting by a median-split method: high (n = 130) and low (n = 90)

groups of deep acting; and high (n = 113) and low (n = 107)groups of surface acting. For each moderator, an unconstrained model (baseline model) and a constrained model (invariance model) were generated and tested. In the invariance model, factor loading, factor variances, and covariances were constrained to be equivalent across the two groups from the baseline model. As indicated in **Table 5**, Fit indices of Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) and Comparative Fit Index (CFI) were checked because they are relatively less sensitive to sample size (Fan et al., 1999), while the Chi-square index is relatively sensitive to sample size (Byrne, 2001).

With regard to *deep acting*, the overall model fits were excellent both for the baseline model ($\chi^2_{52} = 125.213$, CFI = 0.966; RMSEA = 0.073) and the invariance model ($\chi^2_{58} = 134.694$, CFI = 0.965; RMSEA = 0.071) (**Table 5**). The difference in χ^2 between those two models was insignificant ($\Delta \chi^2_6 = 1.580$, p > 0.05), supporting the invariance model. The results confirmed that the measurement model was equivalent across high and low groups, so the invariance model was employed for the subsequent analyses of moderating effects of deep acting.

The structural invariance test for *surface acting* were conducted in the same way; the baseline (unconstrained) model $(\chi^2_{52} = 118.909, \text{ CFI} = 0.976; \text{ RMSEA} = 0.070)$ and the invariance (constrained) model $(\chi^2_{58} = 123.271, \text{ CFI} = 0.976; \text{ RMSEA} = 0.066)$ showed excellent fits to the data. Again, there was no significant difference in χ^2 between the baseline and invariance models $(\Delta\chi^2_6 = 0.702, p > 0.05)$, supporting the invariance model. Therefore, the invariance model was adopted for subsequent analysis of moderating effects of surface acting.

Tests of Moderating Effect of Deep and Surface Acting

For the moderating effect tests of *deep acting*, a baseline model was generated by adding the hypothesized links among the variables based on the invariance model in both high and low deep acting groups. As shown in **Table 6**, the baseline model satisfactorily fit to the data ($\chi^2_{50} = 94.997$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.979; RMSEA = 0.059). In the nested models, the hypothesized paths were constrained to be equal for high and low groups. The baseline model and a series of the nested models (equal path model) were compared in pairs to analyze moderating effects

TABLE 5 Results of measurement invariance test.								
		χ ²	df	CFI	RMSEA	$\Delta\chi^2/df$	$\Delta\chi^2$ Sig. df	
Deep acting	Baseline model (unconstrained)	125.213	52	0.966	0.073	9.481/6	No	
	Invariance model (λ constrained)	134.694	58	0.965	0.071			
Surface acting	Baseline model (unconstrained)	118.909	52	0.976	0.070	4.362/6	No	
	Invariance model (λ constrained)	123.271	58	0.976	0.066			

		Deep acting: high			Deep acting: high Deep acting: low						hts of strained))	
	Paths	Path coefficient	Critical ratio (t-value)	<i>p</i> -value	Path coefficient	Critical ratio (t-value)	<i>p</i> -value	χ2	df	CFI	RMSEA	$\Delta\chi^2/df^1$	Δχ² Sig. df
H6	$ESE \to OC$	0.766	4.375	***	0.630	1.537	0.124	96.894	51	0.979	0.059	1.897/1	No
H7	$ESE \to PQ$	-0.200	-1.037	0.300	0.046	1.769	0.077	98.314	51	0.978	0.060	3.317/1	No
H8	$OC\toPQ$	0.862	4.075	***	0.796	8.895	***	96.045	51	0.979	0.058	1.048/1	No
H9	$OC\toCS$	0.936	5.852	***	0.641	4.516	***	97.808	51	0.979	0.059	2.811/1	No
H10	$PQ\toCS$	-0.026	-0.247	0.805	0.267	2.106	0.035*	97.744	51	0.979	0.059	2.747/1	No

TABLE 6 | Results of path and model comparison of deep acting.

***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05. ¹Each of the nested models was compared with a baseline model (unconstrained): χ²₅₀ = 94.997, CFI = 0.979; RMSEA = 0.059.



of deep acting. Contrary to our expectations, the differences in χ^2 between high and low deep acting groups on each of the hypothesized paths were all found to be insignificant, rejecting Hypotheses 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 (**Figure 2** and **Table 6**). In other words, the original relationships among the variables were not moderated by deep acting. The findings related to deep acting were reported in **Figure 2** and **Table 6**.

In the same way, a baseline model and a series of nested models (equal path model) for *surface acting* were compared in pairs (**Table** 7), and the baseline model provided an excellent fit to the data ($\chi^2_{50} = 96.225$, CFI = 0.983; RMSEA = 0.059). On the path from emotional service expectation to overall confirmation, there was a significant difference in Chi-square between the baseline model and the nested model ($\chi^2_{51} = 112.931$, CFI = 0.978; RMSEA = 0.068, $\Delta\chi^2_1 = 16.706$, p < 0.001), in support of Hypothesis 11. The positive effect of emotional service expectation on overall confirmation was significant when surface acting was *less* detected ($\beta = 0.909$, *t*-value = 5.677, p < 0.001), while such a positive effect

turned to be insignificant when surface acting was strongly detected ($\beta = 0.197$, *t*-value = 1.258, p = 0.208). That means that surface acting offsets the positive influence of emotional service expectation on overall confirmation. The other nested models were not significantly different from the baseline model, rejecting Hypotheses 12, 13, 14, and 15. The findings of path model comparisons for surface acting were reported in **Figure 3** and **Table 7**.

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to develop an alternative conceptual model articulating the role of *emotional service expectation* toward customer satisfaction and the moderating roles of customer detections of deep acting and surface acting on their relationships; the five paths were proposed among the variables, including emotional service expectation, overall confirmation, perceived quality, and customer satisfaction, and

		Sur	ace acting: high Surface acting: low								ment weig Iels (λ con		
	Paths	Path coefficient	Critical ratio (t-value)	p-value	Path coefficient	Critical ratio (t-value)	<i>p</i> -value	χ ²	df	CFI	RMSEA	$\Delta \chi^2/df^1$	$\Delta \chi^2$ Sig. df
H11	$ESE\toOC$	0.197	1.258	0.208	0.909	5.677	***	112.931	51	0.978	0.068	16.706/1	Yes
H12	$ESE\toPQ$	-0.141	-1.257	0.209	0.087	0.333	0.739	96.565	51	0.983	0.058	0.340/1	No
H13	$\text{OC} \rightarrow \text{PQ}$	0.855	8.809	***	0.820	3.210	0.001**	97.047	51	0.983	0.059	0.822/1	No
H14	$\text{OC} \rightarrow \text{CS}$	0.901	5.733	***	0.890	5.379	* * *	97.027	51	0.983	0.059	0.802/1	No
H15	$PQ\toCS$	0.041	0.312	0.755	0.025	0.163	0.870	96.230	51	0.984	0.058	0.004/1	No

TABLE 7 | Results of path and model comparison of surface acting.

***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01. ¹ Each of the nested models was compared with a baseline model (unconstrained): χ²₅₀ = 96.225, CFI = 0.983; RMSEA = 0.059.



then detections of deep and surface acting were imposed on each of the paths to verify the moderating effects. We hypothesized that the detection of deep acting would cement each of the relationships while the detection of surface acting would weaken those relationships.

As expected, the role of customer's emotional service expectation was significant in overall service confirmation (Hypothesis 1), which further influenced perceived quality (Hypothesis 3) and satisfaction (Hypothesis 4). The results are consistent with expectation violation theory (Burgoon, 1993) positing that an individual interacts with others with expectancy in which interaction outcomes are determined. Also, the study's results supported Farrell and Oczkowski (2009) arguments that service outcomes are likely to be confirmed by employee–customer interactions that take place for service delivery. However, this study did not find the significant relationship between perceived quality and customer satisfaction (Hypothesis 5); this is not congruent with the dominant belief in existing studies. We postulate, overall confirmation sufficiently strongly influences customer satisfaction (Hypothesis 4), so the influence of perceived quality on customer satisfaction becomes relatively weak in this study construct.

A growing body of research has demonstrated the roles of emotional strategies in customer judgments and perceptions (Groth et al., 2009; Hülsheger et al., 2010; Grandey and Gabriel, 2015). Hülsheger et al. (2010) suggested that influences of emotional strategies on the customer's decisions are significant and universal. However, in this study, the moderating effects of customer detection of emotional strategies were limited to the influence of emotional service expectation on overall confirmation; Customer detection of employees' surface acting negatively influences service confirmation in the beginning stage of interaction (Hypothesis 11) and, as a result, indirectly decreases perceived quality and satisfaction. Whereas all the other hypothesized moderating effects were found to be insignificant. Especially, detections of deep acting hardly influence customer perception and evaluation of services. These results are somewhat consistent with Hur et al. (2015), indicating there were no direct impacts of employees' deep acting strategies on service assessments.

Theoretical and Practical Implications

Despite a growing awareness of the critical roles of employees' emotional services, little has been known about how customers' emotional service expectations and employees' emotional displays influence service assessments in the hospitality service context. The major theoretical contribution of this study demonstrates the role of employees' emotional display strategies in the relationship between customer emotional service expectation and overall confirmation that further influenced satisfaction and perceived quality. This study extends the wellknown body of literature articulating the roles of expectation in customer satisfaction (Oliver, 1980; Teas, 1993) by integrating emotional factors in a manner in which customer emotional expectation-confirmation influences perceived quality and satisfaction that are moderated by emotional display strategies. This study provides confirmative evidence that emotional service expectation and emotional display strategies play a critical role in service confirmation, suggesting that comprehensive understating of customer behaviors in the hotel service context is critical.

Also, this study successfully extends the traditional model framework consisting of direct and mediating effects based on expectancy-disconfirmation theory by incorporating emotional components as moderators. There are two contrasting theories explaining the effects of expectations. *Direct effect hypothesis* claims that expectations have a direct, positive impact on customer satisfaction (Park et al., 2018) while *Affective expectation model* emphasizes roles of discrepancy between actual and expected service outcomes in satisfaction (Wilson and Klaaren, 1992). The results of this study confirmed both of the expectation theories. Emotional service expectation has direct, positive effects on service outcomes (H1) while its influences on overall confirmation differ by detections of high and low surface acting (H11).

Customers have typical expectancies about employees' emotional services, such as "service with a smile" (Parasuraman et al., 1985; Schminke et al., 2014). Burgoon and Walther (1990) claimed that expectancy is associated with predictions rather than desires. Consistent with their arguments, customers seem to *predict authentic emotional services* from employees; surface acting such as faking smiles appears not enough to enhance positive outcomes and even worse, has negative impacts on overall confirmation. Service managers are "wise to want workers to be sincere, to go well beyond the smile that's just painted on" (Hochschild, 1983, p. 33). Even though some researchers argued that there is no difference in customer reactions and service outcomes between displays of authentic and fake emotions (Beal et al., 2006; Chi et al., 2011; Wang and Groth, 2014), the study's results suggest that customer decisions can differ by customers' detections of employees' emotional displays, whether they are real or fake. Thus, service organizations need to intervene to help their employees adopt deep acting strategies to meet customer emotional service expectations. Possible training may include perspective taking and empathy training to help employees understand customer's perspectives and display genuine emotions. In summary, managerial emphasis should be on hiring those who can genuinely express their emotions and training them to understand customer's needs sincerely (Parker and Axtell, 2001).

Limitation and Future Research

As is the case with any research, there are limitations that can be suggested for future research. First, this study explored the influence of customers' *predictive* expectations as an independent variable, so the other dimensions of expectations need to be investigated. Expectations can be classified into normative (i.e., what should be), predictive (i.e., what customers really expect), and equitable expectations (i.e., what customers should receive, taking into account the expenses borne) (Medrano et al., 2016). For the future research, it seems worthwhile comparing influences of different dimensions of customers' expectations. Second, this study used an online panel in which respondents were asked questions recalling their most recent service experiences. While the use of an online panel is suitable to collect a large sample and the use of experience and memory based measures of emotions allows researchers to investigate real service users, these methods are subject to several response biases, such as selection bias, non-response bias, recall bias, and memory bias as questionnaires are not distributed perfectly randomly and/or participants have difficulty in retrieving the detailed information of the past experience. Another limit of this study is that the questionnaires were collected in the United States, and there may be different findings across cultures and nations. Norms and interpretations about emotion-communication may be specific to cultures, so customer responses to employees' emotional displays are likely to vary across cultures (Triandis, 1989). For example, compared with individualist cultures, collectivist cultures tend to emphasize connectedness to other people, conformity, and social contribution (Ariely, 2008), so more severe emotional duties and obligations are likely to be implicitly imposed on employees in these cultures. In turn, customers in collectivist cultures may strongly predict employees' deep acting strategies, while being more sensitive to surface acting. Fourth, factors unrelated services, such as weather, personality and customer emotions per se, may influence customers' assessment of employees' emotion displays (Penz and Hogg, 2011; Pelegrín-Borondo et al., 2015). Therefore, more properly controlled experiments seem to be necessary for future research to clearly determine causality among the variables. Lastly, it is necessary to explore which categorical emotional displays are responsible for the degree of customers' detections of deep and surface action (Pelegrín-Borondo et al., 2015). Then, future research may give even greater insights into human resource management practically and academically in the hospitality industry.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

Allen, J. A., Pugh, S. D., Grandey, A. A., and Groth, M. (2010). Following display rules in good or bad faith? Customer orientation as a moderator of the display rule-emotional labor relationship. *Hum. Perform.* 23, 101–115. doi: 10.1021/ ja800916d

Ariely, D. (2008). Predictably Irrational. New York, NY: HarperCollins.

- Ashforth, B. E., and Humphrey, R. H. (1993). Emotional labor in service roles: the influence of identity. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 18, 88–115. doi: 10.3109/09638237. 2012.734656
- Babin, B. J., Chebat, J. C., and Michon, R. (2004). Perceived appropriateness and its effect on quality, affect and behavior. J. Retail. Cons. Serv. 11, 287–298. doi: 10.1016/j.jretconser.2003.09.002
- Baranik, L. E., Wang, M., Gong, Y., and Shi, J. (2017). Customer mistreatment, employee health, and job performance: cognitive rumination and social sharing as mediating mechanisms. J. Manag. 43, 1261–1282. doi: 10.1177/ 0149206314550995
- Beal, D. J., Trougakos, J. P., Weiss, H. M., and Green, S. G. (2006). Episodic processes in emotional labor: perceptions of affective delivery and regulation strategies. J. Appl. Psychol. 91:1053.
- Brady, M. K., and Cronin J. J. Jr., (2001). Some new thoughts on conceptualizing perceived service quality: a hierarchical approach. J. Mark. 65, 34–49. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.65.3.34.18334
- Brotheridge, C. M., and Lee, R. T. (2003). Development and validation of the emotional labour scale. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 76, 365–379. doi: 10.1348/ 096317903769647229
- Burgoon, J. K. (1993). Interpersonal expectations, expectancy violations, and emotional communication. J. Lang. Soc. Psychol. 12, 30–48. doi: 10.1177/ 0261927X93121003
- Burgoon, J. K., and Walther, J. B. (1990). Nonverbal expectancies and the evaluative consequences of violations. *Hum. Commun. Res.* 17, 232–265. doi: 10.1111/j. 1468-2958.1990.tb00232.x
- Burns, D. J., and Neisner, L. (2006). Customer satisfaction in a retail setting: the contribution of emotion. *Int. J. Retail Distri. Manag.* 34, 49–66. doi: 10.1108/ 09590550610642819
- Byrne, B. M. (2001). Structural equation modeling with AMOS, EQS, and LISREL: comparative approaches to testing for the factorial validity of a measuring instrument. *Int. J. Test.* 1, 55–86. doi: 10.1207/S15327574IJT0101_4
- Chi, N. W., Grandey, A. A., Diamond, J. A., and Krimmel, K. R. (2011). Want a tip? Service performance as a function of emotion regulation and extraversion. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 96:1337. doi: 10.1037/a0022884
- Davis, M. H., Mitchell, K. V., Hall, J. A., Lothert, J., Snapp, T., and Meyer, M. (1999). Empathy, expectations, and situational preferences: personality influences on the decision to participate in volunteer helping behaviors. *J. Pers.* 67, 469–503. doi: 10.1111/1467-6494.00062
- Diefendorff, J. M., and Greguras, G. J. (2009). Contextualizing emotional display rules: examining the roles of targets and discrete emotions in shaping display rule perceptions. *J. Manag.* 35, 880–898. doi: 10.1177/01492063083 21548
- Diefendorff, J. M., and Richard, E. M. (2003). Antecedents and consequences of emotional display rule perceptions. J. Appl. Psychol. 88:284.
- Diefendorff, J. M., Richard, E. M., and Croyle, M. H. (2006). Are emotional display rules formal job requirements? Examination of employee and supervisor perceptions. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 79, 273–298. doi: 10.1348/ 096317905X68484
- Fan, X., Thompson, B., and Wang, L. (1999). Effects of sample size, estimation methods, and model specification on structural equation modeling fit indexes. *Struct. Equ. Model* 6, 56–83. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540119
- Farrell, M. A., and Oczkowski, E. (2009). Service worker customer orientation, organisation/job fit and perceived organisational support. J. Strat. Mark. 17, 149–167. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2016.01.007

FUNDING

This work was supported by the research fund of Hanyang University (HY-2018).

- Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J. Mark. Res. 18, 39–50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- Gabriel, A. S., Daniels, M. A., Diefendorff, J. M., and Greguras, G. J. (2015). Emotional labor actors: a latent profile analysis of emotional labor strategies. J. Appl. Psychol. 100:863. doi: 10.1037/a0037408
- Gaur, S. S., Herjanto, H., and Makkar, M. (2014). Review of emotions research in marketing, 2002–2013. J. Retail. Cons. Serv. 21, 917–923. doi: 10.1016/j. jretconser.2014.08.009
- Gracia, E., Bakker, A. B., and Grau, R. M. (2011). Positive emotions: the connection between customer quality evaluations and loyalty. *Cornell Hosp. Quart.* 52, 458–465. doi: 10.1177/1938965510395379
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotional regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5:95. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A. (2003). When "the show must go on": surface acting and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96.
- Grandey, A. A., Fisk, G. M., Mattila, A. S., Jansen, K. J., and Sideman, L. A. (2005). Is "service with a smile" enough? Authenticity of positive displays during service encounters. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 96, 38–55. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp. 2004.08.002
- Grandey, A. A., and Gabriel, A. S. (2015). Emotional labor at a crossroads: where do we go from here? Ann. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 2, 323–349. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032414-111400
- Grayson, D., and Marsh, H. W. (1994). Identification with deficient rank loading matrices in confirmatory factor analysis: multitrait-multimethod models. *Psychometrika* 59, 121–134. doi: 10.1007/BF02294271
- Grönroos, C. (1984). A service quality model and its marketing implications. *Eur. J. Mark.* 18, 36–44. doi: 10.1108/EUM000000004784
- Groth, M., Hennig-Thurau, T., and Walsh, G. (2009). Customer reactions to emotional labor: the roles of employee acting strategies and customer detection accuracy. *Acad. Manag. J.* 52, 958–974. doi: 10.5465/amj.2009.44634116
- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Tatham, R. L., and Black, W. C. (1998). *Multivariate Data Analysis*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hair, J. F., Ringle, C. M., and Sarstedt, M. (2011). PLS-SEM: Indeed a silver bullet. J. Mark. Theor. Pract. 19, 139–152. doi: 10.2753/MTP1069-6679190202
- Han, H. (2013). Effects of in-flight ambience and space/function on air travelers' decision to select a low-cost airline. *Tour. Manag.* 37, 125–135. doi: 10.1016/j. tourman.2013.01.008
- Han, H., and Jeong, C. (2013). Multi-dimensions of patrons' emotional experiences in upscale restaurants and their role in loyalty formation: emotion scale improvement. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 32, 59–70. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2012.04.004
- Hatfield, E., Cacioppo, J. T., and Rapson, R. L. (1994). Emotional Contagion: Studies in Emotion and Social Interaction. Editions De La Maison Des Sciences De L'homme. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Groth, M., Paul, M., and Gremler, D. D. (2006). Are all smiles created equal? How emotional contagion and emotional labor affect service relationships. J. Mark. 70, 58–73. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.70.3.058
- Heskett, J. L., Jones, T. O., Loveman, G. W., Sasser, W. E., and Schlesinger, L. A. (1994). Putting the service-profit chain to work. *Harv. Bus. Rev.* 72, 164–174.
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Homburg, C., and Stock, R. M. (2004). The link between salespeople's job satisfaction and customer satisfaction in a business-to-business context: a dyadic analysis. J. Acad. Mark. Sci. 32:144. doi: 10.1177/0092070303261415
- Hülsheger, U. R., Lang, J. W., and Maier, G. W. (2010). Emotional labor, strain, and performance: testing reciprocal relationships in a longitudinal panel study. *J. Occup. Health psychol.* 15:505. doi: 10.1037/a0021003
- Humphrey, S. E., Nahrgang, J. D., and Morgeson, F. P. (2007). Integrating motivational, social, and contextual work design features: a meta-analytic

summary and theoretical extension of the work design literature. J. Appl. Psychol. 92:1332.

- Hur, W. M., Moon, T. W., and Jung, Y. S. (2015). Customer response to employee emotional labor: the structural relationship between emotional labor, job satisfaction, and customer satisfaction. J. Serv. Mark. 29, 71–80. doi: 10.1108/ JSM-07-2013-0161
- Johanson, M. M., and Woods, R. H. (2008). Recognizing the emotional element in service excellence. *Cornell Hosp. Quar.* 49, 310–316. doi: 10.1177/ 1938965508316267
- Johnson, H. A. M., and Spector, P. E. (2007). Service with a smile: do emotional intelligence, gender, and autonomy moderate the emotional labor process? J. Occup. Health Psychol. 12:319. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12.4.319
- Kenny, D. A. (2014). Measuring Model Fit in Structural Equation Modeling. Avaialable at: www.davidak-enny.net/cm/fit.htm (accessed October 15, 2016).
- Kline, R. B. (2005). Methodology in the Social Sciences. Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling 2nd edn. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Koenig-Lewis, N., and Palmer, A. (2014). The effects of anticipatory emotions on service satisfaction and behavioral intention. J. Serv. Mark. 28, 437–451. doi: 10.1108/JSM-09-2013-0244
- Krumhuber, E., Manstead, A. S., Cosker, D., Marshall, D., Rosin, P. L., and Kappas, A. (2007). Facial dynamics as indicators of trustworthiness and cooperative behavior. *Emotion* 7:730. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.7. 4.730
- Ladhari, R. (2009). Service quality, emotional satisfaction, and behavioural intentions: a study in the hotel industry. *Manag. Serv. Qual.* 19, 308–331. doi: 10.1108/09604520910955320
- Lam, W., Huo, Y., and Chen, Z. (2018). Who is fit to serve? Personjob/organization fit, emotional labor, and customer service performance. *Hum. Res. Manag.* 57, 483–497. doi: 10.1002/hrm.21871
- Lin, J. S. C., and Liang, H. Y. (2011). The influence of service environments on customer emotion and service outcomes. *Manag. Serv. Qual.* 21, 350–372. doi: 10.1108/09604521111146243
- Mattila, A. S., and Enz, C. A. (2002). The role of emotions in service encounters. *J. Serv. Res.* 4, 268–277. doi: 10.1177/1094670502004004004
- Medrano, N., Olarte-Pascual, C., Pelegrín-Borondo, J., and Sierra-Murillo, Y. (2016). Consumer behavior in shopping streets: the importance of the salesperson's professional personal attention. *Front. Psychol.* 7:125. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2016.00125
- Menguc, B., Auh, S., Fisher, M., and Haddad, A. (2013). To be engaged or not to be engaged: the antecedents and consequences of service employee engagement. *J. Bus. Res.* 66, 2163–2170. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.01.007
- Moin, M. F. (2018). The link between perceptions of leader emotion regulation and followers' organizational commitment. J. Manag. Dev. 37, 178–187. doi: 10.1108/JMD-01-2017-0014
- Oliver, R. L. (1980). A cognitive model of the antecedents and consequences of satisfaction decisions. J. Mark. Res. 17, 460–469. doi: 10.1177/00222437 8001700405
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V. A., and Berry, L. L. (1985). A conceptual model of service quality and its implications for future research. J. Mark. 49, 41–50. doi: 10.1177/002224298504900403
- Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V. A., and Berry, L. L. (1988). Servqual: a multiple-item scale for measuring consumer perc. J. Retail. 64:12.
- Park, S., Hahn, S., Lee, T., and Jun, M. (2018). Two factor model of consumer satisfaction: international tourism research. *Tour. Manag.* 67, 82–88. doi: 10. 1016/j.tourman.2018.01.007
- Parker, S. K., and Axtell, C. M. (2001). Seeing another viewpoint: antecedents and outcomes of employee perspective taking. *Acad. Manag. J.* 44, 1085–1100.
- Pelegrín-Borondo, J., Juaneda-Ayensa, E., González-Menorca, L., and González-Menorca, C. (2015). Dimensions and basic emotions: a complementary

approach to the emotions produced to tourists by the hotel. J. Vacat. Mark. 21, 351–365. doi: 10.1177/1356766715580869

- Penz, E., and Hogg, M. K. (2011). The role of mixed emotions in consumer behaviour: investigating ambivalence in consumers' experiences of approach-avoidance conflicts in online and offline settings. *Eur. J. Mark.* 45, 104–132. doi: 10.1108/03090561111095612
- Roch, C. H., and Poister, T. H. (2006). Citizens, accountability, and service satisfaction: the influence of expectations. *Urban Aff. Rev.* 41, 292–308. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2012.05.006
- Sandström, S., Edvardsson, B., Kristensson, P., and Magnusson, P. (2008). Value in use through service experience. *Manag. Serv. Qual.* 18, 112–126. doi: 10.1108/ 09604520810859184
- Schepers, J. J., Nijssen, E. J., and van der Heijden, G. A. (2016). Innovation in the frontline: exploring the relationship between role conflict, ideas for improvement, and employee service performance. *Int. J. Res. Mark.* 33, 797– 817. doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.01.004
- Schminke, M., Caldwell, J., Ambrose, M. L., and McMahon, S. R. (2014). Better than ever? Employee reactions to ethical failures in organizations, and the ethical recovery paradox. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 123, 206–219. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2013.10.002
- Steenkamp, J. B. E., and Baumgartner, H. (1998). Assessing measurement invariance in cross-national consumer research. J. Cons. Res. 25, 78–90. doi: 10.1086/209528
- Sutton, A. W., Baldwin, S. P., Wood, L., and Hoffman, B. J. (2013). A meta-analysis of the relationship between rater liking and performance ratings. *Hum. Perform.* 26, 409–429. doi: 10.1080/08959285.2013.836523
- Teas, R. K. (1993). Consumer expectations and the measurement of perceived service quality. J. Profess. Serv. Mark. 8, 33–54. doi: 10.1300/J090v08n02_05
- Triandis, H. C. (1989). The self and social behavior in differing cultural contexts. *Psychol. Rev.* 96:506. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.96.3.506
- Tsai, W. (2001). Knowledge transfer in intraorganizational networks: effects of network position and absorptive capacity on business unit innovation and performance. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 996–1004.
- Uy, M. A., Lin, K. J., and Ilies, R. (2017). Is it better to give or receive? The role of help in buffering the depleting effects of surface acting. *Acad. Manag. J.* 60, 1442–1461. doi: 10.5465/amj.2015.0611
- Wang, K. L., and Groth, M. (2014). Buffering the negative effects of employee surface acting: the moderating role of employee–customer relationship strength and personalized services. J. Appl. Psychol. 99:341. doi: 10.1037/a0034428
- Westbrook, R. A., and Oliver, R. L. (1991). The dimensionality of consumption emotion patterns and consumer satisfaction. J. Cons. Res. 49, 41–50. doi: 10. 1086/209243
- Wilson, T. D., and Klaaren, K. J. (1992). Expectation whirls me round: The role of affective expectations on affective experiences. *Rev. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 14, 1–31.
- Wong, A. (2004). The role of emotional satisfaction in service encounters. Manag. Serv. Qual. 14, 365–376. doi: 10.1108/0960452041055 7976

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jeong, Park and Hyun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Emotional Labor in Knowledge-Based Service Relationships: The Roles of Self-Monitoring and Display Rule Perceptions

Shenghua Huang¹, Hongbiao Yin¹ and Lifang Tang^{2*}

¹ Faculty of Education, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Shatin, Hong Kong, ² Faculty of Education, Northeast Normal University, Changchun, China

Focusing on knowledge-based service relationships, this study examined knowledgebased service workers' (i.e., school teachers) emotional labor process and the consequential outcomes for their well-being. The study also examined the roles of two antecedents, namely, teachers' perceptions of display rules and self-monitoring tendencies. A sample of 1,656 school teachers participated in the study. The results showed that self-monitoring generally had stronger, though maladaptive, effects than display rule perceptions on individuals' use of emotional labor strategies (ELS) (i.e., surface acting and deep acting) and well-being (i.e., anxiety, depression, contentment, and enthusiasm). Both self-monitoring and display rule perceptions were positively related to two ELS. There were relatively stronger relationships between self-monitoring and surface acting, and between display rule perceptions and deep acting. Surface acting was positively related to anxiety and depression and negatively related to contentment and enthusiasm. Deep acting was positively related to anxiety, contentment, and enthusiasm. The examination of indirect effects showed that selfmonitoring was positively related to anxiety and depression and negatively related to enthusiasm and contentment. Display rule perceptions were weakly, but positively, related to anxiety and depression. These results suggest that self-monitoring may be less beneficial than previously thought. Knowledge-based service workers' display rule perceptions and deep acting may not necessarily be harmful to their well-being, but reflect their role identification and commitment. Theoretical contributions and practical suggestions of this study were discussed.

Keywords: knowledge-based service, emotional labor, well-being, self-monitoring, display rule perceptions

INTRODUCTION

Employees' emotional labor has emerged as an essential way to cultivate customer satisfaction and loyalty and to forge and maintain sound customer relationships (Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Côté, 2005; Grandey et al., 2005; Hülsheger et al., 2015). Emotional labor is the process by which employees display appropriate emotional expressions as required implicitly or explicitly

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jungkun Park, Hanyang University, South Korea

Reviewed by:

Sang-Lin Han, Hanyang University, South Korea Catherine S. Daus, Southern Illinois University Edwardsville, United States

> *Correspondence: Lifang Tang tanglf571@nenu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 11 September 2018 Accepted: 25 March 2019 Published: 09 April 2019

Citation:

Huang S, Yin H and Tang L (2019) Emotional Labor in Knowledge-Based Service Relationships: The Roles of Self-Monitoring and Display Rule Perceptions. Front. Psychol. 10:801. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00801 by their organizations (Hochschild, 1983; Grandey, 2000; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). Unlike emotional management in a general sense, emotional labor is performed in exchange for wages (Grandey, 2000). The importance of emotional labor in service companies is self-evident. A successful service delivery depends on the positive interactions or cooperation between customers and employees (Gummesson, 1991; Gremler et al., 2001; Groth et al., 2009). Customer satisfaction and loyalty are also largely influenced by the emotional aspects of these interactions (Gremler et al., 2001; Groth et al., 2009; Hülsheger et al., 2015). Generally, previous studies have shown that friendly and authentic emotional expressions are highly predictive of customers' positive reactions and satisfaction (Côté, 2005; Grandey et al., 2005; Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006; Groth et al., 2009). Nevertheless, the improvement of service quality through emotional labor is thought to be at the expense of employees' well-being (Hochschild, 1983; Holman et al., 2008; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Scott et al., 2012). A large number of studies have investigated the effects of the emotional labor process on employees' mental health and well-being (Holman et al., 2008). These studies generally revealed some negative effects of emotional labor on service employees. For example, emotional display rules are believed to be an extra burden on employees (Hochschild, 1983; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). Emotional labor process depletes limited mental resources and leads to employees' emotional exhaustion and reduced job satisfaction (Grandey, 2000; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Humphrey et al., 2015). Positive emotional expressions achieved through faking and hiding result in employees' sense of inauthenticity (Grandey, 2000; Humphrey et al., 2015).

Fortunately, the interests of the organization and the employees are not irreconcilable. Some researchers have suggested that emotional labor may not necessarily be harmful for employees. Emotional labor can be less stressful when employees recognize the importance of emotional labor and adopt appropriate strategies (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). The desired emotional expressions can be better achieved when organizations grant employees sufficient autonomy and provide them with proper instruction (Grandey, 2000). Emotional labor can even enhance employees' sense of accomplishment and job satisfaction, especially when there is a fit between the emotional requirements of the environment and employees' characteristics or personality (Hülsheger et al., 2013; Humphrey et al., 2015; Diefendorff et al., 2016). Despite the fact that more and more researchers tend to examine the complexity of emotional labor and its outcomes in light of different individual and organizational factors (Humphrey et al., 2015; Diefendorff et al., 2016), most studies were conducted among traditional service employees, such as bus captains, call center agents, and waiters/waitresses (e.g., Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Grandey et al., 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007; Scott et al., 2012; Hülsheger et al., 2015). Few studies have investigated the emotional labor performed by highcommitment, knowledge-based service (KBS) workers, such as teachers, lawyers, and accountants.

There are three important aspects distinguishing KBS workers from traditional service employees. First, interactions between

traditional service employees and customers exist in frequent, one-time, and short-term encounters, but those between KBS workers and customers involve some customized, stable, and long-term relationships (Gutek et al., 1999; Holman, 2003). Second, the emotional display rules of KBS workers are different from those of traditional service employees. As Mills and Moshavi (1999) suggested, for the high-commitment KBS workers, it is critical to exhibit both social affiliation and professional authority during their interactions with clients. These KBS workers generally need to maintain positive emotions and show friendliness in order to build relationships and elicit client cooperation. However, they still have some autonomy and can show strictness and authority when necessary (Mills and Moshavi, 1999; Holman, 2003). Third, KBS workers' motivation to perform emotional labor could be quite different from those of traditional service employees. The primary goal of their work is to provide information and suggestions using their expertise and knowledge, rather than to ensure their clients' comfort and relaxation. The emotional display rules for KBS workers thus are often implicit. KBS workers are less forced to perform emotional labor. The manner in which KBS workers regulate their emotions at work is seldom monitored by an immediate supervisor or colleagues. In sum, KBS workers have some but "limited" autonomy in expressing their true selves in the workplace. With different job requirements and work environments, different KBS workers (teachers, lawyers, and accountants) may interact with their clients (or students and parents) differently. Nevertheless, they still have to manage emotions and perform emotional labor at work.

The unique characteristics of KBS workers' emotional labor make some fundamental assumptions of emotional labor questionable. For example, do KBS workers perform emotional labor for the sake of organizations and mainly in exchange for wages (Grandey, 2000)? Are employees in "people work" faced with higher emotional demands with limited personal control over emotions (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002)? If KBS workers have more autonomy over their emotions and are not forced to display certain emotions, why are they still motivated to manage emotions at work and keep sound relationships with their clients? Thus, it is important to explore whether it is the perceived, external display rules or the internal self-monitoring tendencies that better explain KBS workers' motivation in performing emotional labor. Display rule perceptions, on the one hand, denotes KBS workers' awareness of the often implicit emotional rules for their interactions with clients (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Diefendorff et al., 2005; Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009). Self-monitoring, on the other hand, refers to their general tendency or willingness to monitor their own emotional expressions during personal interactions (Snyder, 1974; Snyder and Gangestad, 1986; Diefendorff et al., 2005; Bono and Vey, 2007). In other words, display rule perceptions reflect the external emotional demands and rules as perceived by KBS workers, while self-monitoring represents KBS workers' own internal monitoring tendency (Reeve et al., 2007). Previous studies on traditional service employees have examined the relationships between emotional labor and dispositional variables (e.g., self-monitoring) or situational variables (e.g., display rule perceptions) (Diefendorff et al., 2005; Bono and Vey, 2007; Holman et al., 2008). However, mixed findings are reported. These inconsistencies may be due to factors such as role identification, demand-ability fit, and contextual difference (Hülsheger et al., 2013; Humphrey et al., 2015; Diefendorff et al., 2016). Considering the uniqueness of KBS workers' emotional labor, a closer look at the emotional labor of KBS workers can contribute to the literature. Through a comprehensive comparison between display rule perceptions and self-monitoring and their effects, we can obtain a deeper understanding of KBS workers' emotional labor and the consequential well-being outcomes.

Thus, this study aims to examine how KBS workers' display rule perceptions and self-monitoring are related to their different emotional labor strategies (ELS) and the consequential well/ill-being outcomes. Specifically, this study attempts to address three questions as follows: (a) whether and how are different ELS related to KBS workers' well-being outcomes? (b) whether and how are display rule perceptions related to KBS workers' ELS and the consequential well-being outcomes? (c) whether and how is self-monitoring related to KBS workers' ELS and the consequential well-being outcomes? In the following sections, we review relevant theories and studies, propose and test our hypotheses, and discuss the theoretical contributions and practical implications of the results. We end by outlining research limitations and proposing directions for future studies.

LITERATURE REVIEW AND HYPOTHESES

Knowledge-Based Service and Customer Relationships

Typically, KBS workers use their knowledge, ideas, and other intellectual capital to fulfill their work; they diagnose client priorities and recommend a course of action to their clients (Mills and Moshavi, 1999). According to Mills and Moshavi (1999), KBS workers must balance "the paradox of getting close to the client while remaining somewhat detached (p. 53)." In other words, the relationship between KBS workers and clients is both a vertical and a peer relationship. The vertical relationship secures client compliance. KBS workers need to establish their own social status and authority in the vertical relationship. They may thus carefully maintain a social and professional distance from their clients, for example, through holding objective or sometimes critical attitudes toward them (Mills and Moshavi, 1999; Gremler et al., 2001). The peer relationship, on the other hand, contributes to in-depth understanding and cooperation. That is, KBS workers need to foster psychological attachment and social affiliation with their clients (Mills and Moshavi, 1999; Gremler et al., 2001).

In a similar vein, Holman (2003) identified two types of service interaction: mass service and high commitment service. Mass service is characterized by standardized service; one-time, short-term encounters between customers and employees; and low added value (Gutek et al., 1999). High commitment service is, in contrast, characterized by customized service; long-term, relatively stable relationships between customers and employees; and high added value (Gutek et al., 1999; Holman, 2003). Workers in high commitment service industries (e.g., KBS workers) are generally better paid and have greater decisionmaking latitude at work. They also have more opportunities for professional development and promotion (Gutek et al., 1999; Holman, 2003).

In addition, there are no explicit emotional display rules in their organizations. As compared to traditional service workers, KBS workers are usually granted great autonomy and flexibility in maintaining both their social affiliation and professional authority (Mills and Moshavi, 1999; Holman, 2003; Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009). Professional affairs are of more relevance to their jobs. Service workers and clients constitute small and comparatively independent economic units. Their interactions are relatively private and exist both inside and outside regular organizational contexts (Gummesson, 1991; Mills and Moshavi, 1999). A direct external supervision over workers' emotion regulation and expressions becomes less necessary or possible.

The unique characteristics of KBS workers' emotional labor thus deserve more attention. The co-existence of formal and personal relationships between KBS workers and clients makes their emotional labor process more flexible (Gutek et al., 1999; Holman, 2003). KBS workers perform emotional labor less frequently but more intensely than employees in mass service industries (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). As for the emotional display rules, although positive interactions are generally desired, KBS workers sometimes are able to display neutral or even negative emotions to maintain social and professional distance from their clients (Mills and Moshavi, 1999). More importantly, KBS workers' motivation to engage in different ELS may be quite different. Rather than being instructed or forced to perform emotional labor, KBS workers may voluntarily choose to regulate their emotions (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005). Specifically, KBS workers may perform emotional labor because they tend to monitor their emotional expressions during social interactions (self-monitoring), or because they identify and choose to follow the implicit emotional display rules at work (display rule perceptions) (Diefendorff et al., 2005).

School teachers, who are the focus of this study, are typical KBS workers. The agent-client relationships between teachers and students or parents are implicit and indirect. There is no contract signed directly between teachers and students. Each teacher has to act for a number of students and parents, and each student has several teachers who help them make decisions about their learning. Nevertheless, there are "invisible" contracts between teachers and students. On the one hand, most teachers understand their responsibilities and try to act in the best interests of their students. On the other hand, most students and parents trust teachers and let teachers decide on the proper courses of their learning and school activities. Actually, the co-existence of peer and vertical relationships, which is the most important characteristic of Mills and Moshavi's (1999) KBS workers, is much more commonly observed among teacher-student relationships than other agent-client relationships.

As KBS workers, teachers use their content knowledge and teaching experience to teach students, help students to find best ways to learn, and cooperate with colleagues and parents to fulfill their work. There are relative stable and long-term relationships between the teacher and the students. A teacher not only need to care for and about the students, but also establish authority and maintain classroom rule and discipline. In addition, there are no slogans such as "the students/parents are always right" for a teacher. Different teachers may have totally different understanding of the emotional display rules at the school (Hargreaves, 2000; Newberry, 2010; Yin, 2016). For example, some teachers may believe that teaching should be professional and emotion-neutral; others may believe that positive emotional interactions between teachers and students contribute to student learning and performance; and still others may believe that caring and loving their students are the most important responsibilities on their part. These dynamics among teachers reflect the unique nature of KBS workers' emotional labor. A further investigation on the relationships among teachers' display rule perceptions, self-monitoring, emotional labor and the consequential well-being outcomes will contribute to an in-depth understanding of the complexity of KBS workers' emotional labor.

Emotional Labor Strategies and Well/III-Being

Emotional labor means managing one's emotions to earn a wage (Hochschild, 1983). When performing emotional labor, employees and workers have to use appropriate strategies to regulate their inner feelings or external expressions. Two essential types of ELS are surface acting and deep acting. Surface acting involves hiding or faking emotions and leads to a consequent dissonance between expressed emotions and inner feelings. Deep acting refers to modifying or changing one's inner feelings and thus leads to the natural expressing of emotions required (Hochschild, 1983; Grandey, 2000; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). According to Grandey (2000). For example, when getting irritated by a student, a teacher can remain calm and positive through hiding his or her true emotions (i.e., surface acting). The teacher may also reappraise the situations and attribute students' misbehaviors to a lack of self-control or disadvantaged family backgrounds (i.e., deep acting), and thus feel more compassion and less anger. Additionally, rather than to regulate the emotions directly, a teacher may also choose to leave the classroom or suspend the on-going classroom activities to cope with these situations. The initiation of the emotion regulation process is closely related to situational cues, such as general interaction expectations, display rules, and real-time positive or negative affective events (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). The strategies adopted in the emotion regulation process and their effects vary across different individual characteristics (e.g., gender, affectivity, emotional self-monitoring, and emotional intelligence) and organizational factors (i.e., job autonomy, social supports) (Grandey, 2000; Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Hülsheger et al., 2013). The

empirical results suggest that individuals with higher emotional capacities (e.g., emotional intelligence, emotional knowledge) are found to use more deep acting than surface acting (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Yin et al., 2017). Perceived emotional job demands are found to increase the use of both types of ELS. Job autonomy and social support, on the other hand, can provide a buffer against the negative effects of emotional labor (Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Diefendorff et al., 2005; Holman et al., 2008).

In general, surface acting is more maladaptive than deep acting, though deep acting can also do harm to individuals' well-being (Côté, 2005; Holman et al., 2008; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). Previous theories and research generally suggest that surface acting is negatively related to individuals' well-being, because the process leads to mental resource depletion, a sense of inauthenticity, and negative feedback from customers (Grandey, 2000; Côté, 2005; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Hülsheger et al., 2013; Humphrey et al., 2015). However, the relationship between deep acting and wellbeing indicators is less consistent: deep acting is thought to have a dual effect on individuals' well-being (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). Although deep acting depletes mental resources and leads to emotional exhaustion, it is also related to positive customer feedback and a sense of pride and accomplishment (Grandey, 2000; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Humphrey et al., 2015). Consistently, empirical studies have found that surface acting is positively related to emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and a lack of personal accomplishment. Surface acting is also found to be negatively related to job satisfaction and self-efficacy (Goldberg and Grandey, 2007; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Yin, 2016). Deep acting is generally found to be positively related to emotional exhaustion. However, mixed findings were reported in terms of the relationships between deep acting and job satisfaction and personal accomplishment (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Yin, 2016).

For teachers or KBS workers in general, the emotional labor process is more flexible. However, there should be similar underlying mechanisms, through which ELS influence their well/ill-being outcomes. That is, when surface acting is adopted, a teacher has to spend sustained effort and mental resources (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002). The feelings of fatigue and inauthenticity can be reflected in their frequent experience of uneasiness and depression as well as a lack of enthusiasm or calmness during work (Grandey et al., 2005). When deep acting is adopted, the mental resources depletion process also leads to the unpleasant experience of anxiety or depression (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). However, the faithful effort of teachers may also contribute to more positive attitudes and feelings toward their work (e.g., contentment, enthusiasm) (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Yin et al., 2017). Given this dual process, it is necessary to explore the effects of ELS on ill-being and well-being indicators, respectively. In other words, ill-being and well-being should be treated as two distinct criteria rather than as two opposite ends of the continuum of well-being. Thus, based on Warr's (1990) conception of the four dimensions of well-being, which comprise two well-being indicators (contentment, enthusiasm) and two illbeing indicators (anxiety, depression), the following relationships are hypothesized:

H1a: Surface acting is positively related to anxiety and depression, and negatively related to contentment and enthusiasm.

H1b: Deep acting is positively related to anxiety and depression, and positively related to contentment and enthusiasm.

Display Rule Perceptions

Emotional display rules specify the appropriate kinds of emotional expressions and the ways emotions should be displayed (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Diefendorff et al., 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). A widely adopted classification of display rule perceptions distinguishes between positive display rule perceptions (i.e., rules for expressing positive emotions) and negative display rule perceptions (i.e., rules for suppressing negative emotions) (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Diefendorff et al., 2005). Although it is theoretically plausible that being required to "express positive emotions" is more palatable than to "hide negative emotions," many researchers have failed to differentiate the two dimensions of positive and negative perceptions (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). In fact, displaying positive emotions inevitably means not displaying negative ones, and vice versa. Therefore, it is simplest to classify display rules into three types: to express positive emotions (and thus hide negative ones), to express negative emotions (and thus hide positive ones), and to remain neutral (Côté, 2005). In the present study, we thus treat display rule perceptions as a single-dimension variable, which integrates expressing positive emotions and hiding negative ones (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005).

Since emotional display rules may be set explicitly or implicitly by organizations, the subjective perceptions of display rules can vary across individuals, especially when it comes to implicit rules (Diefendorff et al., 2005; Diefendorff and Greguras, 2009). Allen et al. (2014) suggested that people in collectivistic cultures are more concerned with social harmony and group cooperation, and thus perceive a greater number of emotional display rules and report more frequent use of ELS. For KBS workers, individualized perceptions of display rules are more common. As discussed above, the emotional display rules for KBS workers are generally implicit. Teachers are generally required to express positive emotions toward students and parents, although some negative emotions of teachers are still acceptable at school (Hargreaves, 2000). However, teachers may have different understandings of their expected roles and the appropriate emotional expressions at work. The lack of direct external supervision also makes it difficult to ensure each teacher has the same perception of and responses toward these emotional display rules.

As stated earlier, situational cues, such as emotional job demands, display rules, and real-time positive or negative affective events, may make emotional labor necessary (Grandey, 2000; Totterdell and Holman, 2003). Empirically, Brotheridge and Grandey (2002) found that both positive and negative display rule perceptions were positively related to emotional labor. Previous findings also indicated that the use of both types of emotional labor (i.e., surface acting and deep acting) increased in accordance with employees' awareness of emotional display rules/demands (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). For teachers, it is likely that highly perceived display rules will lead teachers to performing more emotional labor. Thus, consistent with previous studies, we suppose that display rule perceptions will be positively related to both surface acting and deep acting, depending on teachers' predispositions (Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Diefendorff et al., 2005). However, it should be noted that, considering the implicit display rules and limited external supervision, teachers are not forced to hide or fake their emotions even with high display rule perceptions. Thus, the high display rule perceptions of teachers may tend to encourage them to use more deep-level solutions, rather than force themselves to hide or fake emotions. In other words, the positive relationship between display rule perceptions and deep acting should be stronger than that between display rule perceptions and surface acting. We thus hypothesize as follows:

H2a: Display rule perceptions are positively related to both surface acting and deep acting; there is a stronger relationship between display rule perceptions and deep acting.

Additionally, since surface acting and deep acting are predictive of teacher well/ill-being, there should be indirect effects of display rule perceptions on teachers' well/ill-being outcomes via ELS. Researchers suggested that the emotional labor process (especially surface acting) initiated by display rules depletes attentional resources and energy (Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). Display rules and an inefficient emotional labor process may induce emotion-rule dissonance. That form of person-role conflict is further predictive of emotional exhaustion and job dissatisfaction (Holman et al., 2008; Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011). However, if display rule perceptions lead to the use of more adaptive ELS (i.e., deep acting in the case of teachers), these unfavorable effects should be less severe. Combining previous assumptions, we thus hypothesize that the perceived display rules and extra effort in emotional labor are stressful and may lead to anxiety and depression. However, teachers' faithful effort enhanced by a high display rule perceptions may balance the negative effect of surface acting, and thus generally contribute to more positive attitudes and feelings (e.g., contentment, enthusiasm). The following relationships are hypothesized:

H2b: Surface acting and deep acting mediate the relationship between display rule perceptions and well/ill-being indicators.

H2c: The total indirect effects of display rule perceptions on anxiety and depression are positive, while those on contentment and enthusiasm are also positive.

Self-Monitoring

According to Snyder (1974), self-monitoring of expressive behavior refers to individuals' tendency to control and regulate

their expression according to situational cues. Low self-monitors are more likely to be themselves and exhibit consistency between inner feelings and external expressions (Day et al., 2002; Scott et al., 2012). By contrast, high self-monitors tend to hide their inner feelings and attune their facial expressions, voice, and posture to situational cues (Bono and Vey, 2007; Scott et al., 2012). Moreover, an individual's tendency to control and regulate his or her expressions may vary across day-to-day situations. For example, the need for self-monitoring decreases if individuals are interacting with close friends/relatives under familiar circumstances (Hülsheger et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2018).

Self-monitoring has long been treated as a desirable quality and associated with better personal performance, such as desirable public appearance, better impression management, harmonious relationships, and leadership (Snyder and Gangestad, 1986; Day et al., 2002).

However, the relationships between self-monitoring and ELS and the consequential well-being outcomes remain controversial. Some studies have suggested that self-monitoring is negatively related to individuals' well-being. In a meta-analytic review of self-monitoring, negative relationships were found between selfmonitoring and organizational commitment and job satisfaction, while positive relationships were found between self-monitoring and role conflict and role ambiguity (Day et al., 2002). In a similar vein, Baumeister et al.'s (1998) research on ego depletion also suggested negative effects of self-monitoring. According to Baumeister et al. (1998), self-regulation and other forms of volition lead to expenditure of limited resources, which in turn contributes to burnout and ill-health. In this respect, selfmonitoring is thought to be related to maladaptive coping and ill-being (Diefendorff et al., 2005).

Another group of studies, however, believed that high selfmonitors were more skilled and capable of performing emotional labor than low self-monitors. For example, high self-monitors are thought to have acute awareness of situational cues and show more willingness and efficiency in regulating emotional expressions (Bono and Vey, 2007; Scott et al., 2012). Some studies have also suggested a buffering effect of self-monitoring on the maladaptive relationship between surface acting and job satisfaction/work withdrawal (Scott et al., 2012). This second line of studies seems to conceptualize self-monitoring as inherently related to better emotion regulation skills and capacities, rather than as a willingness or tendency to monitor emotional expressions. Nevertheless, based on a social interaction model, Côté (2005) suggested that emotion regulation can increase work strain when receivers (i.e., customers) give negative responses, or decrease work strain if they give positive responses. Thus, assuming high self-monitors are more sensitive to situational cues (customer responses in this case), both the positive and the negative relationships between emotion regulation and work strain shall be stronger for high self-monitors (Côté, 2005).

Unlike display rule perceptions which reflect the external emotional demands and rules as perceived by KBS workers, KBS workers' self-monitoring reflects an individual tendency in terms of emotional management (Reeve et al., 2007). Thus, it is not expected that KBS workers' self-monitoring would have any context-specific characteristics different from those of traditional service employees. In addition, compared to display rule perceptions, KBS workers' internalized, self-determined monitoring of their emotional expressions is more predictive of their actions and behaviors (Reeve et al., 2007). The evidence regarding the negative effects of self-monitoring on individual well-being reveals that self-monitoring may not be as adaptive as some researchers suggest. Rather, as a tendency to regulate expressive behavior or as a dimension of self-regulation, selfmonitoring and the consequent emotional labor process deplete individuals' finite pool of resources, induce role conflict, and are related to work strain and reduced well-being (Baumeister et al., 1998; Brotheridge and Grandey, 2002; Day et al., 2002; Holman et al., 2008). In other words, high self-monitoring may be more predictive of emotional labor frequency but not effectiveness. While a high level of self-monitoring is predictive of both types of ELS, the relative strength of these relationships may depend on other factors, such as the availability of ego resources or individuals' emotional capacities (e.g., emotional intelligence, emotional knowledge) (Baumeister et al., 1998; Grandey, 2000). Thus, the following relationships are hypothesized:

H3a: Self-monitoring is positively related to both surface acting and deep acting.

H3b: Surface acting and deep acting mediate the relationship between self-monitoring and well/ill-being indicators.

H3c: The total indirect effects of self-monitoring on anxiety and depression are positive, while those on contentment and enthusiasm are negative.

The hypothesized model is presented in **Figure 1**.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedures and Participants

Consistent with institutional review board procedures, this study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Survey and Behavioral Research Ethics Committee at the Chinese University of Hong Kong with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Survey and Behavioral Research Ethics Committee.

The participants in this study were a sample of school teachers in Hong Kong. We connected with school principals and invited teachers to participate in the survey. Teachers had the full autonomy to decide whether to participate in the survey or not. All completed questionnaires were mailed by the participants directly to the authors. Anonymity was guaranteed. The final sample contained a total of 1,656 teachers from 38 primary schools (n1 = 1,115) and 16 secondary schools (n2 = 541). The valid response rate was 41.4%. The sample comprised 465 male participants (28.1%), 1,167 female participants (70.5%), and 24 participants who did not report their gender (1.4%). In addition, 68 participants (4.1%) reported that they were principals in their schools, 630 (38.1%) were subject panel heads,



889 (53.7%) were regular teachers, and 69 (4.2%) did not specify their positions. In terms of their educational backgrounds, most reported a bachelor's (680 participants, 41.1%) or master's degree (928 participants, 56.0%). **Table 1** summarizes these demographic factors in detail.

Instruments

A total of 34 items were used to operationalize the eight latent variables. Participants rated each item on a five-point Likert scale from "1 = strongly disagree (or never)" to "5 = strongly agree (or

TABLE 1 Participan	ts' demographics.		
	Category	Frequency	Percentage (%)
School type	Primary school	1115	67.3
	Secondary school	541	32.7
Gender	Male	465	28.1
	Female	1167	70.5
	Others	24	1.4
Position	Principals	68	4.1
	Panel heads	630	38.0
	Ordinary teachers	889	53.7
	Others	69	4.2
Education	Doctoral degree	5	0.3
	Master's degree	928	56
	Bachelor's degree	680	41.1
	Junior college diploma	32	1.9
	Others	11	0.7
Years of experience	1–3 years	227	13.7
	4–10 years	346	20.9
	11–20 years	620	37.4
	21–30 years	355	21.4
	31 years and above	101	6.1
	Others	7	0.5
Total		1656	100

always)" according to the extent to which they agreed with the statements or the frequency of certain experiences. Translation and back-translation procedures were strictly followed to convert the English scales into Chinese versions.

Display Rule Perceptions

Teachers' perceptions of display rules were measured using a five-item scale adapted from Diefendorff et al. (2005). While the original inventory measures two dimensions of display rule perceptions (i.e., positive and negative display rule perceptions), our data did not support a two-dimension structure. The final scale used in this study measures an integrated perception of the extent to which participants were required to display positive emotions while hiding negative ones (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). Sample items include "I am expected to suppress my bad moods or negative reactions to students" and "My school expects me to try to act excited and enthusiastic in my interactions with students." The Cronbach's α coefficient of the scale obtained in this study was 0.79.

Self-Monitoring

A short version of Snyder and Gangestad's (1986) Selfmonitoring Scale was used to measure participants' selfmonitoring tendencies. Consistent with the practice of previous studies, the short version only includes seven non-reversely coded items from the original version (Scott et al., 2012). The participants were asked to report whether they were flexible and often attuned their public appearances to situational cues. Sample items include "In different situations and with different people, I often act like very different persons" and "I'm not always the person I appear to be." The Cronbach's α coefficient of self-monitoring obtained in this study was 0.72.

Emotional Labor Strategies

Surface acting and deep acting were measured using the ELS scale. The scale was adapted and validated by Diefendorff et al. (2005) basing on the previous works of Kruml and Geddes (2000)

and Grandey (2003). Surface acting was measured by six items including "I fake the emotions I show when dealing with students or their parents," and deep acting was measured by four items including "I try to actually experience the emotions that I must show to students or their parents." The Cronbach's α coefficients of surface acting and deep acting obtained in this study were 0.90 and 0.74, respectively.

Well/III-Being Indicators

Warr's (1990) 12-item scale consisting of both ill-being and wellbeing indicators was used to measure the consequential criteria. The participants were asked to report the frequency with which they experienced the following four sets of feelings over the previous few weeks: tension, uneasiness, and worry (anxiety); depression, gloom, and misery (depression); calm, contentment, and relaxation (contentment); and cheerfulness, enthusiasm, and optimism (enthusiasm). The Cronbach's α coefficients of anxiety, depression, contentment, and enthusiasm obtained in this study were 0.91, 0.89, 0.81, and 0.88, respectively.

Analyses

Two main statistical procedures, confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and structural equation modeling (SEM), were conducted using Mplus 7. SEM was used to test the hypothesized model because it allows a set of relationships between multiple independent and dependent variables. Simultaneously, the latent construct also adjusts for any measurement error in both dependent and independent variables (Schreiber et al., 2006). Basic statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS 20. Chi-square values (χ^2) , degree of freedom (df), and the corresponding significant values (p), in addition to other model fit information such as the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), the comparative fit index (CFI), and the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), were reported. Model fit is excellent when the CFI and TLI are greater than 0.95 and acceptable when the NNFI and CFI are no less than 0.90. In addition, RMSEA and SRMR must be less than 0.06 and 0.08 for an excellent model fit, and 0.08 and 0.10 for an acceptable model fit (Schreiber et al., 2006). To test the indirect effects, bootstrapping technique (bootstrap samples = 2,000) was adopted, and the 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs) were calculated (Preacher and Hayes, 2008).

RESULTS

Reliability, Descriptive Statistics, and Correlations

Table 2 reports the latent correlations among variables investigated in the present study and their respective mean values (ranging from 2.59 to 3.53), standard deviations (ranging from 0.55 to 0.95), and Cronbach's α coefficients (ranging from 0.72 to 0.90). In average, the teachers reported highest values for display rule perceptions (M = 3.53) and the lowest values for their experiences of depression (M = 2.59). The Cronbach's α coefficients were all greater than the

generally accepted criterion ($\alpha > 0.70$). In addition, the factor loadings of each item were all significant, ranging from 0.32 to 0.91. These latent variables had small to medium correlations with each other, except for the high correlations between anxiety and depression (r = 0.86) and between contentment and enthusiasm (r = 0.91). No significant correlations were found between deep acting and either contentment or enthusiasm, nor between self-monitoring and enthusiasm.

An eight-factor model was tested using CFA. The eight factors were display rule perceptions, self-monitoring, surface acting, deep acting, enthusiasm, contentment, anxiety, and depression, respectively. Each item was loaded on its corresponding factors. Factors were correlated with each other. The results of CFA generally confirmed the construct validity of the measurement with an acceptable model fit ($\chi^2 = 2978.35$, df = 499, p = 0.00, RMSEA = 0.055, SRMR = 0.057, CFI = 0.92, TLI = 0.90).

SEM Results

The results of SEM are presented in Figure 2. The results indicate an acceptable model fit of the hypothesized model: $\chi^2 = 3079.59, df = 508, p = 0.00, RMSEA = 0.055, SRMR = 0.063,$ CFI = 0.91, TLI = 0.90. As shown in Figure 2, all four well/illbeing indicators had stronger relationships with surface acting than with deep acting. Surface acting was positively associated with anxiety ($\beta = 0.38$, p < 0.01) and depression ($\beta = 0.40$, p < 0.01), and negatively associated with contentment ($\beta = -0.42$, p < 0.01) and enthusiasm ($\beta = -0.36$, p < 0.01) (H1a supported). Deep acting was positively associated with anxiety ($\beta = 0.11$, p < 0.01), contentment ($\beta = 0.10$, p < 0.01), and enthusiasm $(\beta = 0.10, p < 0.01)$, although no significant relationship was found between deep acting and depression ($\beta = 0.06$, n.s.). Thus, H1b was generally supported, except for the nonsignificant relationship between deep acting and depression. Furthermore, display rule perceptions and self-monitoring were both positively related to the two types of ELS (H2a and H3a supported), with self-monitoring having a stronger relationship with both types of strategy. In addition, the relationship between display rule perceptions and deep acting ($\beta = 0.30, p < 0.01$) was stronger than that between display rule perceptions and surface acting ($\beta = 0.13$, p < 0.01), while the relationship between self-monitoring and deep acting ($\beta = 0.28$, p < 0.01) was weaker than that between self-monitoring and surface acting ($\beta = 0.56, p < 0.01$).

Indirect Effects

Table 3 shows the indirect effects of display rule perceptions and self-monitoring on the four well/ill-being indicators via two types of ELS. A 95% CI including zero indicates a non-significant indirect effect, and a 95% CI not including zero indicates a significant indirect effect. In general, the results of the indirect effects via ELS indicated that deep and surface acting mediated the relationships between display rule perceptions or self-monitoring and well/ill-being indicators, generally supporting H2b and H3b, although there were no significant indirect effects on depression via deep acting.

TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics and latent factor correlations based on CFA.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
(1) Display rule perceptions	-							
(2) Self-monitoring	0.33**	-						
(3) Surface acting	0.30**	0.59**	-					
(4) Deep acting	0.38**	0.33**	0.38**	-				
(5) Anxiety	0.24**	0.24**	0.42**	0.24**	-			
(6) Depression	0.23**	0.23**	0.42**	0.20**	0.86**	-		
(7) Contentment	-0.13**	-0.09**	-0.39**	-0.06	-0.62**	-0.64**	-	
(8) Enthusiasm	-0.08**	-0.03	-0.33**	-0.04	-0.50**	-0.57**	0.91**	-
Mean	3.53	2.98	2.89	3.46	2.98	2.59	2.89	3.06
SD	0.55	0.56	0.79	0.56	0.9	0.95	0.75	0.78
Cronbach's α	0.79	0.72	0.9	0.74	0.91	0.89	0.81	0.88

**p < 0.01; SD, standard deviation. Goodness-of-fit index: $\chi^2 = 2978.35$, df = 499, p = 0.00, RMSEA = 0.055, SRMR = 0.057, CFI = 0.92, TLI = 0.90.



In further investigating the total indirect effects of display rule perceptions and self-monitoring, it was found that selfmonitoring had stronger total indirect effects compared to display rule perceptions on the four well/ill-being indicators. There were significant and positive, though weak, total indirect effects of display rule perceptions on anxiety (Estimate = 0.08, 95% CI = [0.05,0.12]) and depression (Estimate = 0.07, 95% CI = [0.03,0.10]). No significant indirect effects were found between display rule perceptions and contentment (Estimate = -0.02, 95% CI = [-0.06, 0.01]) or enthusiasm (Estimate = -0.02, 95%) CI = [-0.05, 0.01]). In other words, the negative effects on contentment and enthusiasm via surface acting and positive effects via deep acting balanced each other out, and resulted in non-significant indirect effects between display rule perception and contentment or enthusiasm. Thus, a positive total indirect relationship between display rule perception and ill-being was supported, but a positive indirect relationship between display rule perception and well-being was rejected (H2c).

In contrast, both the total positive indirect effect of selfmonitoring on anxiety (Estimate = 0.25, 95% CI = [0.18, 0.31]) and depression (Estimate = 0.24, 95% CI = [0.17, 0.31]) and its total negative indirect effect on contentment (Estimate = -0.21, 95% CI = [-0.28, -0.14]) and enthusiasm (Estimate = -0.17, 95%CI = [-0.23, -0.11]) were significant, which supported H3c.

Table 4 summarizes the results of the hypothesis tests.

DISCUSSION

Focusing on the emotional labor of KBS workers, this study has summarized several unique characteristics of KBS relationships and identified two essential variables that impact KBS workers' strategy choices and consequential well/illbeing indicators. The results show that the two essential variables had similar impacting patterns, though with different strengths. In general, self-monitoring was more predictive than display rule perceptions for both surface acting and well/illbeing indicators. TABLE 3 | The estimates of indirect effects and the 95% confidence intervals.

Indirect effects	Estir	nate	95% Cls			
			Lower 2.5%	Upper 2.5%		
Display rule perceptions						
DRP-Anxiety		0.08	0.05	0.12		
	via SA	0.05	0.02	0.08		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		
DRP-Depression		0.07	0.03	0.10		
	via SA	0.05	0.02	0.08		
	via DA	0.02	0.00	0.03		
DRP-Contentment		-0.02	-0.06	0.01		
	via SA	-0.05	-0.08	-0.02		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		
DRP-Enthusiasm		-0.02	-0.05	0.01		
	via SA	-0.05	-0.07	-0.02		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		
Self-monitoring						
SM-Anxiety		0.25	0.18	0.31		
	via SA	0.22	0.15	0.28		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		
SM-Depression		0.24	0.17	0.31		
	via SA	0.23	0.16	0.29		
	via DA	0.02	0.00	0.03		
SM-Contentment		-0.21	-0.28	-0.14		
	via SA	-0.24	-0.31	-0.16		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		
SM-Enthusiasm		-0.17	-0.23	-0.11		
	via SA	-0.20	-0.26	-0.14		
	via DA	0.03	0.01	0.05		

Cls, Confidence Intervals; DRP, Display rule perceptions; SM, Self-monitoring; SA, surface acting; DA, deep acting.

Theoretical Contributions

This study contributes to the literature of emotional labor by its focus on KBS workers and the unique characteristics of their emotional labor. First, by using criteria for both ill-being (anxiety, depression) and well-being (enthusiasm, contentment), this study investigated the effects of both ELS in a more comprehensive manner. Consistent with previous findings (Hülsheger and Schewe, 2011; Humphrey et al., 2015), surface acting was maladaptive to KBS workers' well-being and was positively associated with anxiety and depression, and negatively associated with enthusiasm and contentment. The effects of deep acting were much more beneficial, in that significant and positive relationships were found between deep acting and both contentment and enthusiasm. Furthermore, the positive relationship between deep acting and anxiety and the nonsignificant one between deep acting and depression indicated that a moderate level of anxiety related to deep acting is evidence of dedication and engagement, rather than a proxy for psychological dysfunction (Humphrey et al., 2015).

Second, the finding that self-monitoring had stronger effects on participants' use of ELS than display rule perceptions is consistent with previous theories. It seems that internalized values and rules are typically more predictive of individuals' TABLE 4 | A summary of the hypotheses and results.

	Hypotheses	Results	Remarks
H1a	Positive relationships between SA and A and D	Supported	
	Negative relationships between SA and C and E	Supported	
H1b	Positive relationships between DA and A and D	Partially supported	A non-significant DA-D relationship, further suggesting an acceptable "maladaptive" effect of DA;
	Positive relationships between DA and C and E	Supported	Highlighting the adaptive role of DA
H2a	Positive relationships between DRP and SA and DA	Supported	A stronger relationship found between DPR and DA
H2b	SA as mediators between DRP and A, D, C, and E	Supported	
	DA as mediators between DRP and A, D, C, and E	Partially supported	A non-significant indirect effect of DRP on D via DA
H2c	Positive indirect relationships between DRP and A and D	Supported	Significant, though weak , total indirect effects;
	Positive indirect relationships between DRP and C and E	Rejected	Non-significant total indirect effects
H3a	Positive relationships between SM and SA and DA	Supported	A stronger relationship found between SM and SA
H3b	SA as mediators between SM and A, D, C, and E	Supported	
	DA as mediators between SM and A, D, C, and E	Partially supported	A non-significant indirect effect of SM on D via DA
Н3с	Positive indirect relationships between SM and A and D	Supported	
	Negative indirect relationships between SM and C and E	Supported	

DRP, Display rule perceptions; SM, Self-monitoring; SA, surface acting; DA, deep acting; A, Anxiety; D, Depression; C, Contentment; E, Enthusiasm.

practices and behaviors than external demands or rules (Reeve et al., 2007). In other words, display rule perceptions are a more distal predictor and self-monitoring a more proximal predictor of individual behaviors regarding emotion regulation and management. In addition, there were stronger relationships between self-monitoring and surface acting and between display rule perceptions and deep acting. As mentioned earlier, previous studies have presented contradictory hypotheses and results concerning the effects of self-monitoring, and many have suggested that self-monitoring is inherently related to more efficient emotion regulation and adaptive strategies, such as deep acting (Bono and Vey, 2007; Scott et al., 2012). However, the present results indicate that for KBS workers, self-monitoring may not be as beneficial as previously thought. One plausible explanation is that self-monitoring only evokes or enhances the awareness of situational cues and the tendency to perform emotional labor, but does not guarantee coping efficiency or effectiveness. In other words, the effects of self-monitoring on the process of emotional labor may not be as self-evidently beneficial or detrimental as other relevant individual characteristics, such as emotional intelligence (the ability to perceive and regulate emotions efficiently) or positive and negative affect (the baseline or general affect/moods of individuals, which increases or

decreases the level of emotion-rule dissonance) (Grandey, 2000; Totterdell and Holman, 2003; Hülsheger et al., 2013). Researchers have also proposed that high self-monitors can comfortably use surface acting without damaging the self, that low self-monitors may choose deep acting to follow the display rules and at the same time be themselves, and that high self-monitors are more fit for short-term service encounters and low self-monitors for long-term service relationships (Day et al., 2002; Holman, 2003; Scott et al., 2012). Somewhat consistent with these proposals, the present results suggest a stronger relationship between KBS workers' self-monitoring and surface acting and a maladaptive effect of self-monitoring on their well-being.

Third, although display rule perceptions were not positively related to enthusiasm and contentment, the overall effects of display rule perceptions seem to be beneficial after controlling for the effects of self-monitoring. The results show that display rule perceptions have a stronger relationship with deep acting than with surface acting. Display rule perceptions were only weakly though positively related to anxiety and depression, while self-monitoring was positively related to anxiety and depression, and negatively to enthusiasm and contentment. These findings suggest that display rule perceptions have a more beneficial effect than self-monitoring. This suggestion is plausible, given that a moderate level of work strain is acceptable or even beneficial because it suggests not ill-being or dysfunction but rather engagement and dedication (Humphrey et al., 2015). Concepts such as person-job fit, trait-behavior congruence, and role identification have long been topics of importance in the field of emotional labor (Ashforth and Mael, 1998; Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Bono and Vey, 2007; Humphrey et al., 2015). Researchers have also suggested that only when employees are able to challenge, but finally accept, their job roles and rules can they fully identify with and commit to their professions (Ashforth and Mael, 1998; Humphrey et al., 2015). A higher level of display rule perceptions, thus, may indicate that KBS workers identify with the often implicit emotional aspects of their work and faithfully choose the deep-acting strategy to fulfill these extra requirements. Nevertheless, no positive indirect relationship was found between display rule perception and contentment or enthusiasm. It is because the negative indirect effects on contentment and enthusiasm via surface acting and the positive indirect effects via deep acting balanced each other out. Thus, to further enhance the beneficial roles of display rule perceptions, it is desirable to strengthen the positive relationship between display rule perceptions and deep acting while weaken that between display rule perceptions and surface acting. This could be achieved by several ways. Specifically, it is necessary to promote KBS workers' understanding of and commitment to the emotional aspects of their works. Extra effort is also need to familiarize them with different ELS, especially the deeplevel solutions.

Finally, consistent with some previous studies, this study did not validate a two-dimension structure of positive and negative display rule perceptions, but adopted a single-dimension measure of display rule perceptions that combines displaying positive emotions and hiding negative ones (Gosserand and Diefendorff, 2005; Goldberg and Grandey, 2007). It is meaningful and feasible to distinguish between positive and negative emotions in research of emotional labor. For example, the Discrete Emotions Emotional Labor Scale (DEELS) developed by Glomb and Tews (2004) distinguishes between genuine, faked, and suppressed positive and negative emotional displays. The DEELS has been widely adopted and is proved to have good psychometrics qualities (Mahoney et al., 2011). Thus, while it is also theoretically important to distinguish between positive and negative rule perceptions, and to find their different implications for individuals' strain and well-being, more effort is needed to develop a valid and reliable scale that links the theoretical conceptualizations and hypotheses with the empirical results.

Practical Implications

The results of this study bring some implications for school practitioners and KBS providers at large. First, while teachers and other KBS workers should always be granted the job autonomy and flexibility they deserve, it is also important to raise their awareness about the emotional requirements and display rules of their jobs. The combination of autonomy and requirements may facilitate the identifying process, and thus enhance KBS workers' commitment. That is, when fully identified with the emotional aspects of their professions, KBS workers may tend to perceive the emotional requirements as challenge rather than as threat or hindrance (Lazarus and Folkman, 1984; LePine et al., 2005). The faithful effort and the use of deep acting may still be resource-depleting, but, at the same time, rewarding and inspiring.

Second, for service employees in general, a major cause of their anxiety and work strain comes from limited job autonomy and strict display rules. The support received from managers and colleagues could be helpful. Managers and organizations have to balance between the interests of customers and employees. Sometimes, it is necessary for a manager to punish an employee to satisfy an angry customer. However, it is also important for him or her to show emotional understanding and to comfort and support the employee. In the educational contexts, school principals and other administrative staffs should assume their responsibilities to create a supportive and trustworthy school environment. Furthermore, to enhance parent involvement and promote the understanding and cooperation between teachers and parents may also help in reducing teachers' anxiety and work strain.

Third, the results showed that high self-monitors may still tend to use surface acting strategies such as faking and hiding. This is probably caused by a limited knowledge of emotional labor and relevant strategies. Traditionally, the selection and training of KBS workers may focus on their professional competences. Limited support is provided to help them understand the emotional aspects of their jobs and use more adaptive strategies such as deep acting. Thus, programs aimed to improve employee mindfulness and emotional intelligence will be helpful for both teachers and KBS workers in general. Additionally, emotionally supportive environments could be useful. Platforms that allow for emotional communication and understanding may help KBS workers to recover from both relationship-related and profession-related strain at work.

Limitations and Directions for Future Research

A major limitation of this study lies in its cross-sectional design and subjective data sources. While it is common to use selfreported data to measure personal perceptions and behavioral tendencies, sole reliance on self-reported data is vulnerable to social desirability bias and constrains the credibility of the results. Moreover, the use of cross-sectional design cannot exclude the possibility of reverse causality. Although it is theoretically convincing for display rule perceptions and self-monitoring to influence emotional labor and the consequential well-being of the participants (Grandey, 2000; Totterdell and Holman, 2003), it is possible that well-being may influence intrapersonal-level variations in self-monitoring tendencies or strategy adoption (Hülsheger et al., 2013). Further studies with longitudinal designs and multiple data sources can advance this line of research.

While this study has focused on KBS workers and used a sample of teachers, future studies are needed to confirm these relationships among other KBS occupations. With a particular focus on the effects of display rule perceptions, researchers may also compare the results of KBS workers and those of mass service employees. In addition, demographic factors (e.g., gender, age, tenure, education), characteristics of organizations (e.g., grade levels; private vs. public companies/schools; commercial vs. consumer-oriented law firms), and the cultural environments will definitely influence the ways in which KBS workers interact with their clients and perform their emotional labor. For example, professors at universities and teachers from primary and secondary schools play different roles in facilitating student learning. The interactions between professors and students are less frequent but any impropriate conducts of professors may lead to negative evaluations from students, which further influence their general evaluations and career developments. By contrast, school teachers, especially primary school teachers, may express their emotions and attitudes more frequently and directly (Hargreaves, 2000). The intensive emotional interactions between teachers and students also require more effort on the part of teachers. It is meaningful and important to test the potential moderating effects and compare group differences in future studies. It also would be worthwhile to test other criteria such as employee commitment or role identification and customer satisfaction or feedback (Hennig-Thurau et al., 2006; Groth et al., 2009).

REFERENCES

- Allen, J. A., Diefendorff, J. M., and Ma, Y. (2014). Differences in emotional labor across cultures: a comparison of Chinese and US service workers. J. Bus. Psychol. 29, 21–35. doi: 10.1007/s10869-013-9288-7
- Ashforth, B. E., and Mael, F. A. (1998). "The power of resistance: sustaining valued identities," in *Power and Influence in Organizations*, eds R. M. Kramer and M. A. Neale (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 89–119.
- Baumeister, R. E., Bratslavsky, E., Muraven, M., and Tice, D. M. (1998). Ego depletion: is the active self a limited resource? J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 74, 1252–1265. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.5.1252
- Bono, J. E., and Vey, M. A. (2007). Personality and emotional performance: extraversion, neuroticism, and self-monitoring. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 12, 177–192. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12.2.177

CONCLUSION

Based on the unique characteristics of KBS relationships, this study has investigated how self-monitoring and display rule perceptions are related to KBS workers' ELS and the consequential well-being indicators of anxiety, depression, enthusiasm, and contentment. For KBS workers, who are generally less aware of the emotional aspects of their jobs and proper coping strategies, self-monitoring seems to be more related to a reactive emotional labor strategy (surface acting) than a proactive one (deep acting). By contrast, a higher level of display rule perceptions may represent role identification and commitment, and thus is related to a dedicated use of deep acting. Despite some limitations, this study illustrates characteristic aspects of emotional labor in KBS relationships and differentiates the roles of self-monitoring and display rule perceptions.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Consistent with institutional review board procedures, this study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Survey and Behavioral Research Ethics Committee at the Chinese University of Hong Kong with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Survey and Behavioral Research Ethics Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SH analyzed the data and wrote the first version of the manuscript. HY designed the research and finished the final version of the manuscript. LT collected the data and helped with the data analysis.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the General Research Fund of Hong Kong SAR (Grant No. CUHK14413314).

- Brotheridge, C. M., and Grandey, A. A. (2002). Emotional labor and burnout: comparing two perspectives of "people work". J. Vocat. Behav. 60, 17–39. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1815
- Côté, S. (2005). A social interaction model of the effects of emotion regulation on work strain. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 30, 509–530. doi: 10.5271/sjweh.3557
- Day, D. V., Schleicher, D. J., Unckless, A. L., and Hiller, N. J. (2002). Self-monitoring personality at work: a meta-analytic investigation of construct validity. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 87, 390–401. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.87. 2.390
- Diefendorff, J., Greguras, G., and Fleenor, J. (2016). Perceived emotional demandsabilities fit. Appl. Psychol. 65, 2–37. doi: 10.1111/apps.12034
- Diefendorff, J. M., Croyle, M. H., and Gosserand, R. H. (2005). The dimensionality and antecedents of emotional labor strategies. J. Vocat. Behav. 66, 339–357. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2004.02.001

- Diefendorff, J. M., and Greguras, G. J. (2009). Contextualizing emotional display rules: examining the roles of targets and discrete emotions in shaping display rule perceptions. J. Manag. 35, 880–898. doi: 10.1177/0149206308321548
- Glomb, T. M., and Tews, M. J. (2004). Emotional labor: a conceptualization and scale development. J. Vocat. Behav. 64, 1–23. doi: 10.1016/S0001-8791(03) 00038-1
- Goldberg, L. S., and Grandey, A. A. (2007). Display rules versus display autonomy: emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and task performance in a call center simulation. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 12, 301–318. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.12.3.301
- Gosserand, R. H., and Diefendorff, J. M. (2005). Emotional display rules and emotional labor: the moderating role of commitment. J. Appl. Psychol. 90, 1256–1264. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.90.6.1256
- Grandey, A. (2003). When the show must go on: surface and deep acting as determinants of emotional exhaustion and peer-rated service delivery. Acad. Manag. J. 46, 86–96.
- Grandey, A. A. (2000). Emotional regulation in the workplace: a new way to conceptualize emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 5, 95–110. doi: 10.1037/ 1076-8998.5.1.95
- Grandey, A. A., Fisk, G. M., Mattila, A. S., Jansen, K. J., and Sideman, L. A. (2005). Is "service with a smile" enough? Authenticity of positive displays during service encounters. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 96, 38–55. doi: 10.1037/a0034428
- Gremler, D. D., Gwinner, K. P., and Brown, S. W. (2001). Generating positive word-of-mouth communication through customer-employee relationships. *Int. J. Serv. Ind. Manag.* 12, 44–59. doi: 10.1108/09564230110382763
- Groth, M., Hennig-Thurau, T., and Walsh, G. (2009). Customer reactions to emotional labor: the roles of employee acting strategies and customer detection accuracy. Acad. Manag. J. 52, 958–974. doi: 10.5465/amj.2009.44634116
- Gummesson, E. (1991). Truths and myths in service quality. Int. J. Serv. Ind. Manag. 2, 7–16. doi: 10.1108/09564239110007256
- Gutek, B. A., Bhappu, A. D., Liao-Troth, M. A., and Cherry, B. (1999). Distinguishing between service relationships and encounters. J. Appl. Psychol. 84, 218–233. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.84.2.218
- Hargreaves, A. (2000). Mixed emotions: teachers' perceptions of their interactions with students. *Teach. Teach. Educ.* 16, 811–826. doi: 10.1016/S0742-051X(00) 00028-7
- Hennig-Thurau, T., Groth, M., Paul, M., and Gremler, D. D. (2006). Are all smiles created equal? How emotional contagion and emotional labor affect service relationships. J. Mark. 70, 58–73. doi: 10.1509/jmkg.70.3.058
- Hochschild, A. R. (1983). *The Managed Heart: Commercialization of Human Feeling*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Holman, D., Martinez-Iñigo, D., and Totterdell, P. (2008). "Emotional labour and employee well-being: an integrative review," in *Research Companion to Emotion in Organizations*, eds N. M. Ashkanasy and C. L. Cooper (Northampton, MA: Edward Elgar Publishing), 301–315.
- Holman, D. J. (2003). "Call centres," in *The New Workplace: A Guide to the Human Impact of Modern Working Practices*, eds D. J. Holman, T. D. Wall, C. W. Clegg, P. Sparrow, and A. Howard (Chichester: John Wiley and Sons), 115–134.
- Huang, S., Yin, H., and Lv, L. (2018). Job characteristics and teacher well-being: the mediation of teacher self-monitoring and teacher self-efficacy. *Educ. Psychol.* 1–19. doi: 10.1080/01443410.2018.1543855
- Hülsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., and Lang, J. W. B. (2013). Benefits of mindfulness at work: the role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 98, 310–325. doi: 10.1037/a0031313
- Hülsheger, U. R., Lang, J. W., Schewe, A. F., and Zijlstra, F. R. (2015). When regulating emotions at work pays off: a diary and an intervention study on emotion regulation and customer tips in service jobs. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 100, 263–277. doi: 10.1037/a0038229
- Hülsheger, U. R., and Schewe, A. F. (2011). On the costs and benefits of emotional labor: a meta-analysis of three decades of research. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 16, 361–389. doi: 10.1037/a0022876

- Humphrey, R. H., Ashforth, B. E., and Diefendorff, J. M. (2015). The bright side of emotional labor. J. Organ. Behav. 36, 749–769. doi: 10.1002/job.2019
- Kruml, S. M., and Geddes, D. (2000). Exploring the dimensions of emotional labor: the heart of hochschild's work. *Manag. Commun. Q.* 14, 8–49. doi: 10.1177/ 0893318900141002
- Lazarus, R. S., and Folkman, S. (1984). *Stress, Coping and Adaptation*. New York, NY: Springer.
- LePine, J. A., Podsakoff, N. P., and LePine, M. A. (2005). A meta-analytic test of the challenge stressor-hindrance stressor framework: an explanation for inconsistent relationships among stressors and performance. *Acad. Manage. J.* 48, 764–775. doi: 10.5465/amj.2005.18803921
- Mahoney, K. T., Buboltz, W. C. Jr., Buckner, V., John, E., and Doverspike, D. (2011). Emotional labor in american professors. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 16, 406–423. doi: 10.1037/a0025099
- Mills, P. K., and Moshavi, D. S. (1999). Professional concern: managing knowledgebased service relationships. Int. J. Serv. Ind. Manag. 10, 48–67. doi: 10.1108/ 09564239910255370
- Newberry, M. (2010). Identified phases in the building and maintaining of positive teacher-student relationships. *Teach. Teach. Educ.* 26, 1695–1703. doi: 10.1016/ j.tate.2010.06.022
- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Reeve, J., Ryan, R., Deci, E. L., and Jang, H. (2007). "Understanding and promoting autonomous self-regulation: a self-determination theory perspective," in *Motivation and Self-regulated Learning: Theory, Research, and Applications*, eds D. Schunk and B. Zimmerman (New York, NY: Erlbaum), 223–244.
- Schreiber, J. B., Nora, A., Stage, F. K., Barlow, E. A., and King, J. (2006). Reporting structural equation modeling and confirmatory factor analysis results: a review. *J. Educ. Res.* 99, 323–337. doi: 10.3200/JOER.99.6. 323-338
- Scott, B. A., Barnes, C. M., and Wagner, D. T. (2012). Chameleonic or consistent? A multilevel investigation of emotional labor variability and self-monitoring. *Acad. Manage. J.* 55, 905–926. doi: 10.5465/amj.2010.1050
- Snyder, M. (1974). Self-monitoring of expressive behavior. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 30, 526–537. doi: 10.1037/h0037039
- Snyder, M., and Gangestad, S. (1986). On the nature of self-monitoring: matters of assessment, matters of validity. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 51, 125–139. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.1.125
- Totterdell, P., and Holman, D. (2003). Emotion regulation in customer service roles: testing a model of emotional labor. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 8, 55–73. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.8.1.55
- Warr, P. (1990). The measurement of well-being and other aspects of mental health. *J. Occup. Psychol.* 63, 193–210. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1990.tb00521.x
- Yin, H. (2016). Knife-like mouth and tofu-like heart: emotion regulation by Chinese teachers in classroom teaching. Soc. Psychol. Educ. 19, 1–22. doi: 10. 1007/s11218-015-9319-5
- Yin, H., Huang, S., and Lee, J. C. K. (2017). Choose your strategy wisely: examining the relationships between emotional labor in teaching and teacher efficacy in Hong Kong primary schools. *Teach. Teach. Educ.* 66, 127–136. doi: 10.1016/j. tate.2017.04.006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Huang, Yin and Tang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

